
Argyll and Bute Council 
Comhairle Earra Ghaidheal agus Bhoid 
 
Corporate Services 
Director:  Nigel Stewart 
 

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT 
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604444 

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD 
e.mail –nigel.stewart@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

 
19 May 2005 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

A meeting of  ARGYLL and BUTE COUNCIL will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, KILMORY, 
LOCHGILPHEAD on THURSDAY, 26 MAY 2005 at 10:00 AM, which you are requested to attend. 
 
 
 
 

Nigel Stewart 
Director of Corporate Services 

 
 

BUSINESS 
 
 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (IF ANY)  

 
 3. EDUCATION PPP/NPDO PROJECT 
   

i. To consider the following Report by the Director of Community Services 
(together with the attached Annexes and Appendices); 

 
ii. To receive presentations relating to the Report and Annexes; and 

 
iii. If so resolved, to pass the resolutions contained in the Report by the 

Director of Community Services together with any other resolutions that 
may be necessary or desirable.  

 
 Education NPDO Project – Authority to Proceed to Finance Close 

Report by Director of Community Services including the following Annexes (with 
their relevant Appendices) (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Education and Technical Requirements (Annex 1) 

By Project Director and Presentation by Project Director (Pages 5 - 28) 
 

E1 Legal and Commercial Issues (Annex 2) 
By  Chief Solicitor, Conveyancing, Contracts and Estates  and Presentation by 
Chief Solicitor (Pages 29 - 422) 

 

Public Document Pack



E1 Financial Issues (Annex 3) 
By Head of Strategic Finance and Presentation by Head of Strategic Finance 
(Pages 423 - 430) 

 
E1 Final Business Case (Annex 4) 

By Project Director and Presentation by Project Director (Pages 431 - 506) 
 

E1 Overall Affordability Position (Annex 5) 
By Head of Strategic Finance and Presentation by Head of Strategic Finance 
(Pages 507 - 512) 

 
 4. MINUTES 
  Argyll and Bute Council 6 April 2005 (Pages 513 - 520) 

 
 5. MINUTES OF COMMITTEES  

 
  (a) Appointments Panel 30 March 2005 (Pages 521 - 522) 
  (b) Public Service and Licensing Committee 31 March 2005 (Pages 523 - 528) 
  (c) Housing Stock Transfer Ad Hoc Committee 31 March 2005 (Pages 529 - 

530) 
  (d) Appeals Committee 1 April 2005 (Pages 531 - 532) 
*  (e) Mid Argyll, Kintyre and Islay Area Committee 4 April 2005 (Pages 533 - 540) 
  (f) Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee 5 April 2005 (Pages 541 - 552) 
  (g) Bute and Cowal Area Committee 5 April 2005 (Pages 553 - 560) 
  (h) Oban, Lorn and the Isles Area Committee 5 April 2005 (Pages 561 - 570) 
  (i) Strategic Policy Committee 13 April 2005 (Pages 571 - 576) 
  (j) Appointments Panel 20 April 2005 (Pages 577 - 578) 
  (k) Bute and Cowal Area Committee 3 May 2005 (Pages 579 - 582) 
  (l) Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee 3 May 2005 (Pages 583 - 590) 
  (m) Mid Argyll, Kintyre and Islay Area Committee 4 May 2005 (Pages 591 - 598) 
  (n) Strategic Policy Committee (Education) 5 May 2005 (Pages 599 - 600) 
  (o) Strategic Policy Committee 5 May 2005 (Pages 601 - 606) 
  (p) Public Service and Licensing Committee 12 May 2005 (Pages 607 - 608) 
  

The above minutes are submitted to the Council for approval of any recommendations 
on items which the Committee does not have delegated powers.  These items are 
marked with an *.  
 

 6. COUNCIL CONSTITUTION 
  (Copies of the proposed revised Constitution have previously been circulated to 

Members who are requested to bring this to the Meeting) 
  

  (a) Report by Director of Corporate Services (Pages 609 - 784) 
 

  (b) Upholding  Access Rights Enforcement Action and Land Exemption 
Applications Under the Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003 (Part 1) 

   Report by Director of Development Services (Pages 785 - 790) 
 

 7. MEMBERS' ALLOWANCES 2004/2005 
  Report by Director of Corporate Services (Pages 791 - 798) 

 
E2 8. BRUICHLADDICH PIER 
  Report by Director of Development Services (Pages 799 - 802) 

 



 The Committee will be asked to pass a resolution in terms of Section 50(A)(4) of the 
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 to exclude the public for items of business with 
an “E” on the grounds that it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in the appropriate paragraph of Part I of Schedule 7a to the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973. 
 
The appropriate paragraphs are:-  
 

 E1  Paragraph 6 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (other than the authority).  

 
 Paragraph 8 - The amount of any expenditure proposed to be incurred by 

the authority under any particular contract for the acquisition of property or 
the supply of goods or services.  

 
 Paragraph 9 - Any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the authority 

in the course of negotiations for a contract for the acquisition or disposal of 
property or the supply of goods or services.  

 
 E2 Paragraph 8 - The amount of any expenditure proposed to be incurred by 

the authority under any particular contract for the acquisition of property or 
the supply of goods or services.  

 
 Paragraph 9 - Any terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the authority 

in the course of negotiations for a contract for the acquisition or disposal of 
property or the supply of goods or services.  

 
 

COUNCIL 
 
ALL MEMBERS 
 
 
 Contact: Fiona McCallum Tel: 01546 604401 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



  

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL COUNCIL 
COMMUNITY SERVICES 26 MAY 2005 

 
AUTHORITY TO PROCEED TO FINANCIAL CLOSE 

 
1. SUMMARY 

 
 1.1 This Report recommends the Council to pass the resolutions 

required to enable financial close to be achieved in relation to the 
design, build, finance and operate the new school premises 
comprising the schools at Dunoon Grammar, Lochgilphead Joint 
Campus, Oban Primary Campus and Rothesay Joint Campus. 
  

2. RECOMMENDATION 
  

That the Council passes the following resolutions - 
 

  1 “The Council –  
 

    (1) notes the educational and technical requirements set out in 
Annex 1 and its appendices prepared by the Project Director 
 

  (2)  notes the legal and commercial issues set out in Annex 2 and 
its appendices prepared by the Chief Solicitor, Conveyancing, 
Contracts & Estates 
 

  (3)  notes the financial issues set out in Annex 3 prepared by the 
Head of Strategic Finance 
 

  (4)  approves the Final Business Case set out in Annex 4 prepared 
by the Project Director and authorises its submission to the Scottish 
Executive 
 

  (5)   notes the affordability gap and approve the recommendations 
in Annex 5 prepared by the Head of Strategic Finance 
 
all relative to the design, construction and financing of new school 
premises comprising the Dunoon Grammar, the Lochgilphead Joint 
Campus, the Oban Primary Campus, the Rothesay Joint Campus 
and the replacement Hermitage Academy and associated facilities 
and the provision of services required for the proper maintenance 
and the efficient running of the school buildings and other facilities 
in accordance with the Government’s Public Private Partnership 
Programme (“the Project”).” 
 

  2 “The Council authorises the Director of Community Services to 
negotiate, agree and enter into on behalf of the Council, and 
resolves that the Council will perform the obligations contained in, 
inter alia the following contractual documents, and all other 
contractual documents which the Council may require to enter into 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



  

in relation to the Project 
 

(a) the Project Agreement (the “Contract”) between Argyll 
and Bute Council  and ABC Schools Limited (“the 
Contractor”); and 

 
(b) the Funders Direct Agreement between the Council, the 

Contractor and the agent for the Senior Finance Parties in 
connection with the Project  (“the Direct Agreement”) 

 
  3 “The Council has the power to enter into the Contract and the Direct 

Agreement and all other contractual documents in relation to the 
Project, in terms of Section 1, Section 6, Section 17, Section 20 and 
Section 53 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; Section 14 and 
Section 15 of the Local Government and Planning (Scotland) Act 
1982 and Section 69, Section 123 and Section 163 of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1973.” 
 

   4 “The Director of Corporate Services or the Head of Legal and 
Protective Services are duly authorised to sign and deliver the 
Contract, the Direct Agreement and all other contractual documents 
in relation to the Project, on behalf of the Council.” 
 

   5 “The Contract and the Direct Agreement and all other contractual 
documents which the Council is required to enter into with the 
Contractor in relation to the Project to which the Council is a party, , 
shall be certified contracts within the meaning of Section 2 of the 
Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997 (“the 1997 Act”) and shall 
meet the certification requirements within section 3 of the 1997 Act 
and that the said Director of Corporate Services and Head of Legal 
and Protective Services are duly authorised to sign and issue the 
certificates in terms of the 1997 Act.” 
 
 

3. 
 

DETAIL 

 
 

3.1 The accompanying Report (and its appendices) by the Project 
Director entitled Educational and Technical Requirements sets out 
the Educational and Technical requirements of the Project (Annex1)
 

 3.2 The accompanying Report (and its appendices) by the Chief 
Solicitor, Conveyancing, Contracts and Estates entitled Legal and 
Commercial Issues outlines the principal legal and commercial 
issues relating to the Project. (Annex 2) 
 

 3.3 The accompanying Report by the Head of Strategic Finance entitled 
Financial Issues sets out the financial issues in relation to the 
Project. (Annex 3) 
 

 3.4 The accompanying Report by the Project Director entitled “Final 
Business Case” sets out the Final Business Case in relation to the 
Project. (Annex 4) 

Page 2



  

 
 3.5 The accompanying report by the Head of Strategic Finance entitled 

“Overall Affordability Position” sets out the financial position and 
affordability issues relating to the Project. (Annex 5) 

 
 
4. CONCLUSION 

 
 4.1 In order to permit the Project to proceed to financial close on the 

schools at Dunoon, Lochgilphead, Oban and Rothesay, the Council 
requires to pass the above resolutions.  The accompanying 
annexes specified in Paragraphs 3.1 to 3.5 hereof are intended to 
provide the Council with the information they will require to enable 
the Council to reach an informed decision on the matter. The 
project Agreement, as is referred to elsewhere, will contain 
provisions whereby, provided the appropriate contractor, 
contractual, and financial arrangements can be made, the 
Hermitage replacement school can be dealt with in accordance with 
the Project Agreement. 
 

    
 
 
 
 
Douglas Hendry 
Director of Community Services 
 
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1 

    

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL                     COUNCIL
                          

26 MAY 2005 
 
 
EDUCATIONAL AND TECHNICAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This paper provides a brief background to the PPP/NPDO Project, its 

development and the changes to the scope of the Project since September 
2000.  

 
1.2 Having set this context the Paper then goes on to describe in detail the 

high quality educational and technical facilities that Members, staff, pupils 
and communities can expect to see provided through the PPP/NPDO 
Project.  

 
1.3 The Paper notes that the Council will pay for the delivery of services and 

will not make any payment until those services are delivered. Only as each 
new school or joint campus is built and occupied will the Council make 
Annual Unitary Charge (AUC) payments to the consortium. 

 
1.4 Thereafter, the Paper describes how the Contractor will be responsible for 

the facilities management and life-cycle maintenance to specified 
standards for the duration of the Contract and notes the strategies in place 
to achieve this quality objectives, including payment deductions should the 
Contractor fails to meet these exacting standards.  

 
1.5 The Paper finishes by describing the development constraints that have 

been placed on the Contractor to ensure that disruption is minimised 
during construction works.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 

 
2.1 Members are asked to note the contents of this paper. 
 
3. DETAIL 
 
3.1 The background to this Project has been complex and difficult (a brief 

background to the Project is included at Appendix 1). The opposition to 
some of the school campus proposals, the reduction in the number of 
schools and the bridging of the affordability gap have tended to dominate 
public and Council concerns. Whilst this is understandable, with the 
approach of Financial Close, it is appropriate that Members are aware of 
the significant and long-lasting impact that the outcomes of this Project will 
have on the education estate. 

 
 

Agenda AnnexPage 5



Annex 1 

    

 
 

Educational Facilities 
 
3.2 The PPP nature of the Project will mean that the Council is entering into 

what has been described as a ‘serviced accommodation’ contract. The 
Council will pay for the delivery of services and will not make any payment 
until those services are delivered. Only as each new school or joint 
campus is built and occupied will the Council make payments to the 
consortium under the AUC. Thereafter the Contractor will be responsible 
for the facilities management and life-cycle maintenance, to specified 
standards for the duration of the Contract. Failure to meet these exacting 
standards will result in payment deductions.   

 
3.3 In general terms the accommodation to be provided at each location is as 
 below: 
 

Hermitage Academy; This new secondary comprehensive with a design 
capacity for 1700 pupils is designed to replace the existing school deemed 
to be beyond economic repair. The intention is to build this school on a 
new Greenfield site and in addition to the normal school provision, two all 
weather, fenced, floodlit synthetic pitches are included at this site. An area 
of ground has also been identified within this site for possible future 
community use. 

 
Dunoon Grammar School; This new secondary comprehensive will have 
a design capacity for 1000 pupils. The new school will be built on the 
existing site on the existing playing fields and, after construction, the old 
school will be demolished, the land cleared and turned into playing fields. 
In addition to the normal schools provision two all weather, fenced, floodlit 
synthetic pitches are included at this site. An area of ground has been 
identified within this site for possible future community use. 

 
Lochgilphead Joint Campus – incorporating Lochgilphead High, 
Lochgilphead Primary and Whitegates Learning Centre. This campus will 
make provision for pre-five education, primary and secondary education, 
together with additional Assisted Special Needs (ASN) provision to 
facilitate the integration of pupils from Whitegates Learning Centre fully 
into mainstream education. Whitegates Learning Centre will cease to exist 
as a separate entity. In addition, and uniquely, at this site additional and 
enhanced sporting facilities have been included  – this has been enabled 
by the closure of the existing Mid-Argyll Sports Centre and the transfer of 
budgets and activities to this new site. Externally this campus will have 
one full sized, fenced, floodlit all-weather synthetic pitch, plus two half-
sized grass pitches. 

 
Oban Primary Campus – incorporating Rockfield Primary, St Columba’s 
RC Primary and Drummore Learning Centre. Both denominational and 
non-denominational primary education will be provided at this joint 
campus.  Whilst each school will have its own separate identity and 
structure they will share some common facilities including, dining room, PE 

Page 6



Annex 1 

    

facilities, playground and shared admin. offices.  In addition pre-five 
(English and Gaelic) will be provided within Rockfield Primary as will the 
additional ASN facilities to accommodate and integrate pupils transferring 
from Drummore.  Drummore Learning centre, as a separate entity, will 
cease to exist. Gaelic Medium Education will also be provided within 
Rockfield.  

 
Rothesay Joint Campus – incorporating Rothesay Academy and 
Rothesay Primary. This Primary/Secondary joint campus will provide from 
‘three to degree’, as in addition to the normal school provision there is a 
provision also for pre-five, and uniquely among Project schools, this facility 
will also encompass the Argyll College provision for the island.  External 
facilities will provide one full size fenced, floodlit synthetic pitch and two 
half sized grass pitches. 

 
Standard of Provision 

 
3.4 Members will be aware that the quality benchmark that has been used 

throughout the Project is taken from Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) 
publication ‘How Good Is Our School’ in which very good standard of 
accommodation is described as: 

 
“The accommodation and facilities provide a safe, pleasant and 
stimulating environment, well suited to supporting the curricular 
activities of pupils, the work of staff, and social and leisure activities, 
where applicable. 
Appropriate space is available for the size of classes involved.  There 
are suitable work areas for teachers and adequate social provision 
for pupils. 
Storage provision and facilities for display are plentiful and 
convenient.  Accommodation is very well maintained.  Fixtures, 
fittings and furniture match educational needs, are of high quality and 
are in very good condition.  Access is suitable to the needs of all 
users”. 

 
(HMI ‘How Good is Our School’, January 2002) 

 
This is the standard that the Project aspires to deliver. 

 
3.5 In order to ensure that staff were involved directly and consulted in what 

was to be provided in the new schools, every member of staff in every 
Project school had the opportunity to input into the school accommodation 
requirements. These centred on the production of Room Data Sheets 
(RDS). Draft RDS sheets detailing what was to be provided in every room 
in every one of the Project schools, and draft schedules of accommodation 
detailing the number and sizes of each room in each school were provided 
to all Project schools. Staff were consulted on the appropriateness of the 
schedule of accommodation and the output specifications for each room 
type and their views were invited.  At the end of this consultation exercise 
amendments were made to reflect the views received and the content of 
the RDS sheets and the schedules of accommodation finalised.   

Page 7



Annex 1 

    

 
Accommodation Requirements 

 
3.6 The accommodation schedule for each school sets out the number of and 

size of each type of space to be provided within each school.  For example 
- general classrooms, specialist practical rooms (technical, science, ASN, 
etc.) through to a wide range of non-teaching accommodation – 
administration offices, meeting rooms, pupil social space, staff bases, 
toilets, etc.  Each school was consulted on how these rooms were to be 
suited and the school preferences for the adjacencies of these rooms one 
to another was implemented through to the design stage. The schedule 
also specifies the external accommodation required for formal Physical 
Education activities, informal playground space, as well as parking 
requirements, pupil drop-off zones, etc.  As a general rule for each site 
there is a separation of vehicular and pedestrian traffic, with each site 
being fully inclusive and the facilities being available for community use. 

  
(A more detailed example of how the RDS sheets come together to form 
the schedule of accommodation is included as Appendix 2 where the 
example used is the accommodation schedule for Rothesay Joint 
Campus) 

 
3.7 Schools were consulted in detail on all of these aspects and Members will 

wish to note that the specifications detailed on Room Data Sheets (RDS) 
and the Schedules of Accommodation form part of the Authority’s 
Requirements which are a Schedule to the overall Project Agreement. 

 
Design Performance Standards 

 
3.8 Having established the number and type of rooms at each facility, the 

suiting, adjacencies and general design principles, the Authority’s 
Requirements also set the standards of: 

  
• Design; 
• Construction; and 
• Maintenance.  

 
for all project facilities. The standards follow national guidelines and 
include for example, Building Codes of Practice, Building Standards 
(Scotland) Regulations that cover DfES Building Bulletins covering Fire 
and Design of School, CCTV, Design of School Grounds, DDA 
Requirements, etc. Further detail on the headings used and design 
performance standards that apply can be found in Appendix 3. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Annex 1 

    

Quality 
 
3.9  The use of design performance standards is one way of ensuring that 

quality is in-built into the new schools. This is important, as the Council has 
insisted throughout the life of the Project that it is seeking to provide a 
quality solution compatible with the HMI description above.  The drive for 
quality can be evidenced in other areas, for example: 

 
• All secondary technical departments will be re-equipped with new 

wood-work and metal-work machinery. In order to ensure that this 
machinery met the exacting standards a focus group of principal 
technical teachers was brought together to review the specification 
for this machinery. At the end of this review the focus group 
expressed high levels of satisfaction with the machinery to be 
provided; 

• Principal teachers of Education have been involved in choice of 
synthetic playing surfaces to be installed on the external pitches; 

• The furniture supplier for this contract is ESA MacIntosh based in 
Kirkcaldy. As one of the UK’s leading furniture supplier to schools, 
under traditional school contracts as well as PPPs, they have a 
reputation to uphold. In order to give staff a pre-view of the quality of 
the furniture to be provided the firm will set-up and build within Argyll 
and Bute a temporary showroom facility that will display samples of 
the furniture to be fitted to Project Schools. 

• The Council’s Disability Access Officer (Education) has reviewed and 
approved the access solutions and the provision of facilities for 
people with a wide range of disabilities at each of the schools and 
has acknowledged that they represent a significant improvement for 
everyone with access difficulties and sensory impairment. With these 
developments the Project schools will achieve a standard that is at 
present unavailable in any other of the authority’s schools. 

• As all schools signage, internal and external, will bi-lingual - Gaelic 
and English, - the Council’s Gaelic Development Officer will work 
alongside the Contractor, prior to the schools opening, to ensure the 
appropriate spelling for all signage is agreed in all circumstances. 

 
3.10 These examples should serve to illustrate that quality driver that is at the 

heart of the Project. Importantly, the PPP Project has sought to ensure 
that the standards set at the beginning of the contract are maintained 
throughout the life of the Project and it is here that two important and PPP 
specific elements come into their own – Lifecycle Maintenance and 
Facilities Management. 

 
Lifecycle Maintenance 

 
3.11 It is generally recognised that whilst there were difficulties with design and 

 the construction methods of some schools, especially those built in the 
1960s and 1970s, at least a major contributory factor to the rapid 
deterioration of these schools was the inability of the then Councils to 
maintain these schools to the standards they would wish because of lack 

Page 9



Annex 1 

    

of resources. Year-on-year reductions in maintenance budgets led 
inexorably to the situation where schools, in terms of their repair and 
maintenance requirements, were in freefall and quite simply the Councils 
were unable to keep up with the ever-increasing demand for additional 
resources for these building. 

 
3.12 Under the PPP regime the risk and costs of the future lifecycle 

maintenance has been transferred to the private sector. Quite simply the 
Council, through the Annual Unitary Charge, is paying for the proper 
maintenance of all facilities in the new schools.  

 
3.13 The maintenance regime is designed to ensure that buildings and 

environment will be maintained to a high standard throughout the duration 
of the Contract and meet the requirements of the Project Agreement 
throughout that period. This maintenance regime will cover: 

 
• Planned maintenance 
• Reactive maintenance, and 
• Life-cycle replacements 

 
(Some further details of the Lifecycle Maintenance regime are contained in 
Appendix 4)  

 
Facilities Management  (FM) 

 
3.14 To complement the on-going lifecycle maintenance the responsibility for all 

of the facilities management services have also been transferred to the 
private sector.  The purpose of this is to ensure a joined-up service 
delivery for all building matters and services, excluding teaching and 
learning and the provision of school meals, both of which will continue to 
be delivered by Council staff.   

 
3.15 Through the Project Agreement the Council requires that the Project 

Facilities will be available, and provided in accordance with the Project 
Agreement at Core Times. (Core Times includes school use and 
community use). The FM services to be provided through the contract 
include 

 
• Catering Facilities Services; 
• Premises Management, Security Service and Health and Safety; 
• Energy Management and Utilities Supply; 
• Building Fabric and Services Maintenance; 
• Furniture and Equipment; 
• Portering and Churn management; 
• Cleaning; 
• Environmental Management; 
• Horticulture; 
• Pest Control; 
• Waste Management; 
• Disaster Management; 

Page 10



Annex 1 

    

• Fire and Emergency Management; and 
• Help Desk. 

 
3.16 Through the delivery of these services that the Contractor is required to: 
 

• Provide and maintain the Project Facilities to the agreed standard to 
enable the Authority to meet their educational and curriculum 
requirements; 

• Consistently deliver a safe, dry, comfortable and secure environment 
for staff, students, employees, visitors and third party activity users of 
each Project Facility; 

• Manage each Project Facility as an ‘asset’ in order to allow the 
Authority efficient and effective operational usage of each Project 
Facility;  

• Provide a service that promotes improvements in efficiency ‘year on 
year’, including the efficient use of sustainable energy; and 

• Ensure that performance complies with all the specific requirements 
and the Availability Standards and the Performance Standards 
detailed in the Authority’s Requirements. 

 
3.17 For each of the services the Contractor has developed a service delivery 

 plan to illustrate to the Council how that particular service will be delivered 
and in making these facilities available the contractor is required to 
conform to all relevant Availability Standards and Performance Standards. 
Some examples of the Availability Standards are contained in Appendix 5 

 
Facilities Management Performance Requirements 

 
 3.18 The Council requires the Project Facilities to be available and provided in 
 accordance with the Project Agreement at the Core Times.  The 
 Contractor shall conform to the Availability Standards and the 
 Performance Standards and the framework for measuring Availability 
 Standards and Performance Standards. 
 
3.19 Availability Standards have been set for the following areas: 
 

• Access; 
• Security; 
• Health and Safety; 
• Water - Hot and Cold, and Potable; 
• Waste; 
• Power;  
• Ventilation; 
• Heating; 
• Lighting; 
• Fixtures, Furniture and Equipment; 
• Building Fabric; 
• Noise; 
• External Works; 

Page 11



Annex 1 

    

• Catering; 
• Accommodation; 
• ICT; 
• Cleaning; 
• Setting Up areas. 

 
3.20 It is the Contractor’s responsibility to ensure that facilities are available and 

 that they meet all required standards. If at any time an area of the school 
 is not available as it does not meet the required availability standard 
specification then, the Contractor has under the Project agreement a 
period of time – the Rectification Time (see Appendix 6 for an example of 
rectification times) – to put matters right.  If the facility it is not made 
available within the rectification period as set out in the Project Agreement, 
a payment deduction will be made in accordance with the payment 
mechanism.  

 
Examples Used 

 
3.21 In describing the Room Data Sheets, Accommodation Requirements, 

Schedules of Accommodation, Facilities Management and Life-Cycle 
Maintenance above, some limited examples have been provided to 
Members to illustrate these elements. The actual schedules that cover all 
of the elements run to hundreds of pages over several volumes. The detail 
of all of these are available at the Project Office.  

 
Development Constraints 

 
3.22 With the proposed new building works, especially at Rothesay Primary site 

 and Dunoon Grammar School site where the new facilities are being built 
 on Brownfield sites with the existing buildings being demolished thereafter, 
 constraints have been placed on the Contractor, in the Project Agreement, 
 with regard to the building operations. This comprises two main sections – 
Minimising Disruption and Management of Construction works. 

 
3.23 Whilst schools can expect some degree of noise and disruption during 

 construction and demolition on adjacent sites by highlighting these areas 
within the Project Agreement, especially the need to ensure effective 
communication during the building works phases, the intention is to ensure 
the safety of pupils and staff and to minimise disruption where possible. 

 
Minimising Disruption 

 
3.24 This section of the Project Agreement reminds the Contractor that the 

building works are taking place alongside a functioning school and sets out 
the issues surrounding the need for the Contractor to minimise disruption 
to the operation of the Schools during the Works Phase.  It also sets out 
the requirements for the decanting and transfer of pupils, teachers and 
equipment to the new school. 

 
 

Page 12



Annex 1 

    

3.25 It covers aspects such as: 
 
• Health and Safety legislation in relation to site safety – including 

noise, dust and vibration levels; 
• The use of out of school hours /holidays for noisy tasks and 

disruptive activities; 
• The need to minimise disruption to the provision of education 

services; 
• The segregation of persons engaged in carrying out the works from 

pupils, staff and visitors during school hors and after school activities; 
and 

• The logistical arrangements for the transfer of pupils, staff, books, 
teaching equipment and other items of equipment to and from the 
existing school accommodation to the new school building.   

 
Management of Construction Works 

 
3.26 This section details the general management of the Works e.g. 

construction programme, construction methodology, communications, 
relationships with neighbouring properties, conditions of use of the sites, 
and health and safety. It covers aspects such as: Health and safety of 
pupils; staff and visitors; route signage; site access; fire access and 
evacuation; site deliveries and delivery times; vehicle parking; and security 
of the site. 

 
 
4. CONCLUSION 

 
4.1 This paper notes that the need for the PPP/NPDO Project remains 

unchanged and that although the scope has changed the delivery of the 
Project will make a substantial impact on education provision I Argyll and 
Bute. The Project is designed to ensure that high standards are evident in 
all respects from the beginning and that these are maintained for the 
duration of the Contract. 

 
 

Page 13



Annex 1 

    

 
Appendix 1 to Annex 1 – Report entitled “Educational and Technical Requirements” 

 
BACKGROUND TO THE PPP/NPDO PROJECT 

 
1. Since the formation of the Council in 1996 year-on-year difficulties were 

being experienced in finding the resources required to meet the increasing 
costs of repairs and maintenance to the schools estate. In order to provide 
the Council with a more strategic and accurate description of the scale of 
the problem, property condition surveys were undertaken on 20% of the 
school estate in 2000. This preliminary work confirmed that, in common 
with all other councils, the inherited problem of under-funding in school 
maintenance and capital investment had resulted in deterioration to the 
extent that the school estate now required substantial investment just to 
meet the (then) backlog of repair and maintenance. In the absence of 
better property management information this figure was estimated at the 
time to be in the region of £25-£35 million. The Council was alerted to the 
fact that this figure would increase exponentially if the Council sought to 
make additional provision to alter the buildings, improve the quality of 
provision or to reflect the requirements of the modern curriculum or to 
ensure that buildings complied with legislation at that time. 

 
2. It was clear at that time, even with these levels of estimates, that the 
 resources available to the Council were insufficient to deliver 
 improvements at the scale and pace required. 
 
3. Accordingly the Council agreed in Sept 2000 to set-up a six-month project 

to investigate the possibility of attracting additional finance for the schools 
through the development of new type of Public Private Partnership known 
as the Non Profit Distributing Organisation. The Scottish Executive 
supported this development and accorded the Argyll and Bute project a 
pathfinder status. As the Council were trying to develop a new type of 
PPP, which might have implications elsewhere, Partnerships UK 
approached the Council and it was agreed that they would act as co-
sponsors of the Project. 

 
4. Initially the Council’s ambitions for the Project included all schools within 

the authority area. However, due to the level of demand from other local 
authorities the Scottish Executive was unable to support this whole school 
estate proposal but was, in February 2003, able to support an Outline 
Business Case for twenty-eight schools.   

 
5. Accordingly a notice was placed in the Official Journal of the European 

Union (OJEU) in April 2003 with the Invitation to Negotiate (ITN) issued to 
bidders in June 2003. 

 
6. Two bids were received in response to the ITN, neither of which was 

affordable. After a long and detailed evaluation of the bids received the 
Council appointed, on a provisional basis, Precept NPDO as the preferred 
bidder.  However, in view of sustained local opposition to Precept’s 
proposals at the time of the consultation exercise in April - June 2004 and 

Page 14



Annex 1 

    

the increase in the affordability gap the scope of the Project had to be 
reduced. This decision was taken at the Council meeting in July 2004.   

 
7. Following notification of further price increases the scope of the Project 

was further reduced to ten schools on five sites. However, shortly after this 
decision was agreed at the end of January 2005 the building contractor 
who had been due to build Hermitage Academy withdrew from the Precept 
consortium. Accordingly whilst Hermitage is very much still part of this 
Project this will now be a two-phased project with Financial close on the 
nine schools being achieved in June 2005 and financial close on 
Hermitage being targeted for Sept 2005.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



Annex 1 

    

 
 

Appendix 2 to Annex 1 – Report entitled “Educational and Technical Requirements 
 
ROTHESAY JOINT CAMPUS: SCHEDULE OF ACCOMMODATION 
 
 
SECONDARY SCHOOL & SHARED 

 

Title RDS 
Number 

Nr of 
rooms 

Room Sizes 

General Classroom    
 English S01 4 4 @ 58m2 
 Mathematics S01 4 4 @ 58m2 
 Modern Languages S01 3 3 @ 58m2 
 Social Studies S01 3 3 @ 58m2 
 PSE S01 1 1 @ 58m2 
Science Laboratory - Biology S02 1 1 @ 80m2 
Science Laboratory - Chemistry S02 1 1 @ 80m2 
Science Laboratory - Physics S02 1 1 @ 80m2 
Science Laboratory - Multi Purpose  S02 2 2 @ 80m2 
Science Storage Area S03 
Science Tech Prep Area S04 1 1 @ 63m2 

Greenhouse S05 1 1 @ 16m2 
Tech Craft Room (Metal & Wood) S06 1 1 @ 100m2 
Tech - Graphics Room S09 1 1 @ 80m2 
Tech Wood/Metal Store S12A 1 1 @ 57m2 
Home Economics Food Prep S16 1 1 @ 85m2 
H E Classroom - Fabrics S18 1 1 @ 70m2 
H E Laundry S19 1 1 @ 10m2 
H E Food Store, Prep & Cold Room S20 1 1 @ 12m2 
Art & Design 3D S23 1 1 @ 85m2 
Art & Design 2D S24 2  2 @ 75m2 
Art - IT Room S25A 1 1 @ 15m2 
Art - Paint & Paper Store S26 2 1 @ 9m2; 1 @ 23m2 
Art - Clay Store S27 1 1 @ 10m2 
Business Education Classroom S28 2 2 @ 70m2 
Computing Classroom S29 1 1 @ 70m2 
IT Store & Workroom S30 1 1 @ 25m2 
Business Ed/Computing Departmental Store S61 1 1 @ 24m2 
IT Hub Room S31 2 1 @ 11m2; 1 @ 8m2 
Music Classroom S32 1 1 @ 78m2 
Music Practice S33 1 1 @ 15m2 
Music Recording Studio S34 1 1 @ 6m2 
Music Store S35 2 1 @ 18m2; 1 @ 6m2 
Sports Hall S39 1 1 @ 594m2 
Gymnasium S40 1 1 @ 270m2 
Dance Studio S41 1 1 @ 90m2 
Fitness Room S42 1 1 @ 60m2 
Title RDS Nr of Room Sizes 

Page 16



Annex 1 

    

Number rooms 
Indoor Sports Store S43 1 1 @ 45m2 
Outdoor Sports Store S44 1 1 @ 30m2 
Gymnasium Store S45 1 1 @ 15m2 
PE Changing Rooms - Pupils S46 1 1 @ 42m2 
PE Changing Rooms – Pupils (incorporating 
accessible shower/toilet) S46A 2 2 @ 52m2 

PE Staff Changing Rooms & Toilets S47  Incorporated into staff 
base 

Library/Resource Centre S48 1 1 @ 150m2 
Library Office S49 1 1 @ 10m2 
Library Store S50 1 1 @ 10m2 
SEN Classroom - Large S51 1 1 @ 90m2 
SEN Classroom - Small S52 1  1 @ 40m2 
SEN Shower & Toilet S53 1 1 @ 14m2 
SEN Office S54 1 1 @ 15m2 
SEN Departmental Storage S55 1 1 @ 8m2 
Medical Room S56 1 1 @ 16m2 
Area Network Support Team Store S61 1 1 @ 10m2 
Behaviour Support Classroom S59 1 1 @ 58m2 
Seminar Room S60 1 1 @ 30m2 
School Office S62 1 1 @ 45m2 
Waiting Area S63 1 Included in circulation 
General Store S64 
Stationery Store S65 1 1 @ 25m2 

Reprographics Room S66 1 1 @ 20m2 
Head Teacher's Office S67 2 2 @ 25m2 
Head Teacher's WC S68 1 1 @ 3m2 
Depute Head Teacher's Office S69 1 1 @ 52m2 
Office - Admin & Finance Assistant S70 1 1 @ 10m2 
Conference - Committee Room S71 1 1 @ 40m2 
Interview Room S73 2 2 @ 10m2 
Guidance Office S74 1 1 @ 24m2 
Staff Base S77 - See below 
Staffroom S78 1 1 @ 60m2 
Corridors & Circulation S79 - As RDS Requirements 
Assembly Hall S80 
Dining Room S82 1 1 @ 450m2 

Exam Desk Store S81 1 1 @ 30m2 
Dining Furniture Store S83 1 1 @ 28m2 
DDA Accessible Toilets S86 7 4 @ 3m2; 3 @ 5m2 
Staff Toilets S87 2 2 @ 20m2 

Pupil Toilets S88 6 2 @ 30m2; 2 @ 22m2; 2 
@ 5m2 

Sound / Projection Room S95 1 1 @ 10m2 
 

Page 17



Annex 1 

    

 
 
 
Staff Bases (incorporating separate general Departmental Storage) 
 

Title RDS 
Number 

Nr of 
rooms 

Room Sizes 

English Base S77 1 1 @ 22m2 
English General Store S61 1 1 @ 6m2 
Mathematics Base S77 
Modern Languages Base S77 1 1 @ 35m2 

Mathematics and Modern Languages General 
Store S61 1 1 @ 15m2 

Social Studies Base S77 1 1 @ 16m2 
Social Studies General Store S61 1 1 @ 4m2 
Science S77 1 1 @ 22m2 
Science General Store S61 1 1 @ 8m2 
Technical Base S77 
HE Base S77 1 1 @ 20m2 

Technical and Home Economics General 
Store  S61 1 1 @ 10m2 

Art Base S77 1 1 @ 20m2 
Business Ed/Computing Base S77 1 1 @ 20m2 
Music Base S77 1 1 @ 10m2 
PE (including changing) Base S77 1 1 @ 24m2 
PE General Store S61 1 1 @ 4m2 
SEN/ANST Base S77 1 1 @ 21m2 
SEN/ANST General Store S61 1 1 @ 4m2 
 
Other Areas 
 

Title RDS 
Number 

Nr of 
rooms 

Room Sizes 

Kitchen RDS 1 1 @ 101m2 
Plant N/A 2 1 @ 100m2; 1 @ 16m2 
FM Store and Office N/A 1 & 1 1 @ 20m2; 1 @ 9m2 
Cleaners Stores N/A 3 2 @ 3m2; 1@ 5m2 
 
 
 
ARGYLL COLLEGE 

 

Title RDS 
Number 

Nr of 
rooms 

Room Sizes 

Computer Room A1 1 1 @ 30m2 
Reception/Waiting area A2 1 1 @ 24m2 
IT Hub Room A3 1 1 @ 3m2 
Store A4 1 1 @ 2m2 
WC A5 2 2 @ 3m2 

Page 18



Annex 1 

    

WC (accessible) A6 1 1 @ 5m2 
Kitchen A7 1 1 @ 12m2 
Office A8 2 2 @ 9m2 
Tutorial/Video Conference Room A9 1 1 @ 18m2 
 
 
 
PRIMARY SCHOOL 

 

Title RDS 
Number 

Nr of 
rooms 

Room Sizes 

Classroom P-01 14 14 @ 69m2 
Central Resource Room P-09 2 2 @ 12m2 
Library & ICT Suite P-10A 1 1 @ 70m2 
General Purpose Room – Music/Dance P-11A 1 1 @ 50m2 
SEN Classroom P-20 1 1 @ 70m2 
SEN Store P-21 1 1 @ 15m2 
SEN Toilet and Shower P-23 1 1 @ 14m2 
Pre-5 SEN Toilet and Shower Area P-23A 1 1 @ 10m2 
Tutorial Room P-26 1 1 @ 22m2 
Pre 5 Classroom P-27 1 1 @ 60m2 
Pre 5 Store P-28 1 1 @ 4m2 
Pre 5 Store - external P-29 1 1 @ 15m2 
Pre 5 Toilets P-30 1 1 @ 14m2 

Pre 5 Cloakroom P-31 - Incorporated into corridor 
area 

Pre 5 Reception P-32 1 1 @ 12m2 

Pupil Cloakrooms P-34 - Incorporated into 
corridor area 

Pupil Toilets P-35 4 2 @ 25m2; 2 @ 17m2;  
Secretary Office P-37 1 1 @ 17m2 
Staff Base P-46 1 1 @ 22m2 
DDA Accessible Toilet P-49 2 1 @ 5m2; 1 @ 3m2 
Medical & Visiting Services Room P-50 1 1 @ 12m2 
Snoezelin Room S94 1 1 @ 8m2 
Corridors & Circulation P-56 - As RDS Requirements 
 
 
EXTERNAL AREAS 

 
Secondary & Shared 
 

Title RDS 
Number 

Nr of 
rooms 

Area / Provision 

Screened Bin Area S89 - As RDS Requirements 
Playground & Garden S90 - As RDS Requirements 
External Areas S91 - As RDS Requirements 
Car Park S92 - As RDS Requirements 
Cycle Storage S93 - As RDS Requirements 

Page 19



Annex 1 

    

Primary 
 

Title RDS 
Number 

Nr of 
rooms 

Area / Provision 

SEN Play Area P-25 - As RDS Requirements 
Pre 5 External Play Area P-33 - As RDS Requirements 
Hard social play area P-57 - As RDS Requirements 
Soft social play area P-58 - As RDS Requirements 
Habitat area P-59 - As RDS Requirements 
Waiting area P-60 - As RDS Requirements 
Car park S92 - As RDS Requirements 
Cycle Compound & Racks S93 - As RDS Requirements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



Annex 1 

    

Appendix 3 to Annex 1 – Report entitled “Educational and Technical Requirements” 
 
DESIGN PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 
 
 
The Authority’s Requirements sets out the standards of design, construction and 
maintenance for the Project Facilities under the following headings. 

 
 
 Heading Description  
a Regulations and Guidelines Details legislation and regulations 

specific to the schools.  
b Design Sets out the Authority's requirements 

with regard to design throughout the 
Contract Period. 

c Environmental Requirements Sets out the Authority’s requirements 
for environmental standards. 

d Security Requirements Sets out the Authority’s standards for 
security infrastructure within Schools 
and within the Sites. 

e Building Fabric Sets out the Authority’s standards for 
each element of building fabric. 

f Civil and Structural 
Engineering 

Sets out the Authority’s standards for 
establishing and maintaining the 
integrity of roads, structural elements 
and ground conditions. 

g Building Services Sets out the Authority’s standards for 
each category of building services. 

 
 
For each heading above, the detail of the requirements to be met are itemised.  A 
list of the sub-sections contained within two of the main headings, namely Design 
and Building Fabric, are set out below as information for Members.   
 
Design 
 

The sub-sections are:  
• Durability 
• Internal Planning 
• Quality of Internal and External Spaces 
• Access for People with Disabilities 
• Building Services Installations 
• Energy Management Strategy 
•   Pedestrian Access and Circulation 
•   Design for Community Use 

 
 
 
 

Page 21



Annex 1 

    

Building Fabric 
 

The sub-sections are: 
• General Requirements 
• Sub-structure; 
• Frame; 
• Upper Floors; 
• Roof, Stairs; External and Internal Walls; Windows; Doors; 
• Internal Finishes – walls, floors, ceilings; 
• Fixtures and Fittings (including specific furniture and fittings performance 

standards); 
• Installations – Disposal, Water; Heating, Ventilation, Electrical, Fire 

Alarm, Fire Fighting Equipment, Emergency lighting, Security, 
Communications, Building Services, Energy Management System, 
Kitchen Services; and 

• Landscaping: external works. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



Annex 1 

    

 
Appendix 4 to Annex 1 – Report entitled “Educational and Technical Requirements” 

 
Lifecycle Maintenance 
 
1. One of the major risk elements in any PPP project is the proper provision; 

pricing and management of the Lifecycle replacement schedule to ensure 
the service provisions are maintained throughout the life of the contract.  
The life-cycle model for the Project has been constructed by Faithful and 
Gould (F&G) on behalf of the Precept Consortium.  F&G have prepared 
their lifecycle schedule to ensure the buildings (and environment) will be 
maintained to provide a pleasing and welcoming appearance. 

 
2. The Contractor is required to provide a comprehensive programme of life 

cycle replacement and maintenance to ensure that the Project Facilities 
meet the requirements of the Project Agreement throughout the Contract 
Period.  Life cycle maintenance includes the following elements: 

 
• Planned maintenance i.e. activities undertaken at regular intervals to 

retain the functional and operational qualities of the asset; 
• Reactive maintenance i.e. responding to failures in the operation of 

assets; 
• Life-cycle replacements at the end of an asset’s economic life. 

 
3. The Contractor is required to assess the life cycle maintenance 

requirements of the Project Facilities taking account of the following: 
 

• The programming of works to replace assets at the end of their 
economic life shall take account of the operation of each Project 
Facility; 

• There shall be a balance between reactive maintenance works and 
life-cycle replacement works so that the Project offers value for 
money throughout the Operational Services Period but minimises the 
disruption to the operation of each Project Facility; 

• New works and life-cycle replacement works shall meet mandatory 
regulations and codes of practice;  

• Construction methods and materials shall be chosen to provide life 
cycles which meet the needs of the operations in each Project 
Facility; 

• The building fabric and services shall be left in such a condition at the 
end of the Contract Period that the rolling maintenance / life cycle 
programme established by the Contractor can be continued by the 
Authority without failure of any of the major elements of the buildings 
for a minimum period of five years; and 

• The Authority shall have access to the Contractor’s life cycle 
replacement plans as set out in this Agreement.  

 
4. The Lifecycle profile identifies the major elements of the buildings (and 

furniture and equipment provided through the Contract) with their life 
expectancies and provides a profile as to the level of repair, replacement 
and maintenance throughout the contract period.  The Facilities 

Page 23



Annex 1 

    

Management Sub-contractor MITIE will be responsible for the life cycle 
regime and will schedule a rolling life cycle maintenance plan.  This plan is 
required to be agreed with the Council on an annual basis.  This plan will 
identify any reasons for change required to the plan. 

 
5. In order to ensure monies will be available at the appropriate time within 

the lifecycle plan, F&G have included a look-forward provision.  This 
means that although an element may require replacement, in say year 
five, in the event that this is required to be replaced in advance, then 
appropriate monies will be available to be drawn down.  This is accepted 
standard practice in the PPP market. 

 
6. The Council’s technical advisers Capita Symonds have reviewed the 

assumptions used by F&G in the lifecycle plan and have commented that 
they appear to be of a robust nature and the value of money allocated is 
within market levels. 

 
Lifecycle Look Forward Provision 
 
7. In order to ensure monies will be available at the appropriate time within 

the lifecycle plan, F&G have included a look-forward provision.  This 
means that although an element may require replacement, in say year 
five, in the event this is required to be replaced in advance, then 
appropriate monies will be available to be drawn down.  This is standard 
practice in the PPP market. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



Annex 1 

    

Appendix 5 to Annex 1 – Report entitled “Educational and Technical Requirements” 
 
Availability Standards 
 
1. If at any time an area of the school is not available as it does not meet the 

required availability standard specification then, if it is not made available 
within the rectification period as set out in the Project Agreement, a 
payment deduction will be made in accordance with the payment 
mechanism. 

 
2. An example of such availability standard would be: The Availability 

Standards for Lighting are A19 and A20. 
 

1 2 3 4 5 6 
Ref. Requirement Specific 

Requirement 
Availability 
Standard 

Service 
Response 

Priority 

Rectification 
Period 

A19 Lighting The Contractor shall 
provide fully 
operational and safe 
internal lighting 
systems and lux 
levels to be measured 
at work plane level in 
accordance with the 
Authority 
Requirements and in 
accordance with the 
appropriate CIBSE 
guidelines to allow the 
Authority to deliver 
Educational Services. 

100% 
compliance 
with Specific 
Requirements

N/A 1 hour perm 

A20 Lighting The Contractor shall 
provide fully 
operational and safe 
external lighting to 
allow secure and safe 
access. 

100% 
compliance 
with Specific 
Requirements

N/A 30 mins 
perm 

 
3. The table shows the availability specification standard to be met.  If not, 

then the Contractor has to comply within rectification period as set out i.e. 
within 1 hour for standard A19 and within 15mins for A20.  Failure to 
comply results in deductions.  

Page 25



Annex 1 

    

 
Appendix 6 to Annex 1 – Report entitled “Educational and Technical Requirements” 

 
Rectification Periods 
 
1. In addition to availability standards a large number of performance 

standards have been set.  Again if the performance standard is not 
achieved and is not rectified within the agreed rectification time then a 
deduction would be made. 

 
2. For some standards, availability or performance, the response times are 

not as crucial and the time to rectify the problem is indicated by a priority 
level in Column 5 rather than a rectification time in column 6.  There are 5 
possible priority levels. 

 
Permanent Rectification 

Priority General Description 
Location A Location B 

1 Matters giving rise to an immediate 
health and safety or security risk 

1 Hour 3 Hours 

2 Matters that prevent or severely 
inhibit the Authority from conducting 
its normal operations 

4 Hours 6 Hours 

3 Matters that have a detrimental 
effect to the occupation of the 
Project Facilities by the Authority 
and Authority Related Parties but 
still allow the provision of all 
Educational Services at the Project 
Facilities.  

12 Hours 24 Hours 

4 Matters that have the ability to 
impact on the continuity, provision 
and quality of Educational Services 
at the Project Facilities if not 
rectified. 

24 Hours 36 Hours 

5 Matters that relate only to the 
ongoing provision of an acceptable 
standard of accommodation 

1 Week 1.5 Weeks 

 
Location A – Helensburgh. 

 
Location B  - Dunoon, Rothesay, Oban and Lochgilphead. 

 
3. An example of such a performance standard is shown overleaf. In this 

example the cleaning of light fittings is specified as a performance 
standard and if it is not being met the Contractor would have to rectify the 
situation according to a priority 5 as shown in the priority table above.  If 
the Contractor fails to meet this standard and does not rectify the problem 
within the appropriate service response time then a deduction would be 
made. 

Page 26



Annex 1 

    

 
 
 
Performance Standard - Cleaning: Light Fittings 
 

1 2 3 4 5 6 
Ref. Requirement Specific 

Requirement 
Availability 
Standard 

Service 
Response 

Priority 

Rectification 
Period 

P8.1 Light Fittings The Contractor 
shall ensure 
that all light 
fittings and 
diffusers are 
cleaned to 
ensure proper 
operation and 
protection. 
Using the 
correct access 
equipment, the 
process shall 
ensure the 
above to be 
free from 
ingrained dirt 
and dust. 

100% 
compliance 
with Specific 
Requirements 

5  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda AnnexPage 29
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 37
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 320

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 321
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 324

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 325
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 376

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 377
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 386

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 387
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 394

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 395
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 410

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 411
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 422

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda AnnexPage 423
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 430

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda AnnexPage 431
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 432

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 433
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 480

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 481
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 486

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 487
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 490

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 491
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 494

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 495
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 498

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 499
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 504

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 505
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 506

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda AnnexPage 507
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 6, 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 512

This page is intentionally left blank



 
MINUTES of MEETING of ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, KILMORY, 

LOCHGILPHEAD  
on WEDNESDAY, 6 APRIL 2005  

 
 

Present: Convener William Petrie (Convener) 
 

 Councillor Robin Banks Councillor Donald MacMillan 
 Councillor Brian Chennell Councillor John McAlpine 
 Councillor Rory Colville Councillor Donald McIntosh 
 Councillor Robin Currie Councillor Alastair McKinlay 
 Councillor John Findlay Councillor Gordon McKinven 
 Councillor George Freeman Councillor James McQueen 
 Councillor Ian Gillies Councillor Bruce Marshall 
 Councillor Alison Hay Councillor Gary Mulvaney 
 Councillor Daniel Kelly Councillor Al Reay 
 Councillor Donald Kelly Councillor Bruce Robertson 
 Councillor Ronald Kinloch Councillor Len Scoullar 
 Councillor Alistair MacDougall Councillor Moyra Stewart 
 Councillor Sidney MacDougall Councillor Isobel Strong 
 Councillor Duncan MacIntyre Councillor John Tacchi 
 Councillor Robert Macintyre Councillor Dick Walsh 
   
Attending: James McLellan, Chief Executive 
 Nigel Stewart, Director of Corporate Services 
 George Harper, Director of Development Services 
 Andrew Law, Director of Operational Services 
 Angus Gilmour, Head of Planning 
 John MacNicol, Chief Asset Manager 
 Bill Geddes, Statutory Plans Manager 
 Fergus Murray, Development Policy Manager 
 Graham Whitefield, Corporate Data Standards Custodian 
 
Apologies: Councillor Douglas Currie Councillor Elaine Robertson 
 Councillor Allan Macaskill Councillor Eric Thompson 
 Councillor Ellen Morton  
 
 The Convener intimated the recent death of Councillor Eric Thompson’s wife.  It was agreed 

that a letter would be sent to Councillor Thompson expressing sincere condolences on behalf 
of the Council. 
 
The Convener gave an update on the progress of Councillor Douglas Currie’s wife recovery 
following a recent illness.  He wished her well and advised that the Chief Executive would write 
on behalf of the Council. 
 
The Convener announced that Bill Geddes, Statutory Plans Manager, was retiring after 30 
years of service with the Council.  He thanked Bill for his loyal service and wished him and his 
family good health and happiness on his retirement.  He then presented Bill with a 
commemorative gift to mark the occasion. 
 

 1. NOTICE OF MOTION 
 

  The Director of Corporate Services advised that the following Notice of Motion, by 
Councillor Len Scoullar, seconded by Councillor Isobel Strong, had been received:- 
 
“That this Council deplores the recent erroneous publicity attached to his Royal 
Highness Prince Charles, Duke of Rothesay and his wife-to-be Camilla Parker Bowles. 

Agenda Item 4Page 513



 
That this Council reaffirms its support to His Royal Highness, Duke of Rothesay and to 
confirm that he and his wife will be made most welcome should they decide to visit the 
Council area and that we would go further and extend to them an invitation at a date 
suitable, to visit the Isle of Bute”. 
 
The Convener ruled that the Motion be taken as a matter of urgency by reason of the 
need to correct the recent negative press reports.  The Council unanimously agreed to 
suspend Standing Order 14 and the motion is dealt with at item 16 of these Minutes. 
 

 2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 

  Councillor Gary Mulvaney declared a pecuniary interest in relation to the report on Argyll 
and Bute Local Plan which is dealt with at item 7 of this Minute due to conflicting 
business interests.  He left the room and took no part in the discussion on this item. 
 

 3. MINUTES 
 

  (a) The Council approved the Minutes of the Council Meeting of 31 January 
2005 as a correct record. 

 
(b) The Council approved the Minutes of the Council Meeting of 10 February 

2005 as a correct record. 
 

(c) The Council approved the Minutes of the Council Meeting of 17 March 2005 
as a correct record. 

 
 

 4. MINUTES OF COMMITTEES 
 

  The Committee considered the following Minutes.  They approved the recommendations 
of those Committees subject to what is shown below:- 
 
(a) Oban, Lorn & The Isles Area Committee 13 January 2005 
(b) Standards Committee 27 January 2005 

 
Arising from Item 2 (Council’s Ethical Framework) it was noted that there 
would be a report to the next Council Meeting regarding the Council Constitution 
which would include the Ethical Framework.  Accordingly, it was agreed to note 
the recommendation of the Standards Committee and agree that this be 
considered along with the Council Constitution at the next Council Meeting. 
 
Arising from Item 4 (Training For Councillors) it was agreed to delegate to the 
Director of Corporate Services, in consultation with the Chair of the Standards 
Committee, the Leader and the Convener, identification of two appropriate half 
day slots for the training session to take place on.  The Director also reiterated 
the Standards Committee recommendation that Members be encouraged to 
attend one or the other of the sessions which the Council endorsed. 

 
(c) Strategic Policy Committee (Education) 31 January 2005 
(d) Bute & Cowal Area Committee 1 February 2005 
(e) Helensburgh & Lomond Area Committee 1 February 2005 
 

Arising from Item 6(a) (Leisure Development Grants – Helensburgh Blossom 
Festival) the Council agreed that the fees should not be waived. 

 
(f) Oban, Lorn & The Isles Area Committee 2 February 2005 
(g) Mid Argyll, Kintyre & Islay Area Committee 2 February 2005 

Page 514



(h) Mid Argyll, Kintyre & Islay Area Committee 16 February 2005 
(i) Public Service & Licensing Committee 17 February 2005 
(j) Public Service & Licensing Committee 24 February 2005 
(k) Bute & Cowal Area Committee 1 March 2005 
(l) Helensburgh & Lomond Area Committee 1 March 2005 
 

Arising from Item 4(a) (Delegated Decisions by the Director of Development 
Services) the Council heard from the Director of Corporate Services as to the up 
to date position noting that an officer had now been appointed. 

 
(m) Oban, Lorn & The Isles Area Committee 2 March 2005 
 

It was noted that there had been amendments to the Minute which had been 
approved at the Area Committee meeting that had taken place yesterday.   
 

(n) Mid Argyll, Kintyre & Islay Area Committee 2 March 2005 
(o) Audit Committee 4 March 2005 
(p) Housing Stock Transfer Ad Hoc Committee 14 March 2005 
(q) Appeals Committee 14 March 2005 
(r) Appeals Committee 14 March 2005 
(s) Policy Development Group on the Local Governance (Scotland) Act 2004 14 

March 2005 
(t) Special Committee on the Education NPDO 15 March 2005 
(u) Strategic Policy Committee (Education) 17 March 2005 
(v) Strategic Policy Committee 17 March 2005 
 

 5. ASSET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
 

  The Council received a presentation by the Chief Asset Manager.  Following the 
presentation, Members were invited to raised questions and endorse the Strategy 
before them. 
 
Decision 
 
To endorse the Asset Management Strategy. 
 
(Ref: Draft Asset Management Strategy dated March 2005, submitted) 
 

 6. ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR STRATEGY 
 

  The Council has a duty under the Anti Social Behaviour Etc (Scotland) Act 2004 to 
prepare a Strategy and submit this to the Scottish Executive for approval.  A draft copy 
of the Strategy had been forwarded to the Scottish Executive by their deadline of 31 
March 2005 on the strict understanding that this document was subject to the Council’s 
approval on 6 April 2005. 
 
Decision 
 
To endorse the Anti Social Behaviour Strategy subject to the incorporation of the 
information received by the Head of Democratic Services and Governance from the 
Scottish Children’s Reporter Agency. 
 
(Ref: Report by Head of Democratic Services & Governance dated 17 March 2005, 
submitted). 
 

 7. ARGYLL AND BUTE LOCAL PLAN 
 

  The Argyll and Bute Final Draft Local Plan, which would replace eight adopted Local 

Page 515



Plans covering most of Argyll and Bute, was before the Council for endorsement. 
 
Decision 
 
1. To approve the Argyll and Bute Local Plan – Final Draft Plan to be placed on 

deposit and advertised in local newspapers (covering all 4 administrative areas) 
with a period of 9 weeks (commencing in May 2005) set aside for comments and 
formal objections. 

 
2. To authorise the Head of Planning to make minor editorial alterations to the Plan.
 
3. (i) That copies of the Final Draft Local Plan and Statement of Publicity and  

Consultation, together with standardised forms for lodging objections to 
the Final Draft Plan, be made available for inspection at: 
 
- The four main Area Council Offices in Dunoon, Helensbrugh,  

Lochgilphead and Oban. 
- Other Area Offices and premises sufficient to cover each of the 

four Planning Areas. 
- The Public Libraries in Argyll and Bute. 

 
(ii) The Plan’s text and Proposal Map documents being placed on the 

Council’s website and made available in paper and CD versions. 
 

(iii) That all organisations and individuals previously commenting on the 
consultative draft Argyll and Bute Local Plan be notified of the publication 
and deposit of the Final Draft Local Plan and timescale for lodging any 
objections to the Plan. 

 
(iv) That a series of “open days” be organised in each of the four 

administrative areas to allow local people to meet Policy Planning 
Officers, to ask questions on the Final Draft Local Plan and where 
appropriate seek further clarification and make representations. 

 
4. (i) That following the consultation period a further report be prepared by  

the Head of Planning on objections received in due course to the Final 
Draft Argyll and Bute Local Plan to a future meeting of the Strategic 
Policy Committee; and 

 
(ii) That preliminary arrangements for the holding of a Public Local Inquiry 

(PLI) be made in the event of objections being submitted and not 
subsequently withdrawn; and 

 
(iii) To note that further reports on managing progress on the Local Plan 

would be brought forward for consideration by the Strategic Policy 
Committee at the appropriate time, including the detailed arrangements 
and potential costs for holding a Public Local Inquiry if required. 

 
(Ref: Report by Director of Development Services dated 6 April 2004, submitted). 
 
Councillor Mulvaney had declared an interest in the foregoing item of business, left the 
room during discussion of the item, and accordingly took no part in the discussion. 
 

 8. HELENSBURGH TOWN CENTRE AND WATERFRONT ACTION PLAN 
 

  Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee had, at their meeting on 1 April 2005, agreed 
to recommend that funding of £30,000 from the Central Revenue Budget be allocated to 
the project to enable match funding to be released from Scottish Enterprise 

Page 516



Dunbartonshire to appoint a Development Officer/Consultant to progress the business 
case and delivery vehicle needed to take forward the key elements of the Town Centre 
and Waterfront Action Plan. 
 
Decision 
 
1. To endorse the need to appoint a Development Officer/Consultant to progress 

the business case and delivery vehicle needed to take forward the key elements 
of the Helensburgh Town Centre and Waterfront Action Plan. 

 
2. To agree to the request from the Helensburgh & Lomond Area Committee to 

allocate £30,000 match funding for the above appointment. 
 
3. That “business and community”, as opposed to just “community”, be the third leg 

referred to at Paragraph 3.3 on page 168 of the agenda pack. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Development Services dated 6 April 2005, submitted). 
 

 9. OBAN ACTION PLAN 
 

  The Council was invited to consider allocating £32,500 match funding for a major 
consultancy exercise for the production of a Draft Strategy and Action Plan to take 
forward the expansion and development of Oban envisaged in the approved Structure 
Plan and the Finalised Argyll and Bute Local Plan. 
 
Decision 
 
1. To recognise the need for a major consultancy to take forward the Oban Action 

Plan and to agree to provide £32,500 as match funding for this exercise. 
 
2. That this matter now be remitted to the Steering Group to progress. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Development Services dated 6 April 2005, submitted). 
 

 10. REVIEW OF ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS: ARGYLL AND BUTE 
 

  The Policy Development Group had considered the Local Government Boundary 
Commission’s initial proposals for eleven multi-member wards within the Argyll and Bute 
Council Area.   A report containing their recommendations had been submitted for 
endorsement by the Council and the Director of Corporate Services advised of a 
proposed slight adjustment to the proposal for Helensburgh and Lomond. 
 
Motion 
 
That the Council endorses the recommendations of the Policy Development Group as 
contained at Appendix C subject to:- 
 
The response being amended to include Craigendoran within proposed ward 5 giving an 
electorate of 5640 (-5.5% below parity) and thus giving ward 6 an electorate of 7820 (-
1.6% below parity); and 
 
Ward 2 (as proposed by the Council) being named Kintyre and the Islands. 
 
Moved by Councillor Dick Walsh, seconded by Councillor Gary Mulvaney  
 
Amendment 
 
That the Boundary Commission be requested to reconsider and accept the Council’s 

Page 517



decision in respect of Oban, Lorn and the Isles on 21st December 2004. 
 
i.e 2 wards 
 
1. Oban and South Lorn 
2. North Lorn, Awe and the Isles 
 
as detailed in that submission 
 
Moved by Councillor Duncan MacIntyre, seconded by Councillor Ian Gillies 
 
Decision 
 
The Motion was carried by 22 votes to 7 and the Council resolved accordingly. 
 
(Councillor Rory Colville, having moved an amendment which failed to find a seconder 
required his dissent from the foregoing decision to be recorded) 
 
(Ref: Report by Policy Development Group on the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
2004 dated 6 April 2005, submitted). 
 

 11. INQUIRY INTO BOUNDARIES, VOTING AND REPRESENTATION IN SCOTLAND 
 

  The Arbuthnott Commission had prepared a Consultation Paper regarding the  possible 
impact of boundary differences and multiple voting systems on voter participation, 
relationships with MPs and MSPs and the service provided to constituents by their 
elected representatives.  This Consultation Paper had been considered by the Policy 
Development Group who had made a recommendation that the Council should not 
respond to this. 
 
Decision 
 
That the Council does not submit a corporate response to the Consultation on the basis  
that it would not be possible to recommend a single response for the Council.  
Accordingly, it be left to individual Councillors of Political Groups to submit views to the 
Commission, if they wish.  
 
(Ref: Report by Policy Development Group on the Local Governance (Scotland) Act 
2004 dated 18 March 2005, submitted). 
 

 12. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ELECTIONS (SCOTLAND) BILL 
 

  The Policy Development Group on the Local Governance (Scotland) Act 2004 made 
recommendation that the proposed draft response be endorsed by the Council. 
 
Motion 
 
That no action be taken. 
 
Moved by Councillor Robin Currie, seconded by Councillor Rory Colville 
 
Amendment 
 
To adopt the draft response attached at Appendix 1 of the submitted report for 
submission to Mr Mundell, MSP, and the Minister for Finance and Local Government. 
 
Moved by Councillor Dick Walsh, seconded by Councillor Len Scoullar 
 

Page 518



Decision 
 
The Motion was carried by 26 votes to 4 and the Council resolved accordingly. 
 
(Ref: Report by Policy Development Group on the Local Governance (Scotland) Act 
2004 dated 18 March 2005, submitted) 
 

 13. CHILDREN'S PANEL ADVISORY COMMITTEE: COUNCIL APPOINTMENT 
 

  It was reported that one of the Council’s appointees term of office had expired on 31 
December 2004 and had therefore created a vacancy which required to be filled. 
 
Decision 
 
To remit to the Director of Corporate Services in consultation with the Convener and 
Vice-Convener of the Council to appoint a suitably experienced representative after 
appropriate public advertisement. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Corporate Services dated 16 March 2005, submitted) 
 

 14. NADAIR TRUST 
 

  It was reported that Councillor John Findlay’s current term of office on the Trust will 
expire on 25 April 2005 although he would be eligible for re-election to the Board of 
Trustees at this time. 
 
Decision 
 
That Councillor John Findlay continue to represent the Council on the Board of 
Trustees. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Corporate Services dated 4 March 2005, submitted).  
 

 15. PROPOSED AREA TOURISM PARTNERSHIP 
 

  The Area Tourist Boards were abolished on 1 April 2005 and replaced by an integrated 
single National Tourism Organisation.  The Council had been requested to appoint two 
Councillors to serve on the proposed Area Tourism Partnership. 
 
Nominations 
 
That the Convener and Councillor Al Reay be appointed as the Council’s 
representatives. 
 
Moved by Councillor Alison Hay, seconded by Councillor John Tacchi 
 
That in the interests of continuity,  the Convener and Councillor Bruce Marshall 
represent the Council on the Partnership. 
 
Moved by Councillor Freeman, seconded by Councillor Ronald Kinloch. 
 
As there were no further nominations, it was unanimously agreed that Convener Petrie 
should fill one of the vacancies and a vote was taken between Councillors Reay and 
Marshall. 
 
Decision 
 
Councillor Marshall’s nomination received 18 votes and Councillor Reay’s nomination 

Page 519



received 9 Votes.  The Council therefore appointed Councillor Marshall. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Corporate Services dated 10 March 2005, submitted) 
 

 16. HIS ROYAL HIGHNESS, DUKE OF ROTHESAY: URGENT MOTION 
 

  The Council considered the following motion made by Councillor Len Scoullar, 
seconded by Councillor Isobel Strong: 
 
“That this Council deplores the recent erroneous publicity attached to his Royal 
Highness Prince Charles, Duke of Rothesay and his wife-to-be Camilla Parker Bowles. 
 
That this Council reaffirms its support to His Royal Highness, Duke of Rothesay and to 
confirm that he and his wife will be made most welcome should they decide to visit the 
Council area and that we would go further and extend to them an invitation at a date 
suitable, to visit the Isle of Bute.” 
 
Decision 
 
To agree unanimously the terms of the Motion. 
 
(Ref: Notice of Motion by Councillor Len Scoullar, seconded by Councillor Isobel Strong, 
tabled) 
 

Page 520



 
MINUTES of MEETING of APPOINTMENTS PANEL held in the MEMBERS' ROOM, KILMORY, 

LOCHGILPHEAD  
on WEDNESDAY, 30 MARCH 2005  

 
 

Present: Councillor Dick Walsh (Chair) 
 

 Councillor Allan Macaskill Councillor Len Scoullar 
   
Attending: Nigel Stewart, Director of Corporate Services 
 Douglas Hendry, Director of Community Services 
  
  
 

The Committee resolved in terms of Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1973 to exclude the public for the following item of business on the grounds that it was likely 
to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 7A to the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973. 
 

 1. NPDO STAKEHOLDER DIRECTOR 
   

The Committee considered 8 applications for the temporary appointment of a 
Stakeholder Director to the Board of the proposed NPDO (Non-Profit 
Distributing Organisation) for Schools Project. 
 
Decision 
 
To invite the following applicants for interview on Wednesday 20 April 2005: 
 
H. Chalmers 
I. D. Halligan 
P.J. Ramsay 
G. Robertson 
 
(Reference: 8 applications, submitted) 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 5aPage 521



Page 522



 
MINUTES of MEETING of PUBLIC SERVICE AND LICENSING COMMITTEE held in the 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD  
on THURSDAY, 31 MARCH 2005  

 
 

Present: Councillor Gordon McKinven (Chair) 
 

 Councillor John Findlay Councillor Sidney MacDougall 
 Councillor Ronald Kinloch Councillor John McAlpine 
 Councillor Bruce Marshall Councillor Al Reay 
   
   
Also Present: Councillor Daniel Kelly Councillor Donald MacMillan 
 Councillor Donald Kelly  
   
Attending: Charles Reppke, Head of Democratic Services and Governance 
 Angus Gilmour, Head of Planning 
  
Apologies: Councillor Robin Currie Councillor Isobel Strong 
 Councillor Donald McIntosh  
 
 
 The Chair intimated that Councillor Donald Kelly, who was not a member of the Public 

Service and Licensing Committee, had notified him that he wished, in terms of 
Standing Order 22.1, to be added to the Committee for the purpose of the business 
regarding the planning application made by Brightside Leisure Development Ltd.  He 
confirmed that he would exercise his discretion to allow him to speak and vote on this 
application which is dealt with at item 3 of this Minute. 
 

 1. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 

  Councillor Kinloch declared a non pecuniary interest in relation to the planning 
application for Brightside Leisure Development Ltd which is dealt with at item 3 
of this Minute due to a family relationship.  He left the room prior to its 
consideration and took no part in the discussion regarding this item. 
 

 2. MINUTES 
 

  a) The Minutes of the Public Service and Licensing Committee 17 February 
2005 were approved as a correct record. 

 
b) The Minutes of the Public Service and Licensing Committee 24 February 

2005 were approved as a correct record. 
 

 3. BRIGHTSIDE LEISURE DEVELOPMENT LTD: DETAILED APPLICATION 
FOR PROPOSED 18 HOLE GOLF COURSE, VISITOR ACCOMMODATION 
AND ANCILLARY DEVELOPMENT: CLOCHKEIL, CAMPBELTOWN (REF: 
04/01924/DET) 

 
  The Public Service and Licensing Committee had, at their meeting on 24 

February 2005, agreed to continue consideration of the application to allow the 
MOD to review their consultation response in light of a pending announcement 

Agenda Item 5bPage 523



concerning the future of the former RAF Machrihanish.  Since this meeting, the 
MOD had responded further by withdrawing their objection to the application and 
therefore the Head of Planning was now recommending that the application be 
approved. 
 
Decision 
 
To approve the application subject to :- 
 

i) The standard condition and reason; 
ii) The conditions and reasons set out in the report by the Head of 

Planning dated 19 March 2005, subject to the amendment of condition 
5 to reflect the requirement of the applicants to provide an annual 
report on green fees to the Head of Planning to ensure that the 
condition can be effectively monitored; 

iii) The conclusion of a Section 75 agreement in respect of the long term 
maintenance and management of those parts of the site situated 
within the designated Machrihanish Dunes Site of Special Scientific 
Interest; 

iv) The Head of Planning being authorised to issue the decision notice 
following the signing of the legal agreement; and  

v) In the event that the legal agreement is not concluded within three 
months of the date of this decision, the application should be refused 
for the reasons set out in the report by the Head of Planning dated 19 
March 2005. 

 
(Reference - Reports by Head of Planning dated 9 February, 23 February and 19 
March 2005 and recommendation from the Mid Argyll, Kintyre and Islay Area 
Committee of 16 February 2005, submitted)  
 

 4. FOOD CONVERTORS LTD: DETAILED APPLICATION FOR DEMOLITION OF 
EXISTING HOTEL AND ERECTION OF 3 FLATS: ARGYLL HOTEL, CORRAN 
ESPLANADE, OBAN (REF: 04/02426/DET) 

 
  The Oban, Lorn and the Isles Area Committee had, at their meeting on 2 March 

2005, heard the applicant’s proposals in regard to the provision of a communal 
garden area, and having been advised that the proposed dwellings would not be 
for permanent occupancy, coupled with the proposed noise insulations/glazing, 
agreed that the proposed flats would not have an unacceptably low level of 
amenity, and that for the foregoing reasons the proposals are consistent with 
Policy COM 4 of the adopted Local Plan, Policy E3 of the Draft Argyll and Bute 
Local Plan, Policy HO21 of the Lorn Local Plan and Policy STRAT 1 of the Argyll 
and Bute Structure Plan.  Accordingly they agreed to recommend to the Public 
Service and Licensing Committee that the application be approved, subject to 
conditions to be determined by the Head of Planning, in consultation with the 
Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Oban, Lorn and the Isles Area Committee 
and the Local Member.   
 
Having heard from the Head of Planning:- 
 
Decision 
 
To approve the application subject to conditions which will be determined by the 
Head of Planning in consultation with the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the 

Page 524



Oban, Lorn & the Isles Area Committee and the Local Member. 
 
(Reference - Reports by Head of Planning dated 4 February and 10 March 2005 
and recommendation by Oban, Lorn and the Isles Area Committee of 2 March 
2005, submitted) 
 

 5. MR & MRS STOREY: DETAILED APPLICATION FOR EXTENSION TO 
DWELLINGHOUSE: 3 KENNEDY DRIVE, HELENSBURGH (REF: 
04/00962/DET) 

 
  The Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee had, at their meeting on 21 

March 2005, agreed to recommend to the Public Service and Licensing 
Committee that the application be approved subject to conditions and reasons to 
be agreed by the Head of Planning in consultation with the Chair of the Area 
Committee and the Local Member.  The reason for the approval being as 
follows:- 
 
The design of the proposed extension is of a high standard and has regard to the 
traditional architecture and historic character as it tries to reinstate the 
appearance of a traditional coach house. 
 
While the massing increases that of the existing extension, its overall massing 
and scale is acceptable as it will only introduce an additional footprint of 14 
square meters. 
 
While the extension adds height and bulk to the original structure, the enlarged 
building by appearance,  for the reasons set out above, will not be 
unsympathetic to the original built form and will not have a detrimental impact on 
the conservation areas.  Furthermore, the separation distance is such that the 
additional massing and scale will not have a detrimental impact on the adjoining 
properties in the area. 
 
The use of sash and case windows would further improve the traditional 
character of the finished property and it is recommended that this be a condition 
of approval. 
 
The existing property has previously been unsympathetically extended.  
Consequently,  the proposed alterations will significantly improve the 
appearance of the existing building and, in turn, will enhance the character and 
appearance to the wider conservation area.  The proposal is therefore consistent 
with the Policies B3 and B10 of the Dumbarton District Wide Local Plan. 
 
Having heard from the Head of Planning:- 
 
Motion 
 
To refuse the application on the basis that the proposed development is not of a 
high standards design and does not have regard to the traditional architectural 
and historic character of the Helensburgh Conservation Area.  In terms of scale 
and massing the proposal further enlarges a previous extension that has an 
awkward and contrived relationship to the original dwelling to the extent that the 
original coach house will be dominated by the extension.  Furthermore, adding to 
the height and bulk of this structure will result in a larger scale building that is still 
unsympathetic to the traditional built form of the area and will exacerbate the 

Page 525



dwelling’s detrimental impact on the Conservation Area by making it more 
prominent and visually intrusive n the streetscape.  For these reasons the 
proposed development is considered  to have an adverse impact on the 
Conservation Area in terms of scale, mass design and fenestration contrary to 
Policy BE3 of the Dumbarton District Wide Local Plan which states inter alia that 
proposals for alteration and extension in the Conservation Area will be to a high 
standard and have regard to the traditional architectural and historic character of 
the area. 
 
Also, the proposed development is not of a high standards of design and by 
virtue of its massing and scale will detract attention from and further undermine 
the adjacent listed building Brincliffe by introducing an increased height of 
development which is positioned forward of the original coach house thus 
detrimentally affecting the setting of the listed building contrary to Policy BE10 of 
the Dumbarton District Wide Local Plan and the Memorandum of Guidance on 
Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas which require inter alia that special 
attention is paid to the design and materials of new development to ensure that 
the building’s character or setting is not eroded and which states that at all times 
the listed building should remain the focus of its setting and that development 
should preserve or enhance the character of conservation areas. 
 
Moved by Councillor Ronald Kinloch, seconded by Councillor John McAlpine. 
 
Amendment 
 
The design of the proposed extension is of a high standard and has regard to the 
traditional architecture and historic character as it tries to reinstate the 
appearance of a traditional coach house. 
 
While the massing increases that of the existing extension, its overall massing 
and scale is acceptable as it will only introduce an additional footprint of 14 
square meters. 
 
While the extension adds height and bulk to the original structure, the enlarged 
building by appearance,  for the reasons set out above, will not be 
unsympathetic to the original built form and will not have a detrimental impact on 
the conservation areas.  Furthermore, the separation distance is such that the 
additional massing and scale will not have a detrimental impact on the adjoining 
properties in the area. 
 
The use of sash and case windows would further improve the traditional 
character of the finished property and it is recommended that this be a condition 
of approval. 
 
The existing property has previously been unsympathetically extended.  
Consequently,  the proposed alterations will significantly improve the 
appearance of the existing building and, in turn, will enhance the character and 
appearance to the wider conservation area.  The proposal is therefore consistent 
with the Policies B3 and B10 of the Dumbarton District Wide Local Plan. 
 
Moved by Councillor Al Reay, seconded by Councillor Bruce Marshall 
 
 
 

Page 526



Decision 
 
The motion was carried by 4 votes to 2 and the Committee resolved accordingly. 
 
(Reference - Reports by Head of Planning 19 January 2005 and 14 March 2005 
and recommendation by the Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee of 21 
March 2005, submitted)    
 

 6. CIVIC GOVERNMENT (SCOTLAND) ACT 1982: REVIEW OF TAXI FARE 
SCALES 

 
  Local authorities are required to fix maximum fares and other charges in 

connection with the hire of taxis operating in their area and to review the scales 
for taxi fares and other charges on a regular basis. The Committee were 
requested to agree to the commencement of review procedures. 
 
Decision 
 
1. To instruct the Head of Legal and Protective Services to give notice of the 

proposed review in the local press during April 2005, inviting 
representations. 

 
1. That the Head of Legal and Protective Services write to representatives of 

the operators of taxis within all areas advising them of the review and 
inviting them to make written representations. 

 
2. That following the period of consultation, a further report be submitted to 

the Committee at its meeting on 11 August 2005 for consideration as to 
what the fare scale will be as from 29 September 2005. 

 
(Reference - Report by Head of Legal and Protective Services 31 March 2005, 
submitted) 
 

 

Page 527



Page 528

This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES of MEETING of HOUSING STOCK TRANSFER AD HOC COMMITTEE held in the 
COMMUNITY CENTRE, MANSE BRAE, LOCHGILPHEAD  

on THURSDAY, 31 MARCH 2005  
 
 

Present:  Councillor George Freeman (Chair) 
 

 Councillor Robin Currie Councillor John McAlpine 
 Councillor Dick Walsh  
   
Attending: Douglas Hendry, Director of Community Services 
 Charles Reppke, Head of Democratic Services and Governance 
 Malcolm MacFadyen, Head of Planning and Performance 
 Bruce West, Head of Strategic Finance 
  
Apologies: Councillor Donald McIntosh  
   
 

The meeting was convened at 12 noon and the Chairman ruled and the Committee agreed to 
adjourn the meeting at 12 noon and reconvene at 12.30 pm. 
 

 1. MINUTES 
   

The minutes of the Housing Stock Transfer Ad Hoc Committee of 14 March 
2005 were approved as a correct record. 
 

 2. UPDATE OF VARIOUS ISSUES ARISING FROM ACHA'S DRAFT 
RULES 

   
A report updating Members on the latest state of play with ACHA’s draft rules, 
particularly in light of the feedback which ACHA had received from 
Communities Scotland and the Scottish Federation of Housing Associations was 
outlined. 
 
Decision 
 
1. To note the terms of the report. 
 
2. Agreed to drop the Council’s insistence upon a right of veto being written 

into ACHA’s rules, having regard to the opposition from Communities 
Scotland, but to insist as an alternative upon an appropriately worded binding 
commitment being inserted into the Transfer Agreement. 

 
3. To note the terms of the latest draft Scheme of Delegated Authority. 
 
 
(Reference: Report by Ledingham Chalmers dated 21 March 2005 and Draft 
Scheme of Delegated Authority, submitted) 
 

 3. ACHA'S PROPOSED SCOTTISH SECURE TENANCY 
   

Progress made by ACHA in finalising the form of Scottish Secure Tenancy which 
the Association will offer to transferring tenants was outlined. 

Agenda Item 5cPage 529



 
Decision 
 
Agreed to the amendments promoted by ACHA. 
 
(Reference: Report by Ledingham Chalmers dated 23 March 2005, submitted). 
 

 

Page 530



 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES of MEETING of the APPEALS COMMITTEE held on  FRIDAY 1 

APRIL 2005 AT KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD  
 
 
 

Present: Councillor Donald MacMillan (In the Chair) 
 

 Councillor John Findlay  
 Councillor Al Reay  
 Councillor Sidney MacDougall  
 Councillor John McAlpine 

 
 Charles Reppke, Head of Democratic Services & Governance 
 Elspeth McNiven, Personnel Services Manager 
 Alan Lothian, Area Roads & Amenity Services Manager 
 Douglas Lauffer, Operational Services 
 The Appellant 
 Mike Conroy, GMB Union 
  
 
 The Committee resolved in terms of Section 50A(4) of the Local Government 

(Scotland) Act 1973, to exclude the public for the following  item of business on 
the grounds that it was likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 1 respectively Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1973. 
 

1. GRIEVANCE APPEAL  
 

 There was submitted statement on behalf of the employer and  evidence was 
led on behalf of both parties. 
 

 Decision 
 

 That the grounds of the Appeal had not been substantiated and the Appeal be 
therefore not upheld. 

  
 
 
 
 
appeals comm. 1 April 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5dPage 531



 
 
 
 
 

Page 532



 
MINUTES of MEETING of MID ARGYLL KINTYRE & ISLAY AREA COMMITTEE held in the 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS, KILMORY.  
on MONDAY, 4 APRIL 2005  

 
 

Present:  Councillor Alastair McKinlay (Chair) 
 

 Councillor Rory Colville Councillor Robin Currie 
 Councillor John Findlay Councillor Donald Kelly 
 Councillor John McAlpine Councillor Donnie MacMillan 
 Councillor Bruce Robertson  
   
Attending: Deirdre Forsyth, Area Corporate Services Manager 
 Donnie McLeod, Roads and Amenity Services Manager 
 Richard Kerr, Senior Development Control Officer 
 Yvonne Willan, Area Housing Manager 
 Felicity Kelly, Community Education 
 Catherine Dobbie, Integration Manager 
 Patrick Mackie. Area Environmental Health Manager 
 Arthur McCulloch, Supervisory Engineer 
 Tim Williams, Enforcement Officer 
 Pamela Hamilton, Asset Manager Scottish Water 
 
 
 1. URGENT ITEMS 

 
  The Chairman ruled, and the Committee agreed, in terms of Section 50B(4)(b) of 

the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 in terms of Standing Order 3.2.2, that 
item 6.4 Enforcement Report, Tayvallich, and item 18 Application to the Provost 
Greenlees Trust, which were not specified in the Agenda, should be considered 
as a matter of urgency because of the need for the decisions to be taken before 
the next meeting. 
 

 2. APOLOGIES 
 

  Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Hay. 
 

 3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

  There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 4. MINUTES OF MEETING OF 2 MARCH 2005 
 

  The minutes of 2 March 2005 were approved. 
 

 5. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 

  There were no questions from the public. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5ePage 533



 6. PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

  The Committee considered and dealt with the applications for planning 
permission as detailed below. 
 

1. 04/02032/DET 
Scottish Water.  Detailed Planning Permission.  Landscaped surface 
treatment vehicular access and hardstanding associated with 
permitted sewer overflow/pumping station, Quarry Green, Kilkerran 
Road, Campbeltown. 
 
Decision 
 
To continue this application to a future date to be agreed. 

 
2. 04/01922/DET  

A. McLean & Son.  Detailed Planning Permission.  Demolition of 
existing farmhouse, outbuildings and commercial/agricultural buildings 
and erection of 11 dwellinghouses, Bellfield Farm, High Askomil, 
Campbeltown. 
 
Decision 

 
That planning permission be granted subject to; 
 
i)        the standard condition  and reason 
 
ii) the conditions and reasons set out in the report by Head of 

Planning dated 10 March 2005 
 

3. 04/02184/VARCON 
Dunlossit Trustees Ltd.  Variation of Planning Condition.  Variation of 
Condition 6 relative to Mineral Consent ref. 02/01782/MIN – seeking 
permission to retain temporary haul road on a permanent basis, 
Ballygrant Quarry, Ballygrant, Isle of Islay. 
 
Decision 
 
The conditions attached to Minerals Consent ref. 02/01782/MIN be 
varied to allow for the retention of a section of temporary haul road on 
a permanent basis for use in the permitted quarry operations at the 
site, subject to the condition and reason contained in the report by 
Head of Planning dated 11 March 2005, and subject to this additional 
condition regarding landscaping:- 
 
“Prior to 30 June 2005, a scheme for the landscaping of the area 
between the haul road and the eastern boundary of the site shall be 
submitted for the written approval of the Council as Planning Authority, 
the purpose of which shall be to establish mature vegetation in order 
to afford improved screening of the quarry from adjoining property and 
the public road.  The scheme shall indicate the location, numbers, 
species and sizes of trees ands shrubs to be planted.  The duly 
approved scheme shall be implemented in the first planting season 
following its approval by the Council.  

Page 534



In the event that the planting fails to become established, or trees or 
shrubs die or become seriously diseased or are removed, they shall be 
replaced in the following planting season with equivalent numbers and 
species as those originally required to be planted”. 
 

4. 05/00045/ENFOTH 
New Dwelling allegedly being built in incorrect position relative to 
approved planning permission details (Application Ref: 
04/00840/DET), land adjacent ‘Creag Fasgadh’, Tayvallich. 
 
Decision 
 
It was agreed to hold a formal site inspection with full determination 
powers at 10:00 am on Thursday 7 April 2005 in Tayvallich Village 
Hall, at which time the non material amendment application would be 
formally determined and the investigation of any enforcement liability 
concluded. 

 
 7. DELEGATED DECISIONS 

 
  The Committee noted the decisions issued by the Director of Development 

Services dated 17 March 2005. 
 

 8. MINUTES OF MID ARGYLL PARTNERSHIP DATED 21 FEBRUARY 2005 
 

  The Minutes of Mid Argyll Partnership dated 21 February 2005 were noted. 
 

 9. PIERS, HARBOURS AND FERRIES 
 

  It was reported that the draft report was still to be finalised. 
 
Decision 
 
When report is available, it will be included for discussion on the appropriate 
Area Committee agenda. 
 

 10. BRUICHLADDICH PIER REPORT 
 

  It was reported that tenders will be returned on 12 April 2005. 
 
Decision 
 
That a further report will be made to the Area Committee when tenders have 
been checked. 
 

 11. FUSIONS STRATEGIC PLAN 2005/2006 
 

  Fusions will focus on bringing together workers delivering children’s services 
across Argyll & Bute.  The purpose of this is to develop an integrated approach 
that provides high quality services to children, young people and their families. 
 
 
 
 

Page 535



The Area Integration Managers aim to act as catalysts and facilitators 
empowering and developing others to contribute to a real change in the way in 
which Children’s Services are provided in Argyll & Bute.  This team is multi-
disciplinary with varied experience across the sectors.  Various questions were 
put by Members. 
 
Decision 
 

1. Catherine Dobbie was congratulated on the excellent progress the 
project has made. 

 
2. It was agreed to recommend to the Strategic Policy Committee that 

funding be allocated to continue the Fusions project after April 2006. 
 

 12. LEISURE DEVELOPMENT GRANT 
 

  The report described the allocation of a small grant which was unspent by the 
group to whom it was previously granted. 
 
Decision 
 
The grant of £245 paid to Inveraray and District Piping Association was 
approved. 
 
(Reference – Report by Director of Community Services dated 4 April 2005) 
 

 13. ISLAY AND JURA SKIPS 
 

  It was reported that these skips had been funded for 3 years with an EU funding 
package which ceased on 31 March 2005. 
 
Re-Jig are exploring funding for the continuation of skips on Islay. 
 
Decision 
 

1. To continue to provide skips on Jura. 
 

2. To investigate the possibility of continuing to provide skips on Islay in 
conjunction with Re-Jig. 

 
 14. ROADS CAPITAL AND REVENUE FUNDING FOR 2005/06 

 
  Members were informed of the proposed works to be undertaken during the 

financial year 2005 – 2006. 
 
Decision 
 
Members discussed and noted the contents of the report. 
 
(Reference – Report by Head of Road and Amenity Services dated 4 April 2005) 
 
 
 

Page 536



     * 15. PUBLIC WATER SUPPLIES ON ISLAY 
 

  The report explained the difficulties arising from the lack of availability of public 
water supplies on Islay.  Pamela Hamilton, the local ASSET Manager, explained 
the background to Scottish Water’s difficulties because of lack of funding.  She 
agreed that there were problems with leakages but again funding was not 
available to prevent these. 
 
Decision 
 
The Area Committee agreed to recommend that the Council pursue in the 
strongest possible terms with the Scottish Water Industry Commissioner and the 
Scottish Water Customer Panel the following matters; 
 

1. Funding is required in order to enable development in the following areas 
which are currently constrained by lack of water availability.  These are, 
Port Ellen, where houses have been built which are unable to be occupied 
because they cannot connect to a water supply, Bowmore, Ballygrant, 
Craignish and Campbeltown. 

 
2. That funding be provided as a matter of urgency to deal with leakages 

which may enable these constraints to be removed. 
 

3. That Scottish Water make it clear in their individual responses to 
applications for planning permission, whether or not a water connection is 
likely to be available.  The current response from Scottish Water is vague 
although it may require an applicant to contact their development services 
department.  Since a planning application is valid for 5 years and since 
some of these applications are for houses within existing settlements, it 
should be made clear that water constraint may prevent the development. 
 

(Reference – Report by Area Corporate Services Manager dated 4 April 2005) 
 

 16. AREA STRATEGY AND PRIORITIES 
 

  The Mid Argyll, Kintyre and Islay Area Plan and strategy was discussed and 
updated. 
 
Decision 
 
To amend the 5 strategic priorities as follows; 
 
The following are the 5 area priorities for inclusion in the Capital Programme 
 

1. Irish Ferry – because this project will take up time of officers and 
therefore require to be budgeted for.  

2. Bruichladdich Pier 
3. Carradale Harbour 
4. Campbeltown Promenade 
5. Jura Ferry Replacement 

 
 
 

 

Page 537



It was noted that the following projects have either have no financial commitment 
from the Council or have already commenced; 
 

1. Mid Argyll Sports Trust 
2. Campbeltown Community Project 
3. Campbeltown New Quay 
4. Development at Machrihanish 

 
 EXEMPT SECTION 

 
 The Committee resolved in terms of Section 50A(4) of the Local Government 

(Scotland) Act 1973, to exclude the public from the following item of business on the 
grounds that it was likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 13 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.  
 

 17. PROPOSED TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 01/05 
 

  It is proposed to make a Provisional Tree Preservation Order with immediate 
effect on an area of land at Craobh Haven which embraces a few groups of 
trees, including a significant group covering a steep north facing slope, and one 
particularly significant oak tree.  A planning application is currently under 
consideration for a single dwelling on this land.  A Tree Preservation Order is 
warranted to safeguard the setting of the site in the interests of amenity, in the 
event that permission is granted for its development. 
 
Decision 
 

(i) Recommendation that a provisional Tree Preservation Order be 
imposed with immediate effect in accordance with Section 160 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 on one specific 
mentioned Common oak (Quercus robur) and throughout the defined 
land protecting areas with Silver Birch (Betula pendula), Rowan 
(sorbus aucuparia), Common Oan (Quercus robur) and Hazel 
(Coryllus avellana) at and in the immediate vicinity of land known as 
Plot 10s, Craobh Haven, by Lochgilphead, Argyll. 

 
(ii) In the event that the provisional Tree Preservation Order is imposed 

(as above) and no representations are received following the required 
advertisement period, once the Order has come into effect it should be 
duly confirmed.  Only in the event of any representation being received 
to the provisional Tree Preservation Order would the matter be 
referred back to the Area Committee.  

 
(Reference – Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 538



 18. APPLICATION TO THE PROVOST GREENLEES TRUST 
 

  The Chairman reported that he had received an application from the Soldiers, 
Sailors, Airmen and Families Association (SAFFA) from the Provost Greenlees 
Trust. 
 
Decision 
 

1. It was agreed to make a grant of £250 towards this application. 
 
2. It was agreed to recommend to the Council that the delegation to the 

Area Committee be rescinded, and a new delegation be created in 
favour of the Members for South Kintyre, Campbeltown Central, and 
East Central Kintyre. 

 

Page 539



Page 540

This page is intentionally left blank



 
MINUTES of MEETING of HELENSBURGH & LOMOND AREA COMMITTEE held in the THE 

MARRIAGE ROOM, 25 WEST KING STREET, HELENSBURGH  
on TUESDAY, 5 APRIL 2005  

 
 

Present:  Councillor Kinloch (Chair) 
 Councillor Freeman Councillor Petrie 
 Councillor Kelly Councillor Reay 
 Councillor Morton Councillor Tacchi 
 Councillor Mulvaney  
   
Attending: Lynn Smillie, Area Corporate Services Manager  
 Howard Young, Senior Planning Officer 
 Alan Kerr, Area Roads and Amenity Services Manager 
 Lorna Campbell, Area Community Regeneration Manager 
 Tony Trotter, Planning Officer - Enforcement 
   
 
Under Section 14 of the Council Standing Orders the Chair agreed to consider an urgent 
Motion to enable immediate action to be taken. 
 
 1. APOLOGIES 

 
  Apologies for absence were intimated on behalf of Councillor Thompson and 

Councillor Stewart. 
 

 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (IF ANY) 
 

  None. 
 

 3. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

  (a) AREA COMMITTEE - 1 MARCH 2005 
 

   The Committee approved the Minutes of the meeting of 1 March 2005 as a 
correct record subject to the following amendments: 
 
Item 8 – Request for use of Hermitage Park.  Decision b) should read 
“Bowling Club agreement and approval for use of premises”. 
 
 

  (b) SITE VISIT - HELENSBURGH BOWLING CLUB , SINCLAIR STREET, 
HELENSBURGH - 1 MARCH 2005 

 
   The Committee approved the Minutes of the Site Visit Meeting of 1 March 

2005 as a correct record, subject to the following amendment: 
 
To note Councillor Tacchi was not present at the Meeting and remove 
intimation of his Declaration of Interest under Item 2. 
 
 

Agenda Item 5fPage 541



  (c) SITE VISIT - GARDEN GROUND AT GLENOWEN, BACK ROAD, 
CLYNDER - 1 MARCH 2005 

 
   The Committee approved the Minute of the Site Visit of 1 March 2005 as a 

correct record. 
 
 

  (d) SITE VISIT - GARDEN GROUND AT STROUL LODGE, BACK ROAD, 
CLYNDER 

 
   The Committee approved the Minute of the Site Visit of 1 March 2005 as a 

correct record, but noted that the meeting started at 4.30pm and not 
4.00pm as stated. 
 
 

  (e) SITE VISIT - 3 KENNEDY DRIVE, HELENSBURGH - 21 MARCH 2005 
 

   The Committee approved the Minute of the Site Visit of 21 March 2005 as a 
correct record, subject to the following amendment: 
 
To note Councillor Morton was not in attendance and intimate her apologies 
under Item 1. 
 
 

 4. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

  (a) MONTHLY LIST OF DELEGATED DECISIONS BY THE DIRECTOR OF 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

 
   Delegated decisions taken by the Director of Development Services with 

regard to planning applications and building warrants since the last 
Committee were submitted for information. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the contents of the report. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Director of Development Services dated 17 March 
2005) 
 
 

  (b) PLANNING APPLICATION - A814, MOSS ROAD, CARDROSS 
 

   04/00208/ADV – Henry Brothers – Advertisement Application – Erection of 
two advance signs A814, Moss Road, by Cardross 
 
Decision 
 
Agreed that consideration of this application be continued to a site visit. 
    
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 15 March 2005) 
 

Page 542



  (c) PLANNING APPLICATION - 135 EAST CLYDE STREET, 
HELENSBURGH 

 
   04/01693/DET – Esso Petroleum Company Ltd – Detailed Application – 

Demolition of petrol station and showroom and construction of new petrol 
station and car wash – 135 East Clyde Street, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
 
Agreed that consideration of this application be continued to a PAN 41 
hearing. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 29 March 2005) 
 
 

  (d) PLANNING APPLICATION  -  GARDEN GROUND, ACH NA CLAITH, 
RAHANE 

 
   04/02086/OUT – Mr and Mrs Aitchison – Outline Application – Erection of 

dwellinghouse (in outline) – Garden ground, Ach-Na-Claith, Rahane 
 
Decision 
 
To approve the application as a minor departure from Policy DC3 of the 
adopted Local Plan subject to the Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by the Head of Planning.  
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005)  
 
 

  (e) PLANNING APPLICATION - GARDEN GROUND, STROUL LODGE, 
CLYNDER 

 
   04/02178/OUT – Mr and Mrs C Wood – Outline Application – Erection of 

two dwellinghouses – Garden ground of Stroul Lodge, Back Road, Clynder 
 
Councillors Petrie and Morton took no part in the decision making process 
in regard to this item as they had not been present at the planning site visit 
on 1 March 2005. 
 
Decision 
 
To approve application subject to the conclusion of a Section 75 Agreement 
to secure a layby at Nurses Brae which is outwith the site and subject to 
Conditions and Reasons as recommended by Head of Planning with 
Condition 4 of the Supplementary Report amended to read: 
 

a) An increase in the width of Back Road to 5.5 metres with an 
additional 2 metre verge along the full frontage of the application 
site and site edged blue on the docketed plans.  These 
improvements to Back Road shall be constructed to base course 
level prior to work commencing on the dwellinghouses hereby 
approved.  Thereafter these improvements shall be completed to 

Page 543



an adoptable standard prior to the dwellinghouses being occupied 
or brought into use. 

  
and Reason regarding road construction: 
 
     In the interests of traffic safety.  
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 29 March 2005) 
 
 

  (f) PLANNING APPLICATION - GROUND FLOOR SHOP, 11 COLQUHOUN 
SQUARE, HELENSBURGH 

 
   04/02245/COU – Mr C Carver/Glen Lomond Ltd – Change of Use 

Application – Change of use of ground floor shop (Class 1) to office (Class 
2) – Ground floor shop at 11, Colquhoun Square, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Agreed that consideration of this application be continued to enable further 
discussion with the applicant. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 18 March 2005) 
 
 

  (g) PLANNING APPLICATION - 20 THE SOUNDINGS CLYNDER 
 

   05/00100/DET – Robert McDonald Johnstone – Detailed Application – 
Erection of 1.82 metre high brick wall and retrospective permission for 
timber fence with trellis – 20 The Soundings, Clynder 
 
Decision 
 
To approve the application subject to Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by the Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 29 March 2005) 
 
 

  (h) PLANNING APPLICATION - CLADDOCH HOUSE, MOSS ROAD, 
CARDROSS 

 
   05/00188/COU – Henry Brothers (Scotland) – Change of Use – Temporary 

siting of caravan (2 years) (Residential) – Claddoch House, Moss Road, 
Cardross 
 
Decision 
 

i) To note circulated Supplementary Report No. 1 dated 1 April 
2005. 

 
ii) To note additional representation from Jackie Baillie MSP, Argyll 

and Bute Council’s Area Roads Engineer and Warren Bros. 
 

Page 544



iii) Agreed that consideration of this application be continued to a 
site visit. 

 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 16 March 2005) 
 
 

  (i) PLANNING APPLICATION - 101 SINCLAIR STREET, HELENSBURGH 
 

   05/00199/DET – Mr and Mrs C Dawson – Detailed Application – Erection of 
single garage – 101 Sinclair Street, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
To refuse the application for the reasons recommended by the Head of 
Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning 14 March 2005) 
 
 

  (j) PLANNING APPLICATION  - COLQUHOUN SQUARE, HELENSBURGH 
 

   05/00289/COU – Forum Event Management – Change of Use – Temporary 
change of use of road to form farmers’ market – Colqhuhoun Square, 
Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 

i) To note that representation from Anna Curley, The Buffet Shop, 
30 Colquhoun Square had been withdrawn. 

 
ii) To approve the application subject to Conditions and Reasons 

recommended by the Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 8 March 2005) 
 
 

  (k) PLANNING APPLICATION - NORTH LODGE, CAMIS ESKAN, 
HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/00336/DET – Mr and Mrs E Thompson – Detailed Application – 

Demolition of glazed porch and extension to house – North Lodge, Camis 
Eskan, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Approve the application subject to Conditions and Reasons recommended 
by the Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 20 March 2005) 
 
 
 
 

Page 545



  (l) PLANNING APPLICATION - 150 EAST CLYDE STREET, 
HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/00404/DET – Mr J Black – Detailed Application – Installation of roof 

balcony and window – 150 East Clyde Street, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Agreed that consideration of this application be continued to a site visit. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 29 March 2005) 
 
 

  (m) PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND AT FORESHORE, RHU ROAD 
HIGHER, HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/00334/VARCON – Scottish Water – Variation of condition – Removal of 

Condition 3 of Planning Permission 04/01322/DET – Land at Foreshore, 
Rhu Road Higher, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Approve application subject to the amended Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning 17 March 2005) 
 
 

  (n) PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND AT FORESHORE, RHU ROAD 
HIGHER, HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/00337/VARCON – Scottish Water – Variation of Condition – Removal of 

Condition 4 of Planning Permission 04/01322/DET – Land at Foreshore, 
Rhu Road Higher, Helensburgh 
 
Decision  
 
Approve application subject to the amended Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005) 
 
 

  (o) PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND AT FORESHORE, CUMBERLAND 
AVENUE, HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/00340/VARCON – Scottish Water – Variation of Condition – Removal of 

Condition 3 of Planning Permission 04/01323/DET – Land at Foreshore, 
Cumberland Avenue, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Approve application subject to the amended Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by Head of Planning.  

Page 546



 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005) 
 
 

  (p) PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND AT FORESHORE, CUMBERLAND 
AVENUE, HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/00335/VARCON – Scottish Water – Variation of Condition – Removal of 

Condition 4 of Planning Permission 04/01323/DET – Land at Foreshore, 
Cumberland Avenue, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Approve application subject to the amended Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005)  
 
 

  (q) PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND ADJACENT TO 2A CAIRNDHU 
AVENUE, HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/0338/VARCON – Scottish Water – Variation of Condition – Removal of 

Condition 3 of Planning Permission 04/02072/DET – Land adjacent to 2a 
Cairndhu Avenue, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Approve application subject to the amended Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005) 
 
 

  (r) PLANNING APPLICATION -  LAND ADJACENT TO 2A CAIRNDHU 
AVENUE, HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/00339/VARCON – Scottish Water – Variation of Condition – Removal of 

Condition 4 of Planning Permission 04/02072/DET – Land adjacent to 2a 
Cairndhu Avenue, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Approve application subject to the amended Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 547



  (s) PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND ADJACENT TO PUTTING GREEN, 
WEST CLYDE STREET, HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/00341/VARCON – Scottish Water – Variation of Condition – Removal of 

Condition 3 of Planning Permission 04/01711/DET – Land adjacent to 
Putting Green, West Clyde Street, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Approve application subject to the amended Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005)   
 
 

  (t) PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND ADJACENT TO PUTTING GREEN 
WEST CLYDE STREET, HELENSBURGH 

 
   05/00333/VARCON – Scottish Water – Variation of Condition – Removal of 

Condition 4 of Planning Permission 04/01711/DET – Land adjacent to 
Putting Green, West Clyde Street, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Approve application subject to the amended Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005) 
 

  (u) HELENSBURGH AND LOMOND PLANNING DESIGN AWARD 2005 
 

   A report outlining the progress made so far in relation to the Planning 
Design Awards 2005 and highlighting the eight projects which had been 
nominated. 
 
Decision 
 

i) To note the contents of the report. 
 

ii) Agreed that the Senior Planning Officer arrange visits to the eight 
nominated projects outlined within the report.  

 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005) 

 
 

  (v) REQUEST TO DISPENSE WITH LEGAL AGREEMENT - JAMES 
STREET, HELENSBURGH 

 
   Kemble Estates Limited – Request to Dispense with Legal Agreement 

(Section 50 Agreement) – 8 James Street, Helensburgh 
 
A report outlining a request to have a 1982 Section 50 (now Section 75) 
Agreement removed from the Title Deeds of this property. 
 

Page 548



Decision 
 
Agreed to dispense with the Section 50 Agreement. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 9 March 2005) 
 
 

 The Committee resolved in terms of Section 50A(4) of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973, to exclude the public for the following item of business on 
the grounds that it was likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 13 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973. 
 

  (w) QUARTERLY REPORT ON ENFORCEMENT OF PLANNING CONTROL 
 

   A report detailing progress (in summary form) for the current outstanding 
enforcement investigations. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the contents of the report. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005) 
 
 

 5. COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

  (a) LEISURE DEVELOPMENT GRANTS 
 

   Two Leisure Development Grants were presented for consideration. 
 
Decision 
 

i) Noted the balance of £21,257 for financial year 2005/2006. 
 

ii) The Leisure Development Grants were determined as follows: 
 
Applicant             Narrative                            Project       Grant 
                                                                          Cost           Awarded 
 
Helensburgh         Annual Pipe Band and         £ 7,750       Continued 
Bicentenary          Highland Dancing Event       
Pipe Band 
 
Agreed to defer consideration of the application to await the decision of the 
Strategic Policy Committee on the group’s Strategic Event application. 
 

iii) Agreed to recommend to the Strategic Policy Committee to 
approve the group’s Strategic Event application due to the 
economic benefit of the Pipe Band and Highland Dancing Event 
to the Helensburgh and Lomond area (once the criteria is 
finalised) and to determine the application as quickly as possible.  

 
Helensburgh         Blossom Festival                £19,200 

Page 549



Blossom               (23/24 April 2005) 
Festival 
 
Motion 
 
Moved by Councillor Morton and seconded by Councillor Reay. 
 
Agree to underwrite costs to a sum of £3,000. 
 
Amendment 
 
Moved by Councillor Petrie and seconded by Councillor Freeman. 
 
Agree to underwrite costs to a total of £1,200 as per recommendations 
contained within the report. 
 
Decision 
 
On votes being equal, the Chair used his casting vote in favour of the 
Amendment and the Committee resolved accordingly. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Area Community Regeneration Manager dated 21 
March 2005) 
 
The meeting adjourned at 11.10am and reconvened at 11.30am 
 
 

  (b) EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT GRANTS 
 

   One Education Development Grant was presented for consideration. 
 
Decision 
 

iii) Noted the balance of £23,643 for financial year 2005/2006. 
 

iv) The Education Development Grant was determined as follows: 
 
Applicant             Narrative                            Project       Grant 
                                                                          Cost           Awarded 
 
Jigsaw                 Easter Activity                     £ 6,778.72     £3,389.36 
 

iii) Agreed that the Head of Service Children and Families 
provide clarification on funding arrangements for holiday 
provision for children with special needs in the Helensburgh 
and Lomond area. 

 
(Reference:  Report by Area Community Regeneration Manager dated 21 
March 2005) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 550



 6. OPERATIONAL SERVICES 
 

  (a) HELENSBURGH TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PROPOSALS 
 

   A report outlining proposals for the development of a traffic management 
scheme for Helensburgh. 
 
Decision 
 
Agreed to continue consideration for a period of 2 months. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Area Roads and Amenity Services Manager dated 
21 March 2005) 
 
 

 7. URGENT MOTION 
 

(a)   KIRKMICHAEL SPORTS AND RECREATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 

  Notice of the following Motion had been given by Councillor Morton and 
seconded by Councillor Kinloch. 
 
Motion 
 
That the Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee 
 

a) Agree that any balance remaining from the sum of £2,000 granted by 
the Area Committee in 2003 to the Kirkmichael Sports and Recreation 
Association (KSRA) should remain with the KSRA, who now have 
registered charity status, for the furtherance of their aims in setting up 
a Community Trust to provide leisure and recreation facilities in 
Kirkmichael. 

 
b) Express our regret that the Council was unable to set up the agreed 

lease for the Kirkmichael Community building in Buchanan Road within 
a suitable time frame. 

 
c) Endorse and support the aims of the KSRA in setting up a Community 

Trust in partnership with Argyll and Bute Council, Dunbritton Housing 
Association and Community Links West Dumbarton to provide new 
facilities in Kirkmichael to replace the existing ones. 

 
d) Agree that the Chair of the Area Committee writes to the Chair of the 

KSRA expressing the above views and wishing the organisation every 
success. 

 
Decision 
 

i) Agreed to support the contents of the Motion. 
 

ii) Agreed that the Area Corporate Services Manager write to Head of 
Legal Services requesting an investigation into delay in drawing up the 
lease. 

 

Page 551



(Reference:  Motion by Councillor Morton dated 3 April 2005) 
 

Page 552



 
MINUTES of MEETING of BUTE AND COWAL AREA COMMITTEE held in the EAGLESHAM 

HOUSE, MOUNT PLEASANT ROAD, ROTHESAY, ISLE OF BUTE  
on TUESDAY, 5 APRIL 2005  

 
 

Present: Councillor B Chennell (Chair) 
 

 Councillor B Marshall Councillor R Macintyre 
 Councillor G McKinven Councillor L Scoullar 
 Councillor J McQueen Councillor I Strong 
  Councillor J R Walsh 
   
Attending: George McKenzie, Area Corporate Services Manager 
 Eilidh Headrick, Area Committee Services/Information Officer 
 Phillip O’Sullivan, Senior Development Officer 
 Alan Lothian, Area Roads and Amenity Services Manager 

Hugh Blake, Estate Surveyor  
Martin Turnbull, Area Community Learning & Regeneration 
Manager 
Jo Rains, Senior Environmental Health Officer 

 
 
 1. APOLOGIES 

 
  An apology for absence was intimated on behalf of Councillor Currie. 

 
 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
  Councillor McQueen declared an interest in Item 7b on the grounds that he had 

discussion with the applicant. 
 
Councillor Marshall declared an interest in Item 8a on the grounds that he had 
family links with a developer involved in this issue. 
 

 3. MINUTES 
 

  (a) MINUTE OF AREA COMMITTEE OF 1ST MARCH 2005 
 

   The minute of the meeting of the Area Committee of 1st March 2005 was 
approved as a correct record. 
 
 

  (b) MINUTE OF FORMAL SITE INSPECTION HELD ON 1ST MARCH 2005 
 

   The minute of the meeting of the Formal Site Inspection of 1st March 2005 
was approved as a correct record 
 
 

Agenda Item 5gPage 553



 
 4. CORPORATE SERVICES 

 
  (a) AREA STRATEGY SUBMIT FOR FORMAL ENDORSEMENT OF AREA 

COMMITTEE 
 

   The Area Corporate Services Manager submitted the Bute and Cowal Area 
Strategy for formal endorsement by the Committee. 
 
Decision 
 
In the light of decisions taken in the Council’s Capital Budget the Committee 
agreed that the Strategy be reviewed at the next Area Business meeting 
with amendments to reflect capital projects in the area.  
 
(Reference;  Bute and Cowal Area Strategy 2004/08 – Submitted) 
 
 

 5. COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

  (a) EDUCATION AND LEISURE DEVELOPMENT GRANT SCHEME 
 

   The committee considered and determined ‘en bloc’, Educational and 
Leisure Development Grants as follows: 
 
Educational Development Grants 
 
      Project Cost   Grant 
Awarded 
Bute Youth Project    £38,700  £6000 
Dunoon & Cowal Youth Project  £26,722  £12,500 
WRI – Cowal     £1387   £350 
 
Leisure Development Grants 
 
Kirn Gala     £5,300   £2,000 
Bute Live     £22,695  £3,000 
Bute Agricultural Society   £7,825   £1,000 
Cowal Fiddle Workshop   £10,200  £500 
Isle of Bute Jazz Festival   £61,000  £3,000 
Cairndow Arts Promotions   £11,540  £300 
Bute Highland Dance Festival  £2,500   £500 
Colintraive & Glendarual Community 
Council     £3,145   £1,000 
Cowal Walking Festival   £34,512  £1,500 
Cowal Community Events   £31,500  £3,000 
Bute Wheelers    £950   £350 
 
(Reference; Report by Director of Community Services dated April 2005 – 
submitted) 
 
 

Page 554



 
 6. OPERATIONAL SERVICES 

 
  (a) BUTE AGRICULTURAL SOCIETY - PLAYING FIELD 

 
   The Area Manager, Roads and Amenity Services, submitted a report 

containing proposals for the long term re-location of Bute Agricultural 
Society’s Annual Show to the King George V Playing Fields in Rothesay. 
 
Decision 
 
The Committee agreed:- 
 

(i) To the re-location of the Bute Agricultural Society’s Show to the 
King George Playing Fields 

(ii) That the period of any lease be no less than 20 years 
(iii) To note that any recommendation on a lease at less than market 

value would require to be referred to the Strategic Policy 
Committee 

 
(Reference; Report by Area Manager, Roads and Amenity Services – 
submitted) 
 
 

  (b) PROPOSED WORKS PROGRAMMES 2005-06 
 

   A report was submitted advising the Committee of the proposed Roads 
Works Programme for the current year. 
 
Decision 
 
The Committee noted the contents of the report. 
 
(Reference; Report by Area Manager, Roads and Amenity Services – 
submitted) 
 
 

  (c) PROPOSED PROJECTS FOR THE STRATEGIC TIMBER TRANSPORT 
FUND FOR 2005-06 

 
   The committee considered a report detailing proposed projects which were 

being approved by the Argyll Timber Transport Group for submission to the 
Strategic Timber transport Fund 2005-06. 
 
Decision 
 
The committee noted the proposals. 
 
(Reference; Report by Area Manager, Roads and Amenity Services – 
submitted) 
 
 

Page 555



 
 7. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

 
  (a) PLANNING APPLICATION REFERENCE NO: 04/02089/DET, MR S 

SHAW, ERECTION OF 3 DWELLINGHOUSES WITH ATTACHED 
GARAGES AND FORMATION OF NEW VEHICULAR ACCESS, 
LOVER'S LANE, ARDNADAM 

 
   Decision 

 
Approved subject to the conditions contained in the report by the Head of 
Planning. 
 
 

  (b) PLANNING APPLICATION REFERENCE NO:04/02455/DET, ALISON J 
MCMAHON, ERECTION OF TIMBER SHED IN REAR GARDEN FOR 
USE AS A DOG GROOMING SALON, GLENFYNE COTTAGE, 66 
QUEEN STREET, DUNOON 

 
   Motion 

 
The application be refused in terms of the recommendation by the Head of 
Planning 
 
Proposed by Councillor Chennel, seconded by Councillor Walsh 
 
Amendment 
 
The application be approved as it is consistent with POL COM 5 in that it is 
a small development in an area of mixed residential and commercial use 
and therefore does not represent a ‘Bad Neighbour’ development in view of 
its limited scale. 
The proposal will merely replace a previous dog grooming business in the 
wider area and will meet the large demand for this facility. 
In view of its limited nature disturbance and noise will be minimal and this 
should not conflict with the spirit of PAN56. 
 
Proposed by Councillor McKinven seconded by Councillor Marshall 
 
On the matter being put to a vote 5 voted for the amendment and 2 for the 
motion. 
 
Decision 
 
Bute and Cowal Area Committee recommends to the Public Service and 
Licensing Committee that the application be approved as it is a consistent 
with POL COM 5 in that it is a small development in an area of mixed 
residential and commercial use and therefore does not represent a ‘Bad 
Neighbour’ development in view of its limited scale. 
The proposal will merely replace a previous dog grooming business in the 
wider area and will meet the large demand for this facility. 
In view of its limited nature disturbance and noise will be minimal and this 
should not conflict with the spirit of PAN56. 
 

Page 556



  (c) PLANNING APPLICATION REFERENCE NO: 05/00295/DET, SCOTTISH 
WATER SOLUTIONS, FORMATION OF ROCK ARMOUR SEA WALL, 
RE-PROFILING OF LAND TO ACCOMMODATE BURIED SEPTIC 
TANK, CHAMBERS AND PUMPING ATATIONS, FORMATION OF 
ACCESS AND ANCILLARY DEVELOPMENT (FURTHER AMENDED 
APPLICATION), OPPOSITE 125 AND 127 SHORE ROAD, INNELLAN 

 
   Decision 

 
Having heard the Local Member the committee agreed to hold an Informal 
Hearing in Innellan to determine this application 
 
 
Councillors Macintyre and Strong left the meeting at this stage. 
 
 

  (d) PLANNING APPLICATION REFERENCE NO:05/00031/VARCON, 
CARRY FARM LTD, VARIATION OF CONDITION 1 OF PLANNING 
PERMISSION 01/01758/DET TO ALLOW THE PERMANENT 
RESIDENTIAL OCCUPATION OF ONE LODGE (UNIT 4), LAND SOUTH 
OF CARRY FARM, ARDLAMONT BY KAMES 

 
   Decision 

 
Continued to the next meeting of the Area Committee 
 
 

  (e) PLANNING APPLICATION REFERENCE NO: 04/02398/DET, I W 
JOINERY AND CONSTRUCTION, DEMOLITION OF OUTBUILDINGS 
AND ERECTION OF SIX DWELLINGS AND FORMATION OF 
VEHICULAR ACCESS, LAND AND FORMER STEADING, WEST OF 
KNOCKANREOCH, WESTLANDS ROAD, ROTHESAY 

 
   Decision 

 
Approved subject to the conditions contained in the report by the Head of 
Planning, on the understanding that some of these conditions will require 
amendment following demolition works at the site. 
 
 

  (f) DELEGATED DECISIONS 
 

   The Committee noted delegated Development and Building Control 
decisions made since their last meeting. 
 
 

  (g) SHORT-LISTING FOR BUTE AND COWAL AREA PLANNING DESIGN 
AWARD 2004 

 
   The Committee considered the results of the Design Award vote from the 

Council’s Web Site and agreed that a panel comprising of Chair, Vice Chair, 
Senior Development Control Officer and an external architect should 
adjudicate between the highest placed four candidates. 
 

Page 557



  (h) PLANNING APPEAL BY MR W BROWN: BULLWOOD ROAD, DUNOON
 

   The Committee noted an Appeal Decision on this proposed development. 
 
 

 8. EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

  (a) DUNCLUTHA - VERBAL UPDATE REPORT 
 

   Councillor Marshall left the meeting while this item was being discussed. 
 
The Committee heard a verbal report from Hugh Blake of Estates on the 
progress of the re-development of the Dunclutha site.  
 
 

  (b) LET OF PIER CAR PARK FOR FAIRGROUND 
 

   The Area Committee noted that the Director of Operational Services was 
using his delegated powers in terms of the Council’s Standing Orders and 
Financial Regulations on the matter of the lease of Dunoon Pier Car Park 
for Fairground activities. 
 
 

  (c) REPORT ON CRUACH MHOR WINDFARM WATER SUPPLY 
 

   The Area Committee considered a report about the water supply installed in 
terms of the Cruach Mhor Wind Farm development. 
 
Decision 
 
Continued. 
 
 

 9. CIVIC GOVERNMENT (SCOTLAND) ACT 1982 - HEARINGS - THE 
HEARINGS WILL TAKE COMMENCE AT 2.00PM. 

 
  (a) APPLICATION FOR TAXI DRIVERS LICENCE - MARK ANDREW ELLIS, 

2 SHUNA GARDENS, KIRN 
 

   Councillor Macintyre returned to the meeting at this stage and the following 
also joined for the hearing. 
 
Mr Mark Ellis – Applicant 
Chief Inspector Alan Spence – Strathclyde Police 
Alan Goodall – Senior Solicitor 
 
The Chairman welcomed everybody, outlined the hearing procedure and all 
parties confirmed their acceptance of the process. 
 
Mr Ellis spoke to his application advising the Members the reason for him 
wanting a taxi licence was so that he could support himself while he was at 
college.  He explained that his previous convictions was when he was a 
teenager and that he had put that behind him.   
 

Page 558



Chief Inspector Spence explained that ‘fit and proper person’  was a legal 
phrase in terms of the Act and must be used in any objection where there 
are any previous convictions. 
 
There then followed questions from the Members about the Applicant’s age 
at the time of his convictions and if he had managed to establish an job with 
a taxi operator in the Dunoon area. 
 
The Objector and Applicant were then asked to sum up. 
 
Chief Inspector Spence had nothing to add. 
 
Mr Ellis reiterated that he was wanting the taxi licence so he could finance 
himself through college that he was hoping to get a job with Mr Gemmell, 
however the first step was to obtain his licence. 
 
Both Applicant and Objector acknowledged that they had had a fair hearing. 
 
The Members of the committee then debated the application before them. 
 
Decision 
 
The application be granted. 
 
 
 
 
 

  (b) APPLICATION FOR TAXI DRIVERS LICENCE - JOHN MACINTYRE, 64 
DIXON AVENUE, DUNOON 

 
   The following joined for the hearing. 

 
Mr John MacIntyre – Applicant 
Chief Inspector Alan Spence – Strathclyde Police 
Alan Goodall – Senior Solicitor 
 
The Chairman welcomed everybody, outlined the hearing procedure and all 
parties confirmed their acceptance of the process. 
 
Mr MacIntyre spoke to his application advising Members that he had been 
granted his taxi licence last year for a period of one year.   He 
acknowledged that since then he had accrued on conviction for speeding 
adding 4 penalty points to this licence and he explained in detail the 
background to the events leading to this offence.   He appreciated that his 
licence had originally been granted on the basis that he would have a ‘clean 
sheet’ from then on but asked that the mitigating circumstances be taken 
into consideration and said he was truly sorry the event had occurred. 
 
Chief Inspector Spence spoke of the road traffic offence and said that in 
view of the Applicant’s past record the Chief Constable had no option but to 
recommend that he was not a fit and proper person to hold a Taxi Driver’s 
Licence. 
 
There then followed questions to the Applicant and Chief Inspector Spence 

Page 559



from the members of the committee. 
 
In summing up Chief Inspector Spence said he had nothing to add. 
 
The Applicant said he was truly sorry for the incident, he explained that he 
was valued by his employer and had a good rapport with customers in the 
Dunoon area. 
He was trying his best and reiterated the mitigation for the recent offence. 
 
Both parties confirmed they had had a fair hearing. 
 
The members of the committee then debated the issue on the basis of the 
information before them. 
 
Decision 
 
The Licence be granted for a further period of 1 year. 
 
 
There then followed questions from the Members on 
 
The Objector and Applicant were then asked to sum up. 
 
Chief Inspector Spence  
 
Both Applicant and Objector acknowledged that they had had a fair hearing. 
 
The Members of the committee then debated the application before them. 
 
Decision 
 
The application be granted for a year subject to the condition that Me 
MacIntyre is required to inform the Legal Services Department if he 
receives any further criminal convictions or fixed penalty points. 
 
 

Page 560



 
MINUTES of MEETING of OBAN LORN & THE ISLES AREA COMMITTEE held in the COUNCIL 

CHAMBER, MUNICIPAL BUILDINGS, ALBANY STREET, OBAN  
on TUESDAY, 5 APRIL 2005  

 
 

Present: Councillor Alasdair MacDougall (Chairman) 
Councillor Ian Gillies 
Councillor Robin Banks 
Councillor Allan Macaskill 
Councillor Sidney MacDougall 
Councillor Duncan MacIntyre 
Councillor Elaine Robertson 

 
Attending: Kenneth Macdonald, Area Corporate Services Manager 

Alex Taylor, Area Manager, Social Work 
Neil Brown, Area Roads & Amenity Services Manager 
Iain MacKinnon, Senior Environmental Health Officer 
Roy Alexander, Estates Surveyor 
Ian MacIntyre, Senior Planning Officer 
 

 
 
 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
  Councillor Donald McIntosh 

 
 The Chairman ruled, and the Committee agreed in terms of Section 50B(4)(b) of the 

Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and in terms of Standing Order 3.2.2, that four 
reports by the Head of Planning in regard to applications for planning permission, be 
dealt with at items 5(i) to 5(l) of this Minute, be taken as matters of urgency due to the 
need for them to be determined prior to the next ordinary meeting. 
 

 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

  Councillor Alistair MacDougall declared a non-pecuniary interest in the 
application from Bunessan Primary School for financial assistance under the 
Education Development Grants Scheme, dealt with in item 4(a) of this minute.  
 
Councillor Elaine Robertson declared a non-pecuniary interest in planning 
applications ref. 04/02172/OUT; 04/02173/OUT; 04/02394/OUT; 04/01978/OUT; 
04/01981/OUT; 04/01984/OUT; 04/01985/OUT, dealt with in items 5(d), 5(e), 
5(f), 5(i), 5(j), 5(k) and 5(l) respectively of this minute, because of her husband’s 
position in a firm of solicitors with an interest in these matters. 
 

 3. CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

  (a) MINUTE OF OBAN LORN & THE ISLES AREA COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 2ND MARCH 2005 

 
   The Committee approved as a correct record the Minute of the meeting 

held on 2nd March 2005, subject to the following amendments:  
 

Agenda Item 5hPage 561



(a) The inclusion of a supplementary paragraph (h) under the decisions 
in respect of item 4(j) recommending that consideration be given to 
the provision of a new bus service to serve Pulpit Hill, subject to the 
availability of appropriate funding; and 

(b) The insertion, after item 5, of a the standard paragraph regarding 
exclusion of the public from the succeeding items of business.  

 
 

  (b) MINUTE OF PUBLIC HEARING HELD ON 2ND FEBRUARY 2005 IN 
REGARD TO PLANNING APPLICATION REF. 04/00572/OUT 

 
   The Committee approved as a correct record the Minute of the public 

hearing held on 2nd February 2005  
 
 

  (c) NOTE OF SITE INSPECTION MEETING HELD ON 2ND MARCH 2005 IN 
REGARD TO PLANNING APPLICATION REF. 03/00457/DET 

 
   The Committee approved as a correct record the Minute of the site 

inspection meeting held on 2nd March 2005, subject to minor amendments.  
 
 

  (d) NOTE OF SITE INSPECTION MEETING HELD ON 2ND MARCH 2005 IN 
REGARD TO PLANNING APPLICATION REF. 04/01738/OUT AND 
04/01789/LIB 

 
   The Committee approved as a correct record the Minute of the site 

inspection meeting held on 2nd March 2005 
 
 

  (e) NOTE OF SITE INSPECTION MEETING HELD ON 2ND MARCH 2005 IN 
REGARD TO PLANNING APPLICATION REF. 04/02426/DET 

 
   The Committee approved as a correct record the Minute of the site 

inspection meeting held on 2nd March 2005 
 
 

  (f) REPORT BY AREA CORPORATE SERVICES MANAGER IN REGARD 
TO USABLE CAPITAL RECEPITS 

 
   Members considered a report dated 14th March 2005 by the Area Corporate 

Services Manager in regard to the availability of a sum of £13,989.12 for 
allocation against projects which meet the capital criteria. 
 
Decision: 
 
Members agreed not to allocate any of this funding at this time and wait 
until there is a further allocation. 
 
(Ref: Report dated 14th March 2005 by Area Corporate Services Manager, 
submitted) 
 
 

Page 562



 4. COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

  (a) APPLICATION FROM BUNESSAN PRIMARY SCHOOL FOR 
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE UNDER THE EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT 
GRANT SCHEME 

 
   The Committee considered an application from Bunessan Primary School 

PTA for financial assistance under the Education Development Grant 
Scheme towards the cost of a residential outdoor education experience for 
57 children.  
 
Decision: 
 
It was agreed that grant funding of £1,140 be awarded towards the 
estimated cost of £10,920. 
 
(Ref: Report by Community Learning & Regeneration Manager, submitted) 
 
 

  (b) APPLICATION FROM THE HIGHLANDS AND ISLANDS MUSIC AND 
DANCE FESTIVAL FOR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE UNDER THE 
LEISURE DEVELOPMENT GRANT SCHEME 

 
   The Committee considered an application from the Highlands and Islands 

Music and Dance Festival for financial assistance under the Leisure 
Development Grant Scheme towards the cost of promotion of the annual 
music and dance festival.  
 
Decision: 
 
It was agreed that grant funding of £2,500 be awarded towards the 
estimated cost of £27,000. 
 
(Ref: Report by Community Learning & Regeneration Manager, submitted) 
 
 

 5. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

  (a) LIST OF BUILDING WARRANTS APPROVED BY THE DIRECTOR OF 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES SINCE THE LAST MEETING 

 
   The Committee considered, and noted, a list dated 15th March 2005 of 

Building Warrants and Relaxation of the Building Standards Regulations in 
respect of which approvals had been issued since the last meeting.  
 
(Ref: List of approvals dated 15th March 2005, submitted) 
 
 

  (b) LIST OF DELEGATED DECISIONS ISSUED BY THE DIRECTOR OF 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES SINCE THE LAST MEETING 

 
   The Committee considered and noted a list dated 29th March 2005 of 

applications for planning permission in respect of which delegated decisions 
had been issued since the last meeting.  

Page 563



 
(Ref: List of approvals dated 29th March 2005, submitted) 
 
 

  (c) 04/02162/DET: A. DAWSON: EERECTION OF 2 HOLIDAY LETTING 
UNITS - LAND SOUTH WEST OF DRUIMARD, DERVAIG, 
TOBERMORY, ISLE OF MULL 

 
   Refused for the reasons set out in the report dated 9th March 2005 by the 

Head of Planning.  
 
(Ref: Report dated 9th March 2005 by Head of Planning, submitted) 
 
 

  (d) 04/02172/OUT: MR GILBERT: SITE FOR DWELLING HOUSE - 
ARDSHELLACH FARM, ARDMADDY, BY OBAN 

 
   Approved subject to the conditions set out in the report dated 21st March 

2005 by the Head of Planning.  
 
(Ref: Report dated 21st March 2005 by Head of Planning, submitted) 
 
 

  (e) 04/02173/OUT: MR GILBERT: SITE FOR DWELLINGHOUSE - 
ARDSHELLACH FARM, ARDMADDY, BY OBAN 

 
   Approved subject to the conditions set out in the report dated 14th March 

2005 by the Head of Planning. 
 
(Ref: Report dated 14th March 2005 by Head of Planning, submitted) 
 
 

  (f) 04/02394/OUT: MR GILBERT: SITE FOR DWELLINGHOUSE - 
ARDSHELLACH FARM,. ARDMADDY, BY OBAN 

 
   Approved subject to the conditions set out in the report dated 21st March 

2005 by the Head of Planning. 
 
(Ref: Report dated 21st March 2005 by Head of Planning, submitted) 
 
 

  (g) 04/02241/DET: MR. STRACHAN: ERECTION OF A DWELLINGHOUSE - 
LAND SOUTH WEST OF NEW BARRAN FARM, BARRAN, KILMORE, 
OBAN 

 
   Approved, in principle, as a minor departure from current adopted policy, 

subject to (a) the conditions set out in the report dated 28th February 2005 
by the Head of Planning; and (b) an additional condition in regard to the 
tidying up of site and removal of caravan upon completion of the house, the 
final wording of this condition to be submitted to the next meeting.  
 
(Ref: Report dated 28th February 2005 by Head of Planning, submitted) 
 
 

Page 564



  (h) 05/00238/COU: LADBROKES LTD: PARTIAL CHANGE OF USE OF 
FORMER MUSEUM AND STORAGE WAREHOUSE TO CLASS 2 
BETTING OFFICE - EXHIBITION CENTRE, NORTH PIER, OBAN 

 
   It was noted that the local member in this case is Councillor Sidney 

MacDougall, and not Councillor Banks as stated on the report. 
 
It was moved by Councillor MacIntyre, seconded by Councillor Sidney 
MacDougall that this application be refused on the grounds that “The 
proposed external alterations to the building (specifically the use of modern 
aluminium polyester powder finished windows and doors; the use of 
modern single glazed doors; the use of large wall to floor glazing on the 
front elevation) would have an adverse impact on the appearance of the 
building and on the character and setting of the adjoining listed building and 
townscape policy area where traditional finishes and shop fronts 
predominate. The proposals are therefore contrary to policies POL BE (1) 
and BE (9) of the adopted Lorn Local Plan”. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Macaskill, seconded by Councillor Gillies, as an 
amendment, that the application for change of use be approved as per the 
report dated 10th March 2005 by the Head of Planning, subject to details of 
the design of the shop front and rear being submitted to a future meeting for 
approval. 
 
Upon a vote being taken by roll call 
 
 Motion Amendment 
Councillor R Banks  √ 
Councillor I Gillies  √ 
Councillor A Macaskill  √ 
Councillor A 
MacDougall 

 √ 

Councillor S 
MacDougall 

√  

Councillor D MacIntyre √  
Councillor E Robertson √  

 
Accordingly the application for change of use was approved. 
 
(Ref: Report dated 10th March 2005 by Head of Planning, submitted) 
 
 

  (i) 04/01978/OUT: MR S BARTON: ERECTION OF A DWELLING - PLOT 6, 
ICHRACHAN, TAYNUILT 

 
   Approved, subject to (a) conditions 1-4, 6, 7 and 9 as set out in the report 

dated 29th March 2005 by the Head of Planning; (b) the amendment of 
condition 5 to reflect that  the approved scheme of planting and landscaping 
must be maintained for a period of not less than ten years; (c) the 
amendment of condition 8 to reflect that any external lighting must be 
angled downwards; and the amendment of condition 10 to reflect that the 
access must be surfaced in dense bitumen macadam or similar hardbound 
material for the first 5 metres back from the edge of the public road. 
 

Page 565



(Ref: Report by Head of Planning dated 29th March 2005, submitted) 
 
 

  (j) 04/01981/OUT: MR S BARTON: ERECTION OF A DWELLING - PLOT 7, 
ICHRACHAN, TAYNUILT 

 
   Approved, subject to (a) conditions 1-4, 6, 7 and 9 as set out in the report 

dated 29th March 2005 by the Head of Planning; (b) the amendment of 
condition 5 to reflect that  the approved scheme of planting and landscaping 
must be maintained for a period of not less than ten years; (c) the 
amendment of condition 8 to reflect that any external lighting must be 
angled downwards; and the amendment of condition 10 to reflect that the 
access must be surfaced in dense bitumen macadam or similar hardbound 
material for the first 5 metres back from the edge of the public road. 
 
(Ref: Report by Head of Planning dated 29th March 2005, submitted) 
 
 

  (k) 04/01984/OUT: MR S BARTON: ERECTION OF A DWELLING - PLOT 8, 
ICHRACHAN, TAYNUILT 

 
   Approved, subject to (a) conditions 1-4, 6, 7 and 9 as set out in the report 

dated 29th March 2005 by the Head of Planning; (b) the amendment of 
condition 5 to reflect that  the approved scheme of planting and landscaping 
must be maintained for a period of not less than ten years; (c) the 
amendment of condition 8 to reflect that any external lighting must be 
angled downwards; and the amendment of condition 10 to reflect that the 
access must be surfaced in dense bitumen macadam or similar hardbound 
material for the first 5 metres back from the edge of the public road. 
 
 
(Ref: Report by Head of Planning dated 29th March 2005, submitted) 
 
 

  (l) 04/01985/OUT: MR S BARTON: ERECTION OF A DWELLING - PLOT 9, 
ICHRACHAN, TAYNUILT 

 
   Approved, subject to (a) conditions 1-4, 6, 7 and 9 as set out in the report 

dated 29th March 2005 by the Head of Planning; (b) the amendment of 
condition 5 to reflect that  the approved scheme of planting and landscaping 
must be maintained for a period of not less than ten years; and (c) the 
amendment of condition 8 to reflect that any external lighting must be 
angled downwards. 
 
(Ref: Report by Head of Planning dated 29th March 2005, submitted) 
 
 

  (m) REPORT BY HEAD OF PLANNING IN REGARD TO DESIGN AWARD 
 

   Members considered a report dated 6th April 2005 by the Head of Planning 
in regard to the Planning Design Award 2005. 
 
 
 

Page 566



Decision: 
 
It was agreed that: 

(a) all Members of the Area Committee are to be involved in the judging 
process and are to receive a presentation with good quality coloured 
digital photographs at the next meeting; 

(b) an independent Architect should be present to offer a professional 
perspective; and 

(c) that nominations numbered 2,3,4,5 and 7 should be put forward for 
judging.  

 
(Ref: Report dated 6th April 2005 by Head of Planning, submitted) 
 
 

  (n) LETTER DATED 8TH MARCH 2005 FROM SCOTTISH EXECUTIVE 
INQUIRY REPORTERS UNIT IN REGARD TO PLOTS 1 -3 CLACHAN, 
LISMORE 

 
   Members considered, and noted, a letter dated 8th March 2005 from the 

Scottish Executive Inquiry Reporters Unit intimating refusal of the appeals 
by Messrs Fell Trustees in respect of plots 1-3, Clachan, Lismore. 
 
(Ref: Letter dated 8th March 2005 from the Scottish Executive Inquiry 
Reporters Unit, submitted) 
 
 

  (o) REPORT BY TECHNICAL SUPPORT OFFICER IN REGARD TO 
FOOTPATH AT MILLPARK, OBAN 

 
   Members considered a report by the Technical Support Officer, 

Development Services in regard to future maintenance responsibilities for 
the footpath at Millpark, Oban. 
 
Decision: 
 
It was agreed that consideration of this item be continued to the next 
meeting for a full report, with photographs, addressing the issues of 
ownership of the path and the estimated annual maintenance costs. 
 
(Ref: Report by the Technical Support Officer, Development Services, 
submitted) 
 
 

 6. OPERATIONAL SERVICES 
 

  (a) REPORT BY AREA ROADS & AMENITY SERVICES MANAGER IN 
REGARD TO GANAVAN SEA WALL 

 
   Members considered a report dated 17th March 2005 by the Area Roads 

and Amenity Services Manager in regard to action planned for the damaged 
sea wall at Ganavan. 
 
 
 

Page 567



Decision: 
 
It was agreed that consideration of this item be continued to the next 
meeting to allow the Area Roads and Amenity Services Manager to (a) 
advise Members of the level of funding available within the coastal 
protection budget; (b) advise of other projects in the Oban Lorn & the Isles 
area which could be funded from this budget; and (c)  make an approach to 
the owner of Ganavan Pavilion to ascertain the level of contribution from 
him towards the cost of repairing the sea wall.    
 
(Ref: Report dated 17th March 2005 by the Area Roads and Amenity 
Services Manager, submitted) 
 
 

  (b) VERBAL UPDATE BY AREA ROADS & AMENITY SERVICES 
MANAGER IN REGARD TO THE CHICANE AND CATTLE GRID - 
CROSSAPOL, ISLE OF TIREE 

 
   It was agreed that consideration of this item be continued to the next 

meeting for a full report to be submitted, including photographs.  
 
 

  (c) REPORT BY AREA ROADS & AMENITY SERVICES MANAGER IN 
REGARD TO CAPITAL RECONSTRUCTION AND SURFACE 
DRESSING PROGRAMME 

 
   Members considered, and approved, a report dated 5th April 2005 by the 

Area Roads and Amenity Services Manager in regard to road 
reconstruction and resurfacing schemes for 2005/2006.  
 
The Area Roads and Amenity Services Manager was also asked to 
consider the formation of additional passing places on the Kilmore - Connel 
road.  
 
(Ref: Report dated 5th April 2005 by Area Roads & Amenity Services 
Manager, submitted) 
 
 

 7. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 

  Mr S Leddy, Connel Expressed concern in regard to 
various matters in relation to 
Ganavan. It was agreed that the Area 
Corporate Services Manager speak 
with Mr Leddy after the meeting.  
 

 
 

 Councillor Macaskill left the meeting at this point as he had to attend a meeting with 
COSLA elsewhere in Oban.  
 

 The Committee resolved in terms of Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1973, to exclude the public from the following items of business on the grounds that it was 
likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 9 of Part 1 of 

Page 568



Schedule 7A to the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.  
 

 8. ACQUISITION / DISPOSAL / LEASING OF PROPERTY 
 

  (a) REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES IN REGARD TO 
SNACK BAR SITE, MCCAIGS TOWER, OBAN 

 
   Members considered, and approved, a report dated 23rd March 2005 by the 

Director of Corporate Services in regard to  the lease of the McCaigs Tower 
Snack Bar site, Oban. 
 
(Ref: Report dated 23rd March 2005 by the Estates Surveyor, submitted)  
 
 

  (b) REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES IN REGARD TO 
SNACK BAR SITE, CORRAN HALLS, OBAN 

 
   Members considered, and approved, a report dated 23rd March 2005 by the 

Director of Corporate Services in regard to  the lease of the Corran Halls 
Snack Bar site, Oban. 
 
(Ref: Report dated 23rd March 2005 by the Estates Surveyor, submitted) 
 
 

  (c) REPORT BY DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE SERVICES IN REGARD TO 
FUNFAIR AT LEDAIG CAR PARK, TOBERMORY 

 
   Members considered a report dated 4th April 2005 by the Director of 

Corporate Services in regard to a request for a short term lease of an area 
of ground at Ledaig car park, Tobermory for the purposes of a funfair. 
 
Decision: 
 
It was decided to accede to the request for a short term lease as set out in 
the report. It was further agreed that alternative sites be investigated for 
future years.  
 
(Ref: Report dated 4th April 2005 by the Estates Surveyor, submitted) 
 
 

 9. ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS 
 

  (a) REPORT BY HEAD OF PLANNING IN REGARD TO ENFORCEMENT 
ACTION 

 
   A report dated 23rd March 2005 by the Head of Planning in regard to a 

complaint received in respect of works carried out at a site on the Isle of 
Seil was considered.  
 
Members noted that planning permission is not required.  
 
(Ref: Report dated 23rd March 2005 by Head of Planning, submitted) 
 
 

Page 569



 10. DEEDS AND DOCUMENTS 
 

  (a) REPORT BY CHIEF SOLICITOR IN REGARD TO FORMAL DEEDS AND 
DOCUMENTS ISSUED SINCE THE LAST MEETING 

 
   Members considered, and noted,  a report dated 24th March 2005 by the 

Head of Legal and Protective Services in regard to formal deeds and 
documents executed between 15th February and 23rd March 2005. 
 
(Ref: Report dated 24th March 2005 by the Chief Solicitor, submitted) 
 
 

Page 570



 
MINUTES of MEETING of STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, 

KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD  
on WEDNESDAY, 13 APRIL 2005  

 
Present:  Councillor Allan Macaskill (Chair) 

 
 Councillor Robin Banks Councillor Bruce Marshall 
 Councillor George Freeman Councillor Alistair McKinlay 
 Councillor Daniel Kelly Councillor James McQueen 
 Councillor Duncan MacIntyre 

Councillor Robert Macintyre 
Councillor Dick Walsh 
 

   
Also Present: Councillor Rory Colville Councillor Sidney MacDougall 
 Councillor Robin Currie Councillor Donald MacMillan 
 Councillor Donald Kelly Councillor Elaine Robertson 
 Councillor Ronald Kinloch Councillor Len Scoullar 
 Councillor Alistair MacDougall  
   
Attending: James McLellan, Chief Executive 
 Douglas Hendry, Director of Community Services 
 Andy Law, Director of Operational Services 
 Charles Reppke, Head of Democratic Services & Governance 
 Gordon Nash, Head of Housing Services 
 Bruce West, Head of Strategic Finance 
 Donald Kelly, Chief Solicitor 
 Blair Fletcher, Transportation Manager 
 Douglas Blades, Public Transport Officer 
 
Apologies: Councillor Ian Gillies Councillor Alison Hay 
   
 The Chairman advised the Committee of the recent death of Douglas Trigg who had formerly 

been the Secretary of the Association of Community Councils and a regular attendee of the 
Oban, Lorn & the Isles Area Committee, the Community Planning Partnership and a co-opted 
Member of the Policy Development Group on the Review of the Scheme of Community 
Councils.  He advised that there would be a memorial service held in the Church of Scotland, 
Esplanade, Oban on 21 April 2005 at 7.30pm. 
 
The Chairman ruled, and the Committee agreed, that the business as dealt with at item 12 of 
this Minute be taken as a matter of urgency in order that the recruitment process could be 
instigated as soon as possible.   
 

 1. MINUTES 
 

  (a) The Minutes of the Community Planning Partnership Meeting of 4 March 
2005 were noted. 

 
(b) The Minutes of the Strategic Policy Committee of 17 March 2005 were 

approved as a correct record.  
 

 2. LEADER'S REPORT 
 

  The Leader of the Council submitted a report highlighting issues such as funding 
for Land Reform and Access Code, Kilmartin House Museum, the cancelling of 
the Caledonian MacBrayne Ferry Strike, a request he had made to the First 
Minister re advertising planning proposals, renewed efforts to reinstate the 
Campbeltown to Ballycastle Ferry Service, and the level of Council reserves.  He 
also advised of his forthcoming meetings from 5 April to 16 May 2005 and 

Agenda Item 5iPage 571



responded to questions arising from his report. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the contents of the report for the period 8 March 2005 to 1 April 2005. 
 
(Ref: Report by Leader dated 31 March 2005, submitted). 

 
 3. DEVELOPMENT AND ENVIRONMENT ISSUES 

 
  The Spokesperson for Development and Environment issues, Councillor Robin Banks, 

submitted a report regarding the work of KIMO, uptake of recycling bins in Mid Argyll, 
the Whelk Leader+ Programme, Culture, the delay of the Planning White Paper until 
summer 2005 and tourism.   Thereafter, he responded to questions arising from his 
report. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the contents of the report. 
 
(Ref: Report by Spokesperson for Development and Environment Services dated 1 April 
2005, submitted). 
 

 4. RURAL TRANSPORT GRANT 2005/6 
 

  Approval was sought for the allocation of the expenditure proposed within the Rural 
Transport Grant for the financial year 2005/06.   
 
Decision 
 
1. To note the projects listed in Section 4A which have been absorbed into the 

main public transport budget. 
 
2. To authorise the continuation of the services listed in Section 4B. 
 
3. To authorise the introduction of the new services and projects listed in Section 

4C. 
 
4. In the event of continuing poor performance of any of the grant supported 

services, to authorise the Director of Development Services to discontinue such 
services and bring a further report to the Strategic Policy Committee to consider 
the introduction of selected services from Section 4D within the available budget. 

 
(Ref: Report by Head of Transportation & Infrastructure dated 30 March 2005, 
submitted). 
 

 5. WASTE MANAGEMENT PPP CONTRACTOR PERFORMANCE 
 

  The Committee was updated on the current position of the Waste Management PPP 
Contract and also were given an outline of contractor performance in line with the 
original contract issued. 
 
Decision 
 
1. To note the monitoring arrangements in place until the end of 2004 and agree 

that future external auditing and monitoring of the PPP Contract be contained as 
part of the normal reporting of the Council’s performance as required under the 
second award of Strategic Waste Funding in 2004. 

Page 572



2. To instruct the Director of Operational Services and relevant staff to take forward 
the Contract Review process with Shanks during the next financial year, taking 
account of any service changes and performance issues outlined in the 
submitted report or prior to the Review; and to report further to this Committee 
on the outcome of that Review in 2006. 

 
3. To instruct the Director of Operational Services to bring a report to this 

Committee with regard to the commitment of funding from the Highlands and 
Islands Partnership Programme (HIPP) support awarded in 2001. 

 
(Ref: Report by Director of Operational Services dated 1 April 2005, submitted). 
 

 6. MAINTAINING SCOTLAND'S ROADS 
 

  The Committee considered a request from the Audit Committee inquiring whether the 
Strategic Policy Committee were satisfied that the Council has the necessary resources 
to address the issues highlighted in the report and if not whether they have sought, or 
intend to seek additional funds, from the Scottish Executive to assist in delivering the 
actions outlined in the report “Maintaining Scotland’s Roads”. 
 
Decision 
 
That a report be brought to a future meeting detailing the position regarding Grant Aided 
Expenditure (GAE) and also containing information from COSLA as to what other Local 
Authorities are doing to meet these costs. 
 
(Ref: Extract of Minute of the Audit Committee of 4 March 2005, submitted). 
 

 7. REGIONAL TRANSPORT PARTNERSHIPS: PROJECT DEVELOPMENT 
 

  The Committee was asked to endorse a prioritised list of projects, both strategic and 
local in character, which could be developed and submitted to the Transport 
Partnerships as the Council’s bid, when these Partnerships receive allocations from the 
Scottish Executive. 
 
Decision 
 
1. To agree that the prioritised list of projects, as contained as an Appendix to the 

submitted report, form the basis of future bids to the Regional Transport 
Partnerships, noting that the Policy Development Group on Scotland’s Transport 
has taken account of the issues raised by Area Committees and revised the list 
accordingly. 

 
2. To note that circumstances may arise outwith the control of the Council which 

might cause delays to the procurement of prioritised projects, and that 
alternatives from the list may have to take precedence to ensure that the Council 
retains its allocation. 

 
3. To agree that the Otter Ferry/Port Ann link should not remain on the list of 

strategic projects but that the Council would welcome a private operator seeking 
to run such a service, at no cost to the Council. 

 
(Ref: Report by Director of Development Services dated 4 April 2005, submitted). 
 

 8. EVENTS AND FESTIVAL FUNDING CRITERIA 
 

  The Council agreed on 10 February 2005 to establish an Events and Festivals Budget of 
£300,000 to cover the 3 next years.  The Committee was asked to consider a report 

Page 573



proposing the criteria against which applications would be assessed to determine if they 
qualify for grant assistance from this budget. 
 
Motion 
 
To agree that the report should form the basis for a 6 week consultation with SED, AIE, 
HIE and other partners such as Visit Scotland and Events Scotland but that the criteria 
set out within the submitted report be amended to allow the minimum grant award to be 
£3,000. 
 
Moved by Councillor George Freeman, seconded by Councillor Robert Macintyre. 
 
Amendment 
 
To agree that the report should form the basis for a 6 week consultation with SED, AIE, 
HIE and other partners such as Visit Scotland and Events Scotland but that the criteria 
set out within the submitted report be amended to allow the minimum grant award to be 
£4,000. 
 
Moved by Councillor Robin Banks, seconded by Councillor Bruce Marshall. 
 
Decision 
 
The Motion was carried by 6 votes to 4 and the Committee resolved accordingly. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Community Services dated 17 March 2005, submitted). 
 

 9. HOUSING ALLOCATIONS TO HOMELESS FAMILIES IN BED AND BREAKFAST 
ACCOMMODATION 

 
  In response to the Homeless Persons (Unsuitable Accommodation) (Scotland) Order 

2004 of 6 December 2004, the Committee was requested to consider preparation of a 
briefing note as an addendum to the Council’s Allocations Policy.   
 
Decision 
 
1. To agree that a briefing note be prepared to be used as an addendum to the 

Council’s Allocations Policy highlighting legislative changes and including the 
following:- 

 
“Once a homeless family with dependent children have had their homelessness 
application processed and it has been confirmed that the family is unintentionally 
homeless then the homeless family will have priority over any waiting list 
applicant when allocating council properties or in making nominations to 
Registered Social Landlords”. 

 
(Ref: Report by Director of Community Services dated 15 March 2005, submitted). 
 
The Committee resolved in terms of Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) 
Act 1973, to exclude the press and public for the following 3 items of business on the 
grounds that it was likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 8 & 9, 9 and 6 respectively of Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973. 
 

 10. MOAT COMMUNITY EDUCATION CENTRE, ROTHESAY 
 

  The Committee was asked to consider a recommendation by the Bute and Cowal Area 
Committee of 1 February 2005 relating to the lease for the former café area within the 

Page 574



Moat Community Education Centre, Rothesay. 
 
Decision 
 
To agree the recommendation of the Bute and Cowal Area Committee to extend the 
lease to 20 years on the terms outlined in the submitted report. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Corporate Services dated 21 January 2005 and Extract 
Minute from the Bute & Cowal Area Committee of 1 February 2005, submitted). 
 

 11. LAND ADJACENT TO OBAN HIGH  SCHOOL 
 

  The Committee was asked to consider the terms of a report by the Head of Legal and 
Protective Services. 
 
Decision  
 
To agree the recommendation as contained at paragraph 2.1 of the submitted report. 
 
(Ref: Report by Head of Legal and Protective Services dated 4 April 2005, submitted) 
 

 12. COUNCIL AIRPORTS MANAGER 
 

  The Committee was asked to consider the terms of a report by the Head of 
Transportation and Infrastructure. 
 
Decision 
 
To agree the recommendation as contained within the submitted report. 
 
(Ref:  Report by Head of Transportation and Infrastructure dated 12 April 2005, tabled) 
 

 

Page 575



Page 576

This page is intentionally left blank



 
MINUTES of MEETING of APPOINTMENTS PANEL held in the MEMBERS' ROOM, KILMORY, 

LOCHGILPHEAD  
on WEDNESDAY, 20 APRIL 2005  

 
 

Present: Councillor Dick Walsh (Chair) 
 

 Councillor Allan Macaskill Councillor Len Scoullar 
   
Attending: Douglas Hendry, Director of Community Services 
 Charles Reppke, Head of Democratic Services and Governance 
  
 
 
 
 
  

The Committee resolved in terms of Section 50(A)(4) of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973 to exclude the public for the following item of business on 
the grounds that it was likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973. 
 
 
 

 1. NPDO STAKEHOLDER DIRECTOR 
   

The Panel interviewed a number of applicants for the post of NPDO 
Stakeholder Director and agreed to offer the position to Peter Ramsay.  
The appointment to commence as and when the Director of Community 
Services, in consultation with the NPDO Board, determine that financial 
close has been achieved. 
 

 

Agenda Item 5jPage 577



Page 578



 
MINUTES of MEETING of BUTE AND COWAL AREA COMMITTEE held in the INNELLAN 

VILLAGE HALL, INNELLAN, DUNOON  
on TUESDAY, 3 MAY 2005  

 
 

Present: Councillor J R Walsh (Chair) 
 

 Councillor G McKinven Councillor L Scoullar 
 Councillor J McQueen Councillor I Strong 
 Councillor R Macintyre  
   
Attending: George McKenzie, Area Corporate Services Manager 
 Eilidh Headrick, Area Committee Service/Information Officer 
 Phillip O’Sullivan, Senior Development Officer 
 Alan Lothian, Area Roads and Amenity Services Manager 

Alison McIlroy, Principal Horticultural Services Officer 
 
 
 1. APOLOGIES 

 
  Apologies for absence were intimated on behalf of Councillors Chennell, Currie 

and Marshall. 
 
The Chairman intimated that there was one additional item of business for the 
meeting, Esplanade Gardens Fountain, Rothesay report which he was prepared 
to accept as urgent.  Having received the assent of the Members of the 
Committee he advised that it would be considered at 5b on the agenda. 
 

 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

  None 
 
 

 3. MANAGEMENT OF ASSETS VERBAL REPORT BY CHAIRMAN 
 

  Continued to next Area Committee. 
 

 4. MINUTES 
 

  (a) MINUTE OF AREA COMMITTEE OF 5TH APRIL 2005 
 

   The Minute of 5th April 2005 was approved subject to the change of £600 to 
£6000 for Bute Youth Project in the Education Development Grants. 
 
 

Agenda Item 5kPage 579



 
 5. OPERATIONAL SERVICES 

 
  (a) PLAY AREA IMPROVEMENT 

 
   The committee considered a report on proposals for the 3rd phase of 

improvements to existing play areas in Bute and Cowal. 
 
Decision 
 
The Area Committee agreed:- 
 

1. The play equipment from ** be relocated to the Port 
Bannatyne play park 

2. Supported the proposals made in appendix one. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Principal Horticultural Services Officer - submitted) 

 
 
 

  (b) ESPLANADE GARDENS FOUNTAIN, ROTHESAY 
 

   The Area Manager, Roads and Amenity Services, submitted a report on 
refurbishment works to the ornamental fountain in the Esplanade Gardens, 
Rothesay. 
 
Decision 
 
The committee agreed to the funding from the Councils Capital programme 
and commended the private initiative for the works. 
 
(Reference; Report by Area Manager, Roads and Amenity Services – 
submitted) 
 
 

 6. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

  (a) PLANNING APPLICATION REFERENCE NO. 05/00031/VARCON, 
CARRY FARM LTD, VARIATION OF CONDITION 1 OF PLANNING 
PERMISSION 01/01758/DET TO ALLOW THE PERMANENT 
RESIDENTIAL OCCUPATION OF ONE LODGE (UNIT 4), LAND SOUTH 
OF CARRY FARM, ARDLAMONT BY KAMES. 

 
   Decision 

 
Approved subject to a  Section 75 Agreement.  In the event that legal 
impediments transpire during the conclusion of the Section 75 Agreement,  
the matter will be determined under delegated powers through consultation 
with the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Local member. 
 
 

Page 580



  (b) PLANNING APPLICATION REFERENCE NO. 05/00091/DET, SCOTTISH 
WATER, FORMATIONOF ACCESS LAY BY, RAISING EXISTING 
GROUND LEVELS TO ACCOMMODATE PUMPING CHAMBERS AND 
ANCILLARY DEVELOPMENT, LAND OPPOSITE 31 AND 32 MARINE 
PLACE, ROTHESAY 

 
   Having heard the Local Member the committee agreed to hold an Informal 

Hearing to determine this application. 
 
 

  (c) DELEGATED DECISIONS 
 

   The Committee noted delegated Development and Building Control 
decisions made since their last meeting. 
 
 

Page 581



Page 582

This page is intentionally left blank



 
MINUTES of MEETING of HELENSBURGH & LOMOND AREA COMMITTEE held in the THE 

MARRAIGE ROOM, 25 WEST KING STREET, HELENSBURGH  
on TUESDAY, 3 MAY 2005  

 
 

Present: Councillor Kinloch (Chair) 
 Councillor Freeman Councillor Reay 
 Councillor Kelly Councillor Stewart 
 Councillor Morton Councillor Tacchi 
 Councillor Mulvaney Councillor Thompson 
 Councillor Petrie  
   
Attending: Lynn Smillie, Area Corporate Services Manager 
 Howard Young, Senior Planning Officer  
 Alan Kerr, Area Roads and Amenity Services Manager 
 Lorna Campbell, Area Community Regeneration Manager 
 Steve Porter, Area Social Services Manager 
  
 
Councillor Kinloch welcomed everyone to the meeting and, due to additional time 
required to meet with representatives from Scottish Water, it was agreed to adjourn 
the Area Committee until 10.15am.  The Area Committee reconvened at 10.15am.  
 
 
 1. APOLOGIES 

 
  None. 

 
 

 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

  Councillor Tacchi declared a non-pecuniary in Item 5 a) Helensburgh Pier Car 
Park and Item 6 a) Leisure Development Grant – Helensburgh Round Table.  He 
left the room and took no part in the discussion of items. 
 
 

 3. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

  (a) AREA COMMITTEE - 5 APRIL 2005 
 

   The Committee approved the Minutes of the meeting of 5 April 2005 as a 
correct record.   
 
 

 4. DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

  (a) MONTHLY LIST OF DELEGATED DECISIONS BY THE DIRECTOR OF 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

 
   Delegated decisions taken by the Director of Development Services with 

regard to planning applications and building warrants since the last 
Committee were submitted for information. 

Agenda Item 5lPage 583



Decision 
 
To note the contents of the report. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 13 April 2005) 
 
 

  (b) PLANNING APPLICATION - 3 PIER ROAD, CLYNDER 
 

   04/02034/DET – Mr Wayne Darnell – Detailed Application – Extension and 
alterations to dwellinghouse – 3 Pier Road, Clynder 
 
Decision  
 
Approve the application subject to Conditions and Reasons recommended 
by the Head of Planning. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 15 April 2005) 
 
 

  (c) PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND TO NORTH OF SEAVIEW WEST, 
TIGH DEARG ROAD, KILCREGGAN 

 
   04/02066/DET – Mr and Mrs Donnachie – Detailed Application – Erection of 

dwellinghouse and formation of access – Land to North of Seaview West, 
Tigh Dearg Road, Kilcreggan. 
 
Motion 
 
Moved by Councillor Danny Kelly and seconded by Councillor George 
Freeman. 
 
Approve the application subject to Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by Head of Planning with amendment to Condition 7 to read 
Tigh Dearg Road shall be widened adjacent to the boundary of the site to 
5.5 meters and incorporate a passing place. 
 
Reasons:  In the interest of road safety. 
 
Amendment 
 
Moved by Councillor John Tacchi and seconded by Councillor Al Reay. 
 
Approve application subject to Conditions and Reasons recommended by 
Head of Planning. 
 
On a show of hands there were 5 votes for the Amendment and 5 votes for 
the Motion at which point the Chairman gave his casting vote in favour of 
the amendment. 
 
Decision 
 
The Amendment was carried and the Committee resolved accordingly. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 19 April 2005) 

Page 584



  (d) PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND NORTH OF BLOOMFIELD HOUSE, 
SHORE ROAD, COVE 

 
   04/02440/DET – Mr and Mrs Walker – Detailed Application – Erection of 

dwellinghouse – Land north of Bloomfield House, Shore Road, Cove 
 
Decision 
 
Agreed that consideration of this application be continued to a site visit and 
determined at the next Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee.    
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 19 April 2005) 
 
 

  (e) LISTED BUILDING APPLICATION - LAND NORTH OF BLOOMFIELD 
HOUSE, SHORE ROAD, COVE 

 
   04/02531/LIB – Mr and Mrs G Walker – Listed Building Application – 

Alteration to wall – Land north of Bloomfield House, Cove 
 
Decision 
 
Agreed that consideration of this application be continued to a site visit and 
determined at the next Helensburgh and Lomond area Committee. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 19 April 2005) 
 
 

  (f) PLANNING APPLICATION - HOLLYGROVE, BARRROWFIELD, 
CARDROSS 

 
   05/00263/DET – Mr and Mrs A Nimmo - Detailed Application – Extension to 

dwellinghouse – Hollygrove, Borrowfield, Cardross 
 
Motion 
 
Motion moved by Councillor Ronnie Kinloch and seconded by Councillor 
Danny Kelly. 
 
Approve application subject to Conditions and Reasons by the Head of 
Planning with the amendment to Condition 2 that the render be a contrast 
colour and texture. 
 
Reason:  visual integration. 
 
Amendment 
 
Moved by Councillor Ellen Morton and seconded by Councillor John Tacchi 
to approve the application subject to the Conditions and Reasons as 
recommended by the Head of Planning.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 585



Decision 
 
The Amendment was carried 6 votes to 4 and the Committee resolved 
accordingly. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 12 April 2005) 
 
 

  (g) REQUEST TO DISPENSE WITH LEGAL AGREEMENT - CAMPBELL 
STREET, HELENSBURGH 

 
   Mr Reay MacKay– Request to dispense with Legal Agreement (Section 

50/75) – 21 Campbell Street, Helensburgh 
 
Decision 
 
Agreed to rescind the Section 50 Agreement. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Head of Planning dated 14 April 2005) 
 
Councillor Tacchi left the meeting at this point. 
 
 

 5. OPERATIONAL SERVICES 
 

  (a) HELENSBURGH PIER CAR PARK - FIREWORKS DISPLAY 
 

   Request from Helensburgh & District Round Table for permission to host 
the Bonfire in Helensburgh Pier Car Park and utilise the main pier for the 
Fireworks Display from evening of Friday 4 November until end of display 
on Saturday 5 November 2005.  
 
Decision 
 

i) Agreed that the Helensburgh and District Round Table host the 
Bonfire and Fireworks Display in Helensburgh Pier Car Park. 

 
ii) Agreed that no charge be made for use of this Car Park. 

 
iii) Agreed not to suspend charges in the remainder of the Pier Car 

Park or in Sinclair Street Car Park. 
 
(Report by Area Roads and Amenity Manager dated 3 May 2005) 
 
Councillor Tacchi returned to the meeting. 
 
 

  (b) PLAY AREA IMPROVEMENTS 
 

   The report outlined proposals for the 3rd phase of improvement to existing 
play areas in the Helensburgh and Lomond Area. 
 
 
 
 

Page 586



Decision 
 

i) Agreed to details of the 3rd phase of improvements as contained 
in report. 

 
ii) Requested that the Principal Horticultural Services Officer 

submits a report to a future Helensburgh and Lomond Area 
Committee on the progress of the Helensburgh and Lomond Play 
Area Improvements Programme. 

 
(Reference:  Report by Director of Operational Services dated 7 February 
2005) 
 
 

  (c) ROADS CAPITAL WORKS PROGRAMME 2005/2006 
 

   The report provided information on the Capital Budgets available to fund the 
Work Programme in the Helensburgh/Lomond area in 2005/06. 
 
Decision 
 

i) Noted the content of the report and the amendment to Item 
3.1B(3) to read Glengaur and Lochgair. 

 
ii) Approved the allocation of Capital Budget on the resurfacing/ 

surface dressing and road reconstruction as outlined within the 
report for 2005/06. 

 
iii) Agreed that the Head of Roads clarify the Capital Programme 

2005/06 budget headings for the Helensburgh and Lomond area. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Area Roads and Aemenity Manager dated 3 May 
2005) 
 
 

 6. COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

  (a) LEISURE DEVELOPMENT GRANTS 
 

   Six Leisure Development Grants were presented for consideration. 
  
Decision 
  

i)                    Noted the balance of £21,257 for financial year 2005/2006. 
  

ii)                The Leisure Development Grants were determined as follows: 
  
Applicant             Narrative                            Project       Grant 
                                                                          Cost           Awarded 
  
Helensburgh         Annual Pipe Band and         £ 7,750       £3,875 
Bicentenary          Highland Dancing Event       
Pipe Band 
  

Page 587



Helensburgh        Summer Music Festival       £ 3,000        £   900 
Retailers               
Association 
 
Helensburgh        Choral Concert   £ 6,170         £2,045   
Oratorio Choir      Performance 
 
Arrochar, Tarbet  Collate & Display                £ 3,550         £1,775 
& Ardlui Heritage  Heritage Material 
 
Councillor Tacchi left the meeting at this point.  
 
Helensburgh      Fireworks Display    £ 4,000         £2,000  
Round Table 
 
Councillor Tacchi returned to the meeting. 
 
Rhu & Shandon   Rhu & Shandon Gala        £5,258      to underwrite to       
Gala Committee             £1,999  
  
(Reference:  Report by Area Community Regeneration Manager dated 3 
May 2005) 
 
 
 

  (b) BREAKDOWN OF LEISURE DEVELOPMENT GRANT AWARDS 2004-
2005 

 
   The report informed Members as to the breakdown of the grant awards in 

2004/05. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the content of the report. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Area Community Regeneration Manager dated 3 
May 2005) 
 
 

  (c) BREAKDOWN OF EDUCATION GRANT AWARDS 2004-2005 
 

   The report informed Members as to the breakdown of the grant awards in 
2005/05. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the content of the report. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Area Community Regeneration Manager dated 3 
May 2005) 
 
 
 
 

Page 588



  (d) SOCIAL WELFARE GRANTS 
 

   Three Social Welfare Grants were presented for consideration. 
  
Decision 
  

i)                    Noted the balance of £21,500 for financial year 2005/2006. 
  

ii)                The Social Welfare Grants were determined as follows: 
  
Applicant             Narrative                            Project       Grant 
                                                                          Cost           Awarded 
  
Isa Craig               Cardross, Colgrain &          £3,030           £1,065 
                             Craigendorran Old       
                             People’s Welfare Association 
                             - Christmas Meal Social Gatherings 
 
Elizabeth Smith   Cove & Kilcreggan              £ 2,700           £1,127   
                             Old People’s Welfare 
                             Association – Christmas 
                             Party Spring Outing 
               
Nannette Dearie  Rosneath & Clynder           £ 1,950            £   775 

    Old People’s Welfare 
    Association – Summer Outing 
    Winter Social Evening 
 

(Reference:  Report by Area Social Services Manager dated 3 May 2005) 
 
 

  (e) BREAKDOWN OF SOCIAL WELFARE GRANT AWARDS 2004-2005 
 

   The report informed Members as to the breakdown of the grant awards in 
2004/05. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the content of the report. 
 
(Reference:  Report by Area Social Services Manager dated 3 May 2005) 
 
 

Page 589



Page 590

This page is intentionally left blank



 
MINUTES of MEETING of MID ARGYLL KINTYRE & ISLAY AREA COMMITTEE held in the 

CYBER CAFE, PORT ELLEN, ISLAY.  
on WEDNESDAY, 4 MAY 2005  

 
 

Present: Councillor Alastair McKinlay (Chair) 
 

 Councillor Rory Colville Councillor Robin Currie 
 Councillor Alison Hay Councillor Donald Kelly 
 Councillor John McAlpine Councillor Donnie MacMillan  
 Councillor Bruce Robertson  
   
Attending: Deirdre Forsyth, Area Corporate Services Manager 
 Donnie McLeod, Roads and Amenity Services Manager 
 Richard Kerr, Senior Development Control Officer 
 Yvonne Willan, Area Housing Manager 
 Felicity Kelly, Community Education 
 Angus Smith, Service Manager 
 Sharon Hoverty, Community Education 
 Christine Menhennet, Employability Manager 
 
 
 1. APOLOGIES 

 
  Apologies for absence were received from Councillor John Findlay. 

 
 2. CHAIRMAN'S REMARKS 

 
  Councillor Alastair McKinlay and all the Members wished Councillor John Findlay 

a speedy recovery. 
 

 3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

  There were declarations of interest by Councillor Colville for Scottish Sheepdog 
Trials, and Councillor Currie for the Columba Centre, Islay also Item 11 grants. 
 

 4. MINUTES OF MEETING OF 4 APRIL 2005 
 

  The minutes of 4 April 2005 were approved. 
 

 5. MINUTES OF SITE INSPECTION DATED 7 APRIL 2005 
 

  The Minutes of Site Inspection dated 7 April 2005 were approved.  It was noted 
that apologies were received from Councillors Currie, Hay, Kelly and McKinlay. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5mPage 591



 6. EMPLOYABILITY TEAM PRESENTATION 
 

   
 
 
Christine Menhennet gave an interesting and informative talk regarding the role 
of employability team within Argyll and Bute and an update on the proposed Mid 
Argyll Construction Training Centre and Campus. 
 
Decision 
 

1. It was agreed to include the Lochgilphead Construction Campus in the 
Area Strategy and Action Plan. 

 
2. It was agreed to request the SPC to financially support the construction 

campus when next considering the capital budget. 
 

 7. CAPITAL RECEIPTS 
 

  Letter received from Head Of Strategic Finance regarding usable capital receipts 
for Area Committees. 
 
Capital receipts amounting to the sum of £47,110.58 is available to be split 
between the four area Committees.  The amount available to Mid Argyll, Kintyre 
and Islay is £9,422.12. 
 
The Committees was required to identify capital projects to utilise the additional 
resources available and also ensure that the projects identified meet with the 
agreed capital criteria.  
 
Decision 
 
It was agreed to investigate allocating this sum to the Employability Team 
towards match funding any contribution they may make to the Construction 
Campus referred to at Item 6. 
 
(Reference – Letter by Head of Strategic Finance dated 1 April 2005) 
 

 8. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 

  1. Wheels to Work Project.  It was noted that the Princes Trust may have 
contributed to this in other areas, and that the Employability Team should 
discuss this with them. 

 
2. It was suggested that the Careers Service work more with trades people 

to encourage school leavers to consider this option. 
 
3. Construction Campus.  It was suggested that a suitable winter ferry 

service to Islay would be required to enable young people to take part in 
this proposal. 

 
4. A question was raised about the cost of removing a disused car from 

Islay.  It was agreed to investigate charges by Western Isles Council to 
see if there was any possibility of reaching an agreement with Caledonian 

Page 592



MacBrayne which would enable the costs to be reduced. 
 
5.  A question was raised about skips.  It was noted that funding was being 

sought for these to be replaced on Islay working through Re-Jig. 
 
6. It was noted that the correct name for the Port Ellen Polling Station is 

RAMSAY MEMORIAL HALL. 
 
7. A question was raised about the environmental wardens.  It was agreed to 

suggest they work in pairs and take work strategically throughout Argyll & 
Bute.  It was also agreed to pursue further the penalties imposed on 
offenders with the Scottish Executive. 

 
8. The costs of collection of rubbish from business premises was raised.  It 

was agreed to ask the Finance Department why a self catering business 
was charged for every house instead of as a single business. 

 
9. A question was asked about the provision of disabled parking spaces in 

Port Ellen.  It was noted that these would be marked out as soon as the 
white lining equipment was available on Islay. 

 
 9. PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
  The Committee considered and dealt with the applications for planning 

permission as detailed below. 
 

1. 04/01386/OUT 
Mr & Mrs Joachim Brolly.  Outline.  Residential development.  Land at 
Torran Farm (north of the farm bungalow), Torran, Ford. 
 
Decision 
 
Members resolved to grant planning permission as a ‘minor departure’ 
to adopted Development Plan policy, subject to: 
 
1) the standard outline conditions and reasons: 
 
2) the conditions and reasons set out in the report by Head of 

Planning dated 18 April, 2005. 
 

2. 05/00058/OUT 
E.A.G. Turner.  Outline Planning Permission.  Site for the erection of 
three single storey dwellinghouses, Land at Upper Killeyan, The Oa, 
Port Ellen, Isle of Islay. 
 
Decision 
 
1) Members agreed that planning permission be granted subject to 

the standard outline planning conditions and reasons and the 
conditions and reasons contained in the report by Head of Planning 
dated 4 May 2005, subject to the prior receipt of confirmation from 
SEPA of their satisfaction that the applicant has successfully 
demonstrated that ground conditions are suitable for the foul 
drainage system for the development to be served by means of a 

Page 593



total soakaway, or such other arrangement as may be acceptable 
to SEPA; 

 
2) In the event that the application proves acceptable to SEPA in its  

current form, the Head of Planning be authorised to issue the 
decision notice; 
 

3) In any other circumstance, the application be remitted to 
Committee for further consideration. 

 
3. 96/01293/DET 

Proposed Variation of Section 50 Agreement.  Planning permission 
96/01293/DET – Erection of Dwellinghouse, Coultorsay, Bruichladdich, 
Isle of Islay. 
 
Decision 
 
Members agreed that Consent be given for the original Agreement 
under Section 50 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 
1972, as superseded by Section 75 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Scotland) Act 1997, to be amended as requested by the current 
landowner, to delete 1.3 acres of land in order to allow the sale of land 
for which planning permission has previously been granted. 

 
 10. DELEGATED DECISIONS 

 
  The Committee noted the decisions issued by the Director of Development 

Services dated 13 April 2005. 
 

 11. GRANTS TO VOLUNTARY ORGANISATIONS 
 

  The allocation for Education Development grants for this financial year for Mid 
Argyll, Kintyre & Islay is £23,642.  The allocation for Leisure Development grants 
is £21,257. 
 
Decision 
 
The following grants were agreed on the usual terms and conditions. 
 
Organisation Total Amount of Grant 
  Education Leisure 
Total allocation  23,642 21,257 
ABREEF  13,000         700 
Campbeltown Brass  25,000        422     1,500 
Columba Centre Islay    4,000         850 
Dalintober Millknowe    3,900     1,300     
Dochas Fund (2)    1,024        500 
Dunadd Camanachd    1,610        800 
Elemental Arts  14,154     1,050 
Finlaggan Trust 122,000    1,000  

Page 594



Finlaggan Trust 122,000     1,000  
Islay Arts Association   21,750     1,100 
Islay and Jura Dolphins     5,000        730 
Islay Master Swimmers 
Club 

       812        400 

Islay Canoe Club     9,548        900 
Isle of Jura Music 
Festival 

  11,000        500       500 

Mid Argyll Round Table 3300 1300 500 
Kilmartin House 
Museum (2 applications) 

  21,344     1,500     1,100 

Kintyre Music Club        500        250 
Kintyre Sheep Dog 
Trials 

    6,960        980 

Kintyre Youth Enquiry 
Service 

105,862     5,000  

Lanterns @ 10   13,190     1,046       520 
Mid Argyll Music 
Festival 

    9,000     1,000 

Mid Argyll Pipe Band     1,503        680  
Mid Argyll University of 
the Third Age 

    2,408        680  
 

Mid Argyll Youth Project   12,100     5,000  
Mull of Kintyre Music 
and Arts Association 

  69,870     2,750 

Scottish Community 
Drama Association 
Kintyre District (1) 

       999        420 

Scottish Community 
Drama Association 
Kintyre Argyll District 

       480           220 

Special Educational 
Needs Parents Support 
Group 
 

    6,198       1,200        

Special Needs Support 
Group 

    5,835       1,200  

Tarbert Junior Gaelic 
Choir 

    5,410        750 

Tarbert Lochfyne Yacht 
Club 

    3,000  
 

     690 

Tarbert Music Festival 
Association 

  18,000              1,050 

Tarbert Seafood 
Festival 

    9,400     1,050 

Tayvallich Village Hall   17,096          750 
 

 

Totals 541,953     20,278  19,810 
 

 
Awaiting confirmation of POCSA compliance 
Organisation Total Total Recommendation 

Page 595



Cost 2004/2005 
Islay Natural History 
Trust 
 

16,640 2,500 Awaiting 
confirmation 
of POCSA 
compliance 

 

Mid Argyll Cricket Club   2,500 1,500 Awaiting 
confirmation 
Of POCSA 
compliance 

 

 
 
Referred or Refused Grants 
Organisation Total 

Project 
Cost 

Total 
Requested 
2004/2005 

Recommendation 

   Education Leisure 
Islay Toy Library   Referred 

to 
Childcare 
Partnership 

Bruichladdich Village 
Hall 

  Referred 
to 

Capital 
Grants 

Bowmore Harbour 
Improvement 
Association 

10,900 4,000 Referred 
to 

Economic 
Development

Columba Centre Islay   6,000 3,000 Referred 
to 

Childcare 
Partnership 

Dalintober Millknowe 
Community Flat 

16,277 2,000 Referred 
to 

Social 
Welfare 

Dunchologan Playgroup 
 

  4,000 2,000 Referred 
to 

Childcare 
Partnership 

Dochus Fund (1) 11,060 2,310 Refuse  
 

Third Age Group   6,800 3,400 Referred 
to 

Social  
Welfare 

Woodlands Centre 
Social Fund (1) 

  3,580 1,350 Referred 
to 

Social Work 

Woodlands Centre  
Social Fund (2) 

  Referred 
to 

Social Work 

Total 61,917 19,360   
 

 
 
(Reference – Report by Director of Community Services dated 4 May 2005) 
 

 EXEMPT SECTION 
 

 The Committee resolved in terms of Section 50A(4) of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973, to exclude the public from the following item of business on the 
grounds that it was likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 13 of Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.  
 

 12. ENFORCEMENT 04/00167/ENFOTH 
 

  This enforcement report relates to the unlawful display of a large, non-illuminated 

Page 596



shop fascia advertisement across the front elevation of the ‘Nickel & Dime Store’, 
Kinloch Road, Campbeltown.  This report addresses the issues raised, considers 
the proprietor’s proposals for a smaller advertisement to replace the existing 
sign, and considers the enforcement implications of this breach of planning 
control. 
 
Decision 
 

1) It was agreed to authorise the service of an Enforcement Notice under 
Regulation 24 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements)(Scotland) Regulations 1984, requiring the removal of the 
sign with 28 days of the date when the notice takes effect, (which will be 
28 days after the date of the service of the notice); 

 
2) In the event of failure to comply with the requirements of the Notice, to 

authorise either direct action under Regulations 1984 to secure removal of 
the sign and the recovery of costs, or to refer the matter to the Procurator 
Fiscal as a prospective prosecution under Section 187(3) of the Town and 
Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997.  

 
(Reference – Report by Head of Planning dated 4 May 2005) 
 

Page 597



Page 598

This page is intentionally left blank



 

MINUTES of MEETING of STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE (EDUCATION) held in the COUNCIL 
CHAMBER, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD  

on THURSDAY, 5 MAY 2005  
 
 

Present: Councillor Allan Macaskill (Chair) 
 

 Councillor Robin Banks Councillor Robert Macintyre 
 Councillor George Freeman Councillor James McQueen 
 Councillor Ian Gillies Councillor Dick Walsh 
 Councillor Alison Hay Margaret Anderson 
 Councillor Daniel Kelly Jane Brown 
 Councillor Bruce Marshall Charlotte Hanbury 
 Councillor Duncan MacIntyre  
   
Also Present: Councillor Rory Colville Councillor Robin Currie 
 Councillor Donald MacMillan Councillor Elaine Robertson 
   
Attending: James McLellan, Chief Executive 
 Douglas Hendry, Director of Community Services 
 David Logan, Governance and Risk Manager 
  
Apologies: Councillor Alastair McKinlay Fiona Fisher 
 Maureen Arthur  
 
 
 1. MINUTES 

 
  The Minutes of the Strategic Policy Committee (Education) of 17 March 2005 were 

approved as a correct record and the following point was noted: 
 
NPDO 
 
A seminar on the NPDO project would be held for all Members and a report would be 
brought to the next Council meeting on 26 May 2005 prior to financial close.  
 

 2. POLICY FOR HEALTHY EATING AND NUTRITION IN EDUCATIONAL 
ESTABLISHMENTS 

 
  A proposed policy for Healthy Eating and Nutrition in Educational Establishments was 

considered by the Committee. 
 
Decision 
 
To endorse the policy for Healthy Eating and Nutrition for Schools in Argyll and Bute 
subject to the following amendment:- 
 
On page 12 of the Policy document under point 6.6 Support for developing good 
practice – add “Community Supported Agriculture” to the list. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Community Services dated March 2005, submitted). 
 

 3. SCHOOL HOLIDAY ARRANGEMENTS: 2006/2007 
 

  The Committee was asked to agree a framework for the main school holiday periods in 
Argyll and Bute into which other related dates – in-service days and local holidays set by 
School Boards – will be incorporated.  The framework had been prepared taking 
account of the arrangements outlined by other Authorities. 

Agenda Item 5nPage 599



 

 
Decision 
 
1. To agree to accept the proposals for school holiday arrangements in session 

2006/07. 
 
2. That the incorporation of in-service days be agreed by the Director and the 

additional holidays set by School Boards be intimated to Area Committees. 
 
3. That the final patterns of school holiday and in-service days be circulated widely 

thereafter to all interested parties. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Community Services dated 25 February 2005, submitted). 
 

 4. ALLOCATION OF EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT GRANT BUDGET FOR 2005-6 
 

  The Committee considered a report recommending the allocation of the Education 
Development Grant Budgets for 2005/06.  A total of £14,147 had been distributed on the 
basis of a Service Level Agreement for 3 years from April 2004 leaving a balance of 
£98,743.  This would allow an allocation of £23,642 to each of the 4 administrative areas 
of the Council with £4,175 being held centrally for allocation to National and Argyll and 
Bute wide organisations. 
 
Decision 
 
That the balance of £4,175 in the Central Education Development Grant Budget be 
allocated to YouthLink,  the Prince’s Trust and Childline on the following basis:- 
 
Organisation Grant Awarded 

 
YouthLink £1,175 
The Prince’s Trust £2,600 
Childline £400 
                                          TOTAL     £4,175 

 
(Ref: Report by Director of Community Services dated 18 March 2005, submitted). 

Page 600



MINUTES of MEETING of STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, 
KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD  
on THURSDAY, 5 MAY 2005  

 
 

Present: Councillor Allan Macaskill (Chair) 
 

 Councillor Robin Banks Councillor Duncan MacIntyre 
 Councillor George Freeman Councillor Robert Macintyre 
 Councillor Ian Gillies Councillor Bruce Marshall 
 Councillor Alison Hay Councillor James McQueen 
 Councillor Daniel Kelly Councillor Dick Walsh 
   
   
Also Present: Councillor Rory Colville Councillor Robin Currie 
 Councillor Donald MacMillan Councillor Elaine Robertson 
   
Attending: James McLellan, Chief Executive 
 Douglas Hendry, Director of Community Services 
 Bruce West, Head of Strategic Finance (for item 2 only) 
 Gordon Nash, Head of Housing 
 Stewart Turner, Head of Roads and Amenity Services  
 David Logan, Governance and Risk Manager 
 Janette Gardner, NDR Arrears Supervisor 
 Carl Olivarius, Road Safety Training Officer 
 
Apologies: Councillor Alastair McKinlay  
   
 
The Leader intimated that Councillor Robin Currie, who was not a Member of the Strategic Policy Committee, 
had notified him that he wished, in terms of Standing Order 22.1 to speak and vote on item 8 of the Minutes.  
He confirmed that he would exercise his discretion to allow him to speak and vote on this item of the minute 
when his Ward was being referred to by a motion or amendment. 
 
Prior to discussion of any item of business, the Leader congratulated and presented a cheque to Mr Carl 
Olivarius whose suggestion to the Employee Suggestion Scheme had reduced costs to the Council in the 
production of a Council Tax Year Planner. 
 
 1. MINUTES 

 
  The Minutes of the Strategic Policy Committee of 13 April 2005 were approved as a 

correct record. 
 

 2. LEADER'S REPORT 
 

  The Leader of the Council submitted a report highlighting issues such as his recent 
meeting with the COSLA Vice President, Councillor Corrie McChord and Chief 
Executive, Rory Mair as well as more general matters such as co-terminosity; a request 
to the Minister for Environment and Rural Affairs, Ross Finnie, MSP seeking an 
additional £1.1m Land Reform monies for 12 Local Authorities;  storm damage suffered 
in August 2004 and January 2005; the future of NHS Argyll & Clyde and participation in 
the Community Development Programme; his visit to North Ayrshire to discuss potential 
for using Special Purpose Vehicles; finance issues such as the increase in collections of 
Non Domestic Rates and Council Tax and the increase in charges for second homes 
who now pay 90% Council Tax rather than 50%.  He also gave detail of his forthcoming 
meetings from 9 May to 27 May 2005 and responded to questions arising from his 
report. 
 

Agenda Item 5oPage 601



Decision 
 
1. To note the contents of the report for the period 2 April 2005 to 26 April 2005. 
 
2. To instruct the Head of Strategic Finance to prepare a report for the next Strategic 

Policy Committee outlining the Bellwin Scheme. 
 
3. To note that the Chief Executive would circulate to all Members the  reports that 

were previously circulated  to the Area Committees on costs incurred by the Council 
as a result of storm damage. 

 
(Ref: Report by Leader dated 25 April 2005, submitted). 
 

 3. HOUSING ISSUES 
 

  The Spokesperson for Housing issues, Councillor George Freeman, submitted a report 
highlighting progress made with the Housing Stock Transfer; an expected 
announcement from the Communities Minister regarding a review of Strategic Housing 
Investment in Scotland; the anticipated annual update in July on the Local Housing 
Strategy; a review on the current Rent Arrears Policy; the latest Housing Market Study 
covering Oban, Lorn & the Isles which is near completion; the second Argyll & Bute 
Housing Staff Conference scheduled for 14 May 2005 and the Council’s Allocations 
Policy.  Thereafter, he responded to questions arising from his report. 
 
Decision 
 
To note the contents of the report. 
 
(Ref: Report by Housing Spokesperson dated 25 April 2005, submitted). 
 

 4. POLICY FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF UNAUTHORISED CAMPING BY 
GYPSIES/TRAVELLERS 

 
  In response to a decision of the Council in November 2004 to establish a policy for 

dealing with unauthorised camping by gypsies/travellers within Argyll and Bute, Officers 
had now prepared a document which was before the Committee for consideration. 
 
Decision 
 
1. To approve the policy for the Management of Unauthorised Encampments 

by Gypsies/Travellers. 
   

2. That the Policy be reviewed in the Autumn of 2005 once Officers have had 
experience of the practical application of the new Policy. 
 

3. That a further report be brought to this Committee within one year.    
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Community Services dated 4 April 2005, submitted). 
 

 5. RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES IN TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION: 
CONSULTATION 

 
  All Local Authorities had been asked to respond to the draft regulations under Section 7 

of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001 by 15 April 2005.  Section 7 refers to “Persons living 
in hostel and other accommodation” and the Ministers had previously agreed to consider 
extending these regulations to cover ex-offenders, women’s refuges and temporary 
accommodation provided under homelessness legislation. 
 

Page 602



Decision 
 
That the following points be made within the response to the consultation:- 
 

• Bed & Breakfast accommodation be removed from the terms of this legislation at 
the current time, and is considered separately. 

 
• Argyll & Bute Council accepts that hostel dwellers and occupants of women’s 

refuges and other types of accommodation have an entitlement to occupancy 
agreements and to a minimum period of notice of termination of occupancy.  The 
draft regulations are helpful in this regard. 

 
(Ref: Report by Director of Community Services dated 30 March 2005, submitted). 
 

 6. ALLOCATION OF CENTRAL SOCIAL WELFARE GRANT BUDGET 2005-6 
 

  The Committee was asked to consider recommendations as to the allocation of the 
Social Welfare Grant budget for 2005/06.  The total Social Welfare Grant budget made 
available by the Council for allocation to voluntary organisations is £114,600.   £51,000 
of this had been allocated in terms of Service Level Agreements for 3 years from April 
2004 leaving a balance of £63,600.  This would allow for an allocation of £15,000 to 
each of the four administrative areas and for the remaining £3,600 to be held centrally 
for allocation to national and Argyll and Bute wide organisations. 
 
Motion: 
 
That the balance of £3,600 in the central Social Welfare Grant budget be allocated to a 
total of 11 organisations requesting grants as detailed in the report. 
 
Moved by Councillor Gillies, seconded by Councillor R. MacIntyre. 
 
Amendment: 
 
That the balance of £3,600 in the central Social Welfare Grant be allocated as follows: 
 
(a) A further £600 be allocated to Argyll Couple Counselling bringing the total grant 

awarded to £1,500. 
 
(b) A further £600 be allocated to Childline Scotland bringing the total grant awarded to 

£1,000. 
 
(c) A further £400 be allocated to (CSV) Clyde Action Cash for Kids bringing the total 

grant awarded to £1,100. 
 
Moved by Councillor Freeman, seconded by Councillor Marshall. 
 
Decision 
 
The Motion was carried by 9 votes to 2  and the Committee resolved accordingly.  
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Community Services dated 18 March 2005, submitted) 
 

 7. FUTURE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF ADULT CRIMINAL 
JUSTICE SERVICES 

 
  The current position in relation to the proposed new management arrangements for  

Adult Criminal Justice Services and the consultation process involved in this was 
outlined. 

Page 603



 
Decision 
 
1. To note the proposed consultation process. 

 
2. To agree that Councillors Macaskill and Walsh meet with the Director of 

Community Services to draw up a response to the consultation from Argyll 
and Bute Council.  

 
(Ref: Report by Director of Community Services dated April 1005, submitted) 
 

 8. REVIEW OF PIERS, HARBOURS AND FERRIES 
 

  The Committee considered a review document which had been written to highlight 
proposals that will impact upon the level of service provision for the maintenance of the 
Council’s piers and harbours.  Approval was sought to issue the review to the Area 
Committees for their consideration in June 2005 and also to issue the review to all 
stakeholders. 
 
Decision 
 
To approve the issue of the review document in accordance with the timetable 
contained within the Appendix to the submitted report subject to the following 
amendments to the review document: 
 
(a) On Page 2 of the review document add “Mallaig and North West Fishermen’s 

Association and other relevant bodies”. 
 
(a) On page 7 of the review document begin third last paragraph with 

“Kilcreggan/Helensburgh”  in bold. 
 
(b) On page 9 of the review document add a further category “IV – installations with a 

transport or fishery function where no dues are charged”; and apply this category to 
Arinagour Mid Pier. 

 
(c) On page 16 of review document under Port Appin – Point Lismore - 
 

1. remove the word “Promote” from second bullet point. 
 
2. add to the end of the third bullet point “(This has been investigated and 

evaluated and is not considered to be sustainable”). 
 

3. check that the maximum number of sailings stated in document is correct. 
 
(d) On page 17 of the review document amend proposal for Port Askaig – Feolin Ferry 

to read “The proposal is either that the fares are pitched at a reasonable level having 
regard to the rurality of the area and the cost of providing the service or that the 
timetable is reconsidered. 

 
(e) On page 66 of the review document - 
 

1. amend location of Lagg to “Jura (Sound of Jura)”. 
 
2. remove type “H” from Port Charlotte. 

 
(Ref: Report by Director of Operational Services dated 12 April 2005, submitted). 
 

Page 604



 9. MAINTAINING SCOTLAND'S ROADS: UPDATE OF ACTION PLAN 
 

  Consideration was given to a report which provides an update of the action plan 
contained within the earlier “Maintaining Scotland’s Roads” report considered by the 
Strategic Policy Committee on 9 December 2004. 
 
Decision 
 
1. To note that an action plan based on the recommendations of the report 

“Maintaining Scotland’s Roads” is being implemented. 
 

2. To approve the content of the updated plan as set out in Appendix 1 of the 
submitted report. 
 

3. To note the Road Maintenance backlog figures as calculated by SCOTS 
set out in Appendix 2 of the submitted report. 
 

4. To note the update to Local Performance Indicators as set out in Appendix 
3 of the submitted report. 

 
(Ref: Report by Director of Operational Services dated 12 April 2005, submitted) 
 

 10. CHANGES TO DISCRETIONARY RATES RELIEF FOR PREMISES IN RURAL 
AREAS 

 
  The Non Domestic Rates (Rural Areas and Rateable Value Limit) (Scotland) Order 2005 

extends the maximum rateable value on premises to which Mandatory and Discretionary 
Rural Rate Relief can be awarded under the Local Government Rating Act 1997 from 1 
April 2005.   The Committee considered a proposal to extend the maximum rateable 
value threshold for discretionary rural rates relief in line with the changes to the 
mandatory relief rateable value thresholds including in this Order.    
 
Decision 
 
To agree that the existing discretionary scheme be amended with effect from 1 April 
2005 to reflect the increased maximum rateable values for Rural Relief as follows:- 
 

(i) Increase rateable value threshold for top up 50% discretionary relief for 
qualifying General Stores and Post Offices (sole General Store or Post Office 
in designated rural settlement) from £6,000 to £7,000. 

 
(ii) Increase rateable value threshold for 50% discretionary relief for sole 

General Store or Post Office in designated rural settlement from £12,000 to 
£14,000. 

 
(iii) Increase rateable value threshold for 100% discretionary relief for  no more 

than two General Stores or Post Offices in designated rural settlement from 
£6,000 to £7,000. 

 
(iv) Increase rateable value threshold for top up 50% discretionary relief for up to 

two qualifying food stores in a designated rural settlement from £6,000 to 
£7,000. 

 
(v) Increase rateable value threshold for 100% discretionary relief for Council 

owned schools, halls and public conveniences in designated rural 
settlements from £12,000 to £14,000. 

 
(vi) Increase rateable value threshold for 100% discretionary relief for Abattoirs, 

Page 605



Auction Marts,  Landing Pads, Piers and Jetties and Pharmacies in 
designated rural settlements from £6,000 to £7,000. 

 
(vii) Increase rateable value threshold for top up 50% discretionary relief for 

Petrol Filling Stations in designated rural settlements where no other owned 
in Scotland from £9,000 to £10,500. 

 
(viii) Increase rateable value threshold for 100% discretionary  relief for Petrol 

Filling Stations in designated rural settlements where ratepayer owns another 
in Scotland from £6,000 to £7,000. 

 
(Ref: Report by Head of ICT & Financial Services dated 12 April 2005, submitted) 
 

 11. DUNOON ACTION PLAN 
 

  £35,000 funding for the production of an action plan to take forward the development 
and enhancement of the Dunoon area as envisaged in the approved Structure Plan and 
the Final Draft Argyll and Bute Local Plan was sought. 
 
Decision 
 
To agree to provide £35,000 as match funding for this exercise in recognition of the 
need for a Dunoon Action Plan. 
 
(Ref: Report by Director of Development Services dated 5 May 2005, submitted). 
 

Page 606



MINUTES of MEETING of PUBLIC SERVICE AND LICENSING COMMITTEE held in the 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD  

on THURSDAY, 12 MAY 2005  
 
Present: Councillor Gordon McKinven (Chair) 

 
 Councillor Ronald Kinloch Councillor Al Reay 
 Councillor Sidney MacDougall  
   
Also Present: Councillor Donald MacMillan  
   
Attending: Charles Reppke, Head of Democratic Services and Governance 
 Angus Gilmour, Head of Planning 
  
  
Apologies: Councillor Robin Currie Councillor John McAlpine 
 Councillor John Findlay 

Councillor Bruce Marshall 
Councillor Donald McIntosh 
Councillor Isobel Strong 

 
 1. MINUTES 

 
  The Minutes of the Public Service and Licensing Committee of 31 March 2005 

were approved as a correct record. 
 

 2. ALISON J MCMAHON: DETAILED APPLICATION FOR ERECTION OF 
TIMBER SHED IN REAR GARDEN FOR USE AS A DOG GROOMING 
SALON: GLENFYNE COTTAGE, 66 QUEEN STREET, DUNOON (REF: 
04/02455/DET) 

 
  The Bute and Cowal Area Committee had, at their meeting on 5 April 2005, 

agreed to recommend to the Public Service and Licensing Committee that the 
application be approved as a minor departure to POL COM 5 in that it is a small 
development in an area of mixed residential and commercial use and therefore 
does not represent a ‘Bad Neighbour’ development in view of its limited scale.  
The proposal will merely replace a previous dog grooming business in the wider 
area and will meet the large demand for this facility.  In view of its limited nature 
disturbance and noise will be minimal and this should not conflict with the spirit 
of PAN 56. 
 
Having heard from the Head of Planning;- 
 
Decision 
 
To unanimously approve the application as a minor departure to POL COM 5 in 
that it is a small development in an area of mixed residential and commercial use 
and therefore does not represent a ‘Bad Neighbour’ development in view of its 
limited scale.  The proposal will merely replace a previous dog grooming 
business in the wider area and will meet the large demand for this facility.  In 
view of its limited nature disturbance and noise will be minimal and this should 
not conflict with the spirit of PAN 56.  However, in order to monitor the noise 
situation, the approval was restricted to a temporary three year personal 
consent, specifically for the applicant and to the use being limited for the sole 
purpose as a dog grooming salon. 
 

Agenda Item 5pPage 607



(Reference, Report by Head of Planning dated 17 March 2005 and 
recommendation by the Bute and Cowal Area Committee of 5 April 2005, 
submitted). 

 3. PRECEPT PM LTD: DETAILED APPLICATION FOR CONSTRUCTION OF 
SECONDARY SCHOOL, PLAYING FIELDS AND PLAY AREA, FORMATION 
OF ROUNDABOUT AND NEW ACCESS AND INSTALLATION OF 
FLOODLIGHTING: LAND EAST OF DRUMFORK ROAD, COLGRAIN, 
HELENSBURGH (REF: 04/02024/DET) 

 
  The Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee had, at their PAN 41 Hearing on 

26 April 2005, agreed to recommend to the Public Service and Licensing 
Committee that the application be approved as a significant departure from 
Policy STRAT DC3 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan and as a minor 
departure from Policies DC2 and NHL 14 of the Dumbarton District Wide Local 
Plan subject to the conditions and reasons recommended by the Head of 
Planning and notification to the Scottish Executive due to the application being 
considered as a significant departure from Policy STRAT DC3 of the Argyll and 
Bute Structure Plan, the Council has an interest in the proposed development 
and where the application does not accord with the adopted Local Plan or where 
there has been a substantial body of objection. 
 
Having heard from the Head of Planning: - 
 
Decision  
 
1. To note the additional letter of support together with the additional 

comments from SEPA and to agree that conditions 10 & 20 be amended 
in terms of the applicant’s request with the other conditions remaining the 
same, as referred to in the report by the Head of Planning dated 6 May 
2005. 

 
2. To unanimously approve the application as a significant departure from 

Policy STRAT DC3 of the Argyll and Bute Structure Plan and as a minor 
departure from Policies DC2 and NHL 14 of the Dumbarton District Wide 
Local Plan subject to the conditions and reasons recommended by the 
Head of Planning in his report dated 6 May 2005. 

 
3. To note that the application requires to be notified to the Scottish 

Executive in terms of Circular 4/1997 Notification of Planning Applications 
on the basis that: 

 
(a) The application has been approved as a significant departure from the 

Structure Plan. 
(b) The Council has an interest in the proposed development  
(c) The proposed development does not accord with the adopted Local 

Plan; and  
(d) There being a substantial body of objections. 

 
(Reference, Reports by Head of Planning dated 14 December 2004, 6 January, 
18 February, 11 March and 12 April 2005, and recommendation by Helensburgh 
and Lomond Area Committee of 26 April 2005, submitted and Minute of the 
Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee and Report by Head of Planning 
dated 6 May 2005, tabled). 

 

Page 608



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL COUNCIL
CORPORATE SERVICES 26 May 2005

 
COUNCIL CONSTITUTION  
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 

 
 1.1 This report advises the Council on the work undertaken by 

Corporate Services in relation to the revisal of the Council’s 
Governance documentation and the formulation of a Council 
Constitution to contain all revised Governance Documentation. (The 
Draft Constitution has already been circulated to Members.) 
 

   
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 2.1 To approve the alterations to the Council’s Governance 

Documentation and approve and adopt a Council Constitution as 
detailed herein. 

   
   
3. DETAIL 

 
 3.1 On 27 January 2005 the Council’s Standards Committee 

recommended alterations to the Council’s Ethical Framework 
comprising the Standards Committee Terms of Reference, the 
Public Interest Disclosure Policy, the Guidelines – Conduct of 
Employees, and the Protocol for Member/Officer Relations and 
recommended these to the Council.   The Ethical Framework 
Documentation already referred to is incorporated into the proposed 
Council Constitution to include the recommended alterations. 
 

 3.2 Revisals have been made to the Council’s Contract Standing 
Orders, Scheme of Administration & Delegations, Financial & 
Security Regulations and Standing Orders for meetings to reflect 
evolving governance issues, changes in the internal organisation of 
the Council and to reflect alterations in the law.  These documents 
have been incorporated into the proposed Council Constitution with 
the following comment; 
  

Agenda Item 6aPage 609



 
  (a) Argyll & Bute Council Constitution – Part A – Page 3 

 
   It is proposed that all the aforementioned documents should 

be contained within one document which it is proposed will 
be prefaced by the document at  Part A titled “Argyll and 
Bute Council, the Constitution”.   
 
The existing appendix to the Scheme of Administration and 
Delegations headed “ Role and Duties of Councillors (a job 
description for Councillors)” has been extended to cover the 
role of The Convener, The Leader and Spokespersons. It is 
proposed to transfer this as an appendix to this document.   
 

  (b) Standing Orders For Meetings – Part B - Page 24 
 

   Little has been altered in relation to the Standing Orders for 
Meetings. 
 

  (c) Scheme of Administration and Delegations – Part C – 
Page 42 
 

   There are alterations to the Scheme of Administration and 
Delegations made to reflect previous decisions of the 
Council, current best practice, alterations in the organisation 
of the Council, and alterations in the law.   In particular;  
  

   (a) An additional paragraph number 1.6.2 at page 48 
has been added at Section 1 “Administration of 
Delegated and Referred Functions” to provide a clear 
process for matters being referred from an Area 
Committee to the Council or to the Strategic Policy 
Committee to be included in the agenda process for 
the relevant meeting.  
 

   (b) At Section 2 a new requirement (to reflect a previous 
decision of the Council) in regard to the delegations 
to Area Committees at 2.1.5(4) page 51 in relation to 
the reporting of any decision of an Area Committee 
regarding the disposal of surplus property at less 
than market value to be reported to the Strategic 
Policy Committee for approval. 
 

   (c) There is further specification of delegated matters to 
Area Committees in relation to planning at Section 
2.3.1(7)(d)(v)(4) page 55. 
 

Page 610



   (d) There is included the revised terms of reference of 
the Standards Committee at page 58 as 
recommended by the Standards Committee at its 
meeting of 27 January 2005. 
   

   (e) Minor alteration has been made to paragraph 2(5) of 
Section 3 page 61.   Concern has however been 
expressed by Chief Officers that the sum of £5,000 
which is expressed in that Section as the maximum 
value which may be expended by the Chief 
Executive and Directors without recourse to the 
Strategic Policy Committee is too low and causes 
delay in obtaining and employing consultants and it is 
considered that this sum should be increased . 
 

   (f) The existing appendix to the Scheme of 
Administration and Delegations headed “ Role and 
Duties of Councillors (a job description for 
Councillors)” has been extended to cover the role of 
Spokespersons. This has been transferred transfer  
as an appendix to Part A, titled “Argyll and Bute 
Council, the Constitution” rather than an appendix to 
the Scheme of Administration and Delegation.    
 

  (d) Financial And Security Regulations – Part D – Page 82 
 

   These have been re-modelled extensively in consultation 
with the Head of Strategic Finance to reflect the 
recommended CIPFA Model.  The revisals reflect 
alterations in the organisation of the Council, to take 
account of the current law and also comment from Internal 
Audit.   In particular; 
   

   (a) There has been expansion of the paragraphs in 
relation to virement and this can be viewed at 
paragraph 3.14 to 3.18 page 86.    
 

   (b) There is a new Section in relation to Risk 
Management in paragraph 4 page 88.   
 

   ( c) Alteration has been made in paragraphs 6.1 to 6.10 
at page 93 to reflect the current position in relation to 
the approval of the Treasury Policy Statement and 
the Treasury Management Strategy. 
  

   (d) Two Appendices have been added to the Financial & 
Security Regulations namely; 
  

     

Page 611



     (i) Internal Audit Mission Statement and Terms of 
Reference at page 103 
 

    (ii) The Anti Fraud Strategy at page 107 
 

  (e) Contract Standing Orders – Part E – Page 124 
 

   Alterations to the Contract Standing Orders have been 
made as follows;  
 

   Paragraph 2 – Select List – Works – Page 125  to reflect 
the Council’s current use of Constructionline, to reflect 
changes in the organisation of the Council and to take 
account of comment from Internal Audit.  
 

   Paragraph 3 – Select List – Supplies and Services – 
page 126 to take account of the Council’s Procurement 
Strategy, use of the Authorities Buying Consortium, and 
eProcurement  and to take account of comment from 
Internal Audit.  
 

   Paragraphs 4 to 12 – All Dealing with the Tendering 
Process – Obtaining Tenders – pages 126 to 132 
 

   To take account of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
2003 (and in particular Best Value) and comment from 
Internal Audit. 
 

   Over and above this there are further minor alterations 
made in relation to re-organisation of the Council and 
comment from Internal Audit. 
 

   The Council’s Procurement Strategy has been added as an 
appendix. 
 

  (f) The Members Allowances Scheme at page 165 has been 
updated  

    
4.  It is now recommended that the Council establish a document to be 

known as the “Council Constitution” containing the following. 
 

  4.1 The document titled Argyll and Bute Council The 
Constitution at Part A of the Draft Council Constitution. 
 

  4.2. The reviewed Standing Orders for Meetings, Scheme of 
Administration and Delegations, Financial & Security 
Regulations and Contract Standing Orders together with 
the relevant appendices all  attached at Parts B, C, D & E 
respectively to the Draft Council Constitution. 
 

Page 612



  4.3 The Ethical Framework Documentation comprising the 
terms of reference of the Standards Committee, the 
Council’s Public Interest Disclosure Policy, the Council’s 
Guidelines – Conduct of Employees and the Council’s 
Protocol for Member/Officer Relations all as incorporated 
into the Draft Council Constitution at Part F and that the 
Council’s Local Code of Conduct for Councillors be 
withdrawn. 
 

  4.4 There follows on from this report a report from the Director 
of Development Services in relation to the Land Reform 
(Scotland) Act 2003 (Part 1).  The report sets out 
proposals for additional alterations to the Scheme of 
Administration and Delegations which have arisen as a 
recent matter in relation to that Act.  Corporate Services 
and Development Services have liaised on  this matter and 
if the recommendations in the report from the Director of 
Development Services are approved then the alterations  
can readily be incorporated into the Scheme of 
Administration & Delegations to form part of the Council 
Constitution.  

 
5 IMPLICATIONS 

 
 

 Legal Approval of the documentation herein contained will 
form a Council Constitution which properly reflects the 
up to date organisation of the Council within the 
framework of current law. 
 

 Financial None 
 

 Personnel None 
 

 Equal 
Opportunities 
 

None 

 Policy - See ”Legal” above 
 
 
1416js council constitution  
(reports 05) 
 

Page 613



Page 614

This page is intentionally left blank



1 1

 
 
 
 
 

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE CONSTITUTION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 615



2 2

The Council’s Constitution comprises –  
 
Part A         The Constitution      Page 3 
 
Part B         Standing Orders for Meetings    Page 24 
 
Part C         Scheme of Administration and Delegations     Page 42 
                   
Part D         Financial and Security Regulations    Page 82 
 

Appendix 1 Internal Audit Mission Statement   Page 103 
and Terms of Reference      
Appendix 2 Anti Fraud Strategy    Page 107 
 

Part E         Contract Standing Orders     Page 124 
 
                    Appendix 1 Procurement Strategy    Page 137 
 
Part F          Ethical Framework:      Page 149 
 
                    The Councillors’ Code is incorporated  

          into this Constitution      
 

                    Standards Committee Terms of Reference  Page 58 
 
                    Guidelines – Conduct of Employees   Page 150 
 
                    Protocol on Member/Officer Relations   Page 159 
  
          Public Interest Disclosure Policy    Page 114 
 

        Members Allowances Scheme    Page 164 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 616



3 3

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

April 2005 
 

THE  CONSTITUTION 
 
     PART A 

 
The Council is a unitary authority established as a body corporate by the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1994. Since 1 April 1996, following local government reorganisation, It has been 
providing the full range of local government services to the people of Argyll and Bute  across  
Scotland’s second largest local authority area in urban, rural, remote and island communities. 
Additional information is provided on the Council’s website, http://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk\asp.   
 
The Operation of the Council 
 
The Council’s Constitution sets out how the council operates, how decisions are made and the 
procedures that are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to  
local people.  The constitution comprises a number of parts and these parts set out the basic 
rules governing the manner in which the Council conducts its business.   Appendices  contain 
more detailed procedures and codes of practice regulating different aspects of the Council’s 
business.   
 
The Council’s political management arrangements comprise – 
 

(1) an executive known as the Strategic Policy Committee which has wide ranging delegated 
authority to take decisions on behalf of the Council; 

(2) four decentralised Area Committees with substantial delegated authority to make 
decisions affecting local communities, bringing decision making closer to local people; 

(3) robust governance arrangements in the shape of an Audit Committee and a Standards 
Committee (on which there are independent non-Councillor members) which scrutinise 
and advise on the ethical standards, conduct, audit and risk management aspects of the 
Council’s business; 

(4) a Public Service and Licensing Committee which provides a strategic reference point on 
matters relating to regulatory and quasi-judicial matters; 

(5) a network of Policy Development Groups set up for particular issues to provide advice to 
the Council, Strategic Policy and Area Committees. 

 
  
 
Both Councillors and Council employees are servants of the public, They have separate  
responsibilities: Councillors are responsible to the electorate, the employee is responsible to the 
Council as a whole. They have separate roles: the Councillors’ role is to determine policy and to 
participate in decisions on matters placed before them, the direct operational management of the 
Council’s services is the responsibility of the Council’s Chief Executive and Chief Officials to 
ensure that the policies of the Council are implemented. 
 
 
 

Page 617



4 4

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PART I 
 

THE CONSTITUTION, THE COUNCIL AND THE CITIZEN 
 
  
1.  The Constitution 

 
Exercise of powers and duties 

 
(1) The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 

Constitution. 
 

The Constitution 
 

(2) This , together with the documents that follow, is the Constitution of Argyll and Bute 
Council. 

 
Purpose of the Constitution 

 
(3) The purpose of the Constitution is to – 

 
• Enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership 

with citizens, businesses and other organisations; 
 

• Support the active involvement of citizens in the process of council decision 
making; 

 
• Help councillors represent their constituents more effectively 

 
• Enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 

 
• Create a powerful and effective means of holding decision makers to public 

account; 
 

• Ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to local 
people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; and 

 
• Provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community. 

 
Interpretation and review of the Constitution 

 
(4) Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of 

action, the Council will always choose the option that it thinks is closest to the purposes 
set out  in subparagraph (3). 

 
 

Page 618



5 5

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.  Members of the Council 
 

Composition  
 

(1) The Council comprises 36 Councillors each representing a single member ward. 
 

Election and term of councillors 
 

(2) The ordinary election of all councillors takes place on the first Thursday in May every four 
years.   

 
(3) The term of office of councillors is four years, each Councillor retiring  on the day of 

election four years later. 
 

Roles and functions of all councillors 
 

(4) All councillors will – 
 

• collectively be the ultimate policy makers and carry out a number of strategic and 
corporate  functions; 

 
• represent their communities and bring their views into the Council’s decision 

making process, that is to say, become the advocate of and for their 
communities; 

 
• deal with individual casework on behalf of  constituents assisting in resolving 

particular concerns or grievances; 
 

• balance different interests,  representing their ward and their electorate as a 
whole; 

 
• be involved in decision making; 

 
• be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and 

 
• maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics. 

 
           Appendix 1 contains a detailed description of the role and duties of a Councillor. 
 

Rights and duties 
 

(5) Councillors have an absolute right of access to meetings of the Council, and to meetings 
of Committees and Sub-Committees in accordance with the detailed provisions contained 
elsewhere in this Constitution. They  have the right of access to the documents, 
information, land and buildings that are owned or in the possession or control  of the 
Council in so far as such access is necessary for the proper discharge of their duties as a 
Councillor and in accordance with the law. 

Page 619



6 6

 
(6) Without the Council’s consent, councillors must not make public information which is 

confidential or exempt (as defined in Section 50 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1973)  or divulge information given in confidence to them as a Councillor to anyone other 
than another councillor, or an officer, entitled to know it. 

 
 
 

 
 

Conduct 
 

(7) Councillors must at all times observe the Councillors’ Code of Conduct, and the 
provisions of this Constitution. 

 
Allowances 

 
(8) Councillors are entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members’ 

Allowances Scheme. 
 
 
3. The full Council 
 

Policy framework 
 

(1) The policy framework means the following plans policies and strategies – 
 

• The Best Value Plan; 
 

• The Budget ; 
 

• The Children’s Services Plan; 
 

• The Community Care Plan; 
 

• The Community Planning Strategy 
 

• The Corporate Plan (including Area Strategies); 
 

• The Anti Social Behaviour Strategy; 
 

• The plans and strategies which together comprise the Development Plan; 
 

• The Early Years Development Plan; 
 

• The Food Law Enforcement Service Plan; 
 

• The Local Agenda 21 Strategy; 
 

• The Local Transport Plan; 
 

• The Youth Justice Plan; 
 

• The Asset Management Strategy 
 

• The Risk Management Strategy 
 

Page 620



7 7

• The Treasury Management Policy 
 

• The School Estate Strategy 
 

• The Housing Strategy 
 

• Any other plan or strategy that the Council has decided should be part of the 
Policy Framework. 

Budget 
 

(2) The budget includes – 
 

• The approved estimates of revenue expenditure ; 
 

• Any reserve  funds; 
 

• The council tax base and setting the council tax;; 
 

• The approved programme  of the Council’s capital expenditure and decisions 
relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing requirement.. 

 
Functions exercised by the full Council 

 
(3) Only the full Council will exercise the functions – 

 
• Adopting and changing the Constitution; 

 
• Approving,adopting or amending the policy framework and any plan, policy or 

strategy which is contained within the Policy Framework; 
 

• Approving or amending the budget; 
 

• Appointing a Councillor to any Executive position as defined elsewhere in this 
Constitution; 

 
• Agreeing and amending the terms of reference for committees, deciding on their 

composition and making appointments to them; 
 

• Reserved to it in terms of detailed provisions elsewhere in this Constitution; 
 

• Making decisions about all other matters that by law must be reserved to the full 
Council. 

 
Council meetings 

 
(4) A Council, Committee, Sub-committee, or Policy Development Group meeting will be  

conducted in accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders for Meetings. 
 

Responsibility for functions 
 

(5) The Council’s arrangements for the discharge of functions which are set out in the 
Council’s Scheme of Administration and Delegations provide for certain powers and 
duties of the Council to be discharged on the Council’s behalf by a Committee, Sub-
Committee or an officer.  

 
  

Page 621



8 8

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.  Decision making 
. 
 

Principles of decision making 
 

(1) All decisions of the Council, or any Committee or Sub-Committee will be made in 
accordance with certain immutable principles, which are – 

 
• Proportionality (that is to say, the action must be proportionate to the desired 

outcome); 
 

• Due consultation with and the taking of and consideration of professional advice 
from officers; 

 
• Respect for human rights (see below for further details); 

 
• A presumption in favour of openness; and 

 
• Clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 

 
 
 

Decision making by Council bodies acting as quasi- judicial bodies 
 

(2) In acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial manner the Council, a councillor or an officer 
must follow a proper procedure which accords with the requirements of natural justice 
and the right to a fair  and impartial hearing contained in article 6 of the European 
Convention on Human Rights. 

 
5.  Citizens’ rights and the Council 
 

Information 
 

(1) Citizens have the right to – 
 

• Attend meetings of the Council, its Committees, Sub-Committees and Policy 
Development Groups  except where confidential or exempt information (as 
defined in Section 50 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973) is likely to be 
disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private; 

 
• See reports and background papers and any records of decisions made by the 

Council or any Committee, Sub-Committee or Policy Development Group ; in 
accordance with the foregoing provisions of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1973 and otherwise in accordance with the law; 

 
• Inspect the Council’s accounts in accordance with the relevant statutory 

provision; 
 

Page 622



9 9

• Information held by the Council, in accordance with the Freedom of Information 
(Scotland) Act 2002; 

 
• Personal information held by the Council in regard to them in terms of the Data 

Protection Act 1998. 
 

Participation 
 

(2) Citizens have the right – 
 

• to participate in Area Committees’ public question time provided the matter is not 
one regulated under Paragraph 5 (2) above; 

• to raise issues of their choosing with the Council, represent their views to their 
local Councillor(s) and the Council in writing, by telephone and email, at 
Councillors’ surgeries or other particular meetings and in community forums or 
meetings arranged by the Council with a view to consulting communities on 
particular issues 

 
 

Complaints 
 

(3) Citizens have the right to complain to – 
 

• The Council under its complaints procedure about any service failure; 
 
• The Council’s Monitoring Officer under the Council’s Public Interest Disclosure 

Policy 
 

• The Scottish Public Services Ombudsman if they believe they have suffered 
injustice as a result of maladministration on the part of the Council; 

 
• The Standards Commission for Scotland about a breach of the Councillors’ Code 

of Conduct. 
 
 
 

PART II 
 

THE ROLE OF THE LEADER, DEPUTE LEADER AND SPOKESPERSONS 
 
6. Executive Members 
 
 
     Convener 

 
(1) The Convener is elected by the Council and normally holds office for the life of the 

Council in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1994 

 
 

Leader 
 

(2) The Leader (and Deputy Leader) of the Council will be a councillor elected to the 
position of Leader (or deputy)  by the Council, and will normally hold office during the 
life of the Council  unless – 

 
 

Page 623



10 10

 
• S/he is suspended from being a councillor in terms of  the Ethical Standards in 

Public Life etc (Scotland) Act 2000  (although S/he may resume office subject to 
the approval of the Council at the end of the period of suspension); or 

 
 

•  S/he is removed from office by resolution of the Council. 
 

Spokesperson 
 

(3) The Council accepts that Spokespersons (who will be Members of the Strategic 
Policy Committee) will be appointed to such positions by the Leader. A spokesperson 
will hold office until otherwise determined by the Leader (but not beyond the life of the 
Council)unless: 

 
  

 
• S/he is suspended from being a councillor in terms of  the Ethical Standards in 

Public Life (Scotland) Act 2000 (although s/he may resume office at the end of 
the period of suspension) 

 
 

 
 
Appendix 1 contains a detailed description of the role and duties of the Convener, Leader and 
Committee Spokespersons. 
 
 
7. Overview and Scrutiny  
 

 
• The Standards Committee (which will comprise Councillors who do not hold an 

executive position and two non-Councillor members) has the remit given to it 
within the Council’s Scheme of Administration and Delegations and will monitor 
and provide guidance and advice on standards of conduct, governance and 
ethical behaviour within the Council’s rules and procedures. 

 
• The Audit Committee (which will comprise Councillors who do not hold an 

executive position and two non-Councillor members) has the remit given to it 
within the Scheme of Administration and Delegations and will monitor, and  
provide guidance and advice   in relation to financial audit ,  governance and risk 
management .   

 
8. Committees 
 
The Council will appoint the committees set out in the Scheme of Administration and Delegations 
and may appoint other Committees. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 624



11 11

 
 

PART III 
 

AREA COMMITTEES AND COMMUNITY PLANNING 
 

9.  Area Committees  
 

Area Committees 
 

(1) The Council will  appoint area committees in fulfilment of the provisions of the Council’s 
Decentralisation Scheme . 

 
(2) The composition and terms of reference of the area committees appointed by the Council 

from time to time are set out in the Scheme of Administration and Delegations.  
 
 
10. Community Planning 
 
The Local Government In Scotland Act 2003 provides the statutory basis for Community Planning  
a process intended to ensure long term commitment to effective partnership working within 
communities.  Argyll and Bute Council leads the Argyll and Bute Community Planning Partnership 
working with Enterprise Companies, the Health Service, the Police, the Fire Brigade and many 
other public agencies as well as voluntary organisations and community groups.  Utilising the 
statutory framework of  community planning it is intended that partnership working will ensure 
public agencies serve their communities more efficiently and operate in a more democratic, 
accountable, integrated and co-ordinated manner. 
 
 
 

PART IV 
 

OFFICERS 
 

11. Officers 
 
 

Chief Executive 
 

(1) The Chief Executive is the head of paid service and s/he is responsible for – 
 

• Ensuring the overall corporate management and operation of the Council 
(including overall management responsibility for all Council officers); 

 
• Providing  advice on all matters of policy and strategy to the Council. 

 
 

Executive Directors 
 

(2) The Executive Directors (Community Services, Corporate Services, Development 
Services and Operational Services) are the Heads of the Council’s Service Departments. 

 
 
 

Strategic Management Team 
 

Page 625



12 12

(3) The Chief Executive, the Executive Directors and the Head of Strategic Finance 
collectively form the Council’s Strategic Management Team. 

(4) The Strategic Management Team is responsible – 
- for the operational management of the Council and its 
        employees            
- for the delivery of the Council’s services 
- for advising the Council on overall strategic and corporate 

development  
 
 
12. The Monitoring Officer 
 

 
(1) The Director of Corporate Services is the Council’s Monitoring Officer in terms of Section 

5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and has the following functions – 
 

(a) the statutory functions prescribed in that Act 
(b) to report to the Council if s/he considers that any decision or proposed 

decision would be contrary to law or any decision, proposed decision 
or omission would be likely to give rise to maladministration on the part 
of the Council 

(c) to maintain the Council’s Constitution and its governance 
arrangements 

(d) to deal with any matter in terms of the Council’s Public Interest 
Disclosure Policy 

(e) to deal with any matter referred to him/her by the Council, the Council’s 
Standards Committee, the Chief Executive, the Ombudsman or the 
Standards Commission 

 
 

(2) A report made  to the full Council by the Monitoring Officer  relating to circumstances 
outlined in  subparagraph (b) above will have the effect of stopping the proposal or 
decision from being implemented until the report has been considered by the Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
13. The Chief Finance Officer 
 
The Head of Strategic Finance is the Council’s chief finance officer in terms of section 95 of the 
Local Government  (Scotland) Act 1973 and has  responsibility for the administration of the 
financial affairs of the Council and for the provision of financial advice to the Council. 
 
 

PART V 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

14. Finance, contracts and legal matters 
 

(1) The Council’s Financial and Security Regulations will govern the financial management of 
the Council. 

 
(2) The Council’s Contract Standing Orders will govern the making of contracts, in the name 

of the Council. 
 

Page 626



13 13

 
 

 
      Appendix 1 

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 

 
ROLE AND DUTIES OF COUNCILLORS 

 
(“A Job Description for Councillors”) 

 
 

PART A: ALL COUNCILLORS 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
 Being a local Councillor is an honourable job which can be a rewarding and enriching 

experience.  It is no easy task being a Councillor. Society needs to have people, whether at a 
national or local level who are able, willing and prepared to take decisions on its behalf about 
matters which affect the lives of citizens and who are prepared to be accountable for these. 
Democratic election gives local Councillors, like Members of Parliament, a special status in 
public life which brings with it opportunities to contribute to the well being of society, and in 

doing so, responsibilities to act fairly and within the law. 
 

2. ROLE OF COUNCILLORS 
 

 Local government serves the people    Providing public services is a prime function of local 
government. Local Councils are not the only providers of services to the public but no other 
public body provides the range of services which a local Council does. Providing services to 
meet community needs and aspirations requires the development of policy about the nature of 
services to be provided and the planning of the delivery and resourcing of those services. 
 

 As a Councillor, he or she will, therefore, participate as – 
 

  • A policy maker 
• An executive decision taker 
• A scrutineer of the effectiveness of the Council in delivering services 
 

 Local government represents the people  Councillors are elected and then have a democratic 
legitimacy. They represent the people of their communities (including those who did not vote for 

them). Whatever service delivery functions a Council has (and even if there were none) this 
representational function would remain. 

 
 As a Councillor, he or she, therefore – 

 
  • Is a representative of his or her constituents 

• Is a community leader providing a focus for the development of his or her community 
 

 Local government makes rules    All societies need principles to which action conforms, if they 
are to safeguard the freedom, safety and well-being of their citizens. At a national level there is 

a clear distinction between Parliament, which makes the rules, and Government on the one 
hand and the Courts (or other tribunals) on the other which have separately defined roles to 

administer these rules.  A local Council, however, has three roles – 
 

  • It must administer certain rules which Parliament has laid down for it 
` 

Page 627



14 14

  • It may make rules of its own 
 

  • It must administer rules of its own which it makes 
 

 By participating in making or administering rules which affect the rights and obligations of 
citizens, and which include the granting or refusal of permissions, a Councillor, therefore – 

 
  • Pays attention to relevant considerations and ignores irrelevant ones 

 
  • Considers and weighs evidence 

 
  • Considers each issue on its merits 

 
  • Acts fairly and within the law 

 

 Local government works with others    Not only is it for Councils to plan and deliver their own 
services, there is an increasing acceptance and expectation, under the concept of community 

planning, that Councils should take the lead in drawing together the activities of the whole 
range of public bodies, and the business and voluntary sectors, in identifying a common 

agenda and drawing together the plans of the partners to address the needs of communities. 
Beyond that Councils work in a national framework with Government and Parliaments at UK 

and Scottish level, and with other agencies. 
 

 As a Councillor, he or she, fulfils an ambassadorial role not only on behalf of his or her own 
community in a local context, but also representing the interests of Argyll and Bute in a wider 

national arena. 
 
 

3. MAIN TASKS 
 

 1. Regular attendance at meetings of the Council, and of any Committee, Sub-Committee 
and Working Party to which the Councillor is appointed is an essential component of the 

policy making and executive decision taking life of the Council. 
 

 2. Dealing with issues raised by constituents by correspondence, telephone and in person 
on an ongoing basis, and making arrangements to facilitate access by constituents, 
including “surgeries” or in other ways, contributes to the representative role of the 

Councillor. 
 

 3. Actively being aware of issues, inside and outside the Council, affecting the Councillor’s 
electoral ward and the wider Argyll and Bute community fulfils a community leadership 

and representative function. 
 

 4. Working in partnership with other local organisations to identify and pursue local needs 
and aspirations and encouraging community action is fundamental to the role of 

community leader. 
 

 5. As a local community leader, Councillors will be invited by local organisations to 
participate in local forums and events which collectively provide a focus for community 

activity and development. 
 

Page 628



15 15

 6. Representing Argyll and Bute on other organisations or agencies to which the Councillor 
may be appointed or nominated by the Council represents an ambassadorial function 

articulating the Council’s policies and views and projecting the good image of the Council 
and Argyll and Bute. 

 
 

4. SKILLS AND ATTRIBUTES 
 

 1. A commitment to the ethos of public service lies at the heart of being a local Councillor. 
 

 2. Active citizenship is a commitment to contributing to and focusing on what best improves 
the well-being of communities. 

 
 3. The ability to assimilate a multitude of information, combined with clear thinking and 

common sense provide the analytical skills which enable objective and fair decision 
taking. 

 
 4. Dealing with constituents requires an empathetic approach to understanding the 

problems which they bring to their local Councillor. 
 

 5. Presentational and communication skills enable the Councillor to articulate the needs of 
their constituents as well as the policies and aspirations of the Council. 

  
 6. Resolving often conflicting points of view and contentious issues requires skills of 

negotiation, diplomacy and clear thinking. 
 

 7. Resourcing the provision of local authority services involves very significant levels of 
expenditure which requires budgeting and control systems which a local Councillor 

requires to develop an understanding of. 
 

5. TRAINING 
 

 The Council will provide a range of training opportunities covering induction, democratic 
process skills, the rights and responsibilities of Councillors, including danger zones, local 

government finance and media and communications skills. 
 

 Developing knowledge about the functions of the Council and the services which are delivered 
is supported through the ongoing provision of written material as well as through seminars, 

workshops, presentations and other similar events. 
 

 To play his or her full part as a Councillor requires a Member to be diligent in accepting the 
opportunities for training which are provided. 

  
 

PART B: SPOKESPERSONS 
 
6. ROLE OF SPOKESPERSONS 

 
 The Council recognises that, at a political level, to help facilitate the development of policy, to 

help inform opinion within and outside the Council including to represent the Council’s interests 
with Parliament, Ministers and others, additional responsibilities are placed on certain 

Councillors who are required to act in the role of Spokesperson for groups of Services for which 
the Council is responsible. These responsibilities include:- 

 
 (1) Facilitating good communication amongst Spokesperson, the wider membership of the 

Council and the relevant Strategic Directors and Heads of Service. 
 

Page 629



16 16

 (2) Facilitating processes and communication amongst Councillors to help inform service 
policy development , including – 
 

- leading on those service matters of political/policy priority at meetings of the 
Council, the Strategic Policy Committee and other Committees and Policy 
Groups of the Council 

- providing opportunities for information sessions for Councillors on issues and 
aspects of the work relevant to the service,  

- by providing Spokesperson reports at Strategic Policy Committee meetings. 
 

 (3) Supporting the Strategic Director and Heads of Service in taking forward the 
development of service policy issues. 

 
 (4) The promotion and awareness of service strategies, achievements and constraints in 

consultation with the Leader and Depute Leader of the Council in order to inform the 
public, Government and other public and voluntary organisations of the Council’s 

strategies and activities and the reasons for them. To be an ambassador for the service 
locally and nationally. 

 
 (5) Maintaining good communications with Council employees within the service, providing a 

bridge between the Council and employees in a manner that provides a policy 
background for, and recognition of, their work, in accordance with the Councillors’ Code. 
 

 (6) Participating, at a political level, in the corporate working of the Council, maintaining 
regular contact with the Leader and Depute Leader of the Council, other Spokespersons, 

the Chief Executive and Strategic Directors contributing to the development of the 
Council’s corporate strategies in order to help ensure the development of service policy 

within the corporate environment. 
 

 (7) Reporting back to the Council on meetings with organisations outside the Council, 
seminars etc, on Service related issues either through regular Spokesperson reports and 

in other ways. 
 

7. COMMITMENTS 
 

 The role of Spokesperson places demands on the skills and time of those who fulfil this role, 
including and in addition to those set out in paragraph 3 above:- 

 
 (1) Leadership and the promotion of – 

 
- the ethos of public service 
- a quality culture  
- customer focus in the provision of Council services 
- equal opportunities 

 
 (2) Meetings with the Leader, Depute Leader, other Spokespersons and Chief/Senior 

Officers of the Council to contribute to corporate policy and strategy development; 
meetings with the relevant Director and Heads of Service when matters of service policy 

are to be discussed; meetings with Ministers, COSLA, representatives of other public 
and voluntary organisations to represent the interests of the Council; and attendance at 

Seminars etc related to the work of the Service all require a time commitment and 
availability to attend. 

 

Page 630



17 17

 (3) Developing and maintaining a pro-active and detailed awareness and understanding of – 
- service policy issues in a local and national context  

 
- financial and budget matters related to the Service ensuring these are 

understood by the Council 
 

 (4) The ability to promote awareness of Service strategies, issues, and achievements inside 
and outside the Council. 

 
 (5) Working with others always requires a variety of personal skills; working with – 

- the Leader, Depute Leader, other Spokespersons and Chief Officers requires the 
recognition of mutual trust and respect, and the ability to balance service 

development priorities with those of the Council as a whole 
 

- the relevant Director and Heads of Service on matters of Service policy requires 
an understanding and recognition of respective roles set out in the Councillors’ 

Code 
 

 (6) Willingness to participate in personal development opportunities provided by or through 
the Council 

 
8.                               CONVENER 

 
         The role of the Convener 
 
The Convener is the Councillor who chairs Council meetings and in that regard  
possesses the powers and duties given to him/her by statute, this Constitution 
and the common law. 
 
The Convener has precedence, that is to say s/he is the first citizen of the 
Council area. 
 
The Convener’s functions are – 

- to promote involvement in the the Council’s activities 
- to act as the conscience of the Council 
- to secure the rights of all Members to participate in the 

Council’s decision taking 
- to act as a focal point for the whole Argyll and Bute 

community 
- to carry out civic and ceremonial activities and act as an 

ambassador for the Council and Argyll and Bute 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 631



18 18

9                     LEADER 
 

    THE ROLE OF THE LEADER 
 
 

The role of the Leader shall be as follows; 
 

1. The Leader should 
 

 (i) provide political leadership for the organisation; 
 

 (ii) promote the interests of Argyll and Bute Council in particular and Scottish 
Local Government in general; 
 

 (iii) represent The Council as its Political Leader at meetings and events; 
 

 (iv) work across the Council’s political groups to establish clear political direction; 
 

 (v) develop and manage the general relationship with the Scottish Executive, 
COSLA, Scottish Parliament and other key players; 
 

 (vi) lead the Spokespersons; 
 

 (vii) provide the focus for the Council’s general image in the media and represent 
the Council in media terms where the importance of the issue demands it; 
 

 (viii) provide a link between the officer structure and its political structure and 
provide day to day political direction; 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 632



19 19

 
 

ARGYLL 
AND  
BUTE  

COUNCIL 
 

STANDING ORDERS 
 

PART  B 
 
 
 
 

……….  2005 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 633



20 20

STANDING ORDERS 
 

INDEX 
 

 Standing 
Order 

 

Page 
No. 

Adjournment   
- No quorum 4  
- Disorder 9  
- Meeting 12  

Admission of Public and Press 7  
Agenda 3  

Amendments 10  
Application of Standing Orders to Committees and  

  Sub-Committees 
27 

 
 

Attendance at Meetings   
- As a Non-Member of a Committee or Sub-Committee 22.1  
- Local Members 22.1  
- Exclusion from as a Non-Member of a Committee or Sub-

Committee 
22.2  

- Failure to attend 6  
- Members to have attended entire “hearing proceedings” 22.3  
- Record of Members present 8.1.1  

Business   
- Order of 8  
- Urgent (see under Urgent Business)   

Changes, Can a Council decision be changed 16  
Committees and Sub-Committees   

- Appointment of Committees and Sub-Committees 19  
- Arranging Meetings 20  
- Special Meetings 20.5  
- Quorum 21  
- Attendance as Non-Member of a Committee or Sub-Committee 22  

Convener/Chairman   
- Absence of 5  
- Appointment of 1  
- Powers and duties of 9  
- To preside at Meetings 5  

Conduct   
- Disorderly by a Member 9  
- Disorderly by Public 7.4  

Confidential Information   
- Reports not available to the Public 3.4.2  

Page 634



21 21

 
 Standing 

Order 
Page 
No. 

Contracts   
- Councillors – Interests in 25  

Debate, Rules of 10  
Decisions, Can a decision of the Council be changed 16  

Deputations 18  
Disorderly Conduct   

- By Member 9  
- By Public 7.4  
Education Committee – voting rights of persons interested in  

   Promotion of religious education 
21.3  

Exempt Information   
- Reports not available to public 3.4  
- Disclosure of  26  

Financial Regulations and Contract Standing Orders, power to make 29  
Groups, Meetings of Policy & Development 24  

Interests in Contracts and other matters   
- Members 25  

Leader and Depute Leader of the Council, appointment 1.1.3  
Local Member, attendance at Committee and Sub-Committee Meetings 22  

Members   
- Appointment to Committees 1.1.4  
- Appointment to Outside Bodies 1.1.7  
- Attendance at Meetings   
 - As a Non-Member of Committee or Sub-Committee 22  
 - Exclusion from, as Non-Member of Committee or Sub-

Committee 
22  

 - Local, attendance at Committee or sub-Committee 
meetings 

22  

- Failure to attend meetings 6  
Meetings   

- Adjournment   
 - Disorder 9.5  
 - Of Meeting 12  
 - No quorum 4.5  

- Agenda 3  
- Business, Order of 8  
- Closing a debate, procedural motions 12.3  
- Debate, Rules of 10  
- Minutes of 17  
- Notice of 2  
- Ordinary Meetings   
 - Council 1.2  
 - Committees and Sub-Committees 20  

- Questions at Council meeting 15  
- Quorum   
 - Council meeting 4  
 - Committees and Sub-Committees 21  

- Special Meetings 1.3  
- Summons to Attend 2.3  
- Urgent Business   
 - Motion by Member 14.1  
 - Other Urgent Business 8.1.4  

Page 635



22 22

- Voting (see under Votes)   
Minutes   

- Approval of 17.1  
- Discussion of and amendment to  17.2  
- Dissent from 10.5  

Motions   
- Notice of   
 - For next meeting 13  
 - Matter of urgency 14  

- Procedural   
 - Closure Motions 12  
 - Length of Speeches on 10.1  
 - Not seconded 10.5  
 - Moving and deciding on 10.1, 2.3 & 4  
 - Moving approval of report or minute 10.7  
 - “That the Question be now put” 12.3.1  
 - “That the Meeting do now adjourn” 12.3.2  
 - To adjourn a meeting 12.2  
 - Withdrawal of 10.6  

Outside Bodies, Appointment to 1.1.7  
Pecuniary Interests, Contracts and other matters   

- Members 23  
Policy Development Groups, Meetings of 24  
Procedural Motions (See under Motions)    

Public and Press – admission to and exclusion from meetings 7  
Questions at Council Meetings 15  

Quorum   
- Committees and Sub-Committees 21  
- Council 4  

Rules of Debate 10  
- Length of Speeches 10.1  
- Point of Order 10.9  
- Right to Reply 10.11  
- Subsequent amendments, to be moved before debate begins 10.1  
- Terms of to be stated 10.1  
- Suspension of Standing Orders 27.1  
- Withdrawal of motion or amendment 10.6  
- Writing to be in, if required 10.1  

Scheme of Delegation 28  
Scrutiny of Strategic Policy Committee 30  

Standing Orders   
- Altering 27.2  
- Suspending 27.1  

Urgent Business   
- Motion by Member 14   
- Other Urgent Business 3.2.2  

Vice Chairmen   
- Appointment of 1.1.5  
- Presiding at Meetings 5.2  

Vice Convener   
- Appointment of 1.1.2  
- Presiding at Meetings 5.2  

Votes   
- Casting Vote 11.4  
- Election, Selection or Appointment of   

Page 636



23 23

 - A Councillor 11.5, 6, 7  
 - Any person other than a Councillor 11.8  

-  Lot – Decision by 11.4  
- Order of Voting on Motions and Amendments 10.2, 3, 4  
- “Present and Voting” majority 11.1  
- Roll Call Vote 11.3  
- Show of Hands 11.2  
- Voting Rights, persons appointed to Education Committee 21.3  

Whipping 11.9, 10, 11  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 637



24 24

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 

STANDING ORDERS 
 

1. MEETINGS 
 

 FIRST MEETING AFTER AN ELECTION 
 

 1.1 The first meeting of the Council after an ordinary election of Councillors will be held 
within 21 days from the date of the election.  At that meeting, the Council will – 
 

  1.1.1 Elect the Convener of the Council; 
  1.1.2 Elect the Vice-Convener of the Council; 
  1.1.3 Appoint a Leader and a Depute Leader of the Council; 
  1.1.4 Appoint the Members of the Committees of the Council; 
  1.1.5 Appoint the Chairmen and Vice Chairmen of these Committees 
  1.1.6 Appoint the Members to represent the Council on any Joint Committees or 

Boards which the Council should appoint, if they need to be appointed at this 
meeting; if they do not they can be made at another Council meeting; 

  1.1.7 Appoint persons to serve on various outside bodies if these appointments 
need to be made by the Council at this meeting; if they do not they can be 
made at another Council meeting or by a Committee. 

  1.1.8 Deal with any competent business, keeping to the terms of any law and these 
Standing Orders. 
 

 ORDINARY MEETINGS 
 

 1.2 Ordinary meetings of the Council will be held on the dates and at the times which the 
Council decide.  These meetings will normally be held in Kilmory Castle, Lochgilphead, 
but the Council or the Convener may decide that a meeting should be held somewhere 
else. 
 

CS SPECIAL MEETINGS 
 

 1.3 A Special Meeting of the Council may be called at any time – 
 

  1.3.1 If the Convener takes the view that one is necessary; or 
  1.3.2 If at least one-fourth of the members of the Council want one to be held; if 

they do, they must all sign a notice which must be given to the Director of 
Corporate Services and the notice must set out the business which these 

Members wish the Council to consider at that meeting; in this case the 
meeting will be held within fourteen days of the date when the Director of 

Corporate Services receives the notice. 
 

 
CS2 HOW MEETINGS ARE CALLED 

 
 Public Notice 

 
 2.1 Three clear days at least before a meeting of the Council, the Director of Corporate 

Services will display a notice at the Council’s Headquarters and appropriate Area 
Offices saying when and where the meeting will be held.  If a meeting is called at 

shorter notice in case of urgency then the notice will be displayed at the time it is called 
[“Clear days” excludes the day of publication and the day of the meeting and does not 

include Saturdays, Sundays or public holidays]. 
  

Page 638



25 25

 2.2 If the meeting is called by Members of the Council, the notice must be signed by those 
Members and must set out the business which they wish the Council to consider; and 

only that business can be considered at the meeting. 
 

 A Summons must be sent to each Member 
 

 2.3 Seven days at least before a meeting of the Council, the Director of Corporate  
Services will issue a summons to each Member asking that Member to attend the 

meeting.  Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays will not be excluded for the purpose 
of this Standing Order. The summons will set out the business which the Council will be 

asked to consider at that meeting.  It will be signed by the Director of Corporate 
Services and left at, or sent by post, to each Member’s usual residence, or to another 

address which any Member may give in writing to the Director. 
 

 2.4 If a Member does not receive a summons the meeting will still be valid. 
 

CS3 THE AGENDA AND REPORTS FOR MEETINGS 
 

 Agenda 
 

 3.1 The summons will include an Agenda of the items of business for the meeting.  These 
will be set out in the order in which the Council will consider them, but this can be 

changed at the meeting. 
 

 3.2 An item of business may only be considered at a meeting of the Council if:- 
 

  3.2.1 A copy of the Agenda, including the item, is available for any members of the 
public who wish to look at it, as provided in paragraph 3.3 below; or 

 
  3.2.2 The Convener is of the opinion that the item should be considered at the 

meeting as a matter of urgency because there are special circumstances; in 
which case the special circumstances will be recorded in the minutes of the 

meeting. 
 

 The public can see copies of the Agenda and most reports 
 

 3.3 Copies of the Agenda and, except as set out in paragraph 3.4 below, copies of any 
report for a meeting will be open and available at the Council’s Headquarters and 

appropriate Area Offices for at least 3 clear days before the meeting for any members 
of the public who may wish to look at these. 

 
 Reports can sometimes not be available to the public 

 
 3.4 When the Director of Corporate Services believes there is a proper reason she/he may 

exclude from the copies of reports which are to be available for members of the public 
who wish to look at them, the whole of a report (or any part of a report) which relates 
only to items of business which she/he thinks are likely to be considered when the 

meeting is not to be open to the public.  Every copy of any report in that category (or 
part of that report) will either – 

 
  3.4.1 Be marked “Not for Publication” and every copy (or the appropriate part) will 

say what kind of exempt information the report contains, in keeping with the 
law.  [The relevant law in this case is Schedule 7A to the Local Government 

(Scotland) Act 1973]. 
 

Page 639



26 26

  3.4.2 Be marked “Confidential” and every copy (or the appropriate part) will say that 
it contains confidential information, in keeping with the law.  [The relevant law 
in this case is Section 50A(3) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973]. 

 
 3.5 It should be borne in mind that reports marked “Not for Publication or “Confidential” 

containing information not open to the public at a meeting may require to be 
subsequently disclosed and made available in compliance with a request for 

information in terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. 
 

 3.6 Reports from Directors for a meeting must be given to the Director of Corporate 
Services as early as possible and certainly not later than noon two working days before 

the day on which the notice of the meeting is to be issued.  If the Director does not 
receive a particular report by that time, he may leave it off the Agenda. 

 
CS4 HOW MANY MEMBERS MUST ATTEND A MEETING 

 
 Quorum 

 
 4.1 There must be a minimum number of Members present at a meeting of the Council.  

This is known as the quorum.  The quorum of the Council will be 9 Councillors (that is a 
quarter of all the seats) except in certain special circumstances set out in the relevant 
law.  No business can be considered at a meeting of the Council unless a quorum is 
present.  An item of business cannot be dealt with if, because a number of Members 
declare an interest, less than a quorum of Members are entitled to vote on that item.  
[The relevant law in this case is Schedule 7 and Section 38 of the Local Government 

(Scotland) Act 1973]. 
 

 What happens if there is no quorum 
 

 4.2 If there are vacancies in more than 12 seats (that is a third) on the Council, the quorum 
will be a quarter of the number of Members remaining, but the quorum will never be 

less than 5 Members (that is an eighth of all the seats). 
 

 4.3 If, ten minutes after the time set for the start of a meeting of the Council, a quorum is 
not present, the meeting will be abandoned and the Director of Corporate Services will 

record that no business was considered because there was no quorum. 
 

 4.4 If at any time during a meeting there is a question about whether or not there is a 
quorum, the Convener will, after allowing an interval of 5 minutes, ask the Director of 

Corporate Services to count the number of Members present. 
 

 4.5 If a quorum is not present, the meeting will be adjourned to another time the same day, 
or to another date and time as the Convener may decide then or afterwards. 

 
CS5 WHO PRESIDES AT MEETINGS 

 
 5.1 At a meeting of the Council, the Convener, if present, will preside. 

 
 5.2 If the Convener is absent from a meeting the Vice-Convener will preside; if they are 

both absent, another Councillor chosen by the Members will preside. 
 

 5.3 If at any time during the meeting the Convener is present she/he will preside and 
similarly, in the absence of the Convener, the Vice-Convener will preside during any 

time she/he is present. 
 

6. WHAT HAPPENS IF A MEMBER FAILS TO ATTEND MEETINGS? 
 

Page 640



27 27

 6.1 If a Councillor, throughout a period of six consecutive months, does not attend any 
meeting of the Council or any Committee Sub-Committee or Policy Development Group 

of the Council, or any joint Committee to which any function of the Council has been 
delegated, and unless the Member has been granted leave of absence by the Council, 
the Director of Corporate Services will inform the Council.  In that event, the Council will 
consider whether the failure to attend was due to a reason approved by them.  If they 

are not satisfied as to the cause of the failure, the Councillor will cease to be a Member 
of the Council. 

 
CS7 MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ARE NORMALLY ALLOWED TO ATTEND MEETINGS 

 
 7.1 Every meeting of the Council, its Committees Sub-Committees and Policy 

Development Groups will be open to the public, except in special circumstances which 
are set out below. 

 
 When are the public sometimes not allowed to be present 

 
 7.2 The public must be excluded from a meeting of the Council or a Committee, Sub-

Committee or Policy Development Group when an item of business is being considered 
if it is likely, because of the business itself or what might be said, that confidential 

information as meant by the relevant law would be given to members of the public. [The 
relevant law in this case is Section 50A(2) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 

1973]. 
 

 7.3 The Council may decide, by passing a resolution at any meeting, to exclude the public 
when they are considering an item of business if it is likely, because of the business 

itself or what might be said, that exempt information as meant by the relevant law 
would be given to members of the public.  The resolution to exclude the public will 

make clear the proceedings or which part of the proceedings of the meeting it applies 
to and state the description of the exempt information. [The relevant law in this case is 

Section 50A(4) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973]. 
 

 7.4 It is always open to the Council in order to stop or prevent disorderly conduct or other 
misbehaviour at a meeting, to exclude or eject members of the public whose presence 
or conduct is impeding or is likely to impede good conduct of the meeting.  If a member 

of the public interrupts any meeting, the Convener may warn the person.  If they 
continue the interruption the Convener may order that they are removed from the 

Council Chamber. 
 

CS8 THE ORDER IN WHICH BUSINESS IS CONSIDERED AT MEETINGS 
 

 8.1 The items of business at ordinary meetings of the Council will be considered in the 
following order, but the order may be changed if the Convener decides. 

 
  8.1.1 The Director of Corporate Services will record the names of the Members 

present, and apologies will be given on behalf of any Members who have 
advised the Convener or the Director they will not be present; 

 
  8.1.2 Any deputations to be heard in terms of Standing Order 18. 

 
  8.1.3 Motions which it is proposed should be considered without previous notice 

at the end of the meeting will be read to the meeting by the Director of 
Corporate Services; 

 
  8.1.4 Other items of business which it is proposed should be considered as a 

matter of urgency will be announced; 
 

Page 641



28 28

  8.1.5 Declarations of interest by Members, if any; 
 

  8.1.6 Minutes of the previous meeting or meetings of the Council will be 
considered as a correct record. 

 
  8.1.7 Minutes or reports by Committees or Policy Development Groups will be 

considered in respect of any items on which the Committee has not already 
acted under delegated powers; 

 
  8.1.8 Other business which is included on the Agenda 

 
  8.1.9 Questions submitted by Members in terms of Standing Order 15; 

 
  8.1.10 Notices of Motion previously submitted in terms of Standing Order 13; 

 
  8.1.11 Notices of Motion intimated at the start of the meeting in terms of Standing 

Order 14, provided the Convener is of the opinion that it is a matter of 
urgency and the Council agree to consider the Motion; 

 
  8.1.12 Urgent Business, intimated at the start of the meeting, provided the 

Convener is of the opinion that it is a matter of urgency and the Council 
agree to consider the business. 

 
 
 
 

CS9 THE POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE CONVENER 
 

 9.1 At all times, Members of the Council will respect the authority of the Convener. If the 
Convener speaks, any Member who is speaking to the Meeting will stop. 

 
 9.2 The Convener’s duty is to preserve order and ensure that Members are given a fair 

hearing by the Council.  If two or more Members try to speak at the same time, the 
Convener will decide who is to speak first. 

 
 9.3 The Convener will decide all matters of order, competency, relevancy and urgency and 

that ruling will be final. 
 

 What might happen if a Member misbehaves 
 

 9.4 If a Member persistently misbehaves by disregarding rulings by the Convener, or 
behaves improperly or offensively, or wilfully obstructs the business of the Council, the 

Convener may take any of the following courses of action either separately or in 
sequence – 

 
  9.4.1 Warn the Member about her/his behaviour 

 
  9.4.2 Tell the Member not to speak during the remainder of the debate on the item 

being discussed. 
 

  9.4.3 Move that the Member should not speak again during the meeting.  The 
motion will not require to be seconded, and will be decided without 

discussion; if the motion is carried the Member will not speak again during 
that meeting; 

 

Page 642



29 29

  9.4.4 Move that the Member should be suspended for the remainder of the 
meeting.  The motion will not require to be seconded, and will be decided 

without discussion; if the motion is carried the Member will leave the meeting 
immediately; 

 
  9.4.5 Adjourn the meeting for a short time as seems reasonable to the Convener in 

the circumstances. 
 

 9.5 If there is disorder at any meeting of the Council, the Convener will be entitled to 
adjourn the meeting to another time the same day, or to another date and time as 

she/he may decide then or afterwards, and leaving the Chair in these circumstances 
will mean that the meeting is adjourned immediately. 

 
CS10 RULES OF DEBATE 

 
 How motions and amendments are moved and decided on 

 
 10.1 Every motion and amendment must be moved and seconded.  The terms of all 

motions and amendments will be stated immediately when they are proposed and 
before the Member speaks to the motion or amendment.  All motions and 

amendments must be moved before the debate begins.  If the Convener decides, a 
motion or amendment will be written down, signed by the mover and seconder, and 

given to the Director of Corporate Services who will read it to the meeting. 
 

 10.2 When a motion and one amendment only are before the meeting a vote will be taken 
between the motion and the amendment and the proposal receiving a majority of the 

votes will become the decision of the Council. 
 

 10.3 When a motion and two or more amendments are before the meeting, and if one of 
the proposals implies that no action or no immediate action be taken, a first vote will 
be taken between for and against “no action” or “no immediate action” as the case 
may be.  If the proposal for “no action” or “no immediate action” is carried it shall 

become the decision of the meeting.  If the proposal for “no action” or “no immediate 
action” is not carried a further vote will be taken amongst the remaining proposals as 

set out in 10.4 below. 
 

 10.4 When a motion and two or more amendments (none of which implies that no action or 
no immediate action be taken) are before the meeting, the vote will be taken on all the 

proposals, each Member having one vote.  If a proposal receives the support of an 
overall majority of the Members taking part in the vote, that proposal will become the 
decision of the meeting.  In the event that none of the proposals receives the support 

of an overall majority of the Members voting, the proposal which has received the 
least support will be dropped and a fresh vote will be taken on the remaining 

proposals and so on until one proposal has received the support of a majority of the 
Members voting.  That proposal will become the decision of the meeting.  In the event 
of the votes for two or more proposals being equal, the Convener may use his casting 

vote to decide which of them is to be dropped. 
 

 10.5 Motions or amendments which are not seconded will not be discussed or recorded in 
the minutes.  Except when the vote is taken by roll call, any Member who has moved 

a motion or amendment and who is in a minority of one will, if she/he asks, have 
her/his dissent from the eventual decision recorded in the minutes. 

 
 10.6 A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the mover if her/his seconder and the 

Council agree.  Such a motion or amendment will not be inserted in the minutes. 
 

Page 643



30 30

 10.7 A motion for the approval of a report of or a minute of a Committee will be considered 
as an original motion and any proposal involving alteration or rejection of the report or 

minute will be dealt with as an amendment. 
 

 10.8 The Chairman of a Committee, if present, has the right to move approval of the report 
of or minute of that Committee. 

 
 When a Member can speak and for how long 

 
 10.9 A Member may speak only once during any debate, except on a point of order 

 
 10.10 A Member moving or seconding a motion or amendment will not speak for more 

than three minutes unless the Convener allows more time.  Other Members will not 
speak for more than two minutes. 

 
 10.11 The mover of an amendment and the mover of the original motion each has a right 

of reply, in that order, for not more than three minutes. 
 

 10.12 When the mover of the original motion has replied, the Convener will close the 
debate, and no other Member will be allowed to speak. The Director of Corporate 

Services or the Convener will announce the terms of the motion and amendment(s) 
and take the vote. 

 
 10.13 At Council meetings only, Members will stand when addressing the Chair. 

 
CS11 HOW VOTES ARE TAKEN 

 
 11.1 Except where the law or the Standing Orders say something different, all questions 

coming or arising before the Council will be decided by a majority of the Councillors 
present and voting on that question. 

 
 11.2 A vote will be taken by a show of hands except in the following circumstances. 

 
 Calling the roll 

 
 11.3 A Member may ask for a vote to be taken by calling the roll.  If a quarter of the 

Councillors present agree then the vote will be taken in that way and the names of 
those voting for or against the motion or amendment will be taken down and 

recorded in the minutes. 
 

 What happens if votes are equal 
 

 11.4 In the case of an equality of votes, the person presiding at the meeting will have a 
second or casting vote except where the matter which is the subject of the vote 

relates to the appointment of a Councillor to any particular office or Committee in 
which case the decision will be decided by lot [which means a process whereby 

chance will determine the decision]. 
 

 Different arrangements apply to appointments 
 

Page 644



31 31

 11.5 When Councillors are to be appointed to any positions to be filled by the Council, 
and where the number of candidates nominated exceeds the number of vacancies, 

the Councillors to be appointed will be determined by a vote or votes in each of 
which Members will be entitled to vote for as many candidates as there are 

vacancies; but they may not cast more than one vote for any candidate. The name 
of the candidate having least votes will be deleted from the list and a fresh vote, or 
votes, will be taken.  This process of elimination will be continued until the number 

of candidates equals the number of vacancies. 
 

 11.6 Where only one vacancy requires to be filled, and any candidate has an absolute 
majority of the votes, the candidate will be declared appointed.  Otherwise, the 

name of the candidate having least votes will be deleted from the list.  This process 
of elimination will be continued until one candidate has a majority of the votes. 

 
 11.7 If in any vote among more than two candidates there is equality of votes among the 

candidates having the least votes, the candidates whose names will be eliminated 
will be determined by an additional vote.  The candidate having least votes will be 
deleted from the list.  Where in any additional vote there is equality in votes, the 

candidate to be eliminated will be determined by lot. 
 

 11.8 The provisions of the preceding paragraphs will apply in the case of the 
appointment of any other person (other than a Councillor) except that where there is 

an equality of votes the person presiding will have a second or casting vote. 
 

 Whipping 
 

 11.9 Paragraphs 11.10 and 11.11 will apply on any occasion when an item of business is 
the subject of consideration at a meeting of the Council, a Committee or Sub-

Committee and that business – 
 

  (1) has been the subject of prior discussion at a meeting of a political group; and 
 

  (2) at the meeting of the political group there has been an agreement that the 
group whip is applied to that business. 

 
 11.10 At the commencement of the consideration of the item of business the leader, or 

another member of the group present, will disclose to the Council, Committee or 
Sub-Committee that the group whip has been applied to members of the group who 

are present, and will specify the particular matter or matters in respect of that 
business to which the whip applies. 

 
 11.11 The leader, or the other member, will give notice in writing to the Director of 

Corporate Services, at the time the disclosure is made in terms of paragraph 11.10, 
setting out the information disclosed, and the Director will – 

 
  - record in the minutes of the meeting the information disclosed; and 

 
  - Keep a register of notices given to him, which register will be open to 

inspection by any person. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CS12 PROCEDURAL MOTIONS 
 

Page 645



32 32

 12.1 The Convener may adjourn the meeting for a reasonable interval if she/he decides 
there is a good reason to do so. 

 
 12.2 The Council may adjourn any meeting for a reasonable interval or to another date 

as the Council may agree then, or that failing, the Convener may decide then or 
afterwards.  The vote on such a motion, on being seconded, will be taken without 
amendment or discussion and by show of hands.  A similar motion to adjourn to 

another day will not be competent within a period of one hour after the decision on 
the earlier motion. 

 
 Closing  debate 

 
 12.3 The following closure motions will be permitted during discussion of another motion 

provided the Member moving the closure motion has not spoken during the debate.  
They will be moved, seconded and voted on without discussion.  The Convener will 

proceed as follows – 
 

  12.3.1 “That the question be now put” 
 

   If the Convener considers the matter has not been discussed well 
enough, she/he may refuse to accept the motion; if the motion is 

accepted it will be put to the vote.  If the motion is carried, the movers of 
any amendment and of the original motion will be entitled to a right of 

reply and the Convener will then put the original motion and amendment 
to the vote.  If the closure motion is not carried, a similar motion may be 

made after every three additional Members have spoken. 
 

  12.3.2 “That the meeting do now adjourn” 
 

   If the Convener is satisfied that the matter before the meeting has been 
well enough discussed, she/he may refuse to accept this closure motion 

and instead put the motion “that the question be now put”. If the 
Convener is of the opinion that the matter has not been well enough 
discussed and cannot reasonably be discussed any longer on that 

occasion, the adjournment motion will be put to the vote without giving 
the mover of the original motion or amendment a right of reply; if the 

adjournment motion is carried, the original motion and remaining 
business will stand over until a resumed meeting of the Council.  If this 

closure motion is not carried, a similar motion will not be competent 
within a period of one hour after the decision on the previous closure 

motion. 
 

CS13 HOW A MEMBER SUBMITS A MOTION FOR THE NEXT MEETING 
 

 13.1 If a Member wishes a motion to be considered at a meeting (other than one on a 
matter of urgency under Standing Order 14) it must be written down, signed by the 

Member and countersigned by another Member, and given or sent to the Director of 
Corporate Services to be received by her/him at least 10 clear days [clear days 
excludes the day of publication and the day of the Meeting and does not include 
Saturdays, Sundays or Public Holidays] before the next ordinary meeting of the 

Council. This is called giving notice of a motion. 
 

 13.2 These notices of motion will be included on the agenda for the next meeting in the 
order in which the Director of Corporate Services receives them. If the Convener 

considers that more than one of these motions deals with the same subject, only the 
motion received first will be considered. 

 

Page 646



33 33

CS14 HOW A MEMBER SUBMITS AN URGENT MOTION 
 

 14.1 A motion which does not relate to the business which is included on the agenda for a 
meeting may be considered at the end of a meeting even if a Member has not given 

notice of it under Standing Order 13.  It will only be considered if the Convener is of the 
opinion that it is a matter of urgency because of special reasons, which will be recorded 

in the minutes, and the Council agree to consider the motion.  However, if a Member 
wishes a motion considered as a matter of urgency, it must be given to the Director of 
Corporate Services not later than two hours before the start of the meeting.  It will be 
read to the meeting by the Director at the point stated at Standing Order 8.1.3. If the 
Convener considers that the motion is not urgent then it will be included as an item of 

business for the next ordinary meeting, unless it is disposed of in some other way before 
then. 

 
C15 A MEMBER MAY ALSO SUBMIT QUESTIONS FOR A MEETING 

 
 15.1 A Member may put a question to the Convener or to a Chairman of a Committee, at any 

ordinary meeting of the Council or a Committee.  The question, which may comprise a 
series of component parts about the same subject, must be about any relevant and 

competent business which is not included on the agenda for the meeting.  The Member 
must give the question in writing to the Director of Corporate Services not later than 48 

hours before the start of the meeting. 
 

 15.2 The Convener or the Chairman of a Committee who is being asked to answer a question 
will decide whether to answer it orally or in writing at the meeting. Questions and any 

written answers, numbered in the order in which they have been received, will be tabled 
at the start of the meeting. 

 
 15.3 Arising from each answer given, the Member who asked the question may ask one 

supplementary question to clarify the answer given. 
 

 15.4 No discussion will be allowed, and it will not be competent to move any motion arising 
from a question or the answer given. 

 
 15.5 A Member may not submit more than two written questions for any one meeting. If the 

Convener is of the opinion that a question is out of order for any reason, it will not be 
answered. 

 
 15.6 Written questions and any written answers will be recorded in the minutes. 

 
CS16 CAN A DECISION OF THE COUNCIL BE CHANGED 

 
 16.1 No motion which seeks to alter or revoke a decision of the Council or has that effect will 

be considered within a period of 6 months of the original decision. 
 

 16.2 However, it will be competent to review a decision before the end of the 6 month period, 
provided – 

 
  16.2.1 That notice has been given on the agenda that the previous decision may be 

altered or revoked, unless it is inherent in the terms of a report of or minute of 
a Committee submitted to the Council; and 

 

Page 647



34 34

  16.2.2 The Convener is satisfied that a material change of circumstances has 
occurred.  This means that the Convener must decide first whether there has 
been a new development which has a bearing on the original decision or that 

some important piece of information was not available when the original 
decision was made.  Secondly, the Convener must decide whether this 

change is material, which means that if the change had taken place before 
the Council took their decision, or they had known all the facts on which the 
decision was based, the change of circumstances would have influenced 

their judgement and they might reasonably have taken a different decision. 
 

CS17 MINUTES OF MEETINGS 
 

 17.1 Minutes of meetings of the Council and its Committees, Sub Committees and Policy 
Development Groups will be prepared by the Director of Corporate  Services and will 

be included on the agenda for the next ordinary meeting of the Council, its 
Committees, Sub Committees or Policy Development Groups as appropriate.  At that 
meeting they will be considered, corrected if need be, and where they are held to be 
a correct record of the meeting, they will be signed by the person presiding at that 

next ordinary meeting. 
 

 17.2 No discussion or amendment will be competent on minutes submitted other than an 
amendment to the effect that they are not a correct record.  Any amendment will 

include the words of the alteration which is proposed to the minutes.  An objection to 
the correctness of a minute will be dealt with by way of an amendment to a motion 

approving the minutes. 
 

 17.3 Only Members of the Council who were present at the meeting to which the minutes 
relate may vote on the correctness of these minutes. 

 
 17.4 Minutes of subordinate committees can be submitted to the Council or Strategic 

Policy Committee for information and it shall be competent for members to request 
information on the items contained therein the Convener will decide how that 

information will be provided if at all. 
 

 17.5 A written summary prepared by the Director of Corporate Services in terms of the 
relevant law will not constitute part of the minutes and will not be subject to the 

preceding paragraphs of this Standing Order. [The relevant law in this case is Section 
50(2) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.] 

 
CS18 DEPUTATIONS 

 
 18.1 Subject to what is said in Standing Order 18.2 below the Council or any Committee 

or Sub-Committee may hear deputations, of not more than 3 persons on any matter 
that is included within their terms of reference and delegation, other than where they 

are exercising a statutory function to determine an application by any person and 
the hearing of the deputation, without hearing the applicant, might prejudice the 

interests of the applicant. 
 

Page 648



35 35

 18.2 Where a matter is the subject of consideration by more than one Committee or Sub-
Committee, or by a Committee or Sub-Committee and the Council or at more than 

one meeting of the same body, a request by a deputation to be heard will be 
considered only at the meeting where it is anticipated that matter will be finally 

determined (as distinct from being the subject of preliminary consideration or the 
subject of a recommendation) in terms of any power delegated to the Committee or 
Sub-Committee (unless the Committee or Sub-Committee on that occasion decided 

not to exercise their delegated powers and refer the matter to the Council with or 
without a recommendation) or otherwise at a meeting of the Council; it will not be 

competent to consider a request to be heard on the same matter within a period of 
six months of the original decision, unless the Convener is satisfied that a material 
change of circumstances has occurred: always provided that where a matter may 
be the subject of consideration on more than one occasion the Convener will, in 

her/his sole discretion, determine whether on each occasion the issue to be 
discussed is so closely related as to be regarded as the same matter. 

 
 18.3 Every application for a deputation must be in writing, signed by a representative of 

the organisation or group wishing to be heard and setting out the matter on which 
they wish to be heard and delivered to the Director of Corporate Services no later 

than three working days before the meeting concerned; but the Chairman of a 
Committee or Sub-Committee may, at her/his sole discretion allow an application to 

be considered at shorter notice. 
 

 18.4 When the Council, Committee or Sub-Committee considers whether to hear a 
deputation, it must not discuss the merits of the matter itself. Unless the meeting 

agrees unanimously to hear or to refuse to hear the deputation, a vote will be taken 
without discussion on whether to hear the deputation. 

 
 18.5 A deputation will have 10 minutes to present its case.  If the meeting decides to 

hear more than one deputation on the same subject, the deputations will be heard 
together, and the Chairman will decide how much time to allow, up to a maximum of 

10 minutes each. 
 

 18.6 Any Member may put one question to the deputation that is relevant to the subject, 
but the merits of the case must not be discussed by Members whilst the deputation 

is being heard. 
 

 18.7 It will not be competent to move any motion arising from the subject matter raised 
by a deputation, unless the matter is included as an item of business on the agenda 

for the meeting, and discussion will be reserved until that item is reached. 
 

19. COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 
 

 19.1 Committees and Sub-Committees will be appointed in terms of the Scheme of 
Administration and Delegations which is referred to in Standing Order 28. 

 
 19.2 Standing Orders 2, 3, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 21, 22, 25 and 27.1 will 

apply to meetings of any Committee or Sub-Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 649



36 36

20. ARRANGING MEETINGS OF COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 
 

 20.1 The dates of ordinary meetings of Committees will be decided by the Council on the 
basis of a programme of meetings which will normally be decided each year. 

 
 20.2 The Chairman of a Committee (or in whose absence the Vice-Chairman) may for 

good cause cancel or alter the date, time or place for a meeting of a Committee, but 
not after the summons for the meeting has been issued.  The Chairman (or in 

whose absence the Vice-Chairman) may call a meeting of the Committee on dates 
in addition to those already decided by the Council. 

 
 20.3 The Chairman (or in whose absence the Vice-Chairman) of a Sub-Committee will 

call meetings of the Sub-Committee as these are required. 
 

 20.4 Area Committee Meetings will be held on dates and at places decided by the Area 
Committee.  The Chairman (or in whose absence the Vice-Chairman) of an Area 
Committee may cancel or alter the date, time or place fixed for a meeting of the 
Area Committee, but not after the summons for the meeting has been issued. 

 
 20.5 A special meeting of a Committee may be called by Members as provided in 

Standing Order 1.3.2. 
 

CS21. HOW MANY MEMBERS MUST BE PRESENT AT COMMITTEES AND SUB-
COMMITTEES 

 
 21.1 No business will be considered at a meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee 

unless at least a quarter of the whole number of voting Members are present; and 
there must, in any case, be at least three voting Members present. 

 
 21.2 In the case of the Strategic Policy Committee when it is dealing with the functions of 

the Council as education authority, the Members of that Committee appointed 
because they are persons interested in the promotion of Religious Education will be 

treated as voting Members.  For the avoidance of doubt the Teacher 
Representatives are not to be treated as voting members. 

 
 21.3 In the case of the Standards Committee and Audit Committee the persons 

appointed to those Committees who are not Councillors will be treated as voting 
Members. 

 
CS22. ATTENDANCE OF COUNCILLORS AT COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 

 
 22.1 Any Councillor may be present at a meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee of 

which the Councillor is not a Member.  The Councillor is not entitled to take part in 
the discussions generally but is allowed to speak and vote on any particular issue 

affecting the Members’ Ward which is delegated to the Committee, provided written 
notification is given to the Director of Corporate Services and received by him/her 

not later than 24 hours prior to the time at which the meeting is scheduled to 
commence. The Chairman will decide whether, in the circumstances of any matter, 
the provisions of this Standing Order will apply to the Member who has given notice, 
and the Chairman’s ruling, which will be given as soon as possible after the start of 

the meeting, will be final. 
 

 22.2 Despite the previous paragraph, a Councillor cannot be present at a meeting of a 
Committee or Sub-Committee which she/he is not a Member of when:- 

 
  - The public have been excluded from the meeting; and 

 

Page 650



37 37

  - The meeting is considering a matter where the decision may affect the 
interests of any person as an individual; and 

 
  - The decision is made after a hearing by the Committee or Sub-Committee 

where the person has a right in terms of any law, Standing Order or 
administrative procedure, to be heard in person or by a representative 

 
 22.3 If a Committee or Sub-Committee has a hearing:- 

 
  - On a matter where the decision may affect the interests or rights of any 

person as an individual; and 
 

  - Where the person has a right in terms of any law, Standing Order or 
administrative procedure, to be heard in person or by a representative; 

 
  Members of the Committee or Sub-Committee may only take part in or vote on the 

matter if they have attended the entire proceedings of the hearing. 
 

23. 
 
 

POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUPS 

 23.1 Policy Development Groups will be appointed in terms of the Scheme of 
Administration and Delegations which is referred to in Standing Order 28. 

 
 23.2 Standing Orders 2.1, 2.3, 2.4, 3.1 – 3.5, 7.1 – 7.4 and 17.1 will apply to meetings of 

any Policy Development Group. 
 

24. MEETINGS OF POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUPS 
 

 24.1 Without prejudice to the general right of the Council, the Strategic Policy Committee, 
or an Area Committee (referred to in this Standing Order as an appointing body) to 
appoint a Policy Development Group at any time, a minimum of any two Members 

may propose that a Policy Development Group should be established; the following 
procedure will apply to the establishment of a Group on the proposal of two or more 

Members. 
 

  (1) The Members concerned will set out in a notice to be given to the Director of 
Corporate Services the matters on which it is proposed the Group should be 

asked to provide advice, together with such other relevant material as the 
members concerned consider the appointing body might usefully require in 

order to reach a decision whether or not to establish such a Group; 
 

  (2) The Director of Corporate Services will include the proposal, together with 
the written material provided by the Members, on the agenda for the next 

following ordinary meeting of, as the case may be, the Council, the Strategic 
Policy Committee or an Area Committee having regard to the nature of the 

proposal; 
 

  (3) In the circumstances that a proposal to establish a Group is to be 
considered by the Strategic Policy Committee then the first two Members 

signing the proposal will be entitled to speak, but not vote, at the meeting of 
the Strategic Policy Committee at which the proposal is considered even if 

these two Members are not members of the Committee; 
 

Page 651



38 38

  (4) In considering a proposal (whether or not submitted in terms of sub-
paragraph (1) above) to establish a Policy Development Group, an 

appointing body may determine that, instead of appointing a Group, the 
matter contained in the proposal may be added to the Terms of Reference 

of an existing Group (in the case of an Area Committee an existing Group is 
one appointed by that Committee) 

 
  (5) When a Policy Development Group is established, the appointing body will 

appoint the Members of the Group, appoint two of those Members who are 
Councillors to be the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Group respectively, specify 

the matters on which the Group is to provide advice, specify the timescale 
within which the Group is to submit its report or recommendations and any 

other ancillary matters regarding the operation of the Group as may be 
desirable. 

 
  (6) While, normally, a Policy Development Group will report and provide advice 

to its appointing body, the Council or the Strategic Policy Committee when 
establishing a Group may direct that the Policy Development Group reports, 

instead or in addition, to another constituent part of the Council. 
 

  (7) At the end of the period mentioned in sub-paragraph (5) of this Standing 
Order the Group will cease to exist unless before the end of that period the 

appointing body has substituted a revised period. 
 

  (8) It will be open to the Strategic Policy Committee at any time in the event that 
the Committee considers the resources available to support the work of 

Policy Development Groups is insufficient, to recommend to the Council that 
no further Groups should be established or that the number in total should 

be limited. 
 

 24.2 The arrangements for meetings of a Policy Development Group will be a matter for 
the Group concerned, but the chair of a Group may for good cause cancel or alter 
the place, date or time for a meeting of a Group and may call a meeting of a Group 

on dates in addition to those already decided by the Group, but not after the 
summons for the meeting has been issued. 

 
 24.3 In addition to any report or paper submitted by an Officer of the Council, any 

Member of a Policy Development Group may, in relation to any research which 
she/he may have undertaken, submit a report or paper for consideration by the 

Group, provided that report or paper is made available in time for inclusion with the 
agenda of business for the meeting, and any other Member of the Council may 
similarly submit such report or paper and may speak to the Policy Development 

Group in relation to that report or paper. 
 

 24.4 In addition to the consideration of any report or paper submitted by a Member or 
Officer, a Policy Development Group may seek and/or consider a report, paper or 
presentation from other persons, whether inside or outside the Council, but such 

persons shall not participate as Members of the Group. 
 

 24.5 While the minimum quorum for an effective meeting of a Policy Development Group 
to take place will be three Members of the Group, the report or reports of the Group 

which contain the advice and recommendations of the Group will require to be 
considered at a meeting of the Group at which at least half of the Members of the 

Group are present. 
 

Page 652



39 39

 24.6 The content of the advice or recommendations which any Group provides will be 
reached if possible by consensus amongst the Members of the Group, and in the 
event of any difference of view which will be determined in accordance with these 
Standing Orders as they would apply to a meeting of a Committee of the Council, 

the report or reports of the Group will in addition to the advice and recommendations 
of the Group include a note setting out the views of those Members who may not 
concur with that advice or those recommendations. Other decisions by the Group 
relating to their procedure and operation will be reached in accordance with these 
Standing Orders as they would apply to a meeting of a Committee of the Council. 

 
 

 
OTHER MATTERS 

 
CS25 INTERESTS OF MEMBERS IN CONTRACTS OR OTHER MATTERS 

 
 25.1 The Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000, together with the 

Code of Conduct for Councillors and the Dispensation Note to Local Authorities 
make it a requirement for Members, in certain circumstances to declare an interest.  

If a Member has a financial interest, direct or indirect, in any contract, proposed 
contract or other matter, whether registered as a Registerable Interest or not, and is 
present at a meeting where the contract or other matter is being considered she/he 

must disclose the fact at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent to her/him.  If a Member has a non financial interest, direct or 

indirect, in any contract, proposed contract or other matter, whether registered as a 
Registerable Interest or not, and is present at a meeting where the contract or other 

matter is being considered she/he must disclose the fact at the beginning of the 
meeting or as soon as the interest becomes apparent to her/him unless the member 
believes that, in the  particular circumstances, the nature of the interest is irrelevant 

or insignificant. 
 

 25.2 A Member shall give a notice of all Registerable Interests, financial or non financial, 
to the Director of Corporate Services. 

 
 25.3 The Director of Corporate Services will maintain a Register of Declaration of 

Interests made by Members. An Elector for the Council’s area may look at the 
register. 

 
 25.4 The Code of Conduct issued by the Standards Commission for Scotland, under the 

Ethical Standards in Public Life etc (Scotland) Act 2000 makes provisions about 
how Members should conduct themselves as Councillors.  The Code will apply to 
Members of the Council.  Any other persons, who are not members, who may be 

appointed or co-opted to any Committee or Sub-Committee or Policy Development 
Group shall require to accept the provisions of the Code and agree to be bound by 
it’s terms and in regard to any breach, or alleged breach of the Code be subject to 

investigation by the Monitoring Officer, in accordance with the Council’s Public 
Interest Disclosure Policy and otherwise as the Monitoring Officer in his Statutory 

power shall determine, and shall submit to the Jurisdiction of the Council’s 
Standards Committee, in terms of its remit, in relation to the hearing and 

determination of any alleged breach of the Code and any power of sanction open to 
it. 
 

 25.5 If a Member has a financial or non financial interest which is required to be declared 
in terms of the Code of Conduct, and is present at a meeting where the relevant 
matter is being considered, she/he must disclose the fact at the beginning of the 

meeting or as soon as the interest becomes apparent to her/him. 
 

Page 653



40 40

 25.6 When a Member declares an interest they must specify whether that interest is 
declared as a financial or non financial interest or whether it is declared as a 

personal or private interest in terms of The Code of Conduct.  If the matter is a 
financial interest then before discussion takes place on the matter in which the 
Member has declared an interest, the Member will leave the room in which the 

meeting is taking place.  If the matter is a non financial interest then, where in the 
particular circumstances, and having regard to all the relevant facts, the Member 
considers that a member of the public acting reasonably would consider that the 

Member might be influenced by the interest in the members role as a councillor then 
before discussion takes place on the matter in which the Member has declared an 

interest, the Member will leave the room in which the meeting is taking place. 
 

 25.7 In regard to the Register of Interests maintained by the Director of Corporate 
Services, the Director will incorporate into that register disclosures relating to 
financial or non financial interests declared at any meeting from time to time. 

 
26. DISCLOSING INFORMATION 

 
 26.1 Information whether contained in a document or otherwise which is confidential 

information within the meaning of the relevant law will not be disclosed to any 
person.  (The relevant law in this case is Section 50A(2) of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973) unless required to do so under the Freedom of Information 

(Scotland) Act 2002. 
 

 26.2 Any part of a document marked “Note for Publication by Virtue of Paragraph … of 
Part 1 of Schedule 7A to the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973” will not be 
disclosed to any person unless and until disclosure has been authorised by the 
Council, Committee, Sub-Committee or Policy Development Group or unless 

required to do so under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. 
 

 26.3 Any information discussed at a meeting of the Council, Committee, Sub-Committee 
or Policy Development Group, from which the public have been excluded will not be 

disclosed to any person unless disclosure has been authorised by the Council, 
Committee, or Policy Development Group or unless required to do so under the 

Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. 
 

 26.4 In addition to what it says in 26.2 and 26.3, no Member will disclose to any person 
any information coming to her/his knowledge by virtue of her/his office as a 

Councillor where such disclosure would prejudice the interests of the Council unless 
required to do so under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. 

 
CS  SUSPENDING OR ALTERING STANDING ORDERS 

 
27. 27.1 A Standing Order can only be suspended at a meeting of the Council, or a 

Committee or Sub-Committee if at least two-thirds of the Councillors present agree. 
 

 27.2 None of these Standing Orders can be cancelled or altered unless:- 
 

  - A resolution to do so is passed after notice is given at a previous ordinary 
meeting of the Council; or 

 
  - A report is made to the Council by the Strategic Policy Committee. 

 

Page 654



41 41

  However, the Director of Corporate Services may submit to any meeting of the 
Council a note of any alterations to Standing Orders which may be required 

because of a decision which the Council may have taken about the conduct of its 
business.  In these circumstances, the Standing Orders may be amended at the 

meeting. 
 

 27.3 Standing Orders 27.1 and 27.2 cannot be suspended. 
 

28. SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 

 28.1 The Council may make a Scheme of Administration and Delegation to include for 
the purpose of arranging for the discharge of any of the functions of the Council by a 

Committee, Sub-Committee or Officer. 
 

 28.2 A Scheme of Delegation will form part of these Standing Orders, and Standing 
Order 27.2 will apply to any alteration to the Scheme of Delegation as it applies to 

these Standing Orders. 
 

29. CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS AND FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 
 

 29.1 The Council will make Contract Standing Orders and Financial and Security 
Regulations for the regulation of contracts and for the proper planning and control of 

its financial and related affairs. 
 

 29.2 Contract Standing Orders and Financial and Security Regulations will form part of 
these Standing Orders and Standing Order 27.2 will apply to any alteration of them 

as it applies to these Standing Orders. 
 

 29.3 Contract Standing Orders and Financial and Security Regulations will apply to 
Committees, Sub-Committees, Members of the Council, Officers and Agents of the 

Council as appropriate. 
 

30. SCRUTINY OF THE STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE 
 

 30.1 Where, on the consideration by the Strategic Policy Committee of any item of 
business, not fewer than nine Members of the Council, at least four of whom are 

elected Members of the Strategic Policy Committee, require immediately at the time 
the decision is taken (but not otherwise) that the decision should be subject to 

scrutiny by the Council, then, subject to paragraph 2. below, the decision shall be 
treated as a recommendation to the Council. 

 
 30.2 Paragraph 1 above shall not apply to any decision which arises on an item of 

business –  
 

  (a) Where – 
 

 

   (i) the Committee has considered a matter where the decision may 
affect the interests of any person as an individual; and 

 
   (ii) the decision is made after a hearing by the Committee where the 

person has a right in terms of any law, standing order or 
administrative procedure, to be heard in person or by a 

representative. 
 

  (b) Where, in the opinion of the Chairman, there is a requirement that the 
decision be given effect to before the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

   

Page 655



42 42

   
 

 
 

ARGYLL 
AND  
BUTE  

COUNCIL 
 

SCHEME OF ADMINISTRATION AND DELEGATIONS 
PART C 

……      2005 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 656



43 43

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 

SCHEME OF ADMINISTRATION AND DELEGATIONS 
  Page

Introduction  ………………………………………. 
Section 1 

A. Appointment of Committees ……………………………... 
B. Constitution of Committees ……………………………... 
C. General Provisions Regulating 

All Standing Committees and 
Sub-Committees of the Council  

 
 
 
 
…………………………….……….……… 

D. Administration of Delegated and 
Referred Functions 

 
…………………………….………………. 

Section 2 
 

Terms of Reference and Delegation to 
Committees 

 
…………………………….………………. 

Section 3 
 

Area Committees …………………………….………………. 

Section 4 
 

Delegations to Officers …………………………….………………. 

Specific Delegations to Officials …………………………….………………. 

INTRODUCTION 
 

 
 

The Council accepts the principle that in the discharge of its statutory functions, decisions should be 
made at the lowest and the most local level consistent with the nature of the issues involved.  An 
important element in the practical implementation of this principle is an effective Scheme of 
Delegations encompassing all major levels of decision making below that of the Council itself. 
 
The delegations in this Scheme are made having regard to the terms of Section 56 of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1973, and are subject to any alterations made necessary by the 
introduction of new, or amendments to existing, legislation, regulations, or codes of practice as 
through decisions of the Council itself. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 657



 44

SECTION ONE 
 
1.1 COMMITTEES 

 
 1.1.1 The Council will appoint the following Committees:- 

 
  (1) A Committee of the Council to be known as the Strategic Policy 

Committee. 
  (2) The following Area Committees:- 
   (a) Mid Argyll, Kintyre and Islay 
   (b) Oban, Lorn and the Isles 
   (c) Bute and Cowal 
   (d) Helensburgh and Lomond 
  (3) Public Service and Licensing Committee 
  (4) Standards Committee 
  (5) Audit Committee 
  (6) Appeals Committee 

 
 1.1.2 The Council may appoint such other Committees as they may from time to time 

consider are required to discharge any of its functions and in so doing shall specify 
the terms of reference and delegation to any such Committee. 
 

1.2 POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUPS 
 

 1.2.1 (1) Policy Development Groups may be appointed from time to time. 
 

  (2) A Policy Development Group may be appointed by the Council, by the 
Strategic Policy Committee, or by an Area Committee for the purpose of 
advising the appointing body on any matter relating to the discharge of 
their functions, and in appointing such a Group the appointing body will 
specify the matters on, and the timescale within which the Group is to 
provide advice. 
  

1.3 CONSTITUTION OF COMMITTEES  
 

 1.3.1 For the purpose of having, so far as possible, representation from each area of 
Argyll and Bute within the membership of Committees the Council recognise the 
division of the Council’s area into the following four sub-areas:- 
 

  (a) Mid Argyll, Kintyre and Islay, comprising EW1 (South Kintyre); EW2 
(Campbeltown Central); EW3 (East Central Kintyre); EW4 (North and West 
Kintyre); EW5 (Knapdale); EW6 (Lochgilphead); EW7 (Craignish-
Glenaray); EW8 (Islay North, Jura and Colonsay); EW9 (Islay South) 

  (b) Oban, Lorn and the Isles, comprising EW10 (Awe); EW11 (Oban North); 
EW12 (Oban central); EW13 (Oban South); EW14 (Ardconnel-Kilmore); 
EW15 (North Lorn); EW16 (Mull); EW17 (Tiree and Coll) 

  (c) Bute and Cowal, comprising EW18 (Bute North); EW19 (Bute Central); 
EW20 (Bute South); EW21 (East Loch Fyne); EW22 (Kirn and Hunter’s 
Quay); EW23 (Ardenslate); EW24 (Milton); EW25 (Auchamore and 
Innellan); EW26 (Holy Loch) 

  (d)  Helensburgh and Lomond, comprising EW27 (Helensburgh East); EW28 
(Helensburgh East Central); EW29 (Helensburgh Central); EW30 
(Helensburgh North); EW31 (Helensburgh West); EW32 (West 
Helensburgh and Rhu); EW33 (Garelochhead and Cove); EW34 (Arrochar, 
Luss, Arden and Ardenconnel); EW35 (Roseneath, Clynder and 
Kilcreggan); EW36 (Cardross) 
 

 1.3.2 The Constitution of the Council’s Committees will be as follows:- 
 

  (1) Strategic Policy Committee  
 

   (a) Twelve Members; and 

Page 658



 45

   (b) When the Committee is considering any of the functions of the 
Council as education authority, also 

    (i) Three persons interested in the promotion of religious 
education. 

    (ii) Two non voting teachers elected by teaching staff employed in 
local authority schools in the Council’s area. 
 

  (2) Mid Argyll, Kintyre and Islay Area Committee 
 

   Nine members being the members representing the electoral wards within 
the area defined at paragraph 1.3.1(a). 
 

  (3) Oban, Lorn and the Isles Area Committee 
 

   Eight members being the members representing the electoral wards within 
the area defined at paragraph 1.3.1(b) 
 

  (4) Bute and Cowal Area Committee 
 

   Nine members being the members representing the electoral wards within 
the area defined at paragraph 1.3.1(c) 
 

  (5) Helensburgh and Lomond Area Committee 
 

   Ten members being the members representing the electoral wards within 
the area defined at paragraph 1.3.1(d) 
 

  (6) Public Service and Licensing Committee 
 

   Ten members, two from each sub-area defined at paragraph 1.3.1 and in 
addition a Chair and Vice Chair 
 

  (7) Standards Committee 
 

   Five members, none of whom shall be the holder of an executive position 
within the Council. 
 
Two members who are not Councillors, one of whom will Chair the 
Committee. 
 

  (8) Audit Committee 
 

   Five members, none of whom shall be the holder of an executive position 
within the Council. 
 
Two Members who are not Councillors.  
 

  (9) Appeals Committees 
 

   (a) Staffing Appeals 
     Five Members 

 
   (b) Placing Appeals – Special Educational Needs 
     Five Members plus two Local Attendance Council members 

 
   (c) Education Appeals and Bursaries 
     Five Members 

 
   (d) Social Work Complaints Review 
     Three Members drawn from a list of independent members who 

are not Councillors 
  

Page 659



 46

   (e) Access to Personal Files Review 
     Three Members 

 
   Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1.4.3(2) the Members to be 

appointed on any occasion will be so appointed  by the Director of 
Corporate Services from a pool to be appointed of twelve members, three 
each from each Sub Area of the Council comprising such Members of the 
Council who do not hold an executive position, and in so appointing those 
Members the Director will select them by lot. 
 

  (10) Special Committee (application straddling Area Committee Boundaries) 

 
Members being the Members representing the Electoral Wards within the 
Areas defined at paragraph 1.3.1 which are within the Areas of any two 
Area Committees. 

  
1.4 GENERAL PROVISIONS REGULATING MEMBERSHIP, EXECUTIVE POSITIONS AND 

COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 1.4.1 The general role, duties and obligations of a Member are set out in Appendix 1  of 
Part A of the Constitution. 
 

  Executive Positions 
 

 1.4.2 (1) For the purposes of this Scheme, an executive position is any one of the 
following:- 
 

   (a) The Convener of the Council 
   (b) The Leader of the Council 
   (c) The Depute Leader of the Council 
   (d) The Chair and Vice Chair of the Strategic Policy Committee 
   (e) The Chair of the Public Service and Licensing Committee 
   (f) The Chair of an Area Committee 
   (g) A member of the Strategic Policy Committee 

 
  (2) Except where otherwise provided by any enactment or statutory order, or 

otherwise by this Scheme, the Members to be appointed to any one or 
more executive position will be so appointed at the first meeting of 
Council following each ordinary election of Councillors. 

  (3) Subject to the provisions of the next following sub-paragraph, so long as 
s/he remains a Member of the Council, a Member appointed to an 
executive position will hold such office, until the next ordinary election of 
Councillors. 

  (4) A Member appointed to an executive position may be removed from such 
office at any time by resolution of the Council, provided notice to that 
effect is included as an item of business on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
 

  Membership of Committees and Period of Office 
 

 1.4.3 (1) Except where otherwise provided by any enactment or statutory order, or 
otherwise by this Scheme, the Members of Committees specified in this 
Scheme will be so appointed at the first meeting of Council following each 
ordinary election of Councillors. 
 

Page 660



 47

  (2) Subject to the provisions of this Scheme, in appointing members to the 
Committees specified in this Scheme other than the Strategic Policy 
Committee, the Council will, where the Members of the Council are divided 
into different political groups, allocate seats on each Committee so far as 
reasonably practicable such that the number of seats allocated to each 
group bears the same proportions as is borne by the number of members 
of that group to the membership of the Council as a whole and the Council 
in appointing members will give effect to the wishes of these Groups, and 
the Council will review the appointment of members to Committees as 
soon as practicable after any occasion on which there is a change in the 
division  of members of the Council into different political groups. 
 

  (3) Subject to the foregoing, so long as they remain Members of the Council 
the members of Committees specified in this Scheme or any other 
Committee set up under it shall hold office, unless otherwise determined by 
the Council at any time, until the next ordinary election of Councillors, 
except in the case of the Members of the Strategic Policy Committee 
where the provisions of paragraph 1.4.2(4) will apply. 
 

  (4) When appointing a Committee and so far as not provided for otherwise in 
this Scheme the Council will appoint two of the members appointed to the 
Committee to be respectively the Chair and Vice Chair of the Committee 
and they shall hold office so long as they remain Members of the Council, 
unless otherwise determined by the Council at any time, until the next 
ordinary election of Councillors. 
 

  Casual Vacancies 
 

 1.4.4 (1) Casual vacancies occurring in any Executive position, in the chairmanship 
or vice chairmanship or in the membership of a Committee shall be filled as 
soon as may be by the Council after the vacancy takes place. 

  (2) Provided a quorum remains a Committee may act, and its proceedings 
shall be not invalidated by any defect in the appointment of any person to 
that Committee. 
 

1.5 GENERAL PROVISIONS REGULATING POLICY DEVELOPMENT GROUPS 
 

 1.5.1 Appointment of Members 
 

  (1) Subject to the following sub-paragraphs any of the following bodies may 
appoint a Policy Development Group:- 
 

   - The Council 
   - The Strategic Policy Committee 
   - An Area Committee 

 
  (2) A Policy Development Group will comprise not less than five and not more 

than nine members of the Council. 
 

  (3) When appointing such a group the body will appoint:- 
 

   - The members, and 
   - two of those members to be the Chair and Vice Chair 

respectively of the Group, and 
   - thereafter, fill any casual vacancy in the membership or 

chairman or vice chairmanship of the Group as soon as may be 
after the vacancy occurs; 

Page 661



 48

   and may, subject to the approval of the Council, in the case of the Policy 
Development Group having been appointed by the Council and in any 
other case by the Strategic Policy Committee, appoint persons who are not 
Members of the Council, up to but not exceeding one third of the number of 
seats on the Group, to be members of the Group. 
 

  (4) A member of a Policy Development Group will continue to be a member of 
the Group for so long as the Council or the appointing body may specify at 
any time, or until the next ordinary election of Councillors, but a member of 
a group who is a Councillor shall only remain so for as long as s/he 
remains a Councillor. 
 

1.6 ADMINISTRATION OF DELEGATED AND REFERRED FUNCTIONS 
 

 1.6.1 In the administration of any delegated or referred function, a Committee, a Sub-
Committee, or (in the case only of a matter referred for advice to a Policy 
Development Group) a Policy Development Group will give effect to any instruction 
of the Council and to the following:- 
 

  (1) The approved estimated expenditure in respect of the Service to which that 
function relates will not be exceeded unless otherwise authorised by the 
Council or in accordance with the approved Financial Regulations; and  
 

  (2) The directions, policies, and procedures whether set out in the Standing 
Orders for Meetings, Contract Standing Orders, Financial and Security 
Regulations or otherwise laid down by the Council will be complied with. 
 

  (3) Decisions or actions of a particular Committee, or Sub-Committee taken in 
the proper exercise of powers delegated in terms of this Scheme will be 
binding on the Council. 
 

  (4) Each Committee will submit a report to the Council on any matter which the 
Committee either does not have, or does not wish to exercise, a delegated 
power to deal with the business which is the subject of the report.  A Sub-
Committee will report similarly to the Committee which appointed it. 
 

  (5) A Committee or a Policy Development Group will furnish the Council with 
any information which the Council (and in the case of a Policy Development 
Group its appointing body) may from time to time require. 
 

  (6) Every meeting of the Council, and any Committee, Sub-Committee or Policy 
Development Group will be regulated by the Council’s Standing Orders and 
the provisions of Section 50 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 
and will, except where otherwise provided by those Standing Orders or that 
Section, be open to the public. 
 

    
 1.6.2 Where an Area Committee refers (with or without recommendation) any matter for 

consideration at a meeting of the Council or the Strategic Policy Committee (SPC), 
the matter will, subject to the following provisions, normally be included on the 
agenda for the next ordinary meeting; 
 

  1. Provided that the next ordinary meeting referred to is not less than 21 days 
after the date of the meeting of the Area Committee making such referral 
unless the Convener, in regard to a referral to the Council, or the Chair, in 
regard to a referral to the SPC, of that ordinary meeting agrees to dispense 
with the said period; 
 

Page 662



 49

  2. Where the matter relates to the annual process of developing the Council’s 
estimates of Revenue expenditure or Capital programme the matter will be 
referred to the appropriate meeting of the Council or SPC dealing with that 
process; 
 

  3. Where the matter relates to the development of any strategy or policy that is 
already the subject of ongoing consideration by the Council or SPC the 
matter will be referred to the appropriate meeting dealing which such 
strategy or policy. 
 

 
SECTION TWO  
 
2.1 TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DELEGATION 

 
 2.1.1 The following terms of reference and delegations are to be read in conjunction with 

provisions contained in the Standing Orders for Regulating the Meetings and 
Proceedings of the Council, Committees and Sub-Committees, the Standing Orders 
relating to Contracts, and the Financial and Security Regulations and are subject to 
those provisions. 
 

 General Delegations to Committees 
 

 2.1.2 (1) A Committee will be free to incur expenditure on any function delegated to it 
up to the limit for which provision has been made in the Council’s approved 
Estimates of Revenue or Capital Expenditure for that Service. 
 

  (2)  Subject to the provisions of the Local Government (Scotland) Acts 1973 and 
1994 and of any Regulations made thereunder, and to the specific 
delegations, exceptions and limitations provided for in this Scheme and in the 
Standing Orders of the Council, the Financial and Security Regulations and 
the Contract Standing Orders, where a function of the Council is delegated to 
a Committee there is delegated all the matters, services or undertakings, 
including the acquisition, construction, holding, maintenance and disposal of 
any land or buildings or works contained in (1) the respective Terms of 
Reference of that Committee (2) any Schemes made by the Council, and (3) 
any minuted decision of the Council making a specific delegation to a 
Committee. 
 

  (3) A Committee may exercise and perform on behalf of and in the name of the 
Council all powers and duties of the Council in relation to any function, 
matter, service or undertaking included in a delegation to a Committee as 
aforesaid. 
 

 Exclusions from Delegations 
 

 2.1.3 There will be excluded from the delegation to any Committee, Sub-Committee, or 
Official the following:- 
 

  (1) Determining the overall Goals, Values and Policy Framework Documents  as 
referred to in Part A , Part I paragraph 3(1)of the Constitution or matters of 
new policy/strategy or variation of existing policy/strategy which may be 
inconsistent with those Goals, Values or Policy Framework Documents. 
 

  (2) The power of incurring any expenditure not provided for in the Annual 
Estimate of the Council unless and until such expenditure has been reported 
to and approved by the Council. 
 

  (3) The final approval of the Annual Estimates of Revenue and Capital 
Expenditure. 
 

Page 663



 50

  (4) The power to fix the Council Tax, Council House Rent Levels, or the levels of 
charges for any services. 
 

  (5) The appointment to a Committee, Sub-Committee or Policy Development 
Group of a person who is not a Member of the Council without the prior 
approval of the Strategic Policy Committee. 
 

  (6) Matters reserved to the Council by Statute, Standing Orders and other 
schemes approved by the Council from time to time. 
 

  (7) All the proposals for the promotion of or opposition to private legislation. 
 

  (8) The making, alteration or revocation of any document which forms part of the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 

  (9) The approval of any plan which is part of the Policy Framework and any other 
plan which introduces new policies of major significance or vary existing 
policies to a material extent. 
 

  (10) 
 

“Applications * for development which in the view of the Director of 
Development Services or one of the Statutory Consultees (Scottish Natural 
Heritage, Historic Scotland, Scottish Environment Protection Agency) are of 
strategic importance to Argyll & Bute because of their material effect over a 
wide community of interest where the Director or a Statutory Consultee 
recommends that a strategic approach to a determination of the application is 
warranted. 
 
( * Applications for the above purposes include : applications for planning 
permission, woodland grant scheme and marine fish farm consultations, 
applications for listed building consent in respect of Category A listed 
buildings)” 
 

  (11) Admission of honorary free men. 
 

  (12) Nomination of Ex-officio Justices of the Peace, the appointment of Members 
to Statutory Joint Boards or to the Licensing Boards. 
 

  (13) The dismissal of the Chief Executive. 
 

 Limitations of Delegations 
 

 2.1.4 Delegations to a Committee will be subject to the following restrictions and 
conditions:- 

  (i) A Committee will, in carrying out the functions, powers and duties referred to 
or delegated to it, observe and comply with this Scheme, the Standing Orders 
of the Council, the Financial and Security Regulations, and the Contract 
Standing Orders, and with any resolutions, directions, or instructions given by 
the Council with reference to its business generally or to the delegations to 
any Committee. 

  (ii) A Committee may, in any case, decide that any matter delegated to it be 
referred to the Council with or without a recommendation. 
 

Page 664



 51

  (iii) Where a function of the Council is delegated to a Committee, any delegation 
of that function by a Committee to a Sub-Committee will be subject to the 
approval of the Council and a specific delegation so approved will supersede 
any delegation to a Committee; provided that a Committee may, without the 
approval of the Council, delegate to a Sub-Committee of not less than three 
of their number any routine matter of business or, for final adjustment and 
settlement, any other matter falling within the delegation to the Committee if 
such matter has been approved generally by the Committee; or for the 
purpose of holding a hearing which may be required arising out of any 
statute, regulation or administrative procedure of the Council. 
 

  (iv) A Committee of the Council will have the powers and duties set out in the 
Terms of Reference in respect of that Committee save that any function 
which is referred or delegated to a Committee will be exercised subject to the 
powers and functions vested in the Strategic Policy Committee. 
 

 Area Committees 
 

 2.1.5 The delegations to an Area Committee will be subject also to the following:- 
 

  (1) A matter on which an Area Committee discharges any power or duty is one 
which has application only within the Council’s sub-area for which that 
Committee has responsibility. 
 

  (2) The exclusions and limitations on delegations set out in paragraphs 2.1.3 and 
2.1.4 of this Scheme and in addition:- 
 

   (a) A matter having a common application in more than one sub-area of 
the Council’s area. 
 

   (b) The approval of or allocation of any expenditure on any matter will be 
so approved or allocated only within any framework or criteria 
approved by the Council or as otherwise directed by the Council. 
 

   (c) The approval of any service delivery arrangements will be so 
approved only within any framework or criteria approved by the 
Council, or as otherwise directed by the Council. 

  (3) The powers and duties of an Area Committee will be exercised subject to the 
powers and duties of the Strategic Policy Committee and the Public Service 
and Licensing Committee and any resolution of an Area Committee will be of 
no effect in the event that the Strategic Policy Committee directs that the 
matter which was the subject of the resolution is referred to that Committee 
or to the Council for consideration, and no step will be taken to give effect to 
any such resolution of an Area Committee while the implementation of the 
resolution is suspended in consequence of such a direction. 
 

  (4) The requirement that any decision taken by an Area Committee regarding the 
disposal, by sale, or by lease for a period of three or more years of surplus 
property at less than market value be reported to the Strategic Policy 
Committee for approval. 
 

2.2 STRATEGIC POLICY COMMITTEE 
 

 2.2.1 Subject to the exclusions from and limitations of delegations, with particular reference 
to those set out in paragraph 2.1.3 and to the other provisions of this Scheme, 
including those delegating any function or power of the Council to another 
Committee, the Committee is authorised to discharge all the powers and duties of the 
Council under any enactment. 
 

 2.2.2 Without prejudice to the foregoing generality:- 
 

Page 665



 52

  (1) To advise the Council in the formulation of its policies, objectives and 
priorities and to recommend such forward programmes and other steps as 
may be necessary to achieve these. 
 

  (2) To review the overall effectiveness of the Council’s work and the standards 
and levels of service provided, and to keep under review the need for new 
services, the expansion of existing services, and the necessity for existing 
ones and make recommendations to the Council accordingly. 
 

  (3) To ensure through the process of Service Planning that the most effective 
contribution to the achievement of the Council’s objectives is being made. 
 

  (4) Overseeing the overall arrangements for discharging the functions of the 
Council relating to Best Value in the provision of Council Services and 
relating to the exposure of Council Services to Competitive Tendering. 
 

  (5) The overall co-ordination of work within the Council and with partner 
organisations in relation to European affairs and Community Planning and 
other similar issues and initiatives of a corporate nature, in so far as these 
relate to the interests of Argyll and Bute. 
 

  (6) To advise the Council on the co-ordination, control and proper management 
of the financial affairs of the Council and, without prejudice to the functions of 
the Audit Committee, to secure the proper financial administration of the 
Council’s affairs. 
 

  (7) To undertake the planning, preparation, revision and control of the Council’s 
budget estimates of capital and revenue expenditure and make 
recommendations to the Council as to:- 
 

   - the Estimates of capital and revenue expenditure. 
   - the rentals of houses on the housing revenue account. 
   - the level of Council Tax. 
    the level of charges for any Council services 

 
  (8) The appointment of a panel to appoint, on behalf of the Council, the Chief 

Executive, all Directors and Heads of Service. 
 

  (9) For the avoidance of doubt, the discharge of the powers and duties of the 
Council as education authority, and in relation to those functions, the 
dismissal of a teacher whose contract of employment incorporates the 
Strathclyde Regional Council Conditions of Service for Teachers in Day 
Schools. 
 

2.3 AREA COMMITTEES 
 

 2.3.1 (1) Subject to the exclusions and limitations set out in paragraphs 2.1.3, 2.1.4 
and particularly 2.1.5 of this Scheme an Area Committee is authorised to 
discharge the powers and duties of the Council set out in this paragraph in 
respect of matters which have application only within the sub-area for which 
that Committee has responsibility. 
 

  (2) To develop and maintain Area Plans within the overall framework for strategic 
development approved by the Council. 
 

  (3) To review and monitor the effectiveness of Council services in responding to 
the needs of the local area and, where necessary, to bring forward to the 
Council or the Strategic Policy Committee proposals for changes in policy, 
service delivery arrangements or resource allocations in order to make these 
more sensitive to the needs of the local area. 
 

Page 666



 53

  (4) To approve expenditure as follows:- 
 

   - Revenue or capital expenditure within any allocation delegated to an 
Area Committee by the Council or the Strategic Policy Committee. 

   - In response to applications for financial assistance from local 
community organisations not otherwise delegated to any Committee or 
officer, within any framework and criteria approved by the Council or 
the Strategic Policy Committee. 
 

  (5) To determine issues of a local and non-strategic nature relating to all of the 
Council’s services and functions, including receiving reports on and 
monitoring the performance of local contracts and projects. 
 

  (6) To support the Council’s work with Partner organisations and to liaise with 
and generally support the work of local community and voluntary 
organisations including community councils, school boards, and management 
committees of Community Education Centres. 
 

  (7) Subject to, and without prejudice to the powers and duties of the Council 
which are delegated to an official, an Area Committee is authorised:- 
 

   (a) In respect of the functions referred to in paragraph (d) below:- 
 

   (b) To introduce, make, review, amend or revoke any order, rules or bye-
law or give any direction or notice for application only within the sub-
area for which the Committee has responsibility.  
 

   (c) To determine any application for any permission or licence (including 
the holding of any hearing which may be required arising from any 
statute, statutory regulation or administrative procedure of the Council) 
and the enforcement of the relevant legislation in respect of the 
Council’s functions relating thereto. 
 

   (d) The functions referred to in sub-paragraph (a) above are:- 
 

    (i) The Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982, the Gaming Act 
1968, the Cinematography Act 1909 and other related 
legislation. 
 

    (ii) The Council’s functions under various public protection 
legislation including:- 
 

     - The control, investigation and mitigation of epidemic, 
endemic and infectious diseases and related nuisances. 
 

     - Food safety legislation, including milk and dairies 
     - Occupational health and safety and other legislation 

affecting public safety, for example, Reservoirs Act 1975. 
 

     - Water quality levels, environmental protection and 
pollution control legislation. 
 

     - Caravan sites and houses in multiple occupation 
 

     - Animal health, welfare and control legislation including 
pest and dog control. 
 

     - Consumer protection, fair trading and trading standards 
legislation. 
 

Page 667



 54

     - Legislation under the Poisons Act 1972, the Explosives 
Act 1923 and the Petroleum Acts 1928/36. 
 

    (iii) The functions of the Council as road traffic regulation authority. 
 

    (iv) The regulatory functions of the Council under the Roads 
(Scotland) Act 1984 
 

    (v) Subject as follows, and to the provisions of paragraph 2.4.A 
below, the under noted categories of application under the 
Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Acts (including related 
enforcement and appeals processes where appropriate) which 
are not otherwise delegated to officers of the Council, except 
where in the opinion of the Director of Development Services 
the application is:- 
 

     1. An application which would have to be referred to 
Scottish Ministers but excluding from this exception:- 

      - An application for Listed Building Consent where the 
application is recommended for approval by the 
Director of Development  Services. 

      - An application which by virtue of the exception 
would require to be notified to Ministers, but where 
the Minister’s statutory consultees have  raised an 
objection and the application is recommended for 
approval by the Director of Development Services. 

     2. An application which, if approved, would be contrary to 
the Structure Plan or a Local Plan, unless:- 

      - It represented in the view of the Area Committee a 
minor departure, and is approved unanimously; or 
alternatively 

      - The Director of Development Services has 
recommended approval of the application as a 
minor departure from the Development Plan, and is 
approved by a majority of the Members present and 
voting. 

Page 668



 55

     3. - An application which is of a minor nature as defined 
below which in the view of the Area Committee is 
considered to be consistent with Development Plan 
Policy and is approved unanimously. 
 
Applications of a minor nature are defined as: 
 
- Householder type applications i.e. alterations 

and extensions to dwellinghouses (excluding 
development affecting Category A and B 
Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas). 

- Housing development of 5 or less houses 
(excluding development in National Scenic 
Areas and development affecting the Historic 
Environment i.e. Conservation Areas, Listed 
Buildings, Scheduled Ancient Monument, 
Historic Gardens and Nature Conservation 
sites of National Importance, i.e. SSSI’s and 
NNR’s. 

- Adverisement consent regulations. 
- Small scale development as defined in the 

Argyll and Bute Local Plan:- 
 

• Small scale recreational development 
(e.g. sports fields not exceeding 2ha; up 
to 10 berths for boats). 

• Small scale community facilities (e.g. 
gross floorspace not exceeding 50m2) 

• Small scale tourist accommodation (e.g. 
not exceeding 10 caravans; 
accommodation not exceeding 10 letting 
units) 

• Small scale waste related development 
(e.g. development on sites less than 
500m2) 

 
       • Small scale fish farming (e.g. 

cumulatively not exceeding 5 cages or 
6 suspensive buoys). 

• Small scale wind farm developments 
(e.g. 3 or less wind turbines). 

• Small scale mineral extraction (e.g. not 
exceeding 800m3 and not exceeding 2 
metres in depth). 

• Small scale business and industry 
(buildings not exceeding 200m2 
footprint, gross site area not exceeding 
0.5ha). 

     4. Enforcement matters or the initiation of appeals 
processes which would involve major unplanned 
expenditure. 

     An application for the above purposes includes all of the 
following:- 

     •  Applications for planning permission under Section 22 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1972; 

     •  Applications for Listed Building Consent under Section 53 
of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1972; 

     •  Control of Advertisements Applications under Section 61 
of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1972; 

     •  Consultative Applications (e.g. Woodland Grant 
Schemes, Council Permitted Developments, Marine Fish 
farms, Government Department Developments); 

Page 669



 56

     •  Applications for Conservation Area Consent under 
Section 262A of the Town and Country Planning 
(Scotland) Act 1972; 

     •  Prior Notification Applications for the demolition of 
buildings and erection of farm/forestry buildings under the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (Scotland) Order 1992; 

     •  All types of Prior Notifications included in, or introduced 
by the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development) (Scotland) Order 1992; 

     •  All consultative applications; 
     •  Hazardous substances consents in terms of Section 56A 

to 0 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 
1972 and the associated enforcement powers in terms of 
Section 97 of the Act; 

     •  Certificates of Lawfulness in terms of Section 90 and 90A 
of the Act; 

     •  Section 42 revocation of Planning Permission; 
     •  Section 56 Building Preservation Notice; 
     •  Section 58 and 59 Tree Preservation Orders; 
     •  Section 63 Wasteland Notices; 
     •  Sections 83C, 84, 87aa, 92, 99, 100 and 101 

Enforcement Orders. 
     •  Applications which require to be notified to the Scottish 

Ministers which the Director of Development Services  is 
recommending approval, in terms of the Schedule to 
Circular 4/1997 Notification of Planning Applications as 
follows:- 

      - Agricultural land 
      - Large industrial 
      - Petrochemical business developments 
      - Development affecting large single user high 

amenity services 
      - Development affecting large industrial and 

business sites or large petrochemical sites 
      - Oil related development 
      - Major retail development 
      - Development in the vicinity of major hazards 
      - Nature conservation 
      - Coastal quarries 
      - Scheduled monuments in category A Listed 

Buildings 
      - Flooding 
      - New Town Development Corporations 
      - Development in which Planning Authorities have 

an interest. 
    (vi) The determination of the following Building Control matters:- 
     •  Appealed Building Warrant Applications  
     •  Preparation and submission of Section 23 Certificates 

and reports to Licensing Boards 
     •  Section 10 Enforcement Action 
     •  Section 13 Dangerous Buildings Orders 

 
  (8) To determine applications for home improvement, repair and amenity grants 

under the Housing (Scotland) Acts where not otherwise delegated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 670



 57

2.4 PUBLIC SERVICE AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

 2.4.1 (1) Subject to the provisions of this Scheme and what is set out below, the 
Committee is authorised to discharge the powers and duties of the Council in 
relation to any of the undernoted regulatory and similar functions of the 
Council . 
 

  (2) Subject to, and without prejudice to the powers and duties of the Council 
which are delegated to an Area Committee, the Committee is authorised:- 

   (a) In respect of the functions referred to in sub-paragraph (d) below:- 
   (b) To introduce, make, review, amend or revoke any order, rules or bye-

law or give any direction or notice. 
   (c) To determine any application for any permission or licence (including 

the holding of any hearing which may be required arising from any 
statute, statutory regulation or administrative procedure of the Council) 
and the enforcement of the relevant legislation in respect of the 
Council’s functions relation thereto. 

   (d) The functions referred to in sub-paragraph (a) above are:- 
    (i) The Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982, the Gaming Act 

1968, The Cinematography Act 1909 and other related 
legislation. 

    (ii) The Council’s functions under various public protection 
legislation including:- 

     - The control, investigation and mitigation of epidemic, 
endemic and infectious diseases and related nuisances. 

     - Food safety legislation, including milk and dairies 
     - Health and safety and other legislation affecting public 

safety, for example, Reservoirs Act 1975. 
     - Water quality levels, environmental protection and 

pollution control legislation. 
     - Caravan sites and houses in multiple occupation. 
     - Animal health, welfare and control legislation including 

pest and dog control. 
     - Consumer protection, fair trading and trading standards 

legislation. 
     - Legislation under the poisons Act 1972, the Explosives 

Act 1923 and the Petroleum Acts 1928/36. 
    (iii) The functions of the Council as road traffic regulation authority 

and the regulatory functions of the Council under the Roads 
(Scotland) Act 1984. 

    (iv) The functions of the Council under the Criminal Justice and 
Public Order Act 1994. 

    (v) Subject to paragraph 2.4.A below, the functions of the Council 
as Planning Authority under the Town and Country Planning 
(Scotland) Acts and other related legislation and also under the 
Building (Scotland) Acts. 

    (vi) The functions of the Council in respect of the application for 
and acquisition of Parental Rights and Responsibilities in terms 
of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995. 

    (vii) The powers of the Council to refuse registrations, impose 
conditions or cancel registrations in terms of Section 64 of the 
Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968. 

    (viii) Any other power or duty of the Council under any enactment in 
relation to the regulation of any activity. 
 

   (e) Accordingly to take any other steps in relation to any of the foregoing 
functions which the Committee may consider necessary or desirable. 
 

2.4.A SPECIAL COMMITTEE (Planning Applications Straddling Area Committee Boundaries) 

 
2.4.A.1 The determination of the categories of application set out in paragraph 2.3.1.(7)(v) 

above in any case which straddles the boundary of two Area Committees. 

Page 671



 58

     
2.5   STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
   Terms of Reference 

 
   General Functions 

 
   

1. To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Councillors and other 
persons who may be appointed or co-opted to any Committee or Sub Committee or 
Policy Development Group of the Council. 

 
2. To assist Councillors and other persons who may be appointed or co-opted to 
any Committee, Sub Committee or  Policy Development Group of the Council to 
observe the requirements of the Ethical Standards In Public Life Etc (Scotland) Act 
2000, the Code of Conduct, as amended from time to time, and  the requirements of the 
Council’s Governance Framework and its Regulatory Schemes. 

 
 
Specific Functions 

1. To advise the Council on the Councillors Code of Conduct (hereinafter 
referred to as the “Code”) in terms of the Ethical Standards In Public Life Etc 
(Scotland) Act 2000, together with any Guidance and  dispensation notes and the 
Councils own Governance Framework and Regulatory Scheme.  
  

2. To advise, train, or arrange to train Councillors and other persons who may be 
appointed or co-opted to any Committee or Sub Committee or Policy Development 
Group of the Council on matters relating to the Code and the Council’s Governance 
Framework. 

  
3. To consider matters referred to it in terms of operational arrangements which 
the Council adopts for investigating disclosures under the Council’s Public Interest 
Disclosure Policy and to consider reports placed before it by the Monitoring officer in 
terms of that Policy and to hold hearings and/or provide advice and recommendations 
to the Council as it thinks fit. 
  

4. To consider representations made to it in regard to the Code or any guidance 
issued thereunder and to consult with the Standards Commission and the Scottish 
Executive in relation to any matter for clarification, revisal or alteration of the Code as it 
shall think fit.  

 
5. To consider any reports or case materials issued by the Chief Investigating 
Officer or the Standards Commission in relation to any investigation or decision of any 
hearing and to advise the Council on the conclusions of any investigation or decision of 
any hearing and on any matter of best practice in relation to the Code and any 
guidance issued thereunder. 

 
6. To consider matters referred to it in terms of any requirements which may in 
future be laid down by statute. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 672



 59

2.6 AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

 Terms of Reference 
 

 General Functions 
 

 1. To promote internal controls, financial risk and governance and otherwise, in order to 
provide reasonable assurance of effective and efficient operations and compliance with 
laws and regulations. 
  

 2. To report annually to the Council on the internal control environment. 
 

 3. To develop an anti-fraud culture within the Council to ensure the highest standards of 
probity and public accountability. 
 

 4. To promote good financial practice within the Council. 
 

 5. To agree the internal audit strategy and plan. 
 

 6. To receive internal audit progress reports. 
 

 7. To oversee and review action taken on internal audit recommendations. 
 

 8. To review the internal audit annual plan. 
 

 9. To be consulted on the external audit strategy and plan. 
 

 10. To review all reports from the Council’s External Auditors. 
 

 11. To  oversee and review action on external audit recommendations. 
 

 12. Without prejudice to the role of the Standards Committee to deal with matters included 
in their terms of reference, in particular matters arising from the investigation of 
disclosures under the  Council’s Public Interest Disclosure Policy, to provide assurance 
on the Council’s compliance with Financial and Security Regulations, Contract Standing 
Orders and Accounting Codes of Practice. 
 

 13. To review the Council’s financial performance as contained in the Annual Report and 
Accounts. 
 

 14. To examine the activities and accounts of the Council and exercise a governance role 
over management efforts to ensure (a) that the expenditure approved by the Council 
has been incurred for the purposes intended; (b) that services are being provided 
efficiently and effectively; and (c) that value for money is being obtained, all in 
accordance with Best Value requirements. 
 

2.7 APPEALS COMMITTEES 
 

 (a) Staffing Appeals 
 

  The hearing and determination of appeals by employees in terms of the Council’s 
approved grievance and disciplinary procedures. 
 

 (b) Placing Appeals/Special Educational Needs 
 

  The hearing and determination of appeals against the refusals of placing requests in 
terms of Section 90A of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, and appeals in terms of 
Sections 63 to 65 of the 1980 Act in relation to special educational needs. 
 

 (c) Education Appeals and Bursaries 
 

Page 673



 60

  The hearing and determination of appeals relating to further education and higher 
school bursaries, and to access to or amendment of pupil or student records. 
 

 (d) Social Work Complaints Review 
 

  The hearing and determination of complaints in terms of the complaints procedure in 
terms of the National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990. 
 

 (e) Access to Personal Files Review 
 

  The hearing and determination of appeals in respect of the Access to Personal Files 
(Social Work) (Scotland) Regulations 1989. 
 

 
SECTION III 
 
 
DELEGATIONS TO OFFICERS 
 
The functions, powers and duties delegated to the Chief Executive and each Director are also 
exercisable by such Officers as are designated by them, subject to the provision of any law, 
and provided the designated Officers are suitably qualified. In exercising any delegated 
function, power or duty, the designated Officer will comply with any appropriate departmental 
practice or procedure, of any managerial instruction given, and of any other similar 
consideration. 
 
1. Limitation of Delegations to Officials 

 
 1.1 Delegations to Officers as set out in the following Sections are subject always to the 

following:- 
 

  (1) Officers will exercise the authority delegated to them having regard to and in 
accordance with the policies adopted by the Council from time to time; 
 

  (2) Officers to whom matters are delegated will act in the interests of the Council; 
 

  (3) Officers will exercise the authority delegated to them in accordance with this 
Scheme, the Council’s Constitution, Standing Orders, Financial & Security 
Regulations, Contract Standing Orders, the Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy, and 
any other similar procedures; 
 

  (4) Officers will have the right to consult with the Chief Executive on any matter, 
even though it has been specifically delegated to that Officer, or to refer the 
matter to an appropriate Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council; 
 

  (5) Officers will, in exercising any delegations – 
 

   (a) Consult the Chief Executive or any relevant Director where appropriate to 
do so on issues of a corporate nature or which may have a significant 
impact on the finances of the Council or other Services or on issues which 
are sensitive or complex; 
 

   (b) Consult the Chairman and/or Vice-Chairman of the appropriate Committee 
on issues which are sensitive or complex, or otherwise where consultation 
appears to be appropriate. 
 

   (c) Consult Local Members where a proposed decision or action is likely to 
affect significantly the constituency interests of that Member. 
 

Page 674



 61

 1.2 Officers will submit such reports on the decisions taken and actions authorised by 
them, or by other Officers authorised by them, in terms of the authority delegated to 
them, in accordance with arrangements made from time to time by the Director of 
Corporate  Services.  
 

 1.3 Where an applicant for a service provided by the Council is a Member of the Council or 
an employee, the Officer within whose delegated authority it is to determine the 
application will, before exercising that authority, give consideration to the need to 
consult with the Chief Executive who may if she/he considers it appropriate require the 
Officer to refer the application to the appropriate Committee for determination. 
 

 1.4 (a) Where an applicant for employment with the Council is related to a Member of 
the Council, or to a Chief Officer of the Council, the Officer within whose 
delegated authority it is to make the appointment to the post in question will, 
before exercising that authority, consult with the Chief Executive who may if 
she/he considers it appropriate require the Officer to refer the appointment to 
her/him for decision.   
 

  (b) Where an applicant for employment with the Council is related to an employee of 
the Council the Officer within whose delegated authority it is to make the 
appointment to the post in question will, before exercising that authority, consult 
with their Director who may if she/he considers it appropriate require the Officer 
to refer the appointment to her/him for decision.  In the case of an appointment 
by a Director they should refer the matter to the Chief Executive. 
 
 

2. General Delegations to Officials  
 

 The Chief Executive and Directors of Service are authorised to – 
 

 (1) Appoint employees as required by them to discharge the functions of the services for 
which they are responsible, within the overall budget approved by the Council for their 
Service. To dismiss employees, including in the delegation to the Chief Executive, 
Directors of Service. 
 

 (2) Under the general direction of the Chief Executive to apply and implement the terms of 
National and Local Agreements on Salaries and Conditions of Service to any particular 
post and take such other decisions in relation to such posts and the employees who 
occupy them as they consider necessary in the interests of the effective operation of 
their Service. 
 

 (3) Conduct Disciplinary and Grievance proceedings and make appropriate determinations 
in accordance with the Council’s approve Disciplinary & Grievance Procedures. 
 

 (4) Select tenderers from Council’s approved lists to receive tender documents for any 
contract and to award contracts subject to and in compliance with the Contract 
Standing Orders. 
 

 (5) Subject to the provisions of the Contract Standing Orders, appoint Consultants to 
provide skills or expertise in relation to any contract, research or for the provision of 
training or related matters up to a value of £5,000 in respect of any one appointment. 
 

 (6) To take such measures as may be required in emergency situations subject to advising 
(a) the Chief Executive, in the case of an action taken by a Director, (b) the Chair 
and/or Vice-Chair of the Strategic Policy Committee, and as appropriate the Chair 
and/or Vice-Chair of the relevant Area Committee and/or Local Member where 
possible and reporting to the appropriate Committee as soon as possible thereafter, on 
any items for which Committee approval would normally be necessary. 
 

 (7) To sign and to issue – 
 

Page 675



 62

  (a) Statutory notices on behalf of the Council under all relevant legislation applicable 
to the functions of their office 
 

  (b) The necessary authorisation to Officers to exercise statutory powers (including, 
where appropriate, the right to enter land and premises in connection with 
discharge of their duties), and  
 

  (c) Identity cards, and such other similar authorisations as may be required, to 
Officers. 
 

 (8) To pay valid claims for damage to, or loss of, property of employees occurring during 
the course of their employment or of members of the public, arising from the work of 
the Service concerned, up to £1,000 in respect of any one claim, subject to the 
approval of the Chief Executive in respect of any higher amount, and subject also to 
the requirement to ensure that appropriate notification is given and/or claims made on 
the relevant Council Insurance Policies. 
 

 (9) To act as the Proper Officer in terms of Sections 50(D)(1)(a) and 50(D)(5) of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1973 (Background Papers). 
 

 (10) To approve terms and conditions for the lease to or from a third party of property to be 
held on their Service account, subject to the terms of Paragraph 2.1.5 (4). 
 

 (12) To ensure compliance with the requirements of  Health & Safety legislation and 
regulations, and the Council’s policies in respect of those matters. 
 

 (13) Each Director is authorised, in terms of arrangements made from time to time by the 
Chief Executive, to exercise the functions of the Chief Executive in her/his absence. 
 

 (14) Each Director, in respect of premises for which he/she has responsibility, is authorised 
to permit voluntary groups or others offering to execute on an ex gratia basis 
construction or improvement works within the curtilage of those premises subject to  
 

  (a) his/her being satisfied as to the nature, extent and timetable of the works. 
 

  (b) a Health & Safety Assessment of Works being provided to the satisfaction of 
the Health & Safety Manager. 
 

  (c) Public Liability/Employers Liability/Professional Indemnity Insurance for 
appropriate levels to the satisfaction of the Director of Corporate Services. 
 

  (d) the specification of the nature and extent of works, methodology and 
qualifications/experience of those undertaking the works to the satisfaction of 
the Director of Operational Services who will also assess the level of 
supervision and monitoring of the works concerned. 
 
 

3.  Specific Delegations to Officials  
 
 
(A) CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

   
The Chief Executive is Head of the Council’s paid service in terms of Section 4 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989, and chief adviser to the Council on matters of general policy. 
 
The Chief Executive’s powers and duties to enable him to carry out these functions and without 
prejudice to all statutory duties, responsibilities and powers exercisable by her/him authorises her/him 
to exercise the following – 
 
 1. To put in place the necessary arrangements to ensure the effective corporate working 

of all Services to plan and provide the services and activities of the Council. 
 

Page 676



 63

 2. To put in place the necessary arrangements to ensure the co-ordination of the 
Council’s services and activities with those of other agencies through effective 
community planning in partnership with the agencies. 
 

 3. Power in special cases to direct that any official shall not exercise a delegated 
function except where - 

   

  (i) the officer concerned is exercising a statutory responsibility, or 

  (ii) the officer concerned is exercising professional discretion or judgement 

   

 4. Select a long leet of applicants for appointment to a post of Director for presentation to 
the Appointments Committee. 

   

 5. To act as the “proper officer” for the purposes of Sections 34, 145 and 206(2) of the 
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973. 

   

 6. Power in an emergency to instruct executive action on a report from a Director on any 
matter delegated or referred to a Committee after consultation with the Leader  or, in 
his absence, Depute Leader of the Council.. 

   

 7. To give a direction on the applicability of the Scheme of Delegated Functions to an 
officer in any specific case. 

   

 8. Where he considers that it would be in the interests of the Council to do so, to 
authorise visits by officers of the Council and others representing the Council outwith 
the United Kingdom. 

   

 9. To determine gradings of categories of posts in implementation of review processes 
initiated within or outwith the Council or to correct anomalies in the Council’s salary 
structure as a consequence of review processes, within the limits of existing budgets. 
 

 10. To determine applications for the premature payment of preserved benefits under the 
Local Government Pension Scheme. 
 

 11. To designate a suitably qualified officer - 
 

  (1) to establish principles for the operation of staff induction, training needs 
analysis, and training and development plans for staff on a corporate basis; 
 

  (2) to exercise the Council’s functions under the relevant Health and Safety 
legislation in relation to the welfare and safety of employees and other 
persons who use Council property. 
 

  (3) to administer the Group Life Assurance Scheme 
 

  (4) to administer the Car Leasing Scheme 
 

 12. To authorize reports to the Procurator Fiscal or Police on matters not otherwise 
covered within the Council’s regulatory Framework having received a report on any 
such matter from any source.  

    

(B) DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE  SERVICES 

   

 The Director of Corporate Services is authorised - 

   

 1. To act as “proper officer” in terms of Section 33A, 40, 50B(2), 50C(2), 50F(2) and 
Sections 223 and 231 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and otherwise in 
relation to the arrangements for the conduct of business arising at any meeting of the 

Page 677



 64

Council, a Committee or Sub-Committee. 
   

 2. To have custody of all archives and regalia, and, in consultation with the Convener, to 
determine all matters relating to the flying of flags on Council buildings. 

   

 3. To determine applications for public processions and charitable collections under the 
Civic Government (Scotland) Act where no objections are received. 

   

 4. To act as Returning Officer in respect of European, Parliamentary and Local Authority 
elections and to discharge the functions in Section 18 of and act as “proper officer” in 
terms of Section 82 of the Representation of the People Act 1983 (as amended) 

   

 5. To secure the provision of the electoral registration functions of the Council. 

   

 6. To maintain a panel of Safeguarders and Legal Represenatives for appointment in 
connection with the interests of any child in connection with any proceedings before 
the Sheriff or a Children’s Panel, and to determine fees in accordance with Council 
policies. 

   

 7. To act as “proper officer” in terms of Sections 19 and 30 of the Local Government & 
Housing Act 1989 and Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities Etc (Allowances) (Scotland) 
Regulations 1995. 

   

 8. To act as Monitoring Officer in terms of Section 5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989; 

   

 9. To act as or to designate a suitably qualified officer to act as Clerk to the District Court 
in terms of Section 7 of the District Courts (Scotland) Act 1975; 

   

 10. To act as or to designate a suitably qualified officer to act as Clerk of the Peace in 
terms of Section 18 of the District Courts (Scotland) Act 1975; 

   

 11. To act as or to designate a suitably qualified officer to act as Clerk to the Licensing 
Boards in terms of the Licensing (Scotland) Act 1976; 

   

 12. To act as or to designate a suitably qualified officer to act as the “proper officer” in 
terms of Sections 92, 190, 191, 193, 194, 202 and 204 of the Local Government 
(Scotland) Act 1973 and to sign and arrange as necessary for the affixing of the 
Common Seal of the Council to all deeds and other documents which require to be 
sealed with the Common Seal of the Council; 

   

 13. To act as or to designate a suitably qualified officer to act as Solicitor to the Council 
and as such to sign missives and other similar documents binding the Council, except 
where otherwise provided for in this Scheme; 

   

 14. To engage private legal firms or Counsel for Court and other legal work if and when 
she/he may consider this to be necessary to enable the legal work of the Council to be 
carried out and appoint Parliamentary Agents; 

   

 15. To arrange for the Council to be represented in relation to any type of judicial and 
quasi judicial proceedings before any Court, Tribunal or other body and in that regard 
to initiate, enter, defend and withdraw from such proceedings; 

   

 16. To settle without reference, claims arising in terms of the Land Compensation 
(Scotland) Act 1973, in respect of Home Loss Payments following compulsory 
acquisitions and also to settle any discretionary payments arising from acquisitions by 
voluntary agreement, provided that the statutory requirements have been met.; 

Page 678



 65

   

 17. To settle, without reference, up to a maximum of £25,000, any claims against the 
Council which involves or is likely to involve action against the Council in any Court or 
statutory tribunal; 

   

 18. To authorise payments to account to sellers of property to the Council in cases where 
negotiations are protracted for any reason, up to a value of 90% of the valuation; 

   

 19. To authorise payments to account to sellers of property to the Council in cases where 
conveyancing procedures are protracted for any reason subject to the exhibition of a 
good title and the grant of appropriate undertakings; 

   

 20. To terminate on behalf of the Council any contract which the Council is entitled to 
terminate under the appropriate conditions of contract where, after consultation with 
the appropriate Director, she/he is satisfied that it is in the interest of the Council to do 
so; 

   

 21. In respect of Insurance- 

   

  (i) to take out the necessary insurances to protect the interests of the Council; 

  (ii) to make arrangements with insurance companies concerning settlement of 
claims; 

  (iii) in respect of claims not settled by or on behalf of the Council to settle up to a 
maximum of £25,000 

   

 22. To consider and determine, where unopposed, applications for licences under the 
Gaming Act 1968; 

   

 23. To determine applications for licences for late hours catering, second-hand dealers, 
including car dealers, boat hirers, taxi and taxi driver licences where unopposed; 

   

 24. To consider and determine, where unopposed, applications under the Betting, Gaming 
and Lotteries Act 1963, the Lotteries and Amusements Act 1976, the Gaming Act 1968 
and for licences under Parts I, II and III of the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982;  
and to keep under review, where appropriate, the levels of fees charged for particular 
licences, and the level of taxi fares throughout the area of the Council; 

   

 25. To carry out of prosecutions under Section 43(2) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, 
where he/she considers it appropriate; 

   

 26. To determine applications for House Loans and other financial assistance under Part 
XII of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 after consultation with the Director of 
Community Services and the Head of Strategic Finance. 
 

 27. To determine applications for Houses in Multiple Occupation in terms of the mandatory 
scheme under the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982. 

   

 28. To determine applications for licences and registrations under the Petroleum Acts, the 
Explosives Act, the Poisons Act and similar legislation; 

   

 29. To determine applications for licences in respect of animal boarding and horse riding 
establishments, the keeping of dangerous wild animals, the operation of pet shops and 
zoos, and the breeding of dogs; 

   

 30. To determine applications for licences under the Cinematograph Act 1909 and the 
Theatres Act 1963, where unopposed; 

   

Page 679



 66

 31. To grant authorisation in terms of the Water (Scotland) Act 1980 relating to private 
water supplies; 

   

 32. To act as or appoint a suitably qualified officer to act as Access Officer, Home Safety 
Officer, , Animal Welfare Officer and Chief Inspector of Weights and Measures; 

   

 33. To act as the proper officer for the Statutory Functions and obligations of the Council 
under all current, relevant legislation relating to Environmental Health, Animal Welfare, 
Trading Standards, Fire Precautions, Freedom of Information, Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act and Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Scotland) Act and 
Data Protection.  To determine requests for review of refusal, or partial refusal, to 
provide information, or any procedural matter relating to a request for information in 
terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 or the Environmental 
Information Regulations. 

   

   

 34. To exercise or to designate a suitably qualified officer to exercise the powers and 
duties of the Council and of an Inspector and authorised Officer (including powers of 
entry, inspection, sampling, seizure of goods and services, opening containers, seizure 
and initiating prosecutions, where appropriate) under any relevant legislation; 

   

 35. To authorise reports for submission to the Procurator Fiscal with a view to the initiation 
of proceedings under all relevant delegated legislation. 
 

   

 36. To act as the proper officer in terms of the Local Government (Scotland) Acts 1973 
and 1975, the Abolition of Domestic Rates Etc.(Scotland) Act 1987, the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and associated legislation for all purposes including the 
preparation and issue of Council Tax and Rates Notices, the collection of Council Tax 
and Rates, the receiving and settling of claims for any exemption, the handling of 
objections to any amount levied and the abatement, remission or repayment of any 
Rates or Council Tax under the various statutory provisions; 

   

 37. Determine applications for mandatory or discretionary relief of Rates in accordance 
with the council’s policies; 

   

 38. Enter into arrangements with the Water Authority in relation to the collection of water 
and sewerage charges. 

   

 39. Enter into arrangements with others concerning the collection of Rates, Community 
Charge or Council Tax on behalf of the Council and to make arrangements with each 
agent as to suitable collection points; 

   

 40. Make the necessary arrangements concerning terms and commissions payable for 
services rendered to the Council by other agents with regard to the collection of Rates, 
Community charge and/or Council Tax and the administration of any Community 
Charge or Council Tax rebate or discount schemes etc. 

   

 41. To exercise the Council’s powers to initiate sequestration proceedings. 
 

   

 42. To provide a valuation and estates service in respect of the valuation and 
management of heritable property. 

   

 43. To approve the terms for the lease or disposal of property surplus to the requirements 
of the Council within the terms of the Contract Standing Orders  after consultation with 
the Director of Development Services. 
 

Page 680



 67

 44. To determine applications for licences in respect of caravan sites; 
 

 45. To maintain a list of all heritable property owned or leased by the Council and to 
appeal rating assessments in respect of council property and determine the conduct 
and settlement of any such appeal 

   

(C) DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT SERVICES  

   

 The Director of Development Services is authorised - 
 

 1. To grant applications for planning permission in respect of developments which comply 
with the Council’s structure and local plan policies and in respect of which no 
objections have been received and issue consent notices. 
 

 2. To grant applications and issue completion and other related Certificates, and refuse 
unappealed applications under the Building (Scotland) Acts.  To issue an order under 
the said Acts in terms of demolishing or making good a dangerous building, including 
Notices under Section 13 of the Building (Scotland) Act. 
 

 3. To issue approvals of reserved matters where the reserved matters have been 
satisfactorily resolved. 

   

 4. To determine applications for variation of planning consents under Section 64 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997. 

   

 5. To determine the award of assistance under the terms of Schemes of Business 
Development or Employment Support approved from time to time by the Council. 

   

 6. To request, in consultation with the Director of Corporate Services, that a public local 
inquiry be held, in connection with any particular appeal against the refusal of planning 
permission or similar procedure. 

   

 7. To grant unopposed Certificates of Lawfulness in terms of Section 150 and 151 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997. 

   

 8. To determine all consultative applications, and assessments of a technical nature 
under Delegated Legislation including the power to raise objections after consultation 
with the appropriate Area Chairman and the Local Member. 

   

 9. To determine prior notifications included in and introduced by the Town & Country 
Planning (General Development) (Scotland) Order 1992 and unopposed revocations 
and modifications to planning permissions under Sections 65, 66, 67 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 where there are no objections. 

   

 10. To determine hazardous substances consents in terms of the Planning (Hazardous 
Substances) (Scotland) Act 1997 where there are no objections. 

   

 11. To exercise the power to serve “Contravention Notices” in terms of Section 125 of the 
Town & Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 prior to formal enforcement action. 

   

 12. To exercise the power to take action against fly-posting in terms of Section 187 of the 
Town & Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997. 

   

 13. To exercise the power to approve or refuse all proposed works to trees in 
Conservation Areas and trees protected by Tree Preservation Orders. 

   

 14. To refuse applications which were the subject of Section 75 Agreements when the 
applicant had not concluded the Section 75 Agreement within four months of being 

Page 681



 68

notified of the requirement to do so. 
 

 15. Refusal of all planning applications in consultation with respective Area Chairman, 
Vice Chairman and the Local Member and in the event that the Area Chairman or Vice 
Chairman is also the Local Member then any other Member of the Local Area 
Committee in addition to the foregoing . 

  
16. 

 
Approvals of planning applications where objections have been received which are not 
material planning considerations e.g. Loss of view, feu-title restrictions, character of 
applicant. 

  
17. 

 
Approvals of planning applications where objections have been received which relate 
to procedural matters which after investigations by Council Officers cannot be 
substantiated e.g. Neighbour notification/publicity issues. 

   

 18. Approval of planning applications where objections have been received from Statutory 
Consultees on unreasonable grounds which, after investigation by, and in the opinion 
of, the Director cannot be substantiated. 

  
19. 

 
Refusals of Certificate of Lawful Use and Development applications. 
 

  
20. 

 
Power to determine planning applications without referring to Committee in 
consultation with respective Area Chairman, Vice Chairman and the Local Member, 
and in the event that the Area Chairman or Vice Chairman is also the Local Member 
then any other Member of the Local Area Committee in addition to the foregoing, 
where there are objections from non statutory consultees or individual small groups of 
objectors. 

  
21. 

 
To deal with enforcement complaints where after investigation no breaches of planning 
control have been identified, and to determine what action if any to take on an illegal 
breach of Planning Control where an application or deemed application assessment 
has determined that the development is acceptable. 

  
22. 

 
Service of Breach of Condition Notices 
 

 23. To undertake and determine “screening” and “scoping” opinions of planning 
applications under the Environmental Impact Assessment (Scotland) Regulations. 
 

 24. Building control relaxation refusals if hearing not requested by the applicant/agent. 

   

 25. To act as the “proper officer” for the statutory functions of the Council under all 
relevant legislation relating to the functions of the Council as planning authority,  
 

 26. To appoint as inspectors and authorised officers for the purposes of the administration 
and enforcement of the legislation referred to in the foregoing paragraphs, such 
officers as she/he may deem necessary and appropriate; 
 

 27. To exercise or to designate a suitably qualified officer to exercise the powers and 
duties of the Council and of an Inspector and authorised Officer (including powers of 
entry, inspection, sampling, seizure of goods and services, opening containers, seizure 
and initiating prosecutions, where appropriate) under the relevant legislation; 

   

 28. To exercise the functions of the Council under the Fire Safety and Safety of Places of 
Sports Act 1987, including the issue of Safety Certificates. 
 

 30 To authorise reports for submission to the Procurator Fiscal with a view to the initiation 
of proceedings under all relevant delegated legislation. 
 

 31 To act jointly with the Chief Constable in the provision of road safety; 
 

Page 682



 69

 32. To exercise the functions of the Council under the Fire Safety and Safety of Places of 
Sports Act 1987, including the issue of Safety Certificates. 
 

 33 To review the Asset Management Plans prepared by Services and co-ordinate these 
into an overall Council Asset Management Plan. 

   
 
(D) DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY SERVICES 

   

 The Director of Community Services is authorised - 

   

 1. to determine applications for the provision of footwear and clothing for pupils at public 
schools, in terms of Section 54 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 

   

 2. to arrange programmes of in-service training for teachers; 

   

 3. to arrange in-service courses for Chaplains to schools as and when considered 
desirable; 

   

 4. to carry out the functions of the Council as Education Authority in relation to the 
provision of education for recorded children in terms of Sections 1 and 60 of the 
Education (Scotland) Act 1980 including placement in day and residential schools; 

   

 5. to implement rates of fees for educational establishments used by the Council outwith 
the Council’s area; 

   

 6. to carry out the administration, assessment and award of any education bursaries or 
other related forms of assistance; 

   

 7. to fix the levels of any tuition fees, examination expenses, and determine rates of pay 
to examination invigilators; 

   

 8. to approve the participation of school pupils and supervising staff in cultural, social and 
recreational visits in and outwith the United Kingdom and the reception of visiting 
pupils and staff; 

   

 9. to approve temporary exchange visits by teaching staff in and outwith the United 
Kingdom; 

   

 10. to make grants to pupils to enable them to attend courses and conferences and to 
undertake educational visits and excursions at home and abroad; 

   

 11. to make the necessary arrangements for the boarding out of pupils and for the 
allocation of hostel accommodation; 

   

 12. to issue licences in terms of the Children (Performances) Regulations 1968; 

   

 13. to determine applications received from schools for arrangements to be made for visits 
during school terms; 

   

 14. to provide courses in educational training for outside agencies and to negotiate 
appropriate charges for these services; 

   

 15. to ensure that requisite provision is made for any pupil entitled in terms of Section 
53(3) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 to receive refreshment in the middle of the 
day. 

Page 683



 70

   

 16. to make grants to pupils from schools within the Council’s area or normally resident 
within the area who are selected to join national youth orchestras or similar national 
music, drama or dance companies in respect of fees and attendance at courses; 

   

 17. to increase, in cases of hardship, and at his discretion, the amount of grant awarded to 
school pupils attending part-time courses at the Royal Scottish Academy of Music and 
Drama and the Scottish Ballet School up to a maximum of the cost of fees and 
travelling expenses; 
 

 19. to exercise the powers available to the Council as Education Authority, in terms of 
Section 23 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, with regard to the provision by the 
Council of education for pupils belonging to the areas of other Education Authorities 
and incur outwith area fees and to pay the approved COSLA rate to any other 
Education Authority which has provided education for pupils normally resident in the 
area of the Authority but who are, for various reasons, placed in Schools outwith the 
Authority; 
 

 20. to apply to the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food for and to accept any 
allocation made to the Council from the EEC national quota of levy-free foods 
administered by that Ministry under the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade; 

   

 21. to consider and determine all placing requests under Section 28 of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980 in accordance with the guidelines formulated by the Council; 

   

 22. to accept placing requests in terms of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and to make 
whatever transport arrangements are deemed to be appropriate, in individual cases 
brought to his attention where supporting documentation satisfies him that the child 
concerned has serious physical, emotional or psychological problems; 

   

 23. in cases where the parent changes residence and in terms of the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980 makes a placing request that her/his child remain in the school attended prior 
to that change, to accept that request provided that (1) the parent agrees to comply 
with the Council’s policy on transport arrangements and costs, and (2) in all the 
circumstances the Director considers it is appropriate to accept the request; 

   

 24. to exercise, at his discretion, the powers available to the Council as Education 
Authority in relation to the exclusion of pupils from schools; 

   

 25. where not otherwise determined by a School Board, to determine the dates of 
occasional local school holidays after consultation with any appropriate School Board; 

   

 26. to accept and administer any Educational Trusts or small endowments which may be 
offered to the Council for schools in their area; 

   

 27. to carry out the functions of the Council in terms of Section 58 of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980 relating to the cleanliness of pupils at schools; 

   

 28. to exercise the functions of the Council in terms of Section 50 of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980, (provision of travelling facilities and accommodation in 
exceptional circumstances); 

   

 29. where a teacher is compulsorily transferred to authorise payment of the cost of 
removal expenses in terms of the Council’s Scheme or, where appropriate, reasonable 
daily travel expenses subject to the relevant provisions of the Conditions of Service for 
teachers in Day Schools; 

   

 30. to carry out the education functions of the Council under Part X of and Schedule 9 to 
the Children Act 1989; 

Page 684



 71

   

 31. to determine requests for access to and amendment of records in terms of the School 
Pupils Records (Scotland) Regulations 1990; 

   

 32. to exercise the functions of the Education Authority in relation to the irregular 
attendance of pupils at schools under their management all in terms of Sections 36-41 
of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 after consultation with the appropriate Local 
Attendance Council; 

   

 33. to approve attendance by Community Education employees on authorised Youth 
Exchange visits overseas where the employees, as part of their duties, are required to 
accompany the group undertaking the exchange; 

   

 34. to authorise Head Teachers in DMR Schools to approve appointments, where 
considered necessary and where budgetary provision exists, of temporary Education 
Department, non-teaching staff in schools involved in Delegated Management of 
Resources. 
 

 35. To determine school staffing levels within the limits of resources provided by the 
Council. 
 

 36. To authorise the use of budgetary resources in conjunction with partner organisations 
in the pursuit of agreed corporate policies. 
 

 37. To authorise the distribution of the educational hypothetical resources received from 
the Scottish Executive Education Department within the policies determined for this 
purpose by the Council. 
 

 38. To secure the right of every child of school age to be provided with school education 
by, or by virtue of arrangements made, or entered into on behalf of the education 
authority. 
 

 39. To secure improvement in the quality of school education with a view to raising 
standards of education. 
 

 40. To prepare the annual statement of education improvement objectives. 
 

 41. To authorise Head Teachers to prepare an annual school plan which will identify the 
principal achievement targets to be sought in the following academic year and a report 
on the implementation of the plan as defined in the Standards in Scotland’s Schools 
etc. Act 2000. 
 

 42. To secure the provision of pre-school education for those children whose parents 
request such provision all in terms of Sections 32 to 34 of the Standards in Scotland’s 
Schools Etc. Act 2000. 
 

 43. To authorise the provision of school transport as described in Section 37 of the 
Standards in Scotland’s Schools Etc Act 2000 within the financial limits agreed by the 
Council. 

   

 44. To manage the Council’s Library and Museums Services; 

   

 45. To manage and factor houses provided by the Council on the Housing Account 

   

 46. To provide, maintain and revise a waiting list of applicants for houses to be allocated 
by the Council; 

   

 47. To allocate houses and garages in accordance with the policy decisions of the Council 
including authority to enter into Missives of Let on behalf of the Council in respect of 

Page 685



 72

those houses and garages; 
   

 48. To determine and issue approvals for improvement, repairs and standard amenity and 
environmental grants; 

   

 49. To make payments by way of compensation in cash or in kind as may competently be 
made by the Council in exercise of their statutory housing functions; 

   

 50. To take such action as necessary in the allocation of emergency accommodation as 
may from time to time be the statutory obligation of the Council; 

   

 51. To determine applications under Part II of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 relating to 
homeless persons; 

   

 52. To be responsible for the inspection, assessment, instruction and supervision of 
housing repairs; 

   

 53. To be responsible for the collection of relevant rents and charges and for the 
administration of the Housing Benefit Scheme and the Council Tax Benefit Scheme; 

   

 54. To be responsible for implementation of the provisions of Part IV of the Housing 
(Scotland) Act 1987 relating to sub-standard houses; 

   

 55. To be responsible for implementation of the provision of Part V of the Housing 
(Scotland) Act 1987 relating to repairs of houses; 

   

 56. To be responsible for implementation of the provision of Part VI of the Housing 
(Scotland) Act 1987 relating to Closing and Demolition Orders; 

   

 57. To be responsible for implementation of Part VII of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987 
relating to overcrowding. 
 

 58. 
 

To be responsible for the amendment of Housing Provision and the preparation of a 
Local Housing Strategy in accordance with 5.89 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001. 
 

 59 To carry out the Council’s functions under the Disabled Persons (Badges for Motor 
Vehicles) Regulations 1982 and subsequent legislation. 
 

 60 
. 

To act as or designate a suitably qualified officer to act as Chief Social Work Officer in 
terms of Section 3 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 for the purposes of the 
Council’s functions under the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 and the enactments in 
Section 5(1B) of the same Act, and the Childrens (Scotland) Act 1995 including and in 
addition where not otherwise included - 
 

  i Section 12 under which the Council is required to promote social welfare by 
making available advice, guidance and assistance on such a scale as may be 
appropriate for its area.  The delegation in terms of this Section shall include 
authority: 
 

   (a) to make loans or grants to any person or family in accordance with any 
policy approved by the Council; 
 

   (b) to give any other appropriate assistance, including provision for the 
storage of furniture in cases of emergency; 
 

  ii Section 13 under which the Council may assist in the disposal of produce of 
work undertaken by persons in need; 
 

Page 686



 73

  iii Section 14 under which the Council is required to provide home help and 
laundry facilities for persons in need, etc. subject to the recovery by the 
Director on the appropriate scale as may be determined by the Council;  but 
subject also to the Director being empowered to abate or waive home help 
charges to avoid hardship according to the person and financial 
circumstances of the client in accordance with policies approved by the 
Council. 
 

  iv Section 15 which imposes on the Council a duty to received and keep in 
care in certain circumstances any child in need. 
 

  v Section 16(1)(I) which authorises the assumption of parental rights by the 
Council in any case where the parents of a child are dead and she/he has 
not guardian; 
 

  vi To ensure that in terms of Section 20, in reaching any decision relating to a 
child in the care of the Council, first consideration is given to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of the child throughout her/his childhood 
and, so far as is practicable, the wishes and feelings of the child regarding 
the decision are ascertained and given due consideration, having regard to 
her/his age and understanding; 
 

  vii Section 21 which imposes on the Council a duty to provide accommodation 
and maintenance for a child in care by boarding her/him out or maintaining 
her/him in a residential establishment; 
 

  viii Section 22 which empowers the Council to remove any child from a 
residential establishment; 
 

  ix Section 24 which empowers the Council to grant financial assistance to 
persons over school age but under 21, who are now, or have at any time 
after ceasing to be of school age, been in the care of the Council, to enable 
them to meet expenses in connection with their maintenance, education or 
training, in accordance with any policies approved by the Council; 
 

  x Section 26 which imposes on the Council a duty of aftercare in respect of 
any child over school-leaving age who was at the time when she/he ceased 
to be of that age or at any subsequent time but is no longer in the care of the 
Council or of a voluntary organisation, in accordance with any policies 
approved by the Council. 
 

  xi Section 28 which empowers the Council to make arrangements for the burial 
or cremation of any person who was in the care of or was receiving 
assistance from the Council at the date of death and to recover where 
appropriate any expenses so incurred which are not recoverable under the 
National Insurance Act 1965. 
 

  xii Section 29 which empowers the Council to pay the expenses incurred by a 
parent, relative or other person visiting a person in the care of the Council, or 
incurred in attending the funeral of a person who was in the care of or was 
receiving assistance from the Council if it appears that the parent or relative 
or other person would otherwise be caused unnecessary hardship in making 
the visit and that the circumstances warrant the making of the payment. 
 

  xiii Section 44(5) which requires the Council to give effect to a supervision 
requirement made by a  Children’s Hearing for its area; 
 

  xiv Section 47(1) which requires the Council to seek review by a Children’s 
Hearing of a supervision requirement in certain circumstances; 
 

Page 687



 74

  xv Section 47(2) which requires the Council to refer cases involving a 
supervision requirement to the Reporter within 3 months of the child’s 18th 
birthday; 
 

  xvi Section 48(2) which requires a supervision requirement to be reviewed by a 
Children’s Hearing where the Council so recommends; 
 
 

  xvii Section 65(1) which empowers or requires the Council in certain 
circumstances to remove any person from certain residential or other 
establishments; 
 

  xviii Section 68 which requires the Council to make arrangements for periodic 
visits to persons in establishments in the Council’s area, in the interests of 
the well-being of those persons; 
 

  xix To carry out the functions of the Council under the War Charities Act 1940 
and under Section 41 of the National Assistance Act 1948 in relation to the 
registration of charities, including charities for disabled persons on the 
grounds that its objects are already adequately covered by a registered 
charity; 

    

  xx To arrange or assist in arranging holidays or other absences appropriate to 
the needs of the child, of any child in the care of the Council in accordance 
with the policies of the Council; 
 

  xxi To carry out the functions of the Council under Section 48 of the National 
Assistance Act 1948 relating to the temporary storage of furniture in certain 
circumstances on behalf of certain persons; 
 

  xxii To appoint Mental Health Officers in terms of the Mental Health (Scotland) 
Act 1984;  and 
 

  xxiii To provide aids and adaptations for the homes of handicapped persons 
within the budget available for this purpose and in accordance with the 
policies of the Council; 
 

  xxiv To carry out the functions of the Council in relation to the Adoption of 
Children in terms of the Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978 and the Children’s 
Acts 1975 to 1995; 
 

  xxv To carry out the functions of the Council as Care Authority under the 
Fostering of Children (Scotland) Regulations 1985; 
 

  xxvi To determine assistance with legal fees (in consultation with the Director of  
Corporate Services) and medical expenses in relation to adoptions; 
 

  xxvii To approve new registrations of establishments and to grant variations of 
existing registrations, all under Section 62 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 
1968; 
 

    
 

  xxvii To determine applications for the revision of maintenance rates for 
private/voluntary sector homes outwith the provisions of the National Health 
Service and Community Care Act 1990; 
 

  xxix To determine fees for curators ad litem, foster parents and community carers 
in accordance with Council policies; 
 

Page 688



 75

  xxx To exercise the functions of the Council in elation to the National Health 
Service and Community Care Act 1990 for the purpose of implementing the 
Council’s policies in relation to financial assessment systems for chargeable 
services within packages of community care. 
 

  xxxi To enter into contracts with private and voluntary agencies for the provision 
of services relative to the Council’s policies in relation to the discharge of its 
functions under the National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990. 
 

  xxxii To authorise the Director of Community Services to make direct payments in 
terms of the Community Care (Direct Payments) Act 1996 and the 
Community Care & Health (Scotland) Bill once it becomes law to service 
users who meet the eligibility criteria to purchase their own services. 
 

 61  To designate the Chief Social Work Officer to act as the proper Officer in 
relation to the Council’s functions in regard to; 

  i The Chronically Sick And Disabled Persons Act 1970 and the Disabled 
Persons (Services Consultation And Representation) Act 1986. 
 

  ii Part IV of the Children And Young Persons (Scotland) Act 1937 
 

  iii The National Assistance Act 1948 
 

  iv The Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1958 
. 

  v The Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958. 
 

  vi The Guardianship Act 1963 and the Adults With Incapacity (Scotland) Act 
2000 
 

  vii Sections 23, 24, 297 and 329 of the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1975. 
 

  viii The Children Act 1975. 
 

  ix The Adoption Act 1976. 
 

  x The Adoption (Scotland) Act 1978 
 

  xi Sections 21 to 23 of the Health And Social Services And Social Security 
Adjudication Act 1983. 
 

  xii The Mental Health (Scotland) Act 1984 and any subsequent amendment. 
 

  xiii The Foster Children (Scotland) Act 1984. 
 

  xiv Sections38(b) and 235 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1987. 
 

 62  To make grants to householders for the purpose of making good fabric and 
decoration in houses affected by work carried out by the Council under the 
Noise Insulation (Scotland) Regulations 1975 at the rates and on conditions 
which may be prescribed from time to time by the Council; 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 689



 76

(E) HEAD OF STRATEGIC FINANCE 

   
The Head of Strategic Finance is the Council’s Chief Finance Officer and is responsible for advising 
the Council, its Committees and its Departments on all financial matters and is authorised to - 
   

 1. Determine the detailed form of Capital and Revenue Estimates consistent with the 
directions of the Council; 

   

 2. Determine all accounting procedures and financial records of the Council and the 
principles to be followed; 

   

 3. Prepare and submit to the Controller of Audit in accordance with Section 96 of the 
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 the Annual Abstract of Accounts and advertise 
and make them available for public inspection; 

   

 4. Act in terms of Section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 as the proper 
officer responsible for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council; 

   

 5. Exercise all the other powers and duties as set out in and in accordance with the 
Financial and Security Regulations as approved by the Council from time to time; 

   

 6. To discharge all the Treasury Management functions of the Council in accordance with 
the Financial and Security Regulations, including exercising voting rights on any stock 
held in the name of the Council. 

   

 7. To lodge and maintain objections on behalf of the Council to applications for and 
related to licences under the Gaming Act 1968, the lotteries and Amusement Act 1976, 
the Licensing (Scotland) Act 1976, the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 and any 
amending or related statutes, where the applicant has outstanding financial liabilities to 
the Council. 
 
 

(F) DIRECTOR OF OPERATIONAL SERVICES 

   

 The Director of Operational Services  is authorised - 

   

 1. To carry out the following functions of the Council in terms of the Roads (Scotland) Act 
1984:- 

   

  (1) Under Section 13 the service of appropriate notices in relation to the 
imposition on frontagers of the requirements to make up and maintain private 
roads; 

    

  (2) Under Section 15 in relation to the completion of necessary work in private 
roads occasioned by an emergency (other than an emergency constituted by 
a danger as defined in Section 91); 

    

  (3) Under Section 16(1)(b) in relation to the consideration and determination of 
applications for the adoption of private roads as public. 

    

  (4) Under Section 18 in relation to the adoption of footpaths associated with 
development; 

    

  (5) Under Section 21 in relation to applications for construction consent for new 
roads built by a person other than the Roads Authority; 

    

Page 690



 77

  (6) Under Section 23 in relation to stopping up or temporarily closing any new 
road constructed by a person other than the Roads Authority, without 
consent or in contravention of, or in non-compliance with, a condition 
imposed by a construction consent; 

    

  (7) Under Section 31(3) in relation to the service of notices in connection with 
the drainage of public roads or proposed public roads, on the owner and 
occupier of the land affected; 

    

  (8) Under Section 35(1) and (4) and after giving notice in terms of Section 35(5) 
in relation to the provision of road lighting and related structures; 

    

  (9) Under Section 51 in relation to the authorisation and withdrawal of 
authorisation for the planting and maintenance of trees, shrubs, grass and 
other plants by a person other than the Roads Authority within the 
boundaries of a public road. 

    

  (10) Under Section 56 in relation to the authorisation of works and excavations in 
or under a public road; 

    

  (11) Under Section 57 in relation to the prevention or termination of dangerous 
works or excavations in or under a public road. 

    

  (12) Under Section 58 in relation to the granting of permission for the deposit of 
building materials on roads; 

    

  (13) Under Section 59 in relation to the control of obstructions in roads; 

    

  (14) Under Section 60 in relation to the marking, lighting and fencing of 
obstructions or roadworks and for shoring buildings requiring protection in 
similar circumstances; 

    

  (15) Under Section 61 in relation to granting permission to place and thereafter 
maintain apparatus in or under a public road; 

    

  (16) After consultation with the Chief Constable under Section 62 in relation to the 
temporary prohibition or restriction of traffic on roads for reasons of public 
safety or convenience; 

    

  (17) Under Section 63 in relation to the imposition of the requirement to construct 
new accesses across road verges or footways where appropriate; 

    

  (18) Under Section 64(2) in relation to the issue of consent to statutory 
undertakers for work on footways, footpaths or cycle tracks in connection 
with their apparatus in terms of Section 64(1)(b); 

    

  (19) Under Section 66 in relation to enforcing maintenance of vaults, arches, 
cellars, tunnels and related structures within the vicinity of a road; 

    

  (20) Under Section 67 in relation to enforcing safety provisions countering 
outward opening doors, gates, window shutters or bars interfering with the 
safety or convenience of road users; 

    

  (21) Under Section 78(2) in relation to the service of notices prior to the diversion 
of waters where necessary in connection with the construction, improvement 
or protection of a public road; 

    

Page 691



 78

  (22) Under Section 79, to negotiate terms and enter into agreements with bridge 
owners in relation to future maintenance obligations; 

    

  (23) Under Section 83 in relation to the prevention of obstruction of the view of 
road users at or near corners, bends and junctions; 

    

  (24) Under Section 85 in relation to granting permission for the location of 
Builders’ skips on roads; 

    

  (25) Under Section 86 in relation to the removal or repositioning of any Builder’s 
skip which is causing or is likely to cause, a danger or obstruction. 

    

  (26) Under Section 87 in relation to the removal from roads of unauthorised 
structures and the consequent reinstatement of the site; 

    

  (27) Under Section 88 in relation to the removal of projections interfering with safe 
or convenient passage along a road; 

    

  (28) Under Section 89 in relation to the removal of accidental obstructions from 
roads; 

    

  (29) Under Section 90 in relation to the granting of consent for fixing or placing 
over, along or across a road any overhead bridge, beam, rail, pipe, cable, 
wire or other similar apparatus; 

    

  (30) Under Section 91 in relation to the prevention of danger to road users and 
the prevention of obstructions caused by roadside vegetation, fences or 
walls; 

    
 

  (31) Under Section 92 in relation to granting consent for planting trees or shrubs 
within five metres of the edge of the made-up carriageway; 

    

  (32) Under Section 93 in relation to the protection of road users from dangers 
near a road; 

    

  (33) Under Section 94 in relation to the infill of dangerous ditches adjacent to or 
lying near a road; 

    

  (34) Under Section 99(2) in relation to the issue of consent to persons 
undertaking works or excavations necessary to ensure compliance with 
Section 99(1) (prevention of the flow of water, filth, dirt or other offensive 
matter on to the road); 

    

  (35) Under Section 99(3) in relation to the service of notices on owners or 
occupiers requiring works or excavations to be undertaken to ensure 
compliance with Section 99(1); 

    

  (36) Under Section 140 in relation to authorising persons to enter land to take any 
action or execute any work authorised or required to be taken or executed by 
the Roads Authority under the Roads (Scotland) Act 1984; 

    
 

  (37) Under Section 30 in relation to the serving of notices subject to Section 
31(3), in connection with carrying out works for protecting roads against 
hazards of nature; 

    

  (38) To exercise the functions of the Council under Section 152(2) to re-
d t i th f i f bli i ht f d

Page 692



 79

determine the means of exercise of a public right of passage over a road; 
    

  (39) To act as the “proper officer” to issue a Certificate as provided in Section 
96(1); 

    

  (40) To add and remove from the list of public roads under the Roads (Scotland) 
Act 1984. 

    

 2. To carry out the following functions of the Council in terms of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984:- 

    

  (1) Under Section 14 in relation to the temporary prohibition or restriction of 
traffic on roads; 

    

  (2) Under Section 23 in relation to pedestrian crossings on roads other than 
trunk roads; 

    

  (3) Under Section 65 in relation to the placing of traffic signs; 

    

  (4) Under Section 68 in relation to the placing of traffic signs in connection with 
the exercise of other powers of the Authority as defined in Sub-Section (1) 
thereof; 

    

  (5) Under Section 69 in relation to the removal of signs; 

    

  (6) Under Section 71(1) in relation to the power to enter land in connection with 
the placing, replacing, converting and removing of traffic signs; 

    

 3. To arrange for the advertisement of any proposal for the making, revocation, or 
variation of Orders and Schemes under  

   

   The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984;  and 

   Sections 68, 69, 70 & 71 of the Roads (Scotland) Act 1984 

  and where no objections have been received to make the order in the terms promoted 
by the Council. 

   

 4. To grant wayleaves in respect of public utilities; 

   

 5. To deal with all requests for information in connection with grant applications made 
under Section 8 of the Railways Act 1974 (Grants to assist the provision of facilities for 
freight haulage by rail); 

   

 6. To carry out the functions of the Council under the Public Utilities Street Works Act 
1950 and the New Rods & Street works Act 1991 in relation to roads for which the 
Council is responsible; 

   

 7. To exercise the functions of the Council under Section 12 of the Roads (Scotland) Act 
1984 in relation to the stopping up or diversion of highways crossing or entering routes 
of proposed new highways; 

   

 8. To agree terms for Bridge Agreements with the British Railways Board and terms of 
discharge of the Council’s liability for annual maintenance and renewal charges in that 
connection; 

   

 9. After consultation with the Chief Constable to consider and, where acceptable in road 
safety terms, approve locations for advertisements on road safety barriers and similar 

Page 693



 80

structures; 
   

 10. To make arrangements for the management of piers, harbours, car parks, jetties, 
aerodromes and landing strips etc. 

   

 11. To carry out the following functions of the Council in terms of the Coast Protection Act 
1949:- 

   

  (1) Under Section 4 to enter into an agreement with any other person for the 
carrying out by that person or the Council of any coast protection work which 
the Council have the power to carry out; 

    

  (2) Under Section 5 to arrange for the publication of notices relating to proposed 
works in local newspapers and the serving of notices on affected harbour 
authorities; 

    

  (3) Under Section 8 to arrange for the publishing of notices relating to works 
schemes and the serving of Notices on affected harbour authorities; 

    

  (4) Under Section 12 to serve notice on owners of land where protection works 
are required; 

    

  (5) Under Section 25 in relation to the authorisation of persons taking entry to land 
for the purposes specified therein; 

   

 12. To accept invitations to carry out road and footpath lighting works; 

   

 13. To enter objections on behalf of the Council to applications for Goods Vehicle 
Operators’ Licences, under Section 63 of the Transport Act 1968; 

   

 14. To carry out the functions of the Council in terms of the Strathclyde Regional Council 
Order Confirmation Act 1990 - 

   

  (i) under Section 5 in relation to the carrying out of works on public roads, 
recovery of costs thereof and the giving of assistance to the promoters of the 
Rally; 

    

  (ii) under Section 7 in relation to the removal or the arranging for the removal and 
custody of vehicles on the Rally route and the recovery of the costs of so doing 
from the owner of such vehicle;  and 

    

  (iii) under Section 6(9) in relation to requiring the promoter to stop the Rally in the 
case of emergency and to enter upon such part of a road closed for the 
purposes of the Rally with any necessary vehicles, plant and equipment for the 
purpose of exercising any of the Council’s functions in relation to the 
emergency; 

    

 15. To undertake all building maintenance work (excluding housing account work) within 
approved expenditure either by Direct Labour or by the use of maintenance 
contractors subject to the provisions of the Contract Standing Orders. 

   

 16. To inspect, assess, instruct and supervise repairs and maintenance of Council 
property.  

   

 17. To arrange for any necessary alterations or adaptations, up to a value of £25,000 on 
any one project for the purpose of realising the service potential or commercial 
potential of a property owned or leased by the Council, subject to provision being 

Page 694



 81

available within the relevant budget. 
   

 18. To arrange and provide cleaning services in Council property as required within 
approved expenditure, either by directly employed staff or by the use of contractors. 

   

 19. To arrange and provide a catering service for the relevant services of the Council 
within approved expenditure either by directly employed staff or the use of contractors. 

   

 20. To manage the parks, gardens, playing fields, open spaces and other recreational 
facilities, swimming pools and public halls provided or operated by the Council and to 
take such action as may be necessary; 

   

 21. To arrange for the letting of halls and other properties managed by her/his Service on 
behalf of the Council; 

   

 22. To manage and operate burial grounds and crematoria, and be responsible for the 
records in relation thereto and to undertake the allocation of lairs on such terms and 
conditions as may from time to time be approved by the Council: 
 

 23. To authorise such members of staff as he/she thinks fit to issue fixed penalty notices in 
terms of Section 88 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 

 24. To act as appointed officer in terms of the Dutch Elm Disease (Local Authorities) Order 
1984. 
 

 25. To exercise or to designate a suitably qualified officer to exercise the powers and 
duties of the Council and of an Inspector and authorised Officer (including powers of 
entry, inspection, sampling, seizure of goods and services, opening containers, seizure 
and initiating prosecutions, where appropriate) under the relevant legislation; 

   

 26. To authorise reports for submission to the Procurator Fiscal with a view to the initiation 
of proceedings under all relevant delegated legislation. 
 

 27. To exercise the functions of the Council under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 
as amended by the Environment Act 1995 and regulation, as they relate to the 
Statutory Obligations incumbent on the Council in respect of waste management. 
 

 28. To exercise the functions of the Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978, as amended by 
any subsequent legislation, relating to any matter referred to therein and  inter alia 
abandoned vehicles. 
 

 29. 
 

To arrange for street cleaning, the provision of public conveniences and the provision 
of a school crossing patrol service. 
 

 30. To act as, or arrange for the appointment of, a suitably qualified officer to be the 
Council’s vehicle operator and to hold a vehicle operators licence in respect of the 
Council in terms of the Goods Vehicles (Licensing of Operators) Act 1995 and any 
regulation thereunder. 
  

 31. To act as, or arrange for the appointment of, a suitably qualified officer to be the 
Council’s Oil Pollution Officer. 
 

 

Page 695



 82

 
PART D 

 
 
 

FINANCIAL & SECURITY REGULATIONS 
 

INDEX 
 
 
 

 Paragraph Page 
 

Status of Financial and Security regulations 1  

Financial Management 2  

Financial Planning 3  

 -  Revenue Budget 3.3  

 -  Capital Budget 3.8  

 -  Virement 3.14  

Risk Management 4  

Insurance 4.10  

Control of Revenues 5  

Asset Management 5.1  

Security and Protection of Property 5.18  

Treasury Management, Investments and Trusts 6  

Systems and Procedures 7  

Accounting Records  7.3  

Procurement 7.8  

Payment of Accounts 7.13  

Salaries and Wages 7.19  

Travelling and Subsistence 7.24  

Imprests 7.30  

Taxation 7.37  

Income 7.39  

Banking Arrangements and Cheques 7.48  

Internal Audit Mission Statement Appendix 1  

Anti-Fraud Strategy Appendix 2   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 696



 83

 
ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL 

 
FINANCIAL & SECURITY REGULATIONS 

 
 1 STATUS OF FINANCIAL & SECURITY REGULATIONS 

 
   

1.1 
The Financial & Security regulations provide the framework for managing the 
Council’s financial affairs.  Every Committee, Sub-Committee, Member of the 
Council, Officer and Agent of the Council to whom these Regulations apply will 
observe their provisions.  It is the duty of each Director to secure that these 
Regulations are complied with and to ensure that all employees and agents of the 
Council are made aware of the Regulations and the requirement to comply with them.
 

  
1.2 

General responsibility of staff for financial management   All members and staff 
have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to provide for the 
security of the assets under their control, and for ensuring that the use of 

these resources is legal, is properly authorised, provides value for money and 
achieves best value. 

 
  

1.3 
The Head of Strategic Finance will, for the purposes of Section 95 of the Local 
Government (Scotland) Act 1973, be the Proper Officer, under the general direction 
of the Council and the Chief Executive, for the proper administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs. 
 

  
1.4 

 The Head of Strategic Finance is responsible in consultation with the Director of 
Corporate Services  for maintaining a continuous review of the financial regulations 
and  any alterations proposed  shall be dealt with in accordance with Standing Order 
27.2  . The Director of Corporate Services and the Head of Strategic Finance are also 
responsible for reporting, where appropriate, breaches of the financial regulations to 
the  Strategic Policy Committee. 
 

  
1.5 

In addition to what is set out in these Regulations, the Head of Strategic Finance may 
from time to time issue financial instructions to amplify or clarify these Regulations.  
Other Directors may also from time to time issue financial instructions relating to the 
functions and operation of their Service, following consultation with the Head of 
Strategic Finance. 
 

2. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 

 2.1 Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running of 
the Council’s, including the policy framework and budget. 

 
 

  Full Council 
 

 2.2 The full council is responsible for adopting the Council’s constitution  and for 
approving the budget. It is also responsible for approving  the Council’s overall 
framework of accountability and control.  The framework is set out in its constitution.   
 

   

Page 697



 84

 Strategic Policy Committee 
 

 2.3 The Strategic Policy Committee will be responsible for regulating and controlling the 
finances of the Council to comply with these Regulations.  The Committee will keep 
under review the state of the Council’s finances generally.   
 

 2.4 The Strategic Policy Committee will be responsible for determining and monitoring 
the policy and resource framework for the future development of Council policies and 
programmes and may provide any Committee, Sub-Committee, Member of the 
Council, of Officer (whether individually or collectively) with such guidance as may be 
considered appropriate on the priorities to be followed in the preparation of service 
plans generally as well as the estimates of revenue and capital expenditure. 
 

  Other Committees 
 

 2.5 Audit Committee - The role of the Audit Committee is to provide assistance to the 
Council in monitoring compliance with the Council’s overall framework of 

accountability  and internal control. The Committee also provides an independent 
oversight on  audit matters.   

 
  Key Officers 

 
 2.6 Chief Executive – The Chief Executive is responsible for the corporate and overall 

strategic management of the Council as a whole.  He or she  will report to and 
provide information  to the Strategic Policy Committee, the full council, and other 

committees.  He or she is responsible for establishing a framework for management 
direction, style and standards and for monitoring the performance of the organisation.   
 
 

 2.7 Head of Strategic Finance – The Head of Strategic Finance has statutory duties in 
relation to the financial administration and stewardship of the authority under the 

Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.  The Head of Strategic Finance is 
responsible for the proper administration of the authority’s financial affairs and setting 
and monitoring compliance with financial management standards and is the Council’s 

proper officer in terms of Section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.  
 

 2.8 Monitoring Officer – the Director of Corporate Services is the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer  in terms of Section 5 of the Local Government And Housing Act 1989 he/she 
is responsible for the Council’s Strategic Risk Management, maintaining a system of 
record keeping in relation to all Council decisions and monitoring compliance with the 

Council’s Governance and Ethical Framework. 
 

 2.9 Other Directors – The other directors are responsible for: 
 

• Ensuring that the council is  advised of the financial implications of all 
proposals and that the   Head of Strategic Finance has been consulted on all 
such proposals. 

 

   

 
  Before any Director submits a report to a Committee she/he will consult the Head of 

Strategic Finance on any financial aspects of the report that are liable materially to 
affect the finances of the Council. 
 
 

Page 698



 85

 
3. FINANCIAL PLANNING  

 
 3.1 The full council is responsible for agreeing the Council’s policy framework and 

budget. In terms of financial planning, the key elements are: 
•  The Community Plan 
• The corporate plan – (including area plans) 
• Service plans 
• The revenue budget 
• The capital programme 
 

In support of local decision  making in a manner that is publicly acceptable regard 
must be taken of the CIPFA Prudential Code for capital finance in local authorities.  
The key objectives are to ensure that capital investment plans are affordable, prudent 
and sustainable; that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with 
good professional practice and is supported by local asset management planning 
and proper option appraisal 
 
The Code sets out minimum prudential indicators which must be used and factors 
that must be taken into account. 
The inclusion of items in approved revenue or capital budgets will constitute authority 
to a relevant Director, as appropriate, in terms of the Scheme of Delegation or 
Contract Standing Orders, to incur that expenditure. 
 

  Revenue Budget 
 3.3 The Head of Strategic Finance will report to the Strategic Policy Committee on the 

level of financial resources likely to be available in each financial year and will keep 
the Committee informed about the Council’s overall finances and financial 
performance, and Directors will provide such information as is required to the Head of 
Strategic Finance. 
 

 3.4 In each financial year the Strategic Policy Committee will from time to time consider 
detailed procedural arrangements for the preparation of the Revenue Budget.  The 
detailed form of Revenue Estimates and the programme for their preparation will be 
determined by the Head of Strategic Finance.  
  

 3.5 Each Director will submit to the Head of Strategic Finance programmes of Revenue 
Expenditure and Income for the next and future financial years and these should 
reflect the  framework referred to in para4.1 above . 
 

 3.6 Detailed estimates of Revenue expenditure for the next and future financial years will 
be prepared within the guidelines and in accordance with the procedural 
arrangements approved from time to time in terms of paragraphs 4.3 and 4.4 above. 
 

 3.7 The draft Revenue Estimates will be considered by the Strategic Policy Committee 
and then by the Council, together with such recommendations as may be made by 
the Strategic Policy Committee (including any recommendations about the fixing of 
the Council Tax and Rates, and Council House Rents), for the next financial year at a 
meeting to be held not later than the date prescribed by law.  The Council, after 
considering any recommendations by the Strategic Policy Committee, will revise the 

Page 699



 86

estimates as they consider appropriate, approve them on that basis, authorise the 
expenditure, determine the Council Tax and Rates to be levied, determine the level of 
Council House Rents, and pass any other resolutions which may be required. 
 

  Capital Budget 
 

 3.8 The Head of Strategic Finance will report to the Strategic Policy Committee on the 
level of financial resources likely to be available to support the capital budget in each 
financial year and will keep the Committee informed about the overall financial 
position on the capital budget. 
   

 3.9 In each financial year the Strategic Policy Committee will from time to time consider 
procedural arrangement for the preparation of the capital budget.  The detailed form 
of the capital budget and the programme for preparation will be determined by the 
Head of Strategic Finance. 
  

 3.5 The draft Capital Estimates will be considered by the Strategic Policy Committee and 
then by the Council, together with any recommendations that may be made by the 
Strategic Policy Committee. After considering any recommendations, the Council will 
revise the estimates as they consider appropriate, approve them on that basis, 
authorise (subject to the requirement to obtain any necessary Government authority) 
the expenditure and pass any other resolutions that may be required. 
 

  Budget Monitoring and Control 

 3.11 Each Director will monitor and control expenditure within the financial allocation 
provided in the Revenue and Capital Budgets. 
 

 3.12 The Head of Strategic Finance will provide Directors with access to the Corporate 
Financial Information Systems and will provide statements of income and expenditure 
on a regular basis to Directors. 
 

 3.13 Where it is forecast that the total income or expenditure for a Service or a capital 
project is likely to vary significantly from the approved financial allocation, the 
relevant Director, after consultation with the Head of Strategic Finance,  will inform 
the Strategic Policy Committee.  He or she  will also take any action necessary to 
avoid exceeding the budget allocation for a service or a capital project.   
 

  Virement –  

 3.14 Virement is the process of transferring budget between  cost centres, services or 
departments or between capital projects.     
 

 3.15 Virement in the Revenue Budget arises at a number of levels:- 
 

i) Between cost centres within a head of service. 
ii)   Between heads of service within a department. 
ii) Between departments 
d)  

Virement may be exercised as outlined below, provided some or all of the following 
apply as detailed below – 
  

  (a) the Head of Strategic Finance has been notified in advance; 

Page 700



 87

  (b) the virement does not create an additional financial commitment into the 
following financial year; 

  (c) there has been advance consultation with the Chairman and/or Vice 
Chairman of the Strategic Policy Committee and the Spokesperson 

    s  
 

  Virement between cost centres can be approved by the Head of Service up to a level 
of £25,000.  Virement above this level requires approval of the relevant Director and 
compliance with (a) and (b) immediately above   
 
Virement between services must  be approved by the Director up to a level of 
£100,000 together with compliance with (a) and (b) immediately above .   
 
Virement between services or Departments from £100,000 to a level of £200,000 
must be approved by the Director or Directors together with compliance with 
paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) immediately above.  
 
 Virement above £200,000 requires approval of the Strategic Policy Committee. 
 
 

 3.16 Virement in the Capital Budget arises at the following levels – 
 

    
   (a) Between projects within a service 
   (b) Between services within a department 
   (c) Between departments 

 
      Virement between projects within a service can be approved by the Director up to 

level of  £200,000. 
 

  A Director may exercise virement  within the Departmental Capital Budget, provided - 
 

  (a) the Head of Strategic Finance has been notified in advance; 
 

  (b) there has been advance consultation with the Chairman and/or Vice 
Chairman of the Strategic Policy Committee and the appropriate 
Spokesperson; 
 

  (c) the virement arises  from a need to ensure the continuation or completion of 
a project already begun within the capital programme. or l  the virement is to 
or in respect of a project within the approved Departmental Capital 
Programme; 

     
 

   
(d) 

the amount of any individual virement does not exceed £200,000, otherwise 
the proposed virement will be reported to the Strategic Policy Committee . 
 

    

Page 701



 88

 3.17 A Director of Service may exercise virement in either the Service Revenue or Capital 
Budget to meet any immediate need created by a sudden emergency subject to 
advising the Chief Executive and the Chairman and/or Vice Chairman of the 
Strategic Policy Committee and relevant spokesperson of the action taken and to 
reporting to the Committee as soon as possible in respect of items which otherwise 
need to be reported in terms of these Regulations. 
 

 3.18 Where there is a proposal to forego income or to incur revenue or capital expenditure 
for which there is no budgetary provision, and it is not proposed to meet that 
expenditure by virement, the proposal will be considered by the Strategic Policy 
Committee which will make a recommendation to the Council. 
 

4. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 

 4.1 The full council is responsible for approving the Council’s risk management policy 
and strategy and for reviewing the effectiveness of risk management.  The Director of 
Corporate Services is responsible for ensuring that proper insurance exists where 
appropriate.   
 

 4.2 The Director of Corporate Services is responsible for preparing the Council’s risk 
management policy, for promoting it throughout the Council and for advising the 
council on proper insurance cover where appropriate. 
 

  Internal Control 
 

 4.3 Internal Control refers to the systems of control devised by management to help 
ensure the Council’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes economical, 
efficient and effective use of resources and that the Council’s assets and interests 
are safeguarded. 
 

 4.4 The Head of Strategic Finance is responsible for advising on effective systems of 
internal control.  These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all applicable 
statutes and regulations, and other relevant statements of best practice.  They 
should ensure that public funds are properly safeguarded and used economically, 
efficiently and in accordance with the statutory and other authorities that govern their 
use. 
 

 4.5 It is the responsibility of directors to establish sound arrangements for planning, 
appraising, authorising and controlling their operations in order to achieve continuous 
improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness and for achieving financial 
performance targets.  
 

  Audit Requirements -  

 4.6 The Head of Strategic Finance will arrange to secure that there is conducted a 
continuous and effective internal audit of the accounting, financial and other 
operations of the Council and, in doing so, those conducting that audit will not be 
subject to the control or direction of any person, and, in addition to reporting as 
otherwise required by the Council’s Codes of Practice to the Chief Executive, the 
Head of Strategic Finance or the Director of Corporate Services, a report may be 
submitted to the Audit Committee, which Committee may give such advice and 
guidance as it may consider appropriate within its Terms of Reference. 
 
 

Page 702



 89

 4.7 The Head of Strategic Finance will prepare and the Audit Committee will endorse  
terms of reference for internal audit.  Internal audit will operate within the current 
terms of reference which are attached at Appendix 1; 
 

 4.8 The Head of Strategic Finance or a person authorised by her/him has   authority on 
production of identification, to - 
 

  (a) enter at all reasonable time any Council premises or land: 
 

  (b) have access to all records, documents and correspondence including any 
data held on computer storage media, which relate to the operation, 
administration and financial transactions of the Council: 
 

  (c) require and receive such explanations, from any Member, employee, agent 
or other person, which are considered necessary concerning any matter 
under examination; 
 

  (d) require any Member, employee or agent of the Council to produce cash, 
stores or any other Council property under their control or to which they have 
access. 
 

 4.9 Directors are required immediately to notify the Director of Corporate Services, as 
Monitoring Officer, and the Head of Strategic Finance of all financial irregularities or 
of any circumstances that may suggest the possibility of irregularity, including those 
affecting cash, stores, contracts or property.  The Director of Corporate Services in 
consultation with the Head of Strategic Finance will take whatever steps she/he may 
consider necessary to investigate and will immediately inform the Chief Executive   in 
all cases where it appears that there may be a crime or offence involved.  The 
decision as to reporting any matter to the police will  be made in accordance with the 
Council’s Ant-fraud Strategy, which is attached at appendix 2. 
 

  Insurance 

 4.10 
 

The Director of Corporate Services will effect all insurance cover, negotiate and 
settle all claims in consultation with the Head of Strategic Finance and other 
Directors as necessary. 
 

 4.11 
 

Directors will provide prompt notification to the Director of Corporate Services of all 
new or increased risks, property, vehicles, equipment and other assets which require 
to be insured and of any alterations affecting existing insurance. 
 

 4.12 Directors will advise the Director of Corporate Services  of any activities within their 
Service remit which might result in any person or body having a claim against the 
Council, and where the risk of such an event could be covered by insurance. 
 

 4.13 Directors will notify immediately the Director of Corporate Services in writing of any 
loss, liability or damage or any event likely to lead to a claim, and will inform the 
police where there is a legal liability to do so, or where, after consulting the Director 
of Corporate Services, they have been advised to do so.  In the case of incidents 

Page 703



 90

involving any vehicle the appropriate Director will also notify the Director of 
Operational Services. 
 

 4.14 The Chief Executive will be informed of all cases involving personal injury to any 
Member, employee, agent or other person on Council premises, or associated with 
the activities of the Council. 
 

 4.15 All appropriate employees of the Council will be included in a suitable fidelity 
guarantee insurance. 
 

 4.16 The Director of Corporate Services will annually at least review all insurances in 
consultation with other Directors as appropriate. 
 

 4.17 Directors will consult the Director of Corporate Services regarding the terms of any 
indemnity which the Council is requested to give, or which the Council may require 
from any other party. 
 

  Preventing Fraud and Corruption  
 

 4.18 The Director of Corporate Services is responsible for the development and 
maintenance of an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy. 
 
 
 

5. CONTROL OF RESOURCES 
 

  Asset Management 

 5.1 The Director of Development Services is responsible for the development and review 
of an asset management strategy.  
 

 5.2 The Director of Development Services will establish arrangements for preparation and 
review of asset management plans.  This will include the development of an approach 
to options appraisal.  He/she will     review asset management plans prepared by 
Services, and co-ordinate these into an overall Council Asset Management Plan. 
 

 5.3 Inventories will be maintained on a continuous basis by all Services and these will 
contain an accurate description of furniture, fittings and equipment, plant and 
machinery.  The extent to which property of the Council will be recorded and the form 
in which inventories will be kept will be determined by the appropriate Director in 
consultation with the Head of Strategic Finance. 
 

 5.4 Each Director will be responsible for maintaining a minimum annual check of all items 
on the inventory, taking appropriate action in relation to surpluses or deficiencies and 
noting the inventory accordingly. 
 

 5.5 The Council’s property will not be removed otherwise than in accordance with the 
ordinary course of the Council’s business or used otherwise than for the Council’s 
purposes except in accordance with specific directions issued by the Director 
concerned from time to time. 
 

 5.6 Equipment, Stocks & Stores - The care, custody and level of equipment and stock in 
any Service will be the responsibility of the Director of the Service concerned who will 

Page 704



 91

ensure that - 
 

  (a) Adequate arrangements have been made for the proper and secure storage 
of all equipment and stock; 
 

  (b) Stock levels are maintained at the minimum level sufficient to meet the 
operational requirements of the Service; 
 

  (c) All equipment and stock received, issued, or otherwise disposed of are 
accounted for; 

  (d) All stocks are checked a minimum of once a year in accordance with 
arrangements approved by the Head of Strategic Finance. 
 

 5.7 Any deficiencies found on stock taking or at any other time must be investigated by 
the relevant Director and reported to the Head of Strategic Finance who may take 
whatever action she/he considers appropriate including reporting to the appropriate 
Committee, and may write off losses of stock where she/he considers there are good 
and sufficient reasons for doing so. 
 

 5.8  Redundant and surplus stocks and items of equipment will be disposed of by 
competitive tender under arrangements approved by the Head of Strategic Finance, 
except where the Director concerned certifies that the income likely to accrue from the 
disposal is less than £5,000, in which case the Director concerned may dispose of the 
surplus so as to ensure that any reasonable value which the stock may have may be 
realised. 
 

 5.9 Vehicles, Plant & Equipment - Each Director will be responsible for the operation and 
control of all vehicles, (including mobile plant and equipment) in use within the 
Service, whether owned, leased, or hired by, or otherwise in the custody or control of 
the Council. 
 

 5.10 The Director of Operational Services will have overall responsibility for ensuring that 
all vehicles are maintained in a satisfactory state of repair, and will take whatever 
appropriate steps are necessary by way of action or advice to ensure that all legal and 
safety requirements in respect of their operation are complied with. 
 

 5.11 All vehicles and mobile plant and equipment will be used only for the purposes of the 
Council, and by such persons and under such arrangements as the appropriate 
Director will approve from time to time. 
 

 5.12 No employee may take a vehicle home unless officially rostered for stand-by duty and 
the vehicle is required for the performance of that duty, or the prior permission of the 
Director concerned has been granted, which permission will only be given if the use of 
the vehicle is required for, or arising from, the conduct of Council business.  The 
unofficial or unauthorised use of a vehicle, including the carrying of unauthorised 
passengers, is prohibited. 
 

 5.13 If any vehicle is involved in an accident, whether or not there is injury to any person or 

Page 705



 92

damage to any other vehicle or property, the person in charge of the vehicle at the 
time of the accident will, in addition to any other requirement of law, not later than the 
end of the current work period, or earlier if the nature of the accident so warrants, 
inform the Director of Service concerned and will complete an accident report which 
will be forwarded immediately to the Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 5.14 All use of vehicles will be recorded in such forms or log books as the Director of 
Operational Services in consultation with the appropriate Director, may agree. 
 

 5.15 All vehicles surplus to the requirements of the Council will be disposed of by 
competitive tender under arrangements approved by the Director of Operational 
Services. 
 

 5.16  Heritable Property - The Director of Development Services will maintain an asset 
register of all heritable properties owned or leased by the Council recording the 
holding Service, purpose for which held, location, extent and plan reference, purchase 
details, valuation, particulars or nature of interest, rents payable and particulars of any 
tenancies granted. 
 

 5.17 The Director of Corporate Services will have custody of all title deeds and other leases 
and agreements in respect of all heritable properties owned or leased by the Council. 
 

  Security & Protection of Private Property 

 5.18 Each Director is responsible for maintaining proper security at all times of all 
buildings, stocks, stores, furniture, equipment and cash under their control.  The 
Director of Operational Services will be consulted in any case where security is 
thought to be defective or inadequate, or that special security arrangements may be 
required. 
 

 5.19 Each Director will advise the Head of Strategic Finance of all circumstances within the 
Service where cash is held or is otherwise under the control of employees of the 
Council, and will ensure that all amounts of cash so held or controlled do not exceed 
amounts which may be agreed with the Head of Strategic Finance.   
 

 5.20 Keys to safes and similar receptacles containing cash or valuable documents or 
articles will be carried on the person of those responsible or be kept secure 
otherwise.  The Director concerned will in each case determine the person 
responsible or approve the arrangements for keeping keys secure.  A register of all 
key holders will be kept in each Service and the loss of any keys will be reported 
immediately to the Head of Service  concerned. 
 

 5.21 All employees who may be required to receive or hold cash or property on behalf of 
the Council, or who may be required or likely in the course of their normal duties to 
enter private property or otherwise confirm their identity and such other employees as 
a Director may direct, will be given an identity card bearing a photograph of the 
holder, and must produce the card to any person having reasonable grounds to know 
the identity of the holder. 
 

Page 706



 93

 5.22 The relevant Director of Service as appropriate will be responsible for ensuring that 
proper privacy and security is maintained in respect of information held in any 
medium including on any computer storage medium, and the requirements of the 
Data Protection Act 1998 and The Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 and 
any other relevant legislation are complied with. 
 

 5.23 Each Director will ensure that the information held in any medium and the use to 
which that information is put is confined solely to the purposes of the Council and in 
compliance with Data Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information (Scotland) 
Act 2002 and any other relevant legislation and no person will communicate any 
information so held to any other person except where the information is being 
communicated for the purposes of the Council and where the person receiving the 
information is entitled to receive it. 
 

 5.24 In each case where it is known that the Council assumes a legal responsibility to 
prevent or mitigate loss of or damage to moveable private property, the Director 
concerned will ensure that arrangements exist so that in each case an itemised 
inventory will be prepared in the presence of two officers. 
 

 5.25 Any valuable such as jewellery, cash or documents will be deposited for safe custody 
in accordance with arrangements approved by the Head of Strategic Finance. 
 

 5.26 Any person who, by virtue of employment with the Council, is responsible for the 
custody or management of cash or property belonging to a third party will, in so doing, 
employ standards of stewardship no less than those laid down in these Regulations 
and elsewhere for cash and property belonging to the Council. 
 

 5.27 Any employee will, if required by the Head of Strategic Finance or the relevant 
Director concerned provide immediately a full and proper account of all cash and 
property received from, or on behalf of, a third party, and will, if so directed by the 
Director transmit that cash or property to any other specified person. 
 

6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT, INVESTMENTS AND TRUSTS 
 

 6.1 The Strategic Policy Committee will have responsibility for the overall investment of 
money under the control of the Council.  All investments of money under the control 
of the Council will be made in the name of the Council or in the name of nominees 
approved by the Strategic Policy Committee; Bearer Securities will be excepted from 
this regulation but any purchase of such securities will be reported to the Committee. 
 

 6.2 All heritable securities which are the property of, or in the name of the Council or its 
nominees and the title deeds of all property in the ownership of the Council will be 
held in the custody of the Director of Corporate Services. 
 
 

 6.3 The Council will comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Prudential Borrowing.  
The Council will approve on an annual basis a set of prudential code indicators.  The 
Head of Strategic Finance will keep these under review and report any exceptions in 

Page 707



 94

the first instance to the Strategic Policy Committee and thereafter to the Council.  
 

  The Strategic Policy Committee will keep under review the level of borrowing. 
 

 6.4 All borrowing and lending will be effected in the name of the Council and will be in 
accordance with the CIPFA Code of Treasury Management.    The Council will 
approve from time to time a Treasury Policy Statement.  The Strategic Policy 
Committee will approve, annually, a Treasury Management Strategy.  
Implementation  and monitoring of its Treasury Management Policies and Practices 
will be the responsibility of the  Strategic Policy Committee.  The  execution and 
administration of Treasury Management decisions will be the responsibility of  the 
Head of Strategic Finance, who will act in accordance with the Council’s Policy 
Statement and Treasury Management Practices and CIPFA’s Standard of 
Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 
 

 6.5 All funds in the hands of the Council will be aggregated for the purposes of Treasury 
management as defined in the CIPFA Code and will be under the control of the Head 
of Strategic Finance. 
 

 6.6 All executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing will be delegated to the 
Head of Strategic Finance and/or other officers designated by her/him, who will all be 
required to act in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities. 
 

 6.7 A Treasury Policy Statement will be adopted by the Council, and Treasury 
Management Strategy will be the overall responsibility of the Strategic Policy 
Committee. 
 

 6.8 The Head of Strategic Finance will present to the Strategic Policy Committee an 
Annual Report and such other reports on the Treasury Management Operation and 
on the exercise of delegated treasury management powers. 
 

 6.9 The Head of Strategic Finance will be the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and 
mortgages granted by the Council and will maintain records of all borrowing of 
money by the Council. 
 

 6.10 All trust funds administered by Members and/or officers acting as trustees by virtue 
of their official position will wherever possible be in the name of the Council.  Except 
as provided in regulation 16.2 all office bearers acting as trustees by virtue of their 
official position will deposit all securities etc. relating to the trust with the Head of 
Strategic Finance unless the trust deed provides otherwise. 
 
 

7. SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
 

 7.1 The Council shall ensure that there are in place sound systems and procedures and 
an effective framework of accountability and control. 
 

Page 708



 95

 7.2 Directors  will ensure that a proper scheme of delegation has been established 
within their department  and is operating effectively.  The scheme of delegation 
should identify staff authorised to act on the directors’ behalf in respect of payments, 
income collection and placing orders together with the limits of their authority.   
 

  Accounting Records 

 7.3 The Head of Strategic Finance will consult other Directors about the procedures and 
records to be maintained in each Service.  All accounting procedures and all 
accounting and related records of the Council will be decided by the Head of 
Strategic Finance. 
 

 7.4 All accounts and accounting records of the Council will be compiled by or under the 
direction of the Head of Strategic Finance. 
 

 7.5 Directors should ensure that all accounting records and other documentation are 
held for the periods as required by statute or as advised by the Head of Strategic 
Finance. 
 

 7.6 The following principles will be observed - 
 

  (a) the duties of providing information about sums due to or by the Council and 
of calculating, checking and recording these, will be separated as completely 
as possible from the duty of collecting or disbursing them. 
 

  (b) officers charged with the duty of examining and checking the accounts of 
transactions will not so far as possible themselves be involved in  managing 
these accounts. 
 

 7.7 Directors should ensure that their staff receive relevant financial training that has 
been approved by the Head of Strategic Finance. 
 

  Procurement    

  The Council’s Procurement Strategy is attached at Appendix 1 to the Contract 
Standing Orders at Part E of the Constitution.  All procurement will be in terms of 
that strategy together with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders. 

 7.8 Official orders will be in a form approved by the Head of Strategic Finance in 
consultation with the Head of ICT and Financial Services     Each Director will 
ensure that proper procedures exist for the custody, control and authorisation of 
official order forms.  
 

 7.9 Official orders will be issued for all work, goods or services to be supplied to the 
Council except - 
 

  (a) work, goods or services which are covered by a prior written agreement or 
contract which prescribes that payment will be made at certain intervals or 
under certain conditions; 
 

  (b) specified categories of goods or services which may be purchased in 
accordance with and subject to the terms of any scheme approved by the 

Page 709



 96

Council involving an agreement with any bank to extend credit to the Council 
for such purchases by way of corporate credit cards; 
 

  (c) the metered element of utility services, but not the installation, alteration or 
repair of such services; 
 

  (d) periodic payments such as rates or water and sewerage charges; 
 

  (e) purchases in cash for which reimbursement is made through an imprest 
account; 
 

  (f) where the specific approval of the Head of  ICT and Financial Services has 
been obtained; 
 

  (g) in an emergency, an oral order may be given under arrangements approved 
from time to time by each Director but will be confirmed in writing 
immediately thereafter. 
 

  (h) where training courses, seminars or conferences are being booked the order 
form supplied by the Company organising/running the event may be used. 
 

 7.10 All orders will, by way of authorisation, either - 
 

  (a) be signed by the appropriate Director or by a person designated by the 
Director to do so, and the names and specimen signatures of such 
persons will, if so required on any occasion, be supplied to the Head of 
ICT and Financial Services;  or 
 

  (b) Be issued electronically through an eProcurement system by a person 
designated by the appropriate Director, and where the names of such 
persons and authorisation limits have been notified to the Head of ICT 
and Financial Services. or 
 

  ( c) Be issued utilising a corporate credit card to a person designated by the 
appropriate Director. 
 

   
(d) 

under such other arrangements as may be approved by the Head of ICT 
and Financial Services. 
 

 7.11 The person authorising any order will ensure that the expenditure to be incurred is 
legal, that funds have been provided in the budget to cover the expenditure, and that 
the order indicates clearly the nature and quantity of goods or services to be 
supplied, and any contract or agreed price. 
 

 7.12 A copy of any order form will, if so required on any occasion, be supplied to the 
Head of ICT and Financial Services. 
 

  Payment of Accounts 

 7.13 All payments of money due from the Council (except interest payments under 

Page 710



 97

Regulation 8.30) will be by cheque or other instrument drawn on, or by the 
automated transfer of funds from, the Council’s main bank accounts. 
 

 7.14 A Director issuing an order is responsible (except as otherwise specifically arranged 
with the Head of ICT and Financial Services  for examining, verifying and certifying 
the related invoice(s) and similarly for any other payments generated within the 
Service which may not be supported by an invoice or voucher from a third party.  
Such certification will be a signature by or on behalf of the Director.  The names of 
the officers authorised to sign such records will be sent to the Head of ICT and 
Financial Services by each Director together with specimen signatures, and will be 
amended on the occasion of any change.  
 
Where an order has been issued electronically through an eProcurement system 
and been authorised by a person nominated by the relevant Director, invoices 
should be sent directly by the supplier to the Head of ICT and Financial Services.  
Provided delivery of the order has been receipted and the invoice has been matched 
to the receipts order for price and quantity by a person nominated by the relevant 
Director,   no further certification is necessary prior to payment of that invoice by the 
Head of ICT and Financial Services. 
  

 7.15 Before certifying an invoice or other payment document, the certifying officer will 
(except to the extent that the Head of ICT and Financial Services may otherwise 
determine) be satisfied that - 
 

  (a) the work, goods or services to which the invoice relates have been received, 
carried out, examined and approved: 
 

  (b) the prices, extensions, calculations, discounts, other allowances, credits, and 
VAT and other taxes are correct: 
 

  (c) the relevant expenditure has been properly incurred: 
 

  (d) appropriate entries have been made in inventories, stores records or stock 
books as required: 
 

  (e) the invoice has not previously been passed for payment: 
 

  (f) the invoice is in the name of the Council or an integral part of it: 
 

  (g) the charge is a proper liability of the Council 
 

  (h) any guidance issued by the Head of  Strategic Finance or the Head of ICT 
and Financial Services has been complied with. 
 

 7.16 Where contracts stipulate that payment must be made against a consolidated 
statement, certifying officers may approve such statements where they are not 
satisfied that all the provisions of paragraph 8.15  are fulfilled provided that they 
immediately invoke contract procedures for the rectification of those charges, such 
rectification to be included on a subsequent statement. 

Page 711



 98

 
 7.17 Duly certified invoices will be passed without delay to the Head of ICT and Financial 

Services for payment and may be examined to the extent that she/he considers 
necessary.  The Head of ICT and Financial Services will be entitled to make such 
enquiries and to receive such information and explanations as she/he may require. 
 

 7.18 Every Director will as soon as possible after 31 March notify the Head of Strategic 
Finance, by a date which may be specified each year, of all significant outstanding 
expenditure relating to the previous financial year. 
 
 

   
Salaries and Wages 

 7.19 Each Director will keep the records and information about salaries, wages and other 
emoluments as the Head of Strategic Finance   may require, and will be responsible 
for the accuracy and authenticity of that information. 
 

 7.20 The payment of all salaries, wages, pensions, compensations and other emoluments 
to all employees or former employees of the Council and all other payments made to 
employees as a consequence of their employment by the Council will be made 
under arrangements made by the Head of ICT and Financial Services. and approved 
by the Head of Strategic Finance  
 

 7.21 Each Director will notify the Head of ICT and Financial Services as soon as possible 
of all matters affecting the payment of emoluments, and in particular - 
 

  (a) appointments, including temporary and casual appointments, resignations, 
dismissals, suspensions, secondments and transfers; 
 

  (b) absences from duty for sickness or other reason, apart from approved annual 
and other leave which has no effect on wages or other emoluments; 
 

  (c) changes in remuneration, other than normal increments and pay awards and 
agreements of general application; 
 

  (d) information necessary to maintain records of service for superannuation, 
income tax, national insurance and the like. 
 

 7.22 The Chief Executive, Head of Strategic Finance and the Head of ICT and Financial 
Services, as appropriate, will keep all Directors informed about changes in 
conditions of service, superannuation benefits and regulations and other similar 
matters. 
 

 7.23 All time sheets, expense claims and other documents which form the basis of a 
payment to an employee of the Council will be in a form agreed with the Head of ICT 
and Financial Services.  The names of officers authorised to sign these documents 
will be sent to the Head of ICT and Financial Services by each Director together with 
specimen signatures and will be amended on the occasion of any change. 

Page 712



 99

 
  Travelling and Subsistence  

 7.24 All claims for payment of car allowances, subsistence allowances, travelling and 
incidental expenses will be submitted to the Head of ICT and Financial Services, 
certified in an approved form, and made up to a specified day each month.  The 
names of officers authorised to sign these documents will be sent to the Head of ICT 
and Financial Services by each Director together with specimen signatures and will 
be amended on the occasion of any change.  All claims by a Director will be certified 
by the Head of Strategic Finance and any claim by him will be certified by the Chief 
Executive.  All claims by the Chief Executive shall be certified by the Internal Audit 
Manager 
 

 7.25 Certification by or on behalf of a Director will be taken to mean that the certifying 
officer is satisfied that the journeys were authorised, the expenses properly and 
necessarily incurred and that the allowances are properly payable by the Council. 
 

 7.26 Employees claims submitted more than six months after the expenses were incurred 
will be paid only with the express approval of the relevant  Director. 
 

 7.27 Employees and Members using their own cars for official journeys are responsible 
for ensuring that motor insurance is in place that is appropriate for the use of the 
vehicle on Council business. 
 

 7.28 Payments of Allowances etc to Members of the Council,   will be made by the Head 
of ICT and Financial Services or under arrangements approved by the Head of ICT 
and Financial Services. 
 

 7.29 Payments to Members of the Children’s Panel, the Children’s Panel Advisory 
Committee, to Safeguarders and to such other persons who from time to time are 
co-opted or required to attend as members of Committees, Sub-Committees, Panels 
or Policy Development Groups established by the Council, who are entitled to claim 
travelling or other allowances or expenses will be made by the Head of ICT and 
Financial Services or under arrangements approved by the Head of Strategic 
Finance, following submission of claims by those making the claim to the Director of 
Corporate Services in the first instance. 
 

  Imprests 

 7.30 The Head of ICT and Financial Services  will provide such imprests as may be 
appropriate for Officers of the Council who may need them for the purposes of 
defraying petty cash and other expenses. 
 

 7.31 Where appropriate, the Head of Strategic Finance will open a bank account for use 
by the imprest holder who will not overdraw that account.  Bank accounts will be 
opened only by the  Head of Strategic Finance, or under arrangements approved by 
the   Head of Strategic Finance. 
 

 7.32 Subject to the approval of the  Head of ICT and Financial Services, other Directors 
may make arrangements for minor items of expenditure to be paid from imprest 

Page 713



 100

accounts.  Payments will be supported by receipted vouchers whenever possible. 
  

 7.33 No income received on behalf of the Council may be paid into an imprest account 
but must be banked or paid to the Council as approved elsewhere in these 
regulations. 
 

 7.34 An Officer responsible for an imprest will, when requested, provide the Head of 
Strategic Finance, and the Head of ICT and Financial Services  with a certificate as 
to the state of the imprest. 
 

 7.35 Officers will be personally responsible for imprests which they hold and on leaving 
the employment of the Council or otherwise ceasing to be entitled to hold an imprest, 
they will account to the Head of ICT and Financial Services for the amount 
advanced.  A formal record of this accounting will be retained in the Service 
concerned for inspection. 
 

 7.36 All imprest accounts will be maintained in accordance with guidance issued by the 
Head of  ICT and Financial Services in consultation with the Head of Strategic 
Finance.     
 

  Taxation 
 

 7.37 The Head of Strategic Finance is responsible for advising directors, in the light of 
guidance issued by appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it applies, on all 
taxation issues that affect the Council. 
 

 7.38 The Head of Strategic Finance is responsible for ensuring arrangements are in place 
to maintain the Council’s tax records, make all tax payments, receive tax credits and 
submit tax returns by their due date as appropriate. 

   
Income 

 7.39 At least once a year, each Director will, in consultation with the Head of Strategic 
Finance, review scales of charges relating to their Service including the means of 
increasing income and marketing the services. 
 

 7.40 Each Director will notify the Head of ICT and Financial Services  of all money due to 
the Council and of contracts, leases and other agreements and arrangements which 
involve the receipt of money by the Council. 
 

 7.41 Except as otherwise agreed with the Head of Strategic Finance   the appropriate 
Director will, in respect of matters for which there is a legal or administrative 
responsibility, render accounts for all work done, goods supplied, services provided, 
and all other amounts due, such accounts to be rendered in terms of guidance which 
may be issued by the Head of  Strategic Finance    
 

 7.42 All receipt forms, books and other forms of accountable stationary used to record 
financial and related transactions will be in a form approved by the Head of Strategic 
Finance and will be ordered, controlled and issued by, or under arrangements 
approved by, the Head of Srategic Finance  
 

Page 714



 101

 7.43 No Officer will give a receipt for money received on behalf of the Council on any 
form other than an official receipt provided or approved by the Head of ICT and 
Financial Services.  This regulation will not apply to the Director of Corporate 
Services for money received and for which a receipt is contained in a document 
issued by the Director of Corporate Services. The Director of Corporate Services 
will, however, advise the Head of ICT and Financial Services of the issue of the 
document and the sum of money received. 
 

 7.44 All money received by an Officer on behalf of the Council will without unreasonable 
delay be paid to the Head of ICT and Financial Services or, as the Director may 
arrange, to the Council’s bank accounts.  No deduction may be made from such 
money save to the extent that the Head of  ICT and Financial Services may 
specifically authorise. 
 

 7.45 Personal cheques will not be cashed out of money held on behalf of the Council, nor 
will personal cheques be substituted for cash collected on behalf of the Council. 
 

 7.46 Every transfer of money from one member of staff to another must be recorded in 
the appropriate departmental records by the signature of the receiving officer. 
 

 7.47 No debt in respect of an amount due to the Council, once correctly established, will 
be discharged otherwise than by payment in full, or by a resolution of the Strategic 
Policy Committee authorising the writing off of the debt or an unpaid portion thereof, 
except that the Head of Strategic Finance or the Director of Corporate  Services, 
who may delegate the matter to the Head of ICT and Financial Services, the Head of 
Legal Services or the Head of Democratic Services and Governance, may write it, or 
an unpaid portion, off where  
 

  (a) as a result of the death, sequestration or liquidation of the debtor there are 
insufficient free funds to meet the Council’s claim; or  
 

  (b) otherwise, there are good and sufficient reasons for doing so, having regard 
to the relative level of the debt and the prospects  and costs associated with 
securing payment. 
 

  Banking Arrangements and Cheques  

 7.48 All arrangements with the Council’s Bankers will be made by or under arrangements 
approved by the Head of Strategic Finance and the Head of ICT and Financial 
Services shall operate such bank accounts as she/he may consider necessary. 
 

 7.49 All cheques and other forms enabling payment to be made from any Council bank 
account, to include any corporate credit card, will be ordered only by the Head of 
ICT and Financial Services, who will ensure that proper arrangements have been 
made for their safe custody and that adequate controls exist over the use and 
production of cheques. 
 

 7.50 Cheques drawn on the Council’s bank accounts will bear the facsimile signature of 
the Head of Strategic Finance  or be signed by the Head of Strategic Finance or 

Page 715



 102

such  other Officer as may be from time to time authorised by the Head of Strategic 
Finance.    

 7.51 All arrangements for the receipt and payment of monies using the Clearing House 
Automated Payment System and the Bankers Automated Clearing Services will be 
made by or under arrangements approved by the Head ofStrategic Finance  . 
 

  Significant Trading Operations 
 

 7.52 It is the responsibility of the Head of Strategic Finance to advise on areas of the 
Councils operations where the establishment of trading accounts in compliance with 
local Government in Scotland Act 2003 is required. 
 

 7.53 The relevant director responsible for each significant trading operation, in 
consultation with the Head of Strategic Finance, will prepare three-yearly estimates 
of income and expenditure incorporating any statutory or Council financial targets 
set.  
 

 .54 Directors will prepare periodic trading statements for each significant trading 
operation.   
 

  
   

 
   

 
   

   

   
 

Page 716



 103

Appendix 1 TO THE FINANCIAL AND SECURITY REGULATIONS 
 
Internal Audit Mission Statement 
 
“To contribute to the achievement of Argyll and Bute Council’s mission and strategic 
objectives by providing assurance to the Council that financial and operational controls and 
arrangements for Best Value are functioning efficiently and effectively and that the significant 
risks to the organisation are being managed.” 

Terms of Reference 

1 Objectives 

1.1 To assist the Council and its Strategic Management Team in their governance 
responsibilities: that is, to support them in creating a mechanism to deliver an effective and 
efficient risk management and control framework; and to assist them in the corporate 
governance reporting process. 

1.2 To provide assurance on the adequacy of control within the Council’s systems and 
activities: that is to comment on and recommend appropriate changes to mechanisms put in 
place by management to ensure systems and activities achieve their objectives; and to bring 
deficiencies therein to the notice of operational management and ultimately to the Audit 
Committee. 

1.3 To advise management on cost effective controls for new or modified systems and 
activities; 

1.4 To highlight opportunities to reduce costs through greater economy and efficiency within 
systems and activities. 

1.5 Internal Audit areas of focus include: 

 Internal control effectiveness 

 Statutory, procedures and control compliance 

 Implementation of recommendations 

 Corporate governance 

 Systems development 

 Process improvement 

 Value for money and Best Value 

1.6 Over time it is envisaged that the function will increase the proportion of reviews of 
operational systems, value for money and contribute to Best Value.   

2 Scope 

2.1 The scope of internal audit includes the examination and evaluation of the adequacy and 
reliability of the Authority’s system of internal control. Internal audit is responsible for providing 
assurance across all of the Authority’s activities. 

2.2 Internal Audit’s work provides assurance on the extent to which management controls 
ensure that: 

 significant risks are identified, assessed and appropriately managed; 

 objectives are established and achievement against them is monitored; 

 the Council’s assets are safeguarded from significant losses, including those caused 

by fraud, waste, inefficiency and commercially unsound practices; 

Page 717



 104

 relevant laws, rules and regulations are complied with; 

 operations are conducted effectively, efficiently and economically; 

 operations are conducted in accordance with Council policies and procedures; 

 management information systems are reliable and secure; 

 systems under development are monitored, that appropriate internal controls are built 

in and are consistent with the organisations’ needs; 

 major Council projects achieve their objectives; and 

 throughout the Authority’s activities it can demonstrate good governance. 

2.3 In addition, Internal Audit may perform special reviews requested by the senior 
management or the Audit Committee. When plans are changed for such reviews, this is 
reported to the Audit Committee so that it clearly understands the implications on resources 
and for the assurance it requires about internal controls, and any impact on the delivery of 
agreed plans. 

3 Role 

3.1 'Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed 
to add value and improve the Authority’s operations. It helps the Authority accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes. 

3.2 When internal auditors provide advice to management in a consultancy capacity, auditors 
will be clear that such advice will not confer any operational responsibility upon them. 

4 Independence 

4.1 Internal audit does not have any executive responsibilities and is independent of the 
activities, which it audits. This enables them to provide impartial and unbiased opinions and 
recommendations. 

4.2 Line managers are fully responsible for the quality of internal control within their area of 
responsibility. Internal audit is not a substitute for proper control in any sphere of the 
Authority’s activities. 

4.3 Internal audit will give advice and make recommendations however, it is the decision of 
management on whether to implement recommendations or not and they who are 
accountable for such decisions. 

5 Authority and Access 

5.1 Internal Audit derives its authority from the Council who enable them to have unrestricted 
access to all records, systems, documents, property and staff as required in the performance 
of its work. Internal auditors are authorised to obtain information and explanations they 
consider necessary from any employee or agent of the Authority to fulfil their objectives and 
responsibilities. Internal audit require a timely written response to any findings and 
recommendations contained in assignment reports. 

5.2 Any proposed significant changes to systems and procedures should be notified to 
internal audit so that the implications for internal control can be assessed and acted upon. 

5.3 The Internal Audit Management will have unfettered right of access to the Chair of the 
Audit Committee and the Chief Executive. 

5.4 Elected members and staff have a right of access to raise any matter of concern with the 
Internal Audit Management 

 

Page 718



 105

6 Internal Audit Management 

6.1 The Council’s Internal Audit management team has responsibility for: 

 Assisting executives with risk management. 

 Developing a plan that is based on assessed Council risks and Internal Audit’s 

objectives. 

 Developing a programme based on the plan and which is flexible enough to meet 

changing organisational needs. 

 Ensuring that resourcing arrangements are in place to deliver the plan and are 

flexible enough to cope with special requests 

 Providing regular progress reports to senior management and the Audit Committee. 

 Ensuring Internal Audit remains effective, credible, productive and focused on areas 

of most significance to the Council. 

 Working with line management constructively to challenge and improve established 

and proposed practices and to put forward ideas for improving processes. 

 Developing an appropriately skilled team, supported where necessary by external 

expertise, to meet best practice. 

 Maintaining an open relationship with the external auditors. 

 Fostering a culture of joint working with management leading to agreed solutions. 

6.2 Internal audit management policies and procedures will be detailed in an Audit Manual 
which will be made available to all audit staff.  

6.3 Internal Audit is not relieved of its responsibilities when areas of the Council are subject to 
review by others. It always needs to assess the extent to which it can rely upon that work, co-
ordinate its audit planning with those other review agencies, e.g. external auditors, and decide 
what further investigations need to be carried out. 

7 Reporting 

7.1 Internal audit will report on individual assignments to the relevant service management, 
with copies provided to the Head of Strategic Finance and the external auditors. Summary 
information will be provided to the Chief Executive and the Audit Committee.  
 

7.2 The strategic and annual audit plans will be presented to the Audit Committee for their 
approval.  
 

7.3 Internal audit will report at each meeting of the Audit Committee on assignments 
completed since the previous meeting and bring any significant matters to their attention. It 
will also provide the Committee with reports concerning the implementation of 
recommendations made to management by internal audit and on progress made against the 
audit plan. 

7.4 The Internal Audit Management will provide annual reports to the Audit Committee about 
the work of the internal audit team in the year and will provide an overall assessment of the 
robustness of internal control to the Committee. 

 

Page 719



 106

 

8 Quality and Skills 

8.1 The Council’s Internal Audit management team is responsible for ensuring the skills of 
Internal Audit are developed and maintained through:  

 re-skilling and training Internal Audit staff e.g. in complex technical areas, in the use 

of technology, implementing best practice and in developing inter-personal skills such 

as communication; 

 techniques such as benchmarking to identify and adopt appropriate best practices; 

 the engagement of external specialists as and when necessary and cost-effectively to 

meet changing Council needs. 

 developing and monitoring appropriate internal audit performance measures, 

including mechanisms for continuous improvement 

8.2 Internal audit staff, including the internal audit management, will be required to hold 
appropriate qualifications commensurate with their role and to maintain their competence by 
undertaking regular training and relevant Continuing Professional Development (CPD). 

8.3 Internal Audit must demonstrate objectivity and professionalism, including applying 
best practice and  
        compliance with the professional codes of practice such as the Code of Practice for 
Internal Audit for Local      
        Authorities in the U.K.  
 

Page 720



 107

APPENDIX 2  - TO THE FINANCIAL & SECURITY REGULATIONS 
 
                                   ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
 
                                              Anti-Fraud Strategy 
 
 
 Contents  
1.  Introduction 
2.  Our Written Rules 
3.  How we Expect our Members and Employees to Behave 
4.  Preventing fraud and corruption 
5.  Detecting and Investigating Fraud and Corruption 
6.  Training 
7.  Conclusion   
Appendix 1 – Fraud Response Policy – Page 111 
Appendix 2– Public Interest Disclosure Policy – Page 114 
Appendix 3 - Prosecution Policy – Page 120 
Appendix 4 - Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Security Strategy and Referral      

Policy – Page 121 
  
 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  
  
1.1 Argyll and Bute Council is a large organisation and the size  
and nature of our services puts us at risk to loss due to fraud and corruption  
both from within the Council and outside it. 
 
1.2 We are committed to making sure that the opportunity for fraud and  
corruption is reduced to the lowest possible risk. Where there is the  
possibility of fraud, corruption and other problems, we will deal with it in a  
firm and controlled manner. 
 
1.3 An important part of this approach is an anti-fraud and  
anti-corruption strategy, which we will use to advise and guide members and  
staff on our approach to the serious issues of fraud and corruption. This  
document provides an overview of our policy in this matter and includes a ‘fraud response 
plan’ which provides more detailed guidance on how to deal with fraud and corruption. 
 
1.4 The main message is that we expect all members, employees, consultants, contractors, 
and service users, to be fair and honest, and to give us any help, information and support we 
need to deal with fraud and corruption. 
  
1.5 The strategy set out in this document covers the following areas: 
  Our written rules  
  How we expect our members and employees to behave  
  Preventing fraud and corruption  
  Detecting and investigating fraud and corruption  
  Training  
  
2. OUR WRITTEN RULES 
  
2.1 We have a number of procedures and rules to make sure that our financial,  
working and organisational procedures are properly controlled. These are an  
important part of our internal control process, and it is important that all  
members and staff know about them. 
 
2.2 The most important of these are as follows: 
  Council Standing Orders 
  Contract Standing Orders  

Page 721



 108

  Financial and Security Regulations 
  Scheme of Delegation  
  Guidance-Code of Conduct for Employees 
  Protocol for Member / Officer Relations  
  Public Interest Disclosure Policy 
  Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Security Strategy and Referral Policy 
  Employees’ Conditions of Service 
 
  There is also the Councillors National Code of Conduct. 
  
2.3 Individual departments have also introduced their own measures, which are  
designed to control their activities. Examples include accounting control procedures, 
working manuals and operating procedures. 
  
2.4 Directors must make sure that all staff have access to these rules and  
regulations and that staff receive suitable training. 
  
2.5 Members and employees must make sure that they read and understand the rules  
and regulations that apply to them, and act in line with them. 
 
2.6 If anyone breaks these rules and regulations we may take formal action  
against them. This may include ending their employment with the Council in  
respect of employees and, in respect of members. It will be the responsibility  
of the Director of Corporate Services as Monitoring Officer to report matters to the appropriate 
authority. 
 
 
3.  HOW WE EXPECT COUNCIL MEMBERS AND EMPLOYEES TO BEHAVE 
 
3.1 We expect all people and organisations who are in any way associated with us  
to be honest and fair in their dealings with us and our clients and customers.  
We expect our members and employees to lead by example in these matters. 
  
3.2 Our Ethical Framework, or internal rules, for members and employees set out an 
approach to work that is both honest and fair. Members and employees must act in line with 
the  Ethical Framework at all times. 
 
3.3 Our members and employees have an essential and integral part to play in dealing  
with fraud and corruption and we will encourage our staff and members to inform  
us if they suspect a case of fraud. 
  
3.4 We will deal with all information fairly and confidentially. We will  
endeavour not to reveal the names of the people who gave us the information. Our  
fraud response plan (Appendix 1) and our Public Interest Disclosure Policy (Appendix 2) give 
more advice on this issue. 
 
3.5 The Nolan Committee sets out the seven guiding principles that apply to  
people who serve the public. We will develop our working behaviour around these  
principles.. 
  
3.6 We expect our Directors to deal firmly and quickly with anyone who is  
responsible for fraud or corruption. The Director of Corporate Services in consultation Chief 
Executive, the Director within whose Department the fraud is alleged to have occurred and 
the Head of Strategic Finance and the Internal Audit Manager may refer matters to the police 
where he suspects any criminal activity has been carried out. 
 
3.7 We must ensure that any investigative process is not misused and, therefore,  
any abuse, such as raising unfounded malicious allegations against a colleague,  
will be dealt with as a disciplinary matter. 
 
  
 

Page 722



 109

 
4.  PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
 
4.1 We believe that if we are to beat fraud and corruption, we must prevent it  
from happening in the first place. It is essential that we have clear rules and  
procedures, within which members, employees, consultants and contractors can  
work. These include the main corporate rules, which are set out in section 2. 
  
4.2 We must regularly review and update our written rules. 
 
4.3 Managing the risk of fraud is the responsibility of the Council’s Management. Directors 
must make sure that suitable levels of internal check are included  
in working procedures, particularly financial procedures. It is important that  
duties are organised so that no one person can carry out a complete transaction  
without some form of checking process being built into the system. 
  
4.4 We must follow our procedures when employing new staff. If possible, we must  
check the previous employment records of anyone we are considering employing.  
This applies to both temporary and permanent staff. 
 
4.5 We are committed to working and co-operating with other organisations to  
prevent organised fraud and corruption. Wherever possible, we will be prepared  
to help and exchange information, subject to the requirements of Data Protection, with other 
Councils and organisations to deal with fraud. 
  
4.6 This kind of work needs to be tightly controlled particularly in relation to  
data protection issues.  
  
4.7 The Public Interest Disclosure Policy provides a process for people to give us 
information which may be given in confidence that may prevent fraud and corruption. 
   
4.8 We will make sure that full details of reporting facilities are widely  
published to the public, members and employees, and that all information we  
receive in this way is investigated and dealt with. 
 
  
5.  DETECTING AND INVESTIGATING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
  
5.1 You should read this section with our fraud response plan (Appendix 1) and  
our Prosecution Policy and Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Security Strategy and 
Referral Policy (Appendices 3 and 4 respectively). 
  
5.2 Employees must report any suspected cases of fraud and corruption to the appropriate 
line manager, or, may do so in terms of the Public Interest Disclosure Policy to the Director of 
Corporate Services. Reporting cases in this way is essential to the anti-fraud and corruption 
strategy and makes sure that: 
  suspected cases of fraud and corruption are investigated properly,  
  the fraud response plan is carried out properly,  
  there is a standard process for dealing with all suspected cases of fraud and  
  corruption,  
  people and our interests are protected. 
  
5.3 The Council's Public Interest Disclosure Policy is intended to encourage  
and enable anyone to raise serious concerns. Employees reporting concerns in this  
way are afforded certain rights through legislation (Public Interest Disclosure  
Act 1998). 
  
5.4 The Director of Corporate Services in consultation with the Chief Executive, the Director 
within whose Department the fraud is alleged to have occurred will decide on the type and 
course of the investigation. This will include referring cases to the police where necessary. 
The alleged fraud will also be reported to the Head of Strategic Finance and the  Internal 
Audit Manager. We will prosecute offenders and we will carry out our disciplinary procedures 

Page 723



 110

where appropriate. We will ensure that any internal proceedings do not prejudice any criminal 
case. 
 
5.5 The Internal Audit Manager, whilst not participating in the investigation of the alleged 
fraud, will liaise with the Director of Corporate Services in his Investigation of the alleged 
fraud and in particular; 
 
    1 Examine current Council policies, procedures and financial controls, their current working 
and effectiveness in relation to the alleged fraud; 
    2 Report to the Strategic Management Team in relation to the adequacy of current Council 
policies, procedures and financial controls in relation to the alleged fraud and make 
recommendations for their revisal; 
    3 Provide advice and assistance to the Director of Corporate Services in relation to Council 
policies, procedures and financial controls and control issues relevant to the investigation of 
the alleged fraud. 

5.6 In respect of any case of alleged fraud or corruption discovered by or referred to the 
Director of Corporate Services he shall; 

1 Deal promptly and confidentially with the matter;. 
2 Maintain full documentation of all evidence received and comply with the Data 

Protection Act 1998 and the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 in relation 
to the release of information in relation to the alleged fraud; 

3 Ensure that the investigation is carried out having regard to the Councils policy under 
the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Scotland) Act 2000 and it’s obligations under 
the Human Rights Act 1998;  

4 Ensure that the evidence is sound and adequately reported;  
5 Report findings to the Strategic Management Team;  
6 Liaise with the Internal Audit Manager in accordance with paragraph 5.5 hereof. 

  
  
5.7 In cases relating to Housing Benefits and Council Tax Fraud the action taken  
will follow the prosecution policy outlined in Appendix 4. All other instances  
of fraud the action taken will follow the prosecution policy outlined in  
Appendix3.  
  
5.8 The Accounts Commission has powers to request or carry out an investigation  
into fraud and corruption. 
 
6.  TRAINING 
  
6.1 We understand that the key to introducing a successful anti-fraud and  
anti-corruption strategy and making sure it continues to apply will depend on  
programmed training and the way all our employees respond. 
  
6.2 We support the idea of providing training for our employees who are involved  
in or managing internal control systems to make sure that their  
responsibilities and duties are regularly reviewed and reinforced. 
  
6.3 We are also committed to training and developing our employees who are  
involved in investigating fraud and corruption and we will provide suitable  
training. 
 
7.  CONCLUSION 
  
7.1 We are committed to tackling fraud and corruption whenever it happens. Our  
response will be effective and organised and will rely on the principles  
included in this document. 
  
7.2 We will continue to review our rules and procedures and will make sure that  
this strategy document is regularly reviewed to make sure it stays effective. 

Page 724



 111

Appendix 1 to Anti Fraud Strategy 
 
Fraud Response Plan 
  
1. Introduction 
  
1.1 Argyll and Bute Council is committed to the highest possible standards of  
openness, probity and accountability in all its affairs. It is determined to  
develop a culture of honesty and opposition to fraud and corruption. 
 
1.2 In line with that commitment, the Council’s Anti-Fraud Strategy outlines the principles we 
are committed to in relation to preventing, reporting and managing the investigation and 
prosecution of fraud and corruption. 
 
1.3 This Fraud Response Plan reinforces the Council’s robust approach by setting  
out the ways in which employees or members of the public can voice their  
concerns about suspected fraud or corruption. It also outlines how the Council  
will deal with such complaints. 
  
2. What Do We Want To Know About? 
  
2.1 This Plan is intended to be implemented where suspicions of fraud or  
corruption have been raised. 
 
Fraud is defined as: 
"The intentional distortion of financial statements or other records by persons  
internal or external to the authority which is carried out to conceal the  
misappropriation of assets or otherwise for gain". 
  
Corruption is defined as: 
"The offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an inducement or reward,  
which may influence the action of any person". 
 
2.2 Concerns or allegations which fall within the scope of other, existing,  
procedures (eg child protection or discrimination issues) will normally be  
referred for consideration under those procedures. 
  
2.3 Fraudulent or corrupt acts may include: 
  
Systems Issues - i.e. where a process/system exists which is prone to abuse by  
either employees or public (eg Planning Applications) 
  
Financial Issues - i.e. where individuals or companies have fraudulently  
obtained money from the Council (eg invalid invoices/work not done, Housing  
Benefit fraud) 
  
Equipment Issues - i.e. where Council equipment is used for personal use, (eg  
personal use of Council vehicles) 
  
Resource Issues - i.e. where there is a misuse of resources (eg theft of  
building materials) 
  
Other Issues - i.e. activities undertaken by officers of the Council which may  
be:  
  unlawful,  
  against the Council's Standing Orders or policies,  
   below established standards or practices,  
   improper conduct (eg receiving hospitality). 
  
This is not an exhaustive list.  
  
 

Page 725



 112

 
3. Safeguards 
  
Harassment or Victimisation – The Council recognises that the decision to report  
a concern can be a difficult one to make, not least because of the fear of  
reprisal from those responsible for the malpractice. The Council will not  
tolerate harassment or victimisation and will take action to protect those who  
raise a concern in good faith. 
  
Confidentiality – The Council will do its best to protect an individual’s  
identity when he or she raises a concern and does not want their name to be  
disclosed. It must be appreciated, however, that the investigation process may  
reveal the source of the information and a statement by the individual may be  
required as part of the evidence. 
  
Anonymous Allegations – This policy encourages individuals to put their names to  
allegations. Concerns expressed anonymously are much less powerful, but they  
will be considered at the discretion of the Council. In exercising this  
discretion, the factors to be taken into account would include: 
  the seriousness of the issues raised 
  the credibility of the concern 
  the likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable sources 
  
Untrue Allegations – If an allegation is made in good faith, but it is not  
confirmed by the investigation, no action will be taken against the originator.  
If, however, individuals make malicious or vexatious allegations, action may be  
considered against the individual making the allegation. 
  
4. What Should An Employee Do If They Suspect Fraud Or Corruption? 
  
4.1 Employees are often the first to realise that there is something seriously  
wrong within the Council. If they have serious concerns in relation to fraud or corruption within 
the council they should report this to their line Manager. However, they may not express their 
concerns in this way because  
they feel that speaking up would be disloyal to their colleagues or to the  
Council. They may also fear harassment or victimisation. In these circumstances,  
it may be easier to ignore the concern rather than report what may just be a  
suspicion of malpractice. 
  
4.2 The Council’s Public Interest Disclosure Policy is intended to encourage and 
enable staff to raise serious concerns within the Council rather than overlooking a  
problem or blowing the whistle to the media or other external bodies. 
  
4.3 A copy of the Public Interest Disclosure Policy is attached as Appendix 3. 
  
  
5. What Should A Member Of The Public Do If They Suspect Fraud Or Corruption? 
  
5.1 The Council encourages members of the public who suspect fraud and  
corruption to contact the Chief Executive or Director of Corporate Services in  
the first instance. Members of the public may report matters to the Director of Corporate 
Services in terms of the Public Interest Disclosure Policy. Both the Director of Corporate 
Services and the Head of Strategic Finance have obligations to maintain and review the 
Council’s Financial and Security Regulations and any suspected breach of these may be 
reported to either of them. 
  
5.2 Argyll and Bute Council wishes to maintain procedures with the following  
aims: 
To develop an anti-fraud culture  
To deter, prevent, detect and investigate fraud and corruption  
To see appropriate action against those who commit or seek to commit some sort  
of fraud or corruption  

Page 726



 113

To obtain compensation in respect of any losses to the Council  
 
5.3 The possible courses of action taken by the Council are outlined below. 
  
5.4 The Director of Corporate Services can be contacted by phone on 01546 602127 or by 
writing to;  
The Director of Corporate Services, Kilmory Lochgilphead, Argyll. 
  
6. How Will Allegations Of Fraud Or Corruption Be Dealt With By The Council? 
  
6.1 For issues raised by employees or members of the public, the action taken by  
the Council will depend on the nature of the concern. The matters raised may: 
be investigated internally,  
be referred to the Police  
  
6.2 Within 10 working days of a concern being received, the Chief Executive, 
Director of Corporate Services or designated officer will write to the complainant: 
  acknowledging that the concern has been received  
  indicating how it proposes to deal with the matter  
  giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a final response  
  telling them whether any initial enquiries have been made  
  telling them whether any further investigations will take place, and if not,  
  why not 
  
6.3 The Council accepts that those people who reported the alleged fraud or  
corruption need to be assured that the matter has been properly addressed. Thus,  
subject to any legal constraints, they will receive information about the outcomes  
of any investigation. 
  
  
7. Alternative Methods For Taking A Complaint Forward 
  
7.1 If either a member of the public or an employee feel it is right to take the  
matter outside these processes, the following are possible ways forward: 
  
  your local Councillor – If you are unsure how to contact them, call the Council  
on 01546 602127 for advice. 
  the Accounts Commission – who are the organisation appointed to scrutinise the  
Council’s finances and performance. By law, they must be completely independent  
from the Council.  
  your Trade Union – employees may invite their Trade Union to raise a matter on  
their behalf. 
  the Police – suspicions of fraud or corruption may be reported directly to the  
Police. 
  the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman– this is an independent body set up by the 
Government to deal with complaints against public bodies such as Councils in Scotland.  
  Public Concern at Work – this is a charity which provides free and strictly  
confidential legal help to anyone concerned about a malpractice which  
threatens the public interest. They operate a helpline on 0171 404 6609 or can  
be e-mailed at whistle@pcaw.demon.co.uk. 
  

Page 727



 114

  
  
APPENDIX 2 to Anti Fraud Strategy 
 
 PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE POLICY 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

 1.1 Argyll & Bute Council is committed to the highest standards of openness, probity and 
accountability.  These high standards are coupled with a positive approach to enabling 
employees and others who become aware of wrongdoing, improper conduct or other 
failures of a substantive nature to bring attention to their concerns.  The Council’s Public 
Interest Disclosure Policy is, therefore, designed – 
 

 • To set out a process for the investigation of certain disclosures of information which 
are made in the public interest; 

• To provide protection from reprisal or victimisation for individuals who make such 
disclosures in good faith; and 

• Thus to provide a genuine recourse for legitimate representations without 
encouraging a climate in which they become malicious, trivial or routine. 

 
 1.2 There are existing procedures in place which enable employees of the Council to raise a 

grievance relating to their own employment. The Public Interest Disclosure Policy is 
designed to deal with matters which fall outwith the scope of the Grievance or 
Disciplinary Procedures 
 

2. SCOPE 
 

 2.1 In the context of the work of Argyll & Bute Council, a “qualifying disclosure” means any 
disclosure of information which, in the reasonable belief of the person making the 
disclosure, tends to show one or more of the following – 

  
 (a) That a criminal offence has been committed, is being committed or is likely to be 

committed, 
 

 (b) That a person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with any legal 
obligation to which he/she is subject, 
 

 (c) That any person has failed, is failing or is likely to fail to comply with any obligation 
as to their conduct or otherwise imposed on that person by – 
 

  - The Argyll & Bute Council Protocol governing relations between Members 
and Officers. 

  - The Council’s Standing Orders, Contract Standing Orders, or Financial and 
Security Regulations. 

  - The Argyll & Bute Code of Conduct for Officers. 
    
 (d) That the health or safety of any individual has been, is being or is likely to be 

endangered. 
 

 (e) That the Council has committed, is committing or is likely to commit to a course of 
action which is unlawful 
 

 (f) That the Council has taken, is taking, or likely to take a course of action, or there 
has been a corresponding failure, which is likely to  give rise to a finding of 
maladministration on the part of the Council 
 

 (g) That information tending to show any matter falling within any of the preceding 
paragraphs has been, is being or is likely to be deliberately concealed. 
 

Page 728



 115

 A qualifying disclosure is made in accordance with this policy if the person – 
 

 (a) Makes the disclosure in good faith 
 

 (b) Reasonably believes that the information disclosed, and any allegation contained 
in it, are substantially true 
 

 (c) Does not make the disclosure for purposes of personal gain 
 

 (d) In all the circumstances of the matter, believes it is reasonable for the person to 
make the disclosure. 
 

         2.2  Any disclosure alleging a breach of the Councillors Code of Conduct issued under 
the Ethical Standards & Public Life Etc (Scotland) Act 2000 in respect of a 
Councillor should be referred  by the person making the disclosure to the Office of 
the Chief Investigating Officer, the Standards Commission for Scotland, Forsyth 
House, Innova Campus, Rosyth Euro Parc, Rosyth, KY11 2UU – telephone – 
01383 428 033 – fax – 01383 428 019 – email: investigations @ 
standardscommision.org.uk 

 
3. SAFEGUARDS 

 
 3.1 The Council recognises that taking a decision to report a concern of the type covered by 

this policy can be a difficult one, not least because of the fear of reprisal.  The Council 
makes it clear that it will not tolerate any reprisals under any circumstances and will take 
action to protect a person who makes a qualifying disclosure. 

  
 3.2 If a disclosure is made in good faith but is not confirmed by subsequent investigation, no 

action will be taken against the person making the disclosure.  The Council will, however, 
protect itself, its Members and Employees against malicious allegations and will take 
appropriate action against any person who makes such an allegation. The Council will 
also take such reasonable steps which may be open to it to minimise the impact on any 
of its Members or Employees of an allegation which is either malicious or unfounded. 
 

 3.3 Nothing in this Policy means that if a person is already the subject of any action or 
procedure against them (including in the case of employees, disciplinary procedures) 

that those procedures will necessarily be halted as a result of a disclosure made under 
this policy. 

 
4. CONFIDENTIALITY 

 
 4.1 In a culture of openness, and against the Council’s stated policy that it will protect a 

person who may make a disclosure in good faith and in the public interest, and to assist 
any investigative process, it is clearly desirable that the person who makes a disclosure 
should be prepared to do so on an attributable basis.  The Council will, however, take 
reasonable steps, but cannot guarantee, to protect the identity of a person who makes a 
disclosure and does not wish his or her name to be disclosed, subject to the following 
factors – 

  
 (a) The seriousness and nature of the issues raised 

 
 (b) The likelihood of confirming any allegation from other attributable sources 

 
 (c) The need for evidential statements as part of any investigation 

 
 (d) The credibility of the allegation, and, in all the circumstances, the need to allow a 

person against whom an allegation is made to test the veracity and substance of it 
 

 (e) The likelihood, in all the circumstances, of unwarranted reprisals being directed 
against a person who makes a disclosure. 
 

Page 729



 116

 4.2 The Officer conducting the investigation will, however, take all necessary steps to ensure 
that the name of a person who makes a disclosure is not disclosed to others within the 
Council except, strictly, on a need to know basis in order to further the due completion of 
the investigation and the Council’s response to it. (See paragraph 5 below) 
 

 4.3 The Council will not disclose in any public document the name of any person who makes 
a disclosure, nor will the Council disclose that person’s name to any third party outside 
the Council except – 
 

  • Where an offence may have been committed and there is considered to be an 
obligation to report that to the Police or Procurator Fiscal, or to co-operate with 
enquiries instituted by the Police or the Fiscal 

• Otherwise where there would be any failure on the part of the Council to comply with 
any legal obligation on them. 

 
 4.4 Allegations expressed anonymously will not normally be considered.  In exercising any 

discretion to consider any anonymous allegation, the factors which will be taken into 
account are – 
 

  • The seriousness and nature of the issues raised 
• The credibility of the concerns 
• The likelihood of confirming the allegations from other attributable sources 
 

5. DISCLOSURES AND THEIR INVESTIGATION 
 

 5.1 As noted earlier, this Policy is designed to provide recourse for legitimate representations 
to be made about wrongdoing, improper conduct or other failure of a substantive nature.  
Any person making a disclosure in terms of this Policy should do so to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer.  The Monitoring Officer will decide – 
 

 (a) Whether the matter is one which should be dealt with under the Council’s 
Grievance or Disciplinary Procedures, and, if so, will refer the matter to the 
appropriate Officer. 
 

 (b) Whether the matter is one which should be dealt with under any Complaints or 
other procedure of the Council, and, if so, will refer the matter to the appropriate 
Officer. 
 

 (c) Whether the matter is one which should be investigated in terms of this Policy 
and, if so, will conduct an investigation in terms of this Policy. 
 

 (d) In the absence of an investigation in terms of this Policy, what other action, if any, 
should be taken. 
 

 5.2 Notwithstanding and without prejudice to the statutory obligations placed on the 
Monitoring Officer, for the purposes of this Policy the function of the Monitoring Officer is 
to investigate a disclosure of information, and any allegation contained in it, relating to 
any matter contained in paragraph 2.1 of this Policy. 
 

 5.3 The purpose of an investigation under this Policy will be to determine which of the 
following findings is the case – 
 

 (a) That there is no evidence of any failure to comply with any of the matters set out in 
paragraph 2.1 above, 
 

 (b) That no action needs to be taken in respect of the matters which are the subject of 
the investigation 
 

 (c) That any matter which is the subject of investigation can be remedied by 
compliance with any recommendations which are made in the report of the 
investigation 
 

Page 730



 117

 (d) That there is evidence of a failure on the part of a Councillor in relation to any of 
the matters referred to in paragraph 2.1 above in which case, with the exception of 
a matter in respect of which a criminal offence may have been committed, the 
report of the investigation will be submitted to the Council which will consider what 
action, if any, should be taken. The Monitoring Officer shall, at the same time, 
provide a copy of his report to the Council to the Standards Committee 
 

 (e) That there is evidence of a failure on the part of a person, who is not a Councillor 
but has been appointed or co-opted to any Committee or Sub-Committee or Policy 
Development Group of the Council, in relation to any of the matters referred to in 
paragraph 2.1 above in which case, with the exception of a matter in respect of 
which a criminal offence may have been committed, the report of the investigation 
will be referred to the Council’s Standards Committee which will consider what 
action, if any, should be taken. 
 

 (f) That there is evidence of a failure on the part of an Officer of the Council in 
relation to any matter referred to in paragraph 2.1 above, in which case the report 
of the investigation will be referred to the Chief Executive who will determine what 
action, if any, should be taken. 
 

 (g) That there is evidence of a systematic or procedural failure on the part of the 
Council in relation to any matter referred to in paragraph 2.1 above, in which case 
the report of the investigation will be referred to the Chief Executive and /or the 
Council to determine what action, if any, should be taken. 
 

 (h) That otherwise the matters which are the subject of the investigation should be 
referred to the Council’s Standards Committee. 
 

 5.4 For the purpose of conducting an investigation in terms of this Policy, the Monitoring 
Officer – 
 

 (a) May conduct the investigation personally, or may authorise another person to do 
so 
 

 (b) May obtain information from such persons and in such manner, and make such 
enquiries, as she/he thinks fit 
 

 (c) May require any Officer or Member to provide such information or explanation as 
may be necessary for the purpose of conducting the investigation 
 

 (d) Must give any person who is the subject of any allegation which is being 
investigated the opportunity or opportunities to respond to and comment on any 
allegation and must, in the course of any interview, allow that person to be 
accompanied by any other person 
 

 (e) May require any Officer or Member holding or accountable for any document or 
record  (held in any medium) relating to the investigation to give access to such 
document or record. 
 

 (f) May, to assist the investigation, obtain advice from any person inside or outside 
the Council who is qualified to give it. 
 

 5.5 A copy of any report of any investigation must be given to any Member or Officer of the 
Council who is the subject of the report before the report is finally disposed of by the 
Monitoring Officer as set out in paragraph 5.3 above. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 731



 118

6. CONSIDERATION OF REPORTS BY STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

  
 6.1 In considering any report brought before it in terms of Paragraph 5.3(d), the Standards 

Committee may provide to the Council any advice or any recommendation it considers 
appropriate. 
 

 6.2 In considering any report brought before it in terms of Paragraph 5.3(e) the Standards 
Committee will – 
 

  (a) Provide the opportunity for any person, together with any other person whom they 
wish to accompany or represent them, to appear before the Committee; 
 

  (b) Hear oral or consider written evidence from persons who may have provided 
evidence in the course of the investigation, and any other witnesses whom either 
the person concerned or the Standards Committee consider it desirable to hear or 
receive evidence from; 
 

  (c) Consider such written documents as may be brought before them, including any 
so brought by the person concerned, or any other document which the Committee 
considers it necessary and appropriate for them to consider. 
 

  The Standards Committee will hold any hearing(s) in private unless the person 
concerned requests that it be held in public. 
 

7. DECISIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

 7.1 The Standards Committee shall decide whether or not there has been a failure on the 
part of any person who is the subject of a report in terms of Paragraph 5.3(e), with the 
exception of a matter in respect of which a criminal offence may have been committed 
until any criminal proceedings have been disposed of. 
 

 7.2 Where the Committee decides that there has been no such failure on the part of any 
such person it will give notice to that effect to the person concerned. 
 

 7.3 Where the Committee decides that there has been such a failure as is mentioned in 
Paragraph 7.1 above, the Committee must decide, having regard to the Statutory 
authority or basis on which that person has been nominated, appointed or co-opted , 
whether the nature of the failure is such that either – 
 

  (a) The Committee is to advise the person concerned that there has been a failure 
on his or her part, and specify the details of that failure; or 
 

  (b) Submit a report to Council, which report will be considered in public, advising 
that there has been a failure on the part of such a person concerned, specifying 
the details of that failure, which report may include a recommendation that any 
one of the following courses of action should be taken by the Council – 
 

   (i) That the person concerned be afforded the opportunity of apologising to 
the Council in respect of the failure; or 
 

   (ii) That the person concerned should be the subject of a resolution of 
censure expressing the Council’s disappointment that there has been a 
failure on the part of such a person concerned; or 
 

   (iii) That the Council remove the person concerned from any one or more 
positions to which the person was appointed by the Council or any of its 
Committees or Sub-Committees, and/or that the person be removed 
from membership of any one or more Committee, Sub-Committee, or 
Policy Development Group of the Council;  
 

Page 732



 119

   (iv) That the Council request the persons nominating or appointing body to 
remove or withdraw their nomination or appointment and remove that 
person from any Committee, Sub-Committee, or Policy Development 
Group of the Council;  
 

 7.4 Before submitting a recommendation in terms of paragraph 7.3(b) to the Council, the 
Standards Committee will provide a copy of their report, including any recommendation 
contained in it, to the person concerned. 
 

 7.5 In considering a recommendation in terms of paragraph 7.3(b) the Council will afford an 
opportunity to the person concerned to make a statement to the Council, and it will not 
be open to the Council to pass a resolution which would, in respect of the person 
concerned, be more onerous than the course of action recommended by the Standards 
Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 733



 120

 
 
 
APPENDIX 3 to Anti Fraud Strategy 
 
Prosecution Policy 
  
The Council is committed to preventing fraud and corruption and has developed an  
‘Anti-Fraud Strategy’ in order to minimise its occurrence. The Council will constantly monitor 
its systems and amend procedures as required. 
 
This procedure does not supersede other internal disciplinary codes implemented  
by the Council and internal offenders (eg Council employees or Councillors) will  
be liable to general disciplinary procedures as well as prosecution. 
  
General 
The Council’s policy on fraud is to: 
  deter it in the first instance  
  detect it quickly  
  investigate it efficiently  
  prosecute offenders when appropriate  
  
Ultimately the decision to refer a matter to the Police will lie with the Chief Executive, who will 
consult with the Director of Corporate Services and Director within whose department the 
fraud or corruption is alleged to have occurred to consider if reporting the matter to the Police 
is appropriate. In exceptional circumstances the Director of Corporate Services may refer 
matters to the Police direct without prior consultation with the Chief Executive. 
  
In deciding whether a fraud should be reported to the police the following  
factors will be taken into account. 
the extent of the fraud/corruption in financial terms  
the sufficiency and appropriateness of evidence  
whether the public interest will be served 
  
In general, all cases will be reported to the Police.  
  
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Fraud 
To assist staff involved in this area, specific procedural guidelines have been  
established. 
(See Appendix 5). 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 734



 121

APPENDIX 4 to Anti Fraud Strategy  
 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Security Strategy and Referral      Policy 
  
Fraud Detection and Prevention 
1. Argyll and Bute Council is fully committed to ensuring that Housing Benefit  
and/or Council Tax Benefit is awarded only to those claimants who have an  
entitlement and that reasonable procedures and processes are in place to verify  
the circumstances of claimants before making any awards. 
  
2. The Council is committed to developing and implementing measures to prevent  
and detect benefit fraud. 
  
3. The Council has invested resources in establishing a team of Benefit  
Inspectors dedicated to the identification, investigation and prevention of  
benefit fraud. That team will work with and, where appropriate under the terms  
of the Data Protection Act, make use of information available from other  
agencies such as the Benefits Agency, Department of Works and Pensions, Inland  
Revenue as well as other departments of the Council to detect and prevent  
benefit fraud. 
  
4. All Council staff involved in the administration of benefits will  
periodically be given fraud awareness training with a view to them having a role  
in the identification of potentially fraudulent claims which must be passed to  
the team of Benefit Inspectors for investigation. 
  
5. The Council recognises that the submission of incorrect or incomplete  
information by an individual or individuals in order to fraudulently obtain  
benefit is a criminal offence and that consideration will be given to preparing  
cases for submission to Strathclyde Police or direct to the Procurator Fiscal’s  
Office for prosecution. 
  
6. Where payments of benefit have been considered as having been fraudulently  
obtained the Benefits Manger, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services, will consider 
whether the case should be referred to Strathclyde Police or direct to the Procurator Fiscal’s 
Office. In considering further action the following criteria will be referred to: 
  
a)  A good prima facie case been established 
b)  That there is sufficient evidence of false information 
c)  That there is sufficient evidence of criminal intent 
d)  There is a clear record of the investigation: 
clear reports have been compiled at every stage in the investigation  
all information provided by external sources has been recorded in a manner which  
is acceptable as evidence  
supporting documentary evidence has been obtained  
all information has been obtained fairly.   
 
After considering the above the following criteria will be applied; 
If an overpayment is established, and it appears that 
• The claimant has never previously offended; and 
• There was no planning involved in the process; and 
• There was no other person involved in the process; and 
• The person is in genuine financial hardship; and 
• The person is perceived to be a vulnerable person i.e. a single parent, a pensioner, or is in 
need of Social Services assistance. 
 
      Then :- 
•  Under £500.00 a Local Authority Caution will be issued; 
•  Over £500.00 but under £1000.00 a penalty amounting to 30% of the 
      value of the overpayment will be offered; 
 
        

Page 735



 122

      If the overpayment is under £1000.00, and it appears that 
•  The claimant has never previously offended; and 
• There was no planning involved in the process; and 
• There was no other person involved in the process; and 
• The person is in genuine financial hardship, but not perceived to be a vulnerable person. 
 
The Council will offer a penalty equivalent to 30% of the value of the 
overpayment.  If this option is turned down, the Council will prosecute. 
 
If the overpayment is over £1000.00, or  
• The claimant had previously offended; or 
• There was planning involved in the process; or 
• Other people were involved in the process; 
 
 The Council will refer the case to the Procurator Fiscal. 
 
Administrative Penalties 
7. The Council will consider financial penalties, as an alternative to a  
criminal prosecution, in cases where the criteria for prosecution have been  
fulfilled but the offender’s personal circumstances indicate that a financial  
penalty would be a suitable solution. 
  
8. This provision is in accordance with the Social Security Administration  
(Fraud) Act 1997 which allows the Authority to administer a penalty (currently  
30% of the amount of benefit fraudulently obtained). The Council will recoup the  
administrative penalty payments in addition to any repayments of the overpaid  
benefit. 
  
9. If the financial penalty is not accepted by the offender as the alternative  
remedy, then the matter will be referred back for pursuit of a criminal  
prosecution as will any case where a claimant had agreed to pay an  
administrative penalty but subsequently fails to keep to the agreement. 
 
10. Any identified case of benefit fraud which involves an Employee of the  
Council will, in addition to the actions outlined above, also be the subject of  
the Council’s Disciplinary Procedures. In such instances, the case will be  
brought to the attention of the Director of the department in which the employee 
is employed in which the who shall consider what steps are necessary in the 
investigation and disciplinary process. 
  
11. Any identified case of fraud which involves a Member of the Council will be  
referred immediately to the Chief Executive and the Director of Corporate Services who, as 
Monitoring Officer will refer the matter to the appropriate authorities. 
  
12. It will be the responsibility of the Benefits Manager to advise the relevant 
persons, in terms of paragrahs 10 and 11 above immediately it becomes apparent that a 
fraudulent act may have been committed by an Employee or Member of the Council.  
  
13. The Council will ensure that all persons who are the subject of an investigation  
into suspected benefit fraud will be treated fairly and courteously at all  
times. 

 
14. In line with the expectations of the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP), councils 
must develop procedures and strategies to combat the perpetration of fraud within the 
Benefits system.  For this purpose the Benefits Team has produced a Housing and Council 
Tax Benefit Security Strategy, which outlines the measures put in place to minimise the 
occurrence of Benefit fraud.  The key elements are as follows. 

 

         Verification Framework 
The Benefit Section adhere to the requirements of the Verification Framework, a DWP initiative, 
which is in place to ensure accurate information is obtained from a claimant prior to the 

Page 736



 123

assessment of entitlement.  The council employs staff  to visit claimants, to check the information 
on their claim forms, in line with the specifications of the         Verification Framework, and 
receives funding for carrying out this extra work. 
 

         Fraud Referral Policy 
The Housing and Council Tax Fraud Referral Policy is the framework to be followed when 
considering referral to the Procurator Fiscal.  It specifies the situations and the monetary 
value of any fraudulently claimed benefit which would be involved before a case would be 
considered for referral to the PF.          
 

         Royal Mail Redirect Service 
Housing Benefit cheques, when issued to claimants or landlords, are sealed in specially 
formatted stationery, which indicates to the Royal Mail that the document should be returned to 
the council, if the addressee is not resident, and not redirected as with most other mail. 
 
Housing Benefit Matching Service 
The Benefits Section supplies copies of the benefit computer files to the DWP Matching Service 
quarterly, and a comparison is made with the DWP computer files.  It is normally a specific type 
of income which is targeted each time, for example pensions from former employers. 
 
  
 
 

Page 737



 124

 
 
……. 2005 

CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS 
PART  E 
INDEX 

 
 Page Paragraph 

 
Assignation  13 

Compliance  1 

Consultants - Engagement  20 

Contracts payments and other provisions  22 

Final Certificate  21 

Indemnities  16 

Liquidated Damages  14 

Nominated Sub-Contractors - Appointment  19 

 - Supplies  3 

 - Works  2 

Specification & Standards  17 

Tendering Procedures -   

 Acceptance  9 

 Contracts to be in writing  10 

 Corrections & Assessment  8 

 Exceptions  12 

 Late Tenders  7 

 Obtaining Tenders  4 

 Opening of Tenders  6 

 Receipt and Custody of Tenders  5 

 Tender Register  11 

Performance Bonds  15 

Prevention of Fraud  18 

Procurement Strategy  Appendix 1 

Page 738



 125

     ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL 
 

CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS 
 

1. COMPLIANCE 
 

 1.1 Every contract made by or on behalf of the Council will comply with these Standing 
Orders except as otherwise provided in Standing Order 12. 
 

 1.2  It is the duty of each Director to ensure that these Standing Orders and any other 
more specific operating instructions approved by management,are complied with and 
to ensure that all employees and agents of the Council are made aware of them and 
comply with them. 

 
 

 1.3 Each Director shall ensure that for any contracts not covered by these Standing 
Orders there shall be a set of established and documented transparent instructions 

which adheres to the principles of these Standing Orders, to regulate all such 
transactions including  obtaining competitive quotes, selection of tenders etc. 

 
2. SELECT LIST - WORKS 

 
 2.1 For civil engineering and building works in excess of £25,000 tender lists should be 

compiled, on each occasion from firms registered with Constructionline and 
contained on their database.   

 
 2.2 In respect of all other works contracts the relevant Director will maintain select lists of 

contractors/ who may be drawn from Constructionline or who may have indicated a 
willingness to tender for relevant work.  The existence of the lists will be advertised in 
the local press and appropriate trade journals at intervals not exceeding 3 years, in 
order that interested contractors may indicate their willingness to be considered for 
inclusion in any list, but an interested contractor may be added to a list at any time.  
Evidence of compliance with this standing order must be provided annually in March 
of each year to the Head of Strategic Finance. 
 

 2.3 No contractor will be included on the list specified at 2.2 unless - 
 

  a) They are registered with Constructionline or  
 

1. Where the contractor is not registered with Constructionline the 
appropriate Director is satisfied that the contractor has the expertise 
and resources to undertake the work for which the contractor wishes 
to be considered;  and 

   2. the Head of Strategic Finance is satisfied as to the contractor’s 
financial standing; and  

3. The Council’s Health and Safety Manager is satisfied in respect of 
their competence in Health and Safety matters 

 
  b) The relevant Head of Service has ensured from time to time and in any event 

at intervals of no longer than 3 years that the contractor still meets the criteria 

Page 739



 126

detailed at (a) above. 

 
 2.4 Each contractor on a select list will as required by the Head of Strategic Finance, 

submit a copy of the audited accounts together with any other information pertinent 
to the management and operation of the company as the Head of Strategic Finance 
or the relevant Director may require. 
 

   
3. SELECT LIST - SUPPLIES AND SERVICES 

 
  

3.1 
Any Service which purchases goods or services shall do so in compliance with the 
Council’s Procurement Strategy, which is attached hereto as appendix 1 and in so 
doing shall; 
 

1. When purchasing goods or services for which the Authorities Buying 
Consortium has entered into a specific arrangement, use those 
arrangements for “endorsed products”. 

 
2. When purchasing goods or services which are not “endorsed” products, in 

terms of the Authorities Buying Consortium, then they may utilise the 
Authorities Buying Consortium or any other collaborative purchasing 
arrangement which the Council may have entered into from time to time. 

 
3. Any Service will, when products or services are contained in the Council’s E-

procurement Scotland Catalogue, purchase such products or services 
utilising that catalogue. 

 
4. In any other circumstances not covered by the above any service will when 

purchasing goods or services utilise the Authorities Buying Consortium in the 
first instance and otherwise will maintain a list of approved suppliers who 
have indicated a willingness to tender for the supply of such goods or 
services and they must be satisfied that such suppliers are reputable and of 
appropriate financial standing. 

 
4. TENDERING PROCEDURES - OBTAINING TENDERS 

 
 4.1 Subject to these Contract Standing Orders and to any overriding requirement of any 

relevant European Union Procurement Directive, (service, suppliers and works)  
including the requirement to advertise contracts  above a value specified in those 
directives in the Official Journal of the European Union, the Local Government Local 
Government in Scotland Act 2003, the Local Government Act 1988 and the Public 
Procurement Regulations (as amended), and any amendment, revisal or repeal 
thereof, no contract for civil engineering works, building and construction works, the 
purchase of goods or materials, the provision of services, or the hire or purchase of 
plant or vehicles or equipment, will be made unless either - 
 

  (a) Ad Hoc Tenders - at least 10 days public notice has been given in one or more 
appropriate newspapers and in such trade journal as the relevant Director 
considers appropriate, stating the nature and purpose of the contract, inviting 
contractors to indicate an interest in tendering and stating the last date when 

Page 740



 127

tenders will be received;  or 
 

  (b) Select List of Contractors - where a sufficient number of contractors is included 
in a Select List, tenders are invited from all or as many of these contractors as 
the relevant Service Director considers reasonable to ensure adequate 
competition;  or 
 

  (c) Serial Tenders - the proposed contract forms part of a serial programme of 
work, the terms having been negotiated with the contractor on the basis of the 
rates and prices contained in an initial contract awarded competitively, and 
provided that the initial tender was stipulated to be the first part of a serial 
programme;  or 
 

  (d) Consortia Arrangements - where the Council is a member of a consortium, 
collaboration or similar body which exists for the purposes of joint purchasing 
arrangements, and such body has invited tenders for the supply of goods or 
services, or vehicle procurement the Council may treat the arrangements 
entered into by that body as a tender required by these Contract Standing 
Orders. 
 

 4.2 Prior to  inviting a tender for Civil Engineering or Building Works or the provision of 
any goods or services Officers will ensure that they comply with any statutory 
requirements and any relevant European Union Directive and with the terms of 
paragraph 8.11 of the Council’s Financial and Security Regulations   
 

 4.3 To ensure compliance with EU Directives; EU threshold values; contract types and 
allied matters, the advice of the Councils European Funding section under the 
Director of development Services should be sought. 
 

 TENDERING PROCEDURES - RECEIPT AND CUSTODY OF TENDERS 
 

 5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Where tenders are invited, the Service concerned will notify prospective tenderers of 
the place to which and the time by which tenders are to be submitted and will at this 
time notify the Director of Corporate Services of the instruction to tender and return 
date. The Service shall ensure that sufficient time is given from the date of issue to 
date of return to ensure that tenders can be in appropriate form and should in normal 
circumstances not be less than seven days. Tenders will be submitted in a plain 
envelope or package securely sealed and will bear the word “Tender” followed by the 
subject to which the tender relates and prospective tenderers will be notified 
accordingly by the Service inviting the tenders.  The envelope or package will be 
addressed impersonally to the Director of Corporate Services, in the case of tenders 
where the estimated cost is £100,000 or more and to the Director of the relevant 
Service in cases below that amount.  All tenders will, as soon as they are received, 
be endorsed with the date and time of receipt at the office of the Director of 
Corporate Services or the relevant Service Director as the case may be and will be 
kept secure until opened. 
 
Where an electronic tendering system is being used, the provisions of paragraph 5.1 
h f h ll l t ti t di t th t t d ill b b itt d t th

Page 741



 128

 
 
5.2 

hereof shall apply mutatis mutandis except that tenders will be submitted to the 
electronic address specified by the Service inviting the Tenders and the system shall 
maintain an audit record of the date and time of receipt of tenders and shall provide 
that tenders received will not be capable of being opened except under the 
provisions of paragraph 6.1 hereof. 
 

6. TENDERING PROCEDURES  - OPENING OF TENDERS 
 

 6.1 Where the estimated cost is £100,000 or more, tenders will be opened physically or 
electronically by two officers appointed respectively by the Director of Corporate 
Services  and the Head of Strategic Finance in the presence of one Member as soon 
as possible after the closing date and within one working day thereof.  Where the 
estimated cost is below that amount, tenders will be opened by two officers, one from 
the relevant Service and one from Corporate Services, or Strategic Finance, and 
which failing from another Department.  Tenders will be opened at one time as soon 
as practicable after the time and date specified for the return of tenders.  No person 
who has a direct or indirect interest may attend the opening of tenders. 
 

 6.2 Immediately after a tender has been opened, the tender document will be signed by 
those opening the tenders, and such pages of it as are considered relevant will be 
suitably marked.  In respect of an electronic tender, an audit record will be 
maintained of the tender opening and the system will be required to prevent any 
amendments to the tender document after opening. 
 

 6.3 Those opening the tenders will complete and sign all tender record sheets received 
at the time of opening, stating the name of the tenderer and the value of the tender or 
that it is a schedule of rates and shall adhere to any department or corporate 
guidance on how this should be undertaken. 
 

 6.4 Tender record sheets shall be in a form or forms approved of from time to time by the 
Director of Corporate Services. 
 

7. TENDERING PROCEDURES - LATE TENDERS 
 

 7.1 Any competitive tender received after the time specified for the receipt of tenders will 
be rejected and will be returned promptly to the tenderer, and for that purpose only 
may be opened to ascertain the name of the tenderer but no details of the tender will 
be disclosed. 
 

 7.2 Except as otherwise provided in these Standing Orders and subject to the Freedom 
of Information (Scotland) Act 2002, and the Financial and Security Regulations, 
during the period between the opening of the tenders and the decision being made to 
accept any Tender an absolute obligation of preserving secrecy as to any tender 
amount, prices or rates will rest with Members and employees. 
 

8. TENDERING PROCEDURES - CORRECTIONS AND ASSESSMENT 
 

 8.1 The appropriate Director, or an Officer or Agent appointed by the Director for that 
purpose, will examine not fewer than the three lowest tenders (provided these three 

Page 742



 129

are within 10% of the lowest price, failing which only the lowest two tenders) for 
arithmetical errors and correct the errors where necessary.  If there are substantial 
errors in any of these then the other tenders, in ascending order of price, as 
tendered, will be examined likewise.  
 

 8.2 The three (or two) lowest Tenders as amended utilising paragraph 8.1,herof will then 
be examined for the purpose of identifying technical, professional and other non-
arithmetical errors in order to establish the tender representing best value for money.  
For this purpose the following procedure will apply - 
 

  (a) building works - the examination of tenders will be carried out in accordance 
with the principles of the Code of Procedure for Single Stage Selective 
Tendering published for the National Joint Consultative Committee for Building 
in force for the time being; 
 

  (b) civil engineering works - the examination of tenders will be carried out in 
accordance with Part 5 of Guidance on the Preparation, Submission and 
Consideration of Tenders for Civil Engineering Contracts produced by the ICE 
Conditions of Contract Standing Joint Committee in force for the time being; 
 

  (c) goods and services - the examination of tenders will be carried out in 
accordance with the principles of ensuring equity of consideration in terms of 
price, quality, fitness and appropriateness for the purpose. 
 

 8.3 Where the tender is in the form of a schedule of rates without quantities, the value of 
the tender will be the total amount estimated to be paid to the tenderer in the twelve 
months following acceptance of the tender.  When such tenders are being appraised, 
the basis of comparison will be determined by applying the rates tendered to the 
estimated quantities which are intended to be supplied.   
 

 8.4 The basis of the cost or any other factor of comparison such as quality   will be 
determined prior to the tenders for any contract  being opened. 
 

 8.5 
 
 
 
8.6 

If the value of the lowest tender  exceeds the budgeted sum then, subject to the 
provisions in the Council’s Security and Financial Regulations in relation to virement, 
the Director concerned will report to the SPC with his proposals as to whether to 
accept the tender and how to finance it or seek authority to re-tender. 
 
Where such factors other than cost are assessed the basis and criteria of such 
assessment will be recorded and retained with the tender record opening sheets.  
The Tender to be accepted shall be accepted in accordance with such criteria. 
 

9. TENDERING PROCEDURES - ACCEPTANCE 
 

 9.1 The following persons or Committees are authorised to approve the acceptance of 
tenders on behalf of the Council. 
 

  (a) Subject to sub-paragraph (b) below, the Director of Service concerned; 
 

  (b) the Strategic Policy Committee where it is proposed to accept a tender other 

Page 743



 130

than the most economically advantageous and the contract value exceeds 
£100,000. 
 

10. TENDERING PROCEDURES - CONTRACTS TO BE IN WRITING 
 

 10.1 Tenders which are approved for acceptance will be accepted under the hand of the 
appropriate Director if the proposed contract is under £100,000, and otherwise under 
the hand of the Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 10.2 Every contract will be in writing and will specify: 
 

  (a) the work, materials, matters or things to be provided, had or done, (including 
any appropriate technical specifications(s)); 
 

  (b) the price to be paid with a statement of discounts or other deductions, together 
with the arrangements for payment, including any retentions; 
 

  (c) the time or times within which the contract is to be performed, including any 
penalties for non-compliance; 
 

  (d) any other relevant matter relating to the due performance of the contract. 
 

11. TENDER REGISTER 
 

 11.1  The Director of Corporate Services will maintain a register of all tenders received in 
respect of contracts where the amount or value of the contract is estimated to be 
£100,000 or more  
 

 11.2 Each Director will maintain a register of all tenders received in respect of contracts 
where the amount or value of the contract is £50,000 or more but less than 
£100,000. 
 

 11.3 The register referred to in paragraphs 11.1 and 11.2 above will contain in respect of 
each contract  the Tender Record Sheet comprising: 
 

  (1) The name of the contract and/or any identifying code or number; 
 

  (2) The closing date and time for the receipt of tenders; 
 

  (3) The name of each contractor issued with tender documents; 
 

  (4) The name of each contractor who submitted a tender (whether or not the 
tender was subsequently held to be invalid) by the closing time; 
 

Page 744



 131

  (5) 
 
 
(6) 

The amount of each tender as noted at the opening of tenders or where the 
tender is based on a schedule of rates an entry to that effect. 
 
Where factors other than cost are assessed the basis and criteria of such 
assessment. 
 

  and any other information which the Director of Corporate Services may specify. 
 

 11.4 The registers will be open for inspection by any Officer who requires to audit any 
matter relating to any contract and by any Member (other than one who might have 
an interest in a contract in respect of the entry relating to that contract). 
 

12. EXCEPTIONS TO TENDERING PROCEDURE 
 

 12.1 Nothing in these Contract Standing Orders will require competitive tenders to be 
invited in the following circumstances always provided that when competitive tenders 
are not sought, the Director of Service must ensure that value for money is obtained 
and that the arrangements can be shown to be conducted in the best interests of the 
Council. 
 

  (a) the amount or value of the contract does not exceed £50,000 and in such 
cases the Director of Service concerned will have discretion as to the extent to 
which the tendering procedures set out in Contract Standing Orders 4 to 7 will 
be applied. 
 

  (b) where the Contract is for the hire, negotiated purchase or the purchase at 
auction of a vehicle/item of plant where the price does not exceed £150,000 in 
respect of any one item and where it is in the interests of the Council to secure 
the vehicle/plant at short notice. 
  

  (c) the Director of Service concerned deems it desirable to negotiate with a 
Council Service, subject always to the provisions of the Local Government 
Planning and Land Act and other relevant legislation. For works estimated to 
be below £25,000, at least three quotations in writing be sought and the lowest 
accepted, except that the appropriate Chief Officer may accept a single 
quotation if it is the only one submitted.  
 

  (d) in the case of contracts for the supply of goods or materials of a proprietary 
nature, or a proprietary process - 
 

   (i) these are sold only at a fixed price and no reasonably satisfactory 
alternative is available;  or 
 

   (ii) the prices are wholly controlled by a trade organisation or Government 
Order and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is available;  or 
 

   (iii) for other good and sufficient reasons, there would be no genuine 
competition. 

Page 745



 132

 
  (e) in relation to the procurement of Care (whether or not including the provision of 

education) Services for any adult or child – 
 

   (i) where service for an individual whose care needs cannot, in the 
opinion of the Director of Service concerned, be met by an existing 
contract, up to a value of £50,000 for a period not in excess of six 
months, during which the provision of those services will be brought 
within the contracting arrangements set out otherwise within these 
Standing Orders: 
 

   (ii) where in the opinion of the Director of Service concerned, the needs of 
an individual would be best met by a particular provider, and where 
there is only one provider capable of delivering this service to meet the 
needs of that individual, and where the nature of the service to be 
provided is such that it could not reasonably be adequately specified in 
advance because of the nature of the needs of that individual, the 
Director of Service concerned is authorised to negotiate the provision 
with an authorised provider. 
 

  (f) the contract is for the execution of work or the supply of goods to meet any 
immediate need created by a sudden emergency subject to advising the Chief 
Executive and to reporting to the Strategic Policy Committee  as soon as 
possible in respect of items which would otherwise require to be reported in 
terms of these Standing Orders; 
 

  (g) tenders will have been invited by or on behalf of any consortium, collaboration 
or similar body, of which the Council is a member, in accordance with 
arrangements or procedures adopted by that body; 
 

  (h) the Council is bound by the terms of any agreement, by insurance 
requirements or by the terms of a warranty to use a specified contractor; 
 

  (i) in the case of tenders for specialised work (including the supply and 
installation of specialised equipment) where the appropriate Director considers 
it in the best interests of the Council that tenders be invited for the execution of 
such work from a contractor or contractors selected, or negotiated with a 
contractor or contractors already engaged by the Council. 
 

  (j) where, in order to secure Best Value, the relevant Director considers it in the 
best interests of the Council to negotiate and conclude a contract with such 
existing contractors carrying out Housing & Property term maintenance work 
as the relevant Director may deem appropriate. 
 

 12.2 The provisions in relation to the receipt and acceptance of tenders in paragraphs 5 to 
9 hereof will not apply to tenders for sub-contracts invited by a Direct Labour 
Organisation of the Council which form part of a competitive tender, but all other 
provisions of these Standing Orders will apply. 

Page 746



 133

 
13. ASSIGNATION 

 
 13.1 In every contract for the execution of work or the supply of goods, materials or 

services, the following clause will be inserted - 
 

   The Contractor is prohibited from transferring or assigning directly or indirectly, 
to any person or persons whatever, any portion of the contract without the 
written permission of the Director of Service, or an officer authorised by that 
Director.  Sub-letting of any part(s) of the work, except to the extent permitted 
in writing by the officer authorised, is prohibited. 
 

14. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
 

 14.1 A contract which is estimated to exceed £100,000 in value or amount, and is for the 
execution of works or the supply of goods or materials by a particular date or series 
of dates may provide for liquidated damages which will be determined by the 
appropriate Service Director. 
 

 14.2 Where completion of a contract is delayed beyond the contract period, it will be the 
duty of the Director concerned to take appropriate action in respect of a claim for 
damages due under the terms of the contract 
 

15. PERFORMANCE BONDS 
 

 15.1 Where a contract is estimated to exceed £250,000, or in exceptional cases is for the 
execution of works or for the supply of goods or materials by a particular date or 
series of dates, the Director of Service concerned will consider whether the Council 
should require security for due performance and will either certify no such security is 
necessary or will specify in the conditions of tender the nature and the amount of the 
security to be given.  In the latter event, the Director of Corporate Services will 
require and take a bond or other sufficient security for the due performance of the 
contract. 
 

16. INDEMNITIES 
 

 16.1. All contracts will specify that the contractor will be required to indemnify the Council 
against - 
 

  (a) any claim which may be made in respect of Employers Liability against the 
Council or the Contractor by any workers employed by the contractor or any 
sub-contractor in the execution of the works;  and 
 

  (b) any claim for injury or damage to the persons or property of third parties; 
 

  and the contractor will, when required by the relevant Director produce satisfactory 
evidence that there is Employers Liability and Public Liability insurance against any 
such claims. 

Page 747



 134

 
17. SPECIFICATION AND STANDARDS 

 
 17.1 All tenders for the execution of works or the supply of goods, materials or services 

will be based on a definite specification appropriate to the requirements of the 
proposed contract. 
 

 17.2 All contracts, where a specification issued by the Agrément Board of the European 
Union or by the British Standards Institution or any other equivalent standard of any 
other EU state is current at the date of the tender and is applicable will require, as a 
minimum, that goods and materials used in the execution of the contract will be in 
accordance with that specification. 
 

 17.3 All contracts will contain provision for the compliance with all current Health and 
Safety legislation and Services will satisfy themselves as to the arrangements in 
place in this respect. 

18. PREVENTION OF FRAUD 
 

 18.1 In every contract a clause will be inserted to secure that the Council will be entitled to 
cancel the contract and to recover from the contractor the amount of any loss 
resulting from such cancellation - 
 

  - if the contractor has offered or given or agreed to give to any person any gift or 
consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or for not 
doing or having done or not having done any action in relation to obtaining, or 
the execution of, the contract or any other contract with the Council, or for 
showing favour or disfavour to any person in relation to the contract or any 
other contract with the Council. 
 

  - or if the like acts have been done by any person employed by the contractor or 
acting on the contractors behalf (whether with or without the knowledge of the 
contractor). 
 

  - or if in relation to any contract with the Council, the contractor or any person 
employed by, or acting on the contractor’s behalf, (whether with or without the 
knowledge of the contractor) will have committed any offences under the 
Prevention  of Corruption Acts, or will have given any fee or reward the receipt 
of which is an offence under Section 68 of the Local Government (Scotland) 
Act 1973. 

19. APPOINTMENT OF NOMINATED SUB-CONTRACTORS 
 

 19.1 Where a contract provides for the appointment of a nominated sub-contractor or 
supplier for the execution of work or the supply of goods or materials, and is 
considered necessary to invite tenders then the following provisions will apply - 
 

  (a) tenders will be invited and processed in accordance with Contract Standings 
Orders 4  to 11; 
 

Page 748



 135

     
  (b) the most economically advantageous tenderer will be nominated as the sub-

contractor or supplier unless consent has been obtained from the Strategic 
Policy Committee or the relevant Director as appropriate to the acceptance for 
some good and sufficient reason of a tender other than the lowest in 
accordance with Standing Order 9. 
 
 

20. ENGAGEMENT OF CONSULTANTS 
 

 20.1 It will be a condition of the engagement of the services of any architect, engineer, 
surveyor or other consultant who is to be responsible to the Council for, or to be 
involved in, the process of obtaining or assessing tenders, or for the supervision of a 
contract on the Council’s behalf, that in relation to that contract they will - 
 

  (a) comply with these Contract Standing Orders, subject to the modification that 
the procedure to be followed in inviting and opening tenders will be approved 
in advance by the Director of Corporate Services. 
 

  (b) at any time during the carrying out of the contract, produce to the appropriate 
Director (or authorised officer) on request, all relevant records in relation to the 
contract;  and 
 

  (c) on certified completion of a contract by the consultant, transmit appropriate 
records to the Director concerned. 
 

21. FINAL CERTIFICATE 
 

 21.1 The final certificate of payment of a contract should not be issued until there has 
been approved by the Director, or nominee under arrangements approved by 
her/him, a detailed statement of account, with all vouchers and documents as may 
reasonably be required, relating to prime cost items and particulars, deductions, 
omissions and price variations. 
  

22. CONTRACT PAYMENTS AND OTHER PROVISIONS 
 

 22.1 Where contracts provide for payment to be made by instalments, arrangements will 
be made by the appropriate Director in consultation with the Head of Strategic 
Finance, for keeping a contract register to show the state of account on each 
contract between the Council and the contractor together with any other payments 
and related professional fees. 
 

 22.2 Payments to contractors by instalment, or on account, will be made only on a 
certificate issued by the appropriate Director (or other authorised officer) or by a 
consultant engaged by the Council for the purpose of supervising the contract. 
 

 22.3 Subject to the provisions of the contract, in each case, every extra or variation will be 
authorised in writing by the appropriate Director (or other authorised officer) or by a 

Page 749



 136

consultant engaged by the Council for the purpose of supervising the contract. 
 

 22.4 All such extras or variations will, in respect of contracts where the contract value 
exceeds £100,000 be reported to the Strategic Policy Committee  as soon as 
practicable if the cumulative effect of these is to increase the value of the contract by 
10%. 
 

 22.5 Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the terms of any 
contract will be referred to the Director of Corporate Services for consideration of the 
Council’s liability and, where necessary, to the Head of Strategic Finance in respect 
of any significant financial consideration before a settlement is reached. 

23 CONTRACT TERMS AND THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION (SCOTLAND) ACT 2002. 
 

 23.1 In agreeing contract terms Directors shall have regard to the terms of the Freedom of 
Information (Scotland) Act 2002 and should refuse to accept provisions in the 
contract which resist the disclosure of information held, or to be held, by the Council 
and relating to the contract. Where, exceptionally, it is necessary to include non-
disclosure provisions in a contract, agreement should be reached in relation to the 
constitution of a schedule to the contract identifying information which should not be 
disclosed and information which may be released. 
 

24. MONITORING AND REVIEW 
 

 24.1 The Director of Corporate Services will keep under review from time to time the 
contents of these Standing Orders, as determined by the Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 750



 137

 
Appendix 1 
 
The Purpose of the Strategy 
 

The development of this strategy is aimed at ensuring that the Council buys the goods and 
services it needs in the most economically advantageous manner, while according with the 

overall aims and objectives of the Council. This recognises the importance of a procurement 
strategy towards meeting the Council’s statutory duty of best value. 

 
The strategy outlines the principles the Council will adhere to in carrying out all of its 
procurement activities.  Those are in accordance with the organisation’s overall ethos of 
conducting business by fair and lawful practices, with transparency a key factor in every 
transaction.   
 
The structure adopted by the Council for carrying out procurement is designed to be cost 
effective and capable of responding to the dynamic purchasing environment now existing 
within the Scottish Public Sector.  The light structure operating at a corporate level 
acknowledges the support provided to the Council by the Authorities Buying Consortium.  It 
also allows the Council to build on its core strengths in purchasing at present; the knowledge 
of the existing buyers in both the geographical environment in which they operate and the 
requirements of the operations they are involved with. 
 
Argyll and Bute Council recognises the value of existing relationships with suppliers and 
contractors and the strategy seeks to begin the process of documenting and strengthening 
those relationships.  Local businesses in particular have a valuable role in supporting the 
work of the local authority and the strategy is aimed at removing barriers to those, often 
smaller companies, providing best value to the Council. 
 
There is a solid base of sensible purchasing within the Council at present and many examples 
of best practice exist.  It is important that those areas are strengthened and that the 
knowledge possessed by the few is communicated to the many. 
 
 
The Layout of the Strategy 
            
1 Principles           
 

The basic tenets of how the Council intends to conduct its procurement. 
 
2 Purchasing Environment       
 

Procurement within the Scottish Public Sector is presently being influenced by collaborative 
initiatives, Scottish Executive initiatives, and EU legislation.  

 
3 Social and Environmental Well being     
 
This covers the steps the Council will take as it conducts its procurement activities with proper 
regard for Social Inclusion, Race Equality and Equal Opportunities as well as environmental 

issues such as product sustainability and recycling. 
 
4 Procurement Structure             
 
How the Council is structuring its own procurement function, including the levels of training for 

staff for who it is not their main activity. 
 
5 Supplier Relationships            
 

Outlining the nature of the relationship the Council intends to develop with suppliers and 
contractors, and describing the categories the Council will adopt. 

 

Page 751



 138

6 Procurement Information            
 

The Council’s approach to publishing information on procurement, taking cognisance of the 
requirements of the Freedom of Information Act. 

 
 

7 eProcurement Strategy             
 

The Council has joined the eProcurement Scotl@nd service.  The strategy for installing this 
service for all of the Council’s buying and the thinking behind the implementation chosen. 

 
8 Key Objectives              
 

This takes the form of a table detailing the key objectives the Council intends to achieve as 
the strategy is put in place. 

 
 
 
1 Procurement Principles 
 
Nine procurement principles have been identified as follows: 
 
1.1 Procurement should be a viable tool in the promotion of the Councils Goals and 

Values and in delivering the aims and objectives contained within the 
Corporate Plan.  

 
1.2 Procurement will be carried out under the terms of the Council’s Standing Orders 

and will be guided by the detailed procedures for purchasing developed by the 
Council. 

 
1.3 Procurement should be carried out in line with current legislation to deliver 

competition, sustainability, equal opportunities and ultimately best value for the 
Council.  The process will be transparent and allow accountability. 

 
1.4 Best Value will be achieved by obtaining Most Economically Advantageous Tender, 

taking into account full life costs and non – financial aspects of the purchase.  
Purchasing will be driven by desired outputs and results. 

 
1.5 Providers should be able to meet the needs of the current and future needs of the 

Council and in arranging procurement, the needs of the local economy should 
be taken into account, as permitted by existing legislation and always in pursuit 
of best value. 

 
1.6 Officers managing major contracts should be capable through qualification and 

experience, or have access to professional guidance, to be able to ensure the 
sound management and monitoring of contracts.  The Council will provide 
sufficient training for all staff required to undertake procurement duties. 

 
1.7 The procurement function should be carried out in an effective but streamlined 

manner, which delivers added value without duplication of effort. 
 
1.8 For any procurement which involves the transfer of any staff currently employed by 

the Council, their future terms and conditions of employment shall, as far as is 
legally possible be protected by the Council. 

 
1.9 Suppliers and contractors to the Council are part of the resources of the Council 

and are not adversaries.  The Council will work to encourage continued 
participation in contracts by high quality bidders. 

 
 
2 The Purchasing Environment 
 

Page 752



 139

2.1 Local Authorities in Scotland are operating in a purchasing environment that is 
governed by a number of factors. 

 
2.2 The general economic situation will influence the availability of raw materials, 

manufactured goods and services and for individual commodities this can at times be 
influenced by the activities of the public sector. 

 
2.3 The legislative environment is governed by the EU Procurement Directives, 

compliance with which impels a local authority into adopting a more organised and 
co-ordinated purchasing regime.  The Public Sector Procurement Directive 
2004/18/EC will come into force in Scotland on or before January 2006.  To comply 
with this directive an authority needs to have an overall awareness of what it is buying 
and is likely to buy. 

 
2.4 Guidance in Best Practice is available from two major reviews concerning 

procurement carried out during the last six years. 
 

2.5 Rethinking Construction came from a report by the Construction Task Force chaired 
by John Egan in 1998.  The Rethinking Construction initiative involves client 
organisations moving away from a concentration on lowest price and involves 
focusing instead on more sustainable partnership working with contractors.  The 
programme has established tools to support performance measurement, 
benchmarking and continuous improvement.   

 
2.6 The Byatt Report, Delivering Better Services for Citizens, was delivered in June 2001.  

Thirteen of the thirty-nine recommendations of the report were directed at the 
procurement function within an authority.  The report found that procurement was 
largely driven by the annual budget and focused on short-term savings.  It 
emphasised the need for authorities to develop a procurement strategy, which relates 
the procurement function to the overall aims and objectives of the authority and takes 
account of factors such as sustainability and includes consideration of broader 
objectives such as economic and social regeneration. 

 
2.7 The development of a National Procurement Initiative is likely within the near future 

and will affect local authority procurement practices generally. 
 

2.8 Argyll and Bute Council is currently a member of the Authorities buying Consortium, 
covering the twelve local authorities in the West of Scotland.  The Council is aware of 
the benefits of continued membership, through both the buying power of the larger 
organisation and the access to a pool of professional procurement expertise. 

 
2.9 Where appropriate the Council will consider the use of public sector framework 

contracts including those negotiated by the Scottish Executive, and the Office of 
Government Computing including S-CAT, G-CAT and GTC. 

 
2.10 The Council continues to play a major part in the West of Scotland collaboration 

initiative, which seeks to widen the scope of the joint purchasing between the twelve 
Councils.  This is seen as a model for an eventual wider collaboration in purchasing 
within the public sector in Scotland.  The Scottish Executive is actively promoting the 
concept of collaborative buying and is supporting this through the Efficient 

Page 753



 140

Government Fund.  Renfrewshire Council and Glasgow City Council have jointly 
submitted a bid on the Efficient Government Fund to obtain funding for further 
promotion of collaborative buying, and this council has indicated a willingness to 
participate. 

 
2.11 The Council will continue to monitor developments in England led through the Office 

of the Deputy Prime Minister which has seen the development of a number of 
Regional Centres of Procurement Excellence alongside the continuation of various 
local buying consortia. 

 
2.12 The Council is also committed to the eProcurement Scotl@nd programme, supported 

by the Scottish Executive. 
 
 
3 Promoting Social and Environmental Wellbeing 
 
3.1 Argyll and Bute Council’s procurement practices will reflect the Council’s commitment 

to social inclusion, equal opportunities and Racial Equality. 
 

Social Inclusion 
 
3.2 The Council will work with organisations from the social sector to remove any barriers, 

real or perceived, which hinder the ability of those organisations to trade with the 
Council. 

 
3.3 The Council will support trade with organisations committed to the employment of 

disadvantaged members of society as defined in the EU Procurement Directive. 
 
3.4 The Council will strive to remove barriers to small and medium sized companies who wish 

to trade with the Council and will, within the overall framework of best value 
purchasing, seek to support local communities and local employment. 

 
Equal Opportunities 

 
3.5 The Council will require suppliers and contractors to trade in a manner that conforms 

to equal opportunities legislation 
 

Race Equality 
 

3.6 The Council will ensure that its procurement policies and practices 
support and promote race equality by; 

 
• Insisting that suppliers to the Council share the Council’s equality goals 
• Taking account of equality considerations in our selection and tendering 

processes. 
• Monitoring compliance by suppliers and contractors 
• Ensuring staff involved in procurement are properly trained and aware of 

equality issues 
• Including appropriate terms and conditions in tender documents 

 
Sustainability 

 
3.7 The Council will seek to procure goods and services from sources that meet the criteria of 

sustainability, either by requiring adherence to relevant assurance schemes or by 
specifying conditions that equate to those followed by existing schemes. 

3.8 The Council will seek to remove barriers to local small businesses competing for work, in 
order to promote sustainability within the Council area. 

Page 754



 141

 
Use of Recycled Materials 

 
3.9 The Council will seek to encourage the use of recycled materials whenever these can 

be purchased at minimal or no extra cost and can be used without adverse effect on 
the service provided.  A clause to this effect will be added to all tender documents 

and will form part of the evaluation criteria for tendered goods. 
 
 
 
 

 
“Promoting equality through procurement matters.  All groups in our communities, whatever 
their ethnic origin, have a right to expect that public money is spent on local services which 
suit their needs – and that it is spent in a way which promotes equality of opportunity and 
delivers high quality goods and services.” Commission for Racial Equality 
 
4 The Procurement Structure 
 
4.1 In organising the procurement structure, the Council wishes to harness the benefits of 

professional procurement expertise without losing operational and local knowledge 
from the sourcing and buying process.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

     Strategy 
 
 

   Strategy    Strategy 
 
 
 
 

   Content    Content 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.2 A network of procurement leaders will be established throughout the Council, 
concentrating on the main areas of buying. Departmental procurement leaders are 
drawn from staff whose main function involves a substantial buying role. 

 
4.3 The Corporate Procurement Leader is a qualified purchasing officer, fulfilling a co-

ordination role and continuing to develop a professional ethos within purchasing 
throughout the Council. They are responsible for developing corporate standards and 
guidance on procurement, for promoting collaborative buying, and procurement best 
practice aimed at maximising value to the council in all purchasing.  As part of the co-
ordination role, the corporate procurement leader will meet regularly with the 
departmental procurement leaders and representatives from Legal Services to ensure 
that there is a full sharing of knowledge on the legal and operational aspects of 
procurement within the Council. The corporate procurement team is also responsible 

Procurement 
Board 

Corporate 
Procurement 
Team Commodity or 

Departmental
Leaders 

Authorities 
buying 

consortium Catalogue 
Control 
thro’Pecos

Order Points 

Page 755



 142

for the administration of the eProcurement system and the management of catalogue 
content. 

 
4.4 The procurement roles are divided as detailed in the table below.  This shows the 

split in responsibilities of the corporate procurement team and the responsibilities in 
departments for devolved procurement. 

 
 

CORPORATE PROCUREMENT DEVOLVED PROCUREMENT 
 

Organising procurement of general services 
and goods used across Council services 
 

Organising specialist procurement such as 
IT, civil engineering, educational supplies etc 

Managing Council’s role within West of 
Scotland Collaborative Initiative, and 
ensuring there is Council participation in 
commodity categories where there is a 
buying interest 
 

Providing membership on relevant 
commodity groups established to develop the 
collaborative initiative 

Making appropriate procurement training 
available within the Council to allow buying 
staff to acquire skills appropriate to their 
duties. 
 

Attendance at training as required and 
ensuring that correct staff within services are 
allocated appropriate training when it is 
available 

Identifying key suppliers to the Council and 
ensuring that arrangements are in place to 
manage the contracts that bind both parties 
 

Taking roles as contract owners or 
attendance on authorities buying consortium 
user groups 

Organising better buying initiatives for the 
Council  
 

Identifying deficiencies in purchasing 

Managing process of transfer from paper 
based systems to eProcurement 
 

Ensuring contract changes are reflected in e-
catalogues 

Ensuring that Council tendering practice 
complies with EU rules 
 

Ensuring that individual contracts do not 
breach EU Procurement rules 

Ensuring that departmental staff are aware 
of, and apply contract standing orders in 
supplier selection 

Managing restricted lists of contractors either 
internally or through organisations such as 
ConstructionLine 
 

 
4.5 Training for staff involved in buying will be carried out at a level appropriate to the 

extent of each individual’s involvement with the procurement process.  This will range 
from attendance at CIPS and other courses for staff who carry out large scale 
purchasing activities to brief in-house training days for those with a lesser or small 
scale involvement.  Training will be arranged to be complementary to professional 
skills, which staff may already possess. 

 
4.6 All levels of training will include an appreciation of EU procurement rules, Argyll and 

Bute Council Standing Orders, Best Practice and Equal Opportunities, Social 
Inclusion and Race Equality policies. 

 
4.7 The Council will also ensure, in order to minimise procurement risk, that all staff 

involved in project management receive proper training in project management skills 
suited to their sphere of operations. 

 
 
 
 

Page 756



 143

“Local authorities should develop a corporate procurement function to collect management 
information, oversee devolved buying, co-ordinate training and act as an internal source of 
expertise.” Byatt Report Recommendation No 5 
 
5 Supplier Relationships 
 
5.1 The Council ascribes to the view that Best Value procurement is obtained through 

purchasing wherever possible from companies that hold a valid, competitively 
obtained contract with the Council or another body acting on behalf of the Council.  
Off-contract buying will therefore be eliminated and only suppliers holding contracts 
will, in the main, have dealings with the Council.  This will serve to maximise the 
Council’s spend within those contracts and will, by rationalising the number of 
suppliers that the Council deals with, aid the management of the supplier base and 
allow increased efficiencies in the Purchase-to-Pay process.  It will also ensure 
adherence to Council Financial Regulations and Standing Orders. 

 
5.2 The Council will include in its value measurement, where material, the additional benefit 

in terms of specific knowledge and response that can be provided from employing 
local contractors and trading with local suppliers. 

 
5.3 The Council recognises that suppliers and contractors play a vital role in the provision of 

services to the people of Argyll and Bute and form part of the resource that is 
available to the Council.  It is therefore crucial that the Council understands the 
importance of each external company to the Council’s supply chain and develops 
relationships that reflect this. 

 
5.4 The following criteria will be used to determine the sensitivity to the Council of a change in 

the trading position of a supplier and the relationship established will be aimed at 
either influencing the trading regime and taking opportunities to benefit from an 
improving relationship or giving maximum notice of an adverse change. 

 
Key Suppliers 

 
5.5 These are defined as suppliers where any or all of the following apply: 
 

• Council spend in excess of £250k per annum 
• The supplier operates in a monopoly situation or is in a dominant market position, 

either nationally or across the Council area OR the company holds a long term 
contract with the Council 

• The supply or service is vital to the provision of a Council service and no ready 
alternatives are available 

 
5.6 Each of the key supply areas will be managed through the letting of a formal term 

contract.  The contract document in each case will define a level of contact between 
the supplier and the Council.  The Council will appoint a contract owner with 
responsibility for co-ordinating and managing the relationship between the Council 
and the supplier under the contract. 

5.7 In cases where a key supplier has been appointed on a contract let by the authorities 
buying consortium the Council’s contract owner will be their representative on the abc 
user group. 

 
5.8 A risk assessment will be prepared for each of the key supply areas, to analyse the effect 

on Council services of changes to the contract conditions, either on price at renewal, 
or in changes in level of performance.  

 
5.9 The methods of procurement of key suppliers will be reviewed on a regular basis not 

exceeding the term of the contract by an officer from the central procurement team, 
the contract owner and the ultimate users.   The views of the supplier will also be 
sought and formally recorded at this time.  This review will include an option appraisal 
and an updating of the risk assessment.   

 

Page 757



 144

Regular Suppliers 
 
5.10 These are defined as suppliers where they: 
 

• Will have a term contract or framework agreement with the Council for the 
provision of supplies or services. 

 
5.11 This type of supplier will make up the Council’s main supplier base.  The Council will 

ensure that following the award of a contract on the basis of best value criteria, that 
all relevant purchases are made within the framework of the contract.   

 
Occasional Suppliers (Not meeting any of the above criteria) 

 
5.12 Suppliers in this category will be limited to those falling into any of the 
following categories: 

 
• Suppliers providing bespoke services e.g. in construction or consultancy 

contracts, where individual tendering or quotation procedures will be used, as per 
the Council’s standing orders; 

• Those providing specialist or unusual supplies, which the Council would not 
normally be involved in the purchase of; 

• Supplies of very low value. 
 
 
“Local authorities should, at an early stage, map their procurement activities using techniques 
such as low/high risk and low/high value matrices.  They should identify the areas where 
procurement resources can have the most impact and the appropriate skills and techniques 
for each type of procurement.”  Byatt Report Recommendation No 8 
 
 
6 Procurement Information 
 
6.1 The Council will ensure full disclosure of information relating to procurement activity 

as required by the Freedom of Information Act and recognises the genuine benefits 
that suppliers to the Council as well as the general public can derive from this 

approach. The Council will however seek to protect the legitimate business interests 
of those parties that it contracts with in the following manner: 

 
• By ensuring that bidders and suppliers are made aware of the implications of 

the Act when they submit information by including specific clauses within pre 
qualification documentation, invitations to tender, etc.; 

 
• By will invoking exemptions that protect bidders and suppliers legitimate 

commercial concerns; 
 

• By consulting with bidders and suppliers where there is doubt whether 
requested information could be damaging to their interests. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 758



 145

 
 
 

8 eProcurement Strategy 
 

8.1 Argyll and Bute Council is one of the Scottish Councils to have joined the eProcurement 
Scotl@nd service and has a clear vision of how the purchase to pay process should 
operate when the implementation is complete and universal across the Council.  

 
8.2 The content of all purchase orders will be approved following a predetermined approval 

hierarchy before issue to suppliers, and purchases wherever appropriate will be made 
from catalogues holding contracted goods at contract prices.  This moves the 
approval process from approval of invoices to approval of orders – being the time of 
making the contractual commitment. 

 
8.3 Managers within the Council will be able to view and report on all purchasing activity 

within the operational unit they control. 
 

8.4 eProcurement is a communication tool for the Council, which will allow staff in outlying 
establishments to easily access the optimum contractual arrangements available.  At 
the same time the Council will assemble detailed management information on 
purchasing patterns, allowing optimum value to be gained from purchasing 
arrangements. 

 
8.5 The Council make use of purchasing cards and this will continue and be expanded under 

eProcurement as part of the commitment to reduce process costs and speed up 
payments to suppliers. 

 
8.6 The Council aims to have all suppliers’ invoices delivered direct to the creditors section, 

where they will be matched with orders and receipts using the eProcurement 
technology, before being processed for payment.  Electronic workflow technologies 
introduced into the creditors section will allow for a paperless process, generating 
back-office savings on storage, copying and retrieval and invoice matching and 
payment approval. 

 
8.7 The eProcurement system is integrated to the Councils payables ledger and the general 

ledger to further automate the purchase to pay process.  Further integration is under 
development to provide commitment and accrual information to the general ledger, 
improving budget monitoring facilities within the Council.  There are also proposals to 
allow direct access from the general ledger to scanned images of invoices to improve 
visibility of expenditure. 

 
8.8 The Council will continue to develop the functionality of eProcurement in conjunction with 

the other members within the Scottish Public Sector and will seek to explore the 
benefits of e-tendering and e-auctions. 

 
8.9 It is intended in the longer term to extend the use of eProcurement to incorporate both 

consolidated and self billing to allow the Council to make further efficiencies through 
the purchase to pay process. 

 
 

Page 759



 146

 
 

The eProcurement Scotl@nd service is one of the most comprehensive and successful 
Public Sector eGovernment initiatives in the world. The service adopts a common platform 
and approach to public sector procurement that delivers rapid, sustainable and significant 

benefits to participating organisations. As Deputy Minister for Finance and Public Services I 
have a personal commitment to drive forward public sector excellence, focused on achieving 

the best value for government, for business and the Scottish people who rely upon us for 
services. I believe that the eProcurement Scotl@nd service contributes significantly to 

achieving this. 
 

eProcurement Scotl@nd plays a key role in making Scotland the best and easiest place for 
suppliers to do business with the public sector. By bringing together local government, the 

NHS and central government in Scotland eProcurement Scotl@nd contributes significantly 
to providing the public services required to meet the challenges of the 21st Century. The 

service is now well established, and growing as more public sector organisations and their 
suppliers join. It continues to stimulate the transformation of Public Sector procurement in 
Scotland for the benefit of all participants. eProcurement Scotl@nd brings real joined up 

government. That is why it has my support. 
 
 

TAVISH SCOTT,  
Deputy Minister for Finance, Public Services and Parliamentary Business 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 760



 147

9 Key Objectives 
 

9.1 The strategy will be driven by the completion of each of the required actions listed 
below within a three-year term. 

 
9.2 Standards and Governance 

 
POSITION STATEMENT OBJECTIVE ACTION REQUIRED 
Council standing orders 

constructed along traditional 
lines 

Standing Orders able to 
cover e-tendering and e-

auctions, electronic ordering 
and visa purchasing 

Review Standing orders 

No formal measures taken to 
minimise risk in procurement 

The Council to have 
measures in place to protect 

service against failure of 
individual contractors / 

suppliers or vagaries within 
overall marketplace  

Risk analysis to be carried 
out in key contract areas 

Awareness of purchasing 
contracts in place comes 

from line management, abc 
catalogue or ePS system 

All staff who purchase should 
be aware of all relevant 

Council contracts in place 

Produce and maintain central 
register of all purchasing 

contracts available to Council 
staff 

The Council complies to the 
best of it’s ability with EU 

Procurement Rules 

100% compliance with EU 
Procurement Rules 

Contracts to be put in place 
to cover all relevant 
commodity groups 

A substantial proportion of 
Council spend is outwith 

contracts. 

Council spend to be directed 
through formal contracts 

Increase both in incidence 
and use of formal contracts. 

The procurement practices of 
the Council are formed on 

tradition and custom  

Council to ensure existing 
practices are measured 

against best practice 

Carry out Procurement 
Reviews across major 

spending areas of Council 
The Council has no formal 
procedures for encouraging 

local purchasing 

Council to have policies in 
place to ensure local 

businesses have 
opportunities to demonstrate 
benefits of local purchasing 

Engage with local businesses 
and front line staff to 

establish benefits of local 
purchasing and existing 

barriers 
 
 
 

9.3 Staff Development 
 

POSITION STATEMENT OBJECTIVE ACTION REQUIRED 
The Council currently relies 
on the inherent skills and 

knowledge of staff 
undertaking procurement 

duties 

To have staff involved in 
procurement aware of the 

rules, environment and skills 
available to them 

Staff to be given training in 
procurement appropriate to 

their involvement 

The Council currently has no 
purchasing procedures in 

place.  Standing orders are 
available to staff within the 

public folders 

Staff to have purchasing 
procedures and standing 

orders readily available when 
they are involved in 

procurement activities 

Detailed purchasing 
procedures to be developed 

and placed in accessible 
location within intranet. 

 
 

9.4 Electronic Procurement 
 

POSITION STATEMENT OBJECTIVE ACTION REQUIRED 
The Council have invested in 

the ePS electronic 
procurement service. 

To have all purchase orders 
placed through the electronic 

system. 

Continuing introduction of 
electronic ordering to all 

service areas of the Council 
 
 

Page 761



 148

9.5 Value for Money 
 

POSITION STATEMENT OBJECTIVE ACTION REQUIRED 
The Council has some very 

competitive contracts in 
place, which are not 

universally used. 

To ensure that the Council 
takes full advantage of the 
best deals it can achieve 

To increase on-contract 
spending throughout the 

Council 

The purchase to pay system 
operates along traditional 
lines and is paper based.   

To streamline the system, 
reducing back-office costs 

and improving payment 
performance 

Development of electronic 
order system along with 

electronic workflow within 
creditors section 

The wide variety of goods 
purchased by the Council 
makes it difficult to apply 

leverage in contracts. 

To access greater 
purchasing power through 

collaboration with other 
organisations in the Scottish 

public sector. 

Continue to play major part in 
West of Scotland 

collaborative initiative and 
seek new and innovative 

partnership arrangements in 
procurement. 

 
 
 
 
 

9.6 Procurement Reviews 
 

POSITION STATEMENT OBJECTIVE ACTION REQUIRED 
No formal reviews carried 

out. 
To have all completed formal 
reviews of procurement for all 

major commodity groups. 

Procurement Board to agree 
a cyclical programme of 

procurement reviews and 
ensure recommendations are 

implemented. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 762



 149

 

 
 
 
 

ARGYLL  
AND 
BUTE 

COUNCIL 
 
 

ETHICAL FRAMEWORK 
 

PART F 
 

  Page 
1. Standards Committee Terms of Reference 

 
58 

2. Guidelines – Conduct of Employees 
 

151 

3. Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
 

160 

4. Public Interest Disclosure Policy (see Anti-Fraud 
Strategy Appendix 2) 
 

114 

5. Scheme of Payment of Members Allowances 165 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 763



 150

 
ARGYLL  AND  BUTE  COUNCIL 

 
GUIDELINES - CONDUCT OF EMPLOYEES 

 
 
1.  INTRODUCTION  
 
This Code of Conduct brings together guidance and instructions for all employees on a number of issues 
which occasionally give rise for concern.  The public is entitled to expect and to demand of a local 
government employee conduct of the highest standard.  The Council expects each employee to exhibit the 
highest standards of personal integrity in going about the Council’s business.  We are all public servants and 
we should take care that the impression which we create within the community we serve is the appropriate 
one.   There are a number of specific areas where more detailed comment is necessary, although this 
guidance cannot possibly address all possible circumstances. 
 
The Code incorporates “The Seven Principles of Public Life” identified by the Nolan Committee on 
Standards in Public Life.  These are listed below, altered slightly to place them in a local government 
context.   
 
Selflessness  
 
You should not take decisions which will result in any financial or other benefit to yourself, your family, or 
your friends.  Decisions should be based solely on the Council’s best interests. 
 
Integrity 
 
You should not place yourself under any financial or other obligation to an individual or an organisation 
which might influence you in your work with the Council. 
 
Objectivity 
 
Any decisions which you make in the course of your work with the Council, including making appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits, must be based solely on merit. 
 
Accountability 
 
You are accountable to your Council as your employer.  Your Council, in turn, is accountable to the public. 
 
Openness 
 
You should be as open as possible in all the decisions and actions you take.  You should give reasons for 
your decisions and should not restrict information unless this is clearly required by Council policy or by the 
law. 
 
 
 
Honesty 
 
You have a duty to declare any private interests which might affect your work with the Council. 
 
Leadership 
 
If you are a manager, you should promote and support these principles by your leadership and example. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 764



 151

2.  GENERAL  
 
Directors should take appropriate steps to ensure that employees are familiar with the appropriate 
rules of personal conduct which the law and the Council’s Standing Orders, Financial and Security 
Regulations, Contract Standing Orders, and Scheme of Administration and Delegations require and 
the guidance contained in this code. It is the Director’s responsibility to make sure that employees 
are aware of this code of conduct, but employees  must make sure they adhere to the guidelines 
provided.  If in any doubt, an employee should seek advice from his/her Line Manager/Head 
Teacher. 

 
You may have contact with members of the public as users of services, clients or citizens.  You should 
always be courteous and helpful.  You should deal fairly, equitably and consistently with each member of the 
public, and you must follow the Council’s Equal Opportunities Policy. 
 
The public expects you to carry out your duties in a politically neutral way, and this must be respected by 
councillors.  The political activities of a small number of employees are restricted by law. 
 
You must serve the Council and all councillors, regardless of their political outlook.  The Chief Executive and 
senior officers have ultimate responsibility to help ensure that the policies of the Council are implemented. 
 
If you are asked by a councillor to provide assistance with a matter which is clearly party political or which 
does not have a clear link with the work of the Council, you should politely refuse and inform the councillor 
that you are referring the matter to your line manager.  The Chief Executive will decide whether attendance 
requested by a political group at any meeting is appropriate and which employee or employees should 
attend. 
 
Directors will issue copies of these procedures and related regulations to the appropriate employees.  
Employees who wish to see a copy of the regulations should contact their Line Manager/Head Teacher.  
Failure to adhere to these Guidelines will be investigated and could lead to disciplinary action. 
 
 
3.  MONETARY INTEREST AND CONTRACTS  
 
Section 68 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 obliges employees of the Council to give written 
notice to the Council of any interest which s/he has in any contract or proposed contract with the Council.  
This deals with direct or indirect issues involving money, and there are detailed legal provisions about this.  
Whether or not a direct issue involving money exists is a matter of fact in individual cases.   An example of 
an indirect issue involving money is if an employee is a member of a company or other body with which a 
contract is made or proposed, or is a partner or is in the employment of a person with whom the contract is 
made or proposed.  It is a criminal offence not to give written notice. 
 
A register of monetary interests of all staff is held by the Director of Corporate Services and it is each 
individual employee’s responsibility to ensure that details of such interests are passed to the Director of 
Corporate Services to keep the register up to date. 
 
The following questions should help to decide whether direct or indirect monetary interest exists: 
 
1. Will you, your family, or friends receive money or benefit in some other way from your actions? 
 
2. Would your involvement in this issue be inappropriate or place you under pressure in relation to current 

or future issues involving the Council? 
 
3. Could you justify your involvement to the Council, press and public? 
 
4. Are you comfortable with your decision? 
 
If at any time an employee thinks s/he may be affected by these provisions, they should seek advice. 
 
4.  GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY  
 
The law of Scotland does not allow Local Government employees and other public servants to take gifts, 
hospitality etc. 

Page 765



 152

 
In terms of the Public Bodies (Corrupt Practices) Act, 1889, it is a criminal offence for a Local Government  
employee to receive, or for a person to give “any gift, reward or advantage whatsoever.” 
 
A further criminal offence is provided by section 68(2) of the Local Government (Scotland) Act, 1973:- 
 
“ An employee of a Local Authority shall not, under the colour of his employment, accept any fee or reward 
whatsoever other than his proper remuneration.” 
 
(a) Gifts 
 
The acceptance of gifts by employees from persons who have or may want to deal with the Council could be 
viewed by the public with suspicion and would make the employee concerned, and the Council, vulnerable 
to criticism.  Employees should therefore tactfully refuse any personal gift offered to him/her or to a member 
of his/her family by any person who has or seeks dealings with the Authority and the offer should be 
reported to the Director of the department concerned. 
 
The only exception to this rule is a modest gift given in certain circumstances.  These gifts are usually given 
at Christmas time and take the form of calendars and diaries or similar for use in the office.  Employees must 
be careful.  An expensive gift should raise a question in the mind of an employee even if it  is a type of gift 
which might otherwise be considered to be acceptable.  If in doubt the advice of the Director of the 
department concerned should be obtained.  When a gift is to be refused this should be done with tact. 
 
The following check list of questions should help to decide whether an offer of gifts should be accepted or 
tactfully rejected - 

 
1. Does the person giving the gift have a high profile in the community or in the Council’s area? 

2. What is the motivation behind the gift? 

3. Would acceptance of the gift be in any way inappropriate, or place you under pressure in relation to any 
current or future issue involving the Council? 

4. Could you justify the decision to the Council, press and public? 

5. Is the nature of the gift reasonable and appropriate? 

6. How will you respond to the gift? 

7. Are you comfortable with your decision? 
 
(b)  Hospitality 
 
Employees should treat with caution any offer of hospitality that is made to them personally.  The person or 
organisation making the offer may be doing or seeking to do business with the Council or may be applying to 
the Council for planning permission or some other kind of decision.  You are personally responsible for all 
decisions connected with the acceptance of an offer of hospitality and for avoiding the risk of damage to 
public confidence in Local Government. 
 
 
In general terms, employees should refuse offers of hospitality where any suggestion of improper influence 
is likely.  In particular, caution is necessary where hospitality is offered by a person or body having or 
seeking business with, or a decision from, the Council. 
 
The following check list of questions should help to decide whether an offer of  hospitality should be 
accepted or tactfully rejected - 
 
1. Does the donor, or event, have a high profile in the community or in the Council’s area? 

2. Are you expected to attend because of your position in the community? 

3. Will the event be attended by others of a similar standing in the community? 

4. What is the motivation behind the invitation? 

5. Would acceptance of the invitation be, in any way, inappropriate or place you under pressure in relation 
to any current or future issue involving the Council? 

Page 766



 153

6. Could you justify the decision to the Council, press and public? 

7. Is the extent of the hospitality reasonable and appropriate? 

8. How will you respond to the hospitality? 

9. Are you comfortable with your decision? 
 
5.  MEDIA RELATIONS  
 
Normally, elected Members offer mediaor other public comment in relation to the policies of the Council.  
However if an employee is asked to comment on a matter of fact this can be done by the local manager 
taking account of the nature and context of the question.  If an employee of the Council is called upon by the 
press to respond to an enquiry, which involves the expression of an opinion this should be made through the 
Director of the Service concerned or the appropriate Head of Service, consulting and taking advice from the 
Communications Manager, or Press and Media Relations Officer,  who will provide appropriate advice and 
guidance in relation to the content of any press statement, and will normally issue that statement on behalf 
of the Council.  It is important also to take care to consult the appropriate spokesperson/Area Chairperson of 
the Committee in relation to the political sensitivity of any statement which may be issued.  There may also 
be potential legal implications in relation to the content of any press statement, in particular circumstances, 
and in these circumstances, advice should be sought as appropriate from the Director of Corporate 
Services. 
 
Trade Union representatives have the right to speak to the press on behalf of their Union members in 
accordance with the policies of their Union.  However, it must be made clear that any views expressed are 
those of the Union and not the Council. 
 
6.  FINANCIAL & SECURITY REGULATIONS AND CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS  
 
Directors are responsible for taking appropriate steps to ensure that employees are aware of the Council’s 
financial regulations and standing orders in so far as they relate to the duties being performed.  Directors are 
required to ensure that all employees who are authorised signatories for the approval of receipt or 
authorisation of expenditure upon any goods, services or commitment on the part of the Council to take 
contractual obligations are trained in the financial regulations and the standing orders within 2 weeks of 
joining their service. 
 
7.  DELEGATED POWERS  
 
The Scheme of Administration and Delegations sets out the powers which the Council has delegated to 
officers to discharge on the Council’s behalf. Directors should ensure, where appropriate, that employees 
are aware of the detail of these powers.  There are exclusions from and limitations to the exercise of 
delegated powers.  Principally these require an employee to exercise any delegation within the policies and 
regulatory procedures of the Council, to ensure that any decision is within the approved budgets of the 
Council and to ensure that consultation takes place in appropriate circumstances with the Chairperson 
and/or Vice-Chairperson of the Committee concerned, and with the local Member where the proposed 
decision is likely to affect the constituency interest of that Member. Where appropriate, Directors should 
ensure that employees are aware of the terms of the delegations set out in the Scheme which directly affect 
them. 
 
 
8.  POLICE ENQUIRIES  
 
Employees are required to inform the Director of their Department immediately of any personal involvement 
in police activity which may relate to their employment with the Council.   Employees who become aware of 
the involvement of any current or former employee(s) in police investigations or prosecutions which may 
relate to their current/former employment with the Council are required to notify their Director.  Directors 
must advise the Chief Executive and Director of  Corporate Services immediately, of any irregularity or 
possible irregularity affecting the Director’s department which may involve the commission of any criminal 
act. 
 
The Financial and Security Regulations require a Director to notify the Head of Strategic Finance of any 
financial irregularity or any circumstance which may suggest the possibility of irregularity, including those 
affecting cash, stores, contracts or property.  These are available for inspection from your Director. 
 

Page 767



 154

The Head of Strategic Finance will take such steps to investigate as s/he considers necessary and to report 
to the Chief Executive who may instruct that the police should be informed.  Every employee has an 
obligation to inform their Director of any circumstances which suggest the possibility of financial irregularity. 
 
9.  CONFIDENTIALITY  
 
Argyll and Bute Council encourages openness in its dealings with members of the public, communities and 
other organisations and encourages public access to information.  There are, however, certain 
circumstances where information will be of a nature where it should not be disclosed to outside parties.  
These are:- 
 
1. Certain Council documents which are submitted to the Council or a Committee will be marked by the 

Director of Corporate Services as “exempt” and “not for publication” in terms of the appropriate provisions 
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.  There has to be a good reason for classifying documents 
in this way because they may contain certain classes of information which should not be disclosed. 
Directors must ensure employees are aware that the contents of any such documents must not be 
disclosed to those who are not authorised to receive it. It should be borne in mind that reports marked 
“Not for Publication” or “Confidential” containing information not open to the public at a meeting may 
require to be subsequently disclosed and made available in compliance with a request for information in 
terms of the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 

 
2. In the course of their employment with the Council, employees will receive information across a whole 

range of circumstances.  In general the rule is that information which is received in confidence by the 
Council should not be disclosed to other parties unless there is a statutory, legal or genuine requirement 
to disclose that information and it should only be disclosed to the person and for the purpose which arises 
from the legal requirement to disclose it.  There are particular rules in relation to the release of 
information held by the Council in response to a relevant request under the Freedom of Information 
(Scotland) Act 2002 and also in relation to the Social Work and Education Services and Directors should 
ensure that the employees affected are familiar with these rules. 

 
3. The personal circumstances, including salary, private address and telephone number of employees 

should not be disclosed to outsider parties unless there is a legal obligation to do so or in response to a 
genuine request, for example, a request to provide a reference to a Bank or Building Society for 
mortgage purposes or in relation to a request to provide a job reference. 

 
4. Similarly, the personal circumstances of clients or customers of the Council should not be disclosed 

unless there is a legal or genuine requirement. 
 
5. The Data Protection Act requires the Council to register with the Data Protection Registrar the purposes 

for which it holds data about individuals and the Act prohibits the disclosure of that information other than 
for the purposes registered. 

 
6. There can be issues with regard to information on matters of commercial confidentiality.  This can relate 

to information held or being prepared by a number of Services in the context of Competitive Tendering 
under Best Value.  Council services may compete over a whole range of works and services with external 
firms and agencies.  Disclosure of that kind of information may place Council Services (and thus Council 
employees), at a severe disadvantage in tendering for Council contracts. 

 
 
7. There is an obligation on all employees to maintain commercial confidentiality in relation to business 

dealings with outside organisations and in particular in relation to, for example, prices or tenders quoted 
by companies for the provision of works, goods or services to the Council. 

 
In conclusion, employees should bear in mind the following principles in relation to breaches of 
confidentiality - 
 

• In particular circumstances a breach of confidentiality may itself be a criminal offence; 

• It may adversely affect the interests of the Council; 

• It may adversely affect the interests of an employee or a client or customer of the Council, or cause 
that person personal difficulty or embarrassment; 

• A breach of confidentiality could adversely affect the interests of a third party which could give rise 

Page 768



 155

to legal proceedings and damages against the Council or, indeed, against the employee who has 
disclosed confidential information. 

• Notwithstanding the above there may be a legal obligation on the Council to release such 
information as is referred to above under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. 

 
10.  DEALINGS WITH THE COUNCIL  
 
An employee may have dealings with the Council on a personal level,  for instance, as a tenant or as an 
applicant for planning permission.  An employee should never seek or accept preferential treatment in those 
dealings because of his/her position.  An employee should also avoid placing himself/herself in a position 
that could lead the public to think that s/he is receiving preferential treatment, for instance, by using his/her 
position to discuss his/her planning application with other employees when other members of the public 
would not have the same opportunity.  Likewise, you should never use your position as an employee to seek 
preferential treatment for friends or relatives, or any firm or body with which you are personally connected. 
 
As a citizen, you are entitled to raise with your councillor any complaint which you have about the services of 
the Council.  If your complaint concerns any aspect of your work with the Council however, you must make 

use of your Council’s grievance procedures. 
 
The Scheme of Administration and Delegations contains particular provisions about dealing with situations 
where a conflict of interest may arise.  Where an applicant for a service by the Council is a Councillor or an 
employee the employee who has the delegated authority to deal with the matter should consider carefully the 
need to consult with the Chief Executive who may, if s/he considers it appropriate, require the officer to refer 
the application to the appropriate Committee for determination.  Similarly, where an applicant for 
employment with the Council is related to a Member of the Council, or to an employee, the officer within 
whose delegated authority it is to make the appointment should consult the Head of Personnel Services who 
may consider it appropriate to require the officer to refer the appointment to the Chief Executive for decision. 
 
11.  USE OF COUNCIL FACILITIES  
 
Normally, all equipment and facilities provided by the Council should be used only for the purposes of the 
Council.  It is very important to be clear that these are provided from public funds and are therefore not to be 
used for the benefit of individual employees. 

 
It is reasonable, however, that there are exceptions in certain circumstances.  The decision on when it is 
appropriate to make such an exception is one for a Director or Head of Service and must take account of 
employee relations and also potential public reaction.  For example, it would seem reasonable to allow 
employees to type personal letters on Council equipment, in their own time, and subject to any paper being 
paid for.  It would not be acceptable, on the other hand, to allow employees to use Council equipment or 
Council premises for outside work.  Further guidance on the use of computer equipment is contained within 
the Council’s Regulations for the Control and Use of Computer Software and Computer Data which is 
available from the Head of ICT and Financial Services. 
 
The Financial and Security Regulations provide specifically that Council vehicles must only be used for the 
purposes of the Council, and no employee may use a vehicle for private purposes, or carry unauthorised 
passengers. 
 
When considering any such questions, account should be taken of the following rules: 
 
1. Any use should normally be on Council premises only; 

2. Any use must not be for private profit or gain; 

3. Any permission given should be recorded in some way, preferably in writing; 

4. There must be no cost to the Council in the way of any consumables; 

5. Any use must be reasonable and appropriate in scale. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 769



 156

12.  ACCEPTANCE OF OTHER REMUNERATIVE EMPLOYMENT/PRIVATE PROFESSIONAL 
PRACTICE 
 
All employees, except Chief Officials, may undertake other paid employment outwith normal working hours, 
if the additional employment does not interfere with or impair the employee’s ability to carry out their Council 
duties. 
  
No employee shall engage in work for any individual firm or body, where the Council has or could be 
involved or where the work in any other way conflicts with the Council’s interests. 
 
If an employee is in any doubt, they should consult their immediate supervisor. 
 
All employees may accept invitations to undertake lectures appropriate to their profession.  Where such 
lectures are given on an occasional basis outwith normal working hours or are given within office hours, but 
are of an infrequent nature, any fees may be retained.  
 
For lectures given within normal working hours, where the lectures cover a given period or pattern, prior 
permission must be sought from the Director of the Service concerned and any fees received, excluding out-
of -pocket expenses, shall be paid to the Council or the time off must be set against the employee’s annual 
leave entitlement. 
 
13.  APPLICATION OF COUNCIL POLICIES 
 
A.  Consideration should be given by Supervisors, Managers or Headteachers in regard to the operation of 
all Council policies, therefore Supervisors, Managers or Headteachers should bear the following in mind on 
all occasions:- 
 
Supervisors, Managers or Headteachers involved in the operation of the Council’s Personnel policies (e.g., 
Discipline or Grievance Procedures), must do so fairly or impartially.  It is the responsibility of such a person 
to consider whether he/she has a conflict of interest and to make a judgement as to whether such an interest 
prevents him/her from participating.  This rule is intended to produce transparency in regard to interest that 
might influence, or be thought to influence, the action of that employee.     
 
A Supervisor, Manager or Headteacher must make a declaration in advance to the Service Director in any of 
the following circumstances:- 
 

- if he/she is related to or is a close friend of any employee who is the subject of any personnel 
procedures 

- if any financial or other contractual relationship (except a contract of employment between the 
candidate and the Council) exists  between the Supervisor/Manager/Headteacher and any 
employee which has not been discharged. 

 
In considering the definition of “relative” or “friend” or any financial or other relationship the key principle is 
the need for transparency in regard to any interest that might (regardless of the precise description of 
relationship) be objectively regarded by other persons, acting reasonably, as potentially affecting the ability 
of the Supervisor/Manager/Headteacher to discharge his/her responsibilities impartially and without 
influence. 
 
A Supervisor/Manager/Headteacher may also have to give consideration to any known interests of his/her 
spouse or co-habitee or other close relative in relation to any employee who is the subject of any personnel 
procedure.  The Supervisor/Manager/Headteacher should ask him/herself whether other persons, acting 
reasonably, would regard these interests as effectively the same as the Supervisor/Manager/Headteacher’s 
interests.  A Supervisor/Manager/Headteacher may feel able to state truthfully that an interest would not 
influence his/her role in any personnel procedure.  However, the test is whether others, acting reasonably, 
might think that a particular interest could influence the Supervisor/Manager/Headteacher’s role. 
 
The presumption is that in any of the above circumstances there should be NO involvement in the process.  
The Service Director will make the final decision having considered all the circumstances. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact your departmental Personnel Section or Personnel 
Services, as appropriate.       
 

Page 770



 157

B The Council has a Recruitment and Selection Policy.  All appointments must be made on the basis of 
merit.  You must follow the Council’s policy. 
 
You must not lobby a councillor or another colleague either directly or indirectly to secure your own 
appointment or promotion, or the appointment or promotion of another person.  If you have been lobbied by 
an applicant, another colleague, a councillor or any other person, you must report the matter to your line 
manager.          

 
14.  SPEAKING IN PUBLIC 

 
The Council does not seek to interfere with the democratic or civil rights of its employees.  As a citizen, you 
are entitled to express your views about the Council, provided you do not make use of any private 
information gained through your work with the Council.  You should not, in your work capacity, criticise the 
Council either through the media or at a public meeting, or in any written communication with members of 
the public. 
 
From time to time individual employees will be asked to speak at public meetings, seminars or conferences.  
Such activity must receive the consent of the Director concerned or the appropriate Head of Service and 
must be on the basis that the individual employee will not comment inappropriately on Council policies or 
practices. 
 
15.  POLITICAL ACTIVITY 
 
A number of the Council’s employees are affected by the statutory restrictions on political activity imposed 
on some categories of local government employees.  Separate advice will be issued by the Directors of 
Corporate Services and Head of Personnel Services about those restrictions. 
 
16.  MEMBERSHIP OF EXTERNAL BODIES 
 
Employees of the Council have the right to join and participate in the activities of external bodies, but in 
certain circumstances this could lead to a conflict of interest between their duties to the Council and their 
duties to the external body.  Employees should therefore not take up positions in an Executive or any other 
capacity which might give rise to such a conflict of interest. 
 
17.  POLITICAL ADVICE GROUPS 
 
The National Code of Local Government Conduct gives the following guidance on the relationship between 
councillors and employees: 
 
“23. Both councillors and employees are servants of the public, and they are indispensable to one another.  
But their responsibilities are distinct.  Councillors are responsible to the electorate and serve only as long as 
their terms of office lasts.  Employees are responsible to the Council.  Their job is to give advice to 
councillors and their Council, and to carry out the Council’s work under the direction and control of the 
Council, their committees and sub-committees. 
 

“24. Mutual respect between councillors and employees is essential to good local government.  Close 
personal familiarity between individual councillors and employees can damage their relationship and prove 

embarrassing to other councillors and employees. 
 

These principles apply equally in this Code. 
 
Chief officials will attend Group meetings, following a request by the Leader of a Group formed within the 
Council, subject to requests for attendance being addressed in writing to the Chief Executive who will, after 
consultation with appropriate Chief Officials, advise which officials would be most appropriate to attend. 
 
18.  TREATMENT AT WORK 
 
You are entitled to expect fair and reasonable treatment from your colleagues, managers and from 
councillors.  If you feel that you have been unfairly treated or have been discriminated against, you are 
entitled to make use of the appropriate Council procedures. 
 
There may be rare occasions when you feel that you have been required by a colleague, a councillor or a 

Page 771



 158

member of the public, or by an organisation, to act in a way which might be illegal, improper or unethical, or 
which is otherwise in conflict with the principles of this Code of Conduct.  You must follow the Council’s 
procedure for dealing with such concerns. 
 
The following is an example of good practice which allows concerns of this nature to be raised confidentially 
inside the Council. 
 
• If you are in this situation, you must report the matter to your line manager. 
 
• If, however, you feel that you cannot discuss the matter with your line manager, then you must report the 

matter to the Chief Executive or another officer appointed by the Council outwith your line management. 
 
• The Chief Executive or your line manager or the other person appointed by the Council will then decide in 

consultation, where necessary, with the Council’s Monitoring Officer, what action is to be taken, including 
whether the issue which you have raised can be dealt with through the Council’s grievance procedure. 

 
The confidentiality of your concern will be maintained wherever possible. 
 
19.  CONCLUSION 
 
These Guidelines are intended to provide a framework for employees but do not cover all eventualities.  
Employees should never do anything which could not be justified to their Director, the Council or the public.  
An employee’s conduct, and what the public believes about his/her conduct, will affect the reputation of the 
Council.  It is not enough to avoid actually doing something improper.  An employee must, at all times, avoid 
any occasion for suspicion and any appearance of improper conduct. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 772



 159

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 

 
A PROTOCOL FOR MEMBER/OFFICER RELATIONS 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 
 1.1 The purpose of this protocol is to guide Members and Officers of the Council in their 

relations with each other. 
 

 1.2 Given the variety and complexity of such relations, this protocol does not seek to be 
comprehensive.  It offers guidance on some of the issues which most commonly arise, 
to strengthen good working relationships which already exist, and to promote clarity 
and certainty. 
 

 1.3 The protocol seeks to reflect the provisions of the protocol contained at annexe C to the 
Councillors Code of Conduct by giving further expression to these provisions within 
Argyll and Bute Council.  The objective is to enhance and maintain the integrity (real 
and perceived) of Argyll & Bute Council, and these protocols demand the highest 
standards of personal conduct.   
 

2. RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN EMPLOYEES AND ELECTED MEMBERS 
 

 2.1 Both Councillors and Officers are servants of the public and they are indispensable to 
one another.  But their responsibilities are distinct. Councillors are responsible to the 
electorate and serve only so long as their term of office lasts. Officers are responsible 
to the Council.  Their job is to give advice to Councillors and the Council, and to carry 
out the Council’s work under the direction and control of the Council, their Committees 
and Sub-Committees. 
 
Mutual respect between Councillors and Officers is essential to good Local 
Government.  Close personal familiarity between individual Councillors and Officers 
can damage this relationship and prove embarrassing to other Councillors and Officers. 
Councillors must always remember that they require to conduct themselves in 
accordance with the Councillor’s Code of Conduct following upon Section 1 of the 
Ethical Standards In Public Life Etc (Scotland) Act 2000 and the subsequent guidance 
and the dispensation notes which have been issued. 
 

    
 2.2 The Council determines policy.  It is also ultimately responsible for ensuring the 

delivery of services: if the public is not satisfied, it is the elected Members who have to 
take responsibility and answer criticism. In a nutshell, the Members are in charge. 
 
The Officers manage the organisation which delivers the services. The services require 
professional management, and the Officers are selected for their experience and 
qualifications to do this. The Members are elected to determine policy, not to engage in 
direct operational management of the services. 
 
The Officers advise the Council.  The Council has a right to expect advice which is 
candid, expert and impartial.  Officers serve the whole Council. 

    
 2.3 It is important that any dealings between Members and Officers should observe high 

standards of courtesy and mutual respect and neither party should seek to take unfair 
advantage of their position. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 773



 160

3. POLITICAL NEUTRALITY OF OFFICERS 
 

 3.1 Members must respect the political neutrality of Officers.  Officers should only be asked 
to provide assistance or advice confined to Council business, not Party Group nor 
individual political business.  Officers are entitled to refuse a request which lies outwith 
the confines of Council business. 
  

  It is the responsibility of all Officers to implement the policies of the Council and support 
Councillors irrespective of the individual Officer’s own personal political views.  Officers 
must, regardless of personal political views, ensure that the individual rights of all 
Councillors are respected, and advice must be given in such a way as to avoid 
compromising an Officer’s political neutrality. 
 

4. SUPPORT SERVICES TO MEMBERS 
 

 4.1 The only basis on which the Council can lawfully provide support services (other than 
the provision of political assistants of which there is none in Argyll & Bute) to Members 
is to assist them in discharging their role as Members of the Council.  Such support 
services (eg stationery, typing, printing, photocopying, transport, etc.) must therefore 
only be used on and for Council business.  They should never be used in connection 
with party political or campaigning activity or for private purposes. 
 
 

5. MEMBERS ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
 

 5.1 Members are free to approach any Council Service to provide them with such 
information explanation and advice (about that Service’s functions) as they may 
reasonably need in order to assist them in discharging their role as Councillors.  This 
can range from a request for general information about some aspect of a Service’s 
activities to a request for specific information on a matter raised with them by a 
constituent.  Other than for information of a routine or minor nature, such approaches 
should normally be directed to the Director or appropriate Head of Service or Area 
Manager. 
 

 5.2 A request by a Member of the Council to the appropriate Director or Head of Service 
will be dealt with in compliance with all relevant Statutory requirements to include the 
Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. Such requests will be met, subject to any 
legal constraints (which are dealt with below) and subject as follows. 
 

  (a) A copy of the response will be given to the Leader and/or Deputy Leader of the 
Council, the appropriate Spokesperson, Committee Chair and/or Vice-Chair, the 
Chief Executive and appropriate Directors  unless – 
 

   - the information is of a routine or minor nature 
 

   - the information is about or affects the personal circumstances of the 
Member seeking the information or his immediate family 
 

   - the disclosure of the information to other than the Member seeking it 
would involve the contravention or potential contravention of any law. 
 

   A copy of the information will be provided to the appropriate Ward Member(s) 
where a matter affects that Member’s Ward. 
 

  (b) When a Director is approached by a Member with a request for a report to be 
compiled, either with a view to that information being presented to the Council, 
Committee, Sub-Committee or Policy Development Group, or on an individual 
basis, the Officer will, before acceding to the request, consult the Leader and/or 
Deputy Leader of the Council, the Chair or Vice-Chair of the appropriate 
Committee and the Chief Executive. 
 

Page 774



 161

  (c) If a Director considers that information requested could only be provided at 
unreasonable cost, having regard to staffing and other costs, before acceding to 
the request, he or she will consult with the Leader and/or Deputy Leader of the 
Council, the Chair or Vice-Chair of the Committee concerned and the Chief 
Executive, advising the approximate extent of the work/cost of such provision 
and have regard to the Fees Regulations issued under the Freedom of 
Information (Scotland) Act 2002. 
 

  (d) It is open to a Member to make his or her request for information by way of a 
written question in terms of the Council’s Standing Orders for answer by the 
appropriate Committee Chair. 
 

 5.3 In addition to their rights under the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 
Members also have legal rights to inspect Council documents which are partly covered 
by statute and partly by common law.  Members have a statutory right to inspect any 
Council document which contains material relating to any business which is to be 
transacted at a Council, Committee or Sub-Committee meeting.  This right applies 
irrespective of whether the Member is a Member of the Committee or Sub-Committee 
concerned and extends not only to reports which are to be submitted to the meeting but 
also to any relevant background papers. This right does not, however, apply to 
documents relating to certain items which may disclose “exempt information” on the 
agenda for a meeting.  
 

 5.4 The common law right of Members is much broader and is based on the principle that 
any Member has a prima facie right to inspect Council documents so far as his/her 
access to the documents is reasonably necessary to enable the Member properly to 
perform his/her duties as a Member of the Council.  This is commonly referred to as the 
“need to know” principle.  
 

 5.5 Over and above the rights contained in the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 
the exercise of this common law right depends therefore upon the Member’s ability to 
demonstrate that he/she has the necessary “need to know”.  In this respect a Member 
has no right to a “roving commission” to examine documents of the Council.  Mere 
curiosity is not sufficient.  The crucial question is the determination of the “need to 
know”, which must be determined, initially, by the particular Director whose Service 
holds the document (with advice from the Director of Corporate & Legal Services  and 
the Chief Executive).  In the event of dispute, the question falls to be determined by the 
relevant Committee – ie the Committee in connection with whose functions the 
document is held, or ultimately the Council. 
 

 5.6 While the terms “Council document” is very broad and may include, for example, any 
document produced with Council resources, a Member of one Party Group will not 
have a “need to know”, and therefore a right to inspect, a document which forms part of 
the internal workings of another Party Group unless this is information held by the 
Council. 
 

 5.7 Any Council information provided to a Member must only be used by the Member for 
the purpose for which it was provided – that is, in connection with the proper 
performance of the Member’s duties as a Member of the Council. 
   
As a Council or Committee or Sub-Committee Member, you necessarily acquire much 
information that has not yet been made public and is still confidential.  It is a betrayal of 
trust to breach such confidences.  You should never disclose nor use confidential 
information for the personal advantage of yourself or anyone known to you, or to the 
disadvantage or the discredit of the Council or anyone else. No Member should 
disclose to any person any information coming to his/her knowledge by virtue of his/her 
office as a Councillor which the Council is not obliged by law to disclose.  Such 
disclosure could prejudice the interests of the Council and Members could lay 
themselves open to serious legal action on a personal basis, by the Council or by a 
third party. 
 

Page 775



 162

6. OFFICER ADVICE TO PARTY GROUPS 
 

 6.1 It is common practice for Party Groups to give preliminary consideration to matters of 
Council business in advance of such matters being considered by the relevant Council 
decision-making bodies.  Officers may properly be called upon to provide information or 
advice to such deliberations by Party Groups. 
 

 6.2 This support can take many forms, ranging from a briefing meeting with a 
Spokesperson or Chair or vice-Chair prior to a Committee meeting, to information or a 
presentation being made to a Party Group meeting. Whilst in practice such Officer 
support is likely to be in most demand from whichever Party Group is for the time being 
in control of the Council, such support is available to all Party Groups.  
 

 6.3 Certain points must however be clearly understood by all those participating in this type 
of process, Member and Officer alike.  In particular –  
  

  (a) Attendance at a meeting of a Party Group will be restricted to Chief Officials and 
will follow a request by the leader of the Group being made to the Chief 
Executive who will, after consultation with the appropriate Chief Officials, advise 
which Officials would be most appropriate to attend. 
 

  (b) Officer support in these circumstances must not extend beyond providing 
information and advice in relation to matters of Council business.  Officers must 
not be involved in advising on matters of Group business.  The observance of 
this distinction will be assisted by Officers not being present at meetings or parts 
of meetings, when matters of Group business are to be discussed, nor when 
there are present at a Group meeting persons who are not Members of the 
Council, because such persons will not be bound by the Councillors Code of 
Conduct (particularly relating to interest and confidentiality) nor the Access to 
Information legislation. 
 

  (c) Groups meetings, whilst they form part of the preliminaries to Council decision-
making, are not empowered to make decisions on behalf of the Council.  
Conclusions reached at such meetings do not therefore rank as Council 
decisions and it is essential that they are not interpreted or acted upon as such, 
either by a Member or an Officer. 
 

  (d) Similarly, where Officers provide information or advice to a Group meeting in 
relation to a matter of Council business, this cannot act as a substitute for 
providing all necessary information and advice to the relevant Committee or Sub-
Committee when the matter in question is considered; an Officer will not, 
therefore, provide more information to a Group meeting than he/she would to a 
Committee or Sub-Committee. 
 

 6.4 Officers must respect the confidentiality of any Party Group discussions at which they 
are present and they must not relay the content of any such discussion to another Party 
Group (or a Member of such other Group). 
 

Page 776



 163

 
7. CHAIR/OFFICER RELATIONSHIPS 

 
 7.1 It is clearly important that there should be a close working relationship between a 

Spokesperson, the Chair of a Committee and an appropriate Chief Officer and other 
senior Officers of any Service which reports to that Committee.  However, such 
relationships should never be allowed to become so close, or appear to be so close, as 
to bring into question the Officer’s ability to deal impartially with all Members and Party 
Groups on an equitable basis.  There are obligations, therefore, in this respect on the 
part of both Member and Officer. 
  

 7.2 The Spokesperson and Chair of a Committee will routinely be consulted as part of the 
process of drawing up the Agenda for a forthcoming meeting.  It must be recognised, 
however, that in some situations an Officer will be under a duty to submit a report on a 
particular matter.  Officers will always be fully responsible for the contents of any report 
submitted in their name.  No Officer will be prevented from submitting a report on a 
particular matter where there is a duty on that Officer to do so, nor from expressing a 
professional view which the Officer believes requires to be so expressed. No Member 
will have the right to require an Officer’s report to be changed before it is considered by 
the Council, or any of its Committees or Sub-Committees. 
 

 7.3 In relation to action between meetings, it is important to remember that the law only 
allows for decisions relating to the discharge of any of the Council’s functions to be 
taken by a Committee, a Sub-Committee or an Officer.  The law does not allow for such 
decisions to be taken by a Chair or indeed by any other single Member.  It sometimes 
happens that a Committee or Sub-Committee will wish to delegate the determination of 
a particular matter.  This decisions-making route should only be used sparingly and 
where it is used the delegation should be to the Officer, in consultation with the Chair 
(or other appropriate Members).  It is therefore the Officer (as required by statute) who 
takes the action and it is the Officer who is accountable for it.  Thus if there is a 
disagreement in the course of the consultation referred to about the action to be taken, 
the Officer will refer the matter back to the Committee or Sub-Committee for decision. 
 

8. 
 

CORRESPONDENCE 

 8.1 Where it is appropriate (in terms of this protocol) for correspondence between an 
individual Member and an Officer to be copied by the Officer to another Member, or 
where the Officer considers it proper to copy that correspondence, this will be made 
clear to the original Member.  A system of “silent copies” should not be employed. 
 

 8.2 Official letters on behalf of the Council will normally be sent out under the name of the 
appropriate Officer.  It may be appropriate in certain circumstances relating to a matter 
which has been considered or will be considered by the Council or any of its 
Committees or Sub-Committees for a letter to appear under the name of a Member.  
Letters, however, which create obligations or give instructions on behalf of the Council 
will only be sent out under the name of the appropriate Officer.  
 

9. INVOLVEMENT OF WARD COUNCILLORS 
 

 9.1 Whenever a meeting is organised by the Council or by a Council Service which 
involves invitations being extended to members of the public or local community 
organisations to consider a local issue, the local Ward Member(s) will be invited to 
attend the meeting.  Similarly, when the Council undertakes a consultative exercise on 
a local issue, the Ward Member(s) will be notified before the consultation commences. 
 

 9.2 If the Council are invited to be represented at a public event which involves a visit by a 
Royal Personage, a Minister, MP, MSP or MEP or a Board Member of a non-
departmental public body, the Council will use its best endeavours to ensure that the 
local Ward Member, in whose Ward the event is taking place, will be invited.  In 
circumstances where the Council is hosting such an event, the Ward Member will be 
invited. 

   

Page 777



 164

 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 

 
SCHEME OF PAYMENT OF MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES 

 
 

1. This Scheme is made in terms of the Local Authorities Etc. (Allowances) (Scotland) Regulations 
1995.  
 

2. The Scheme is made with effect from 1 April 2001 and may be amended at any time, but may 
only be revoked with effect from the beginning of a financial year. 
 

3. The rates of Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances are as set out in this Scheme. 
Entitlement to Basic and Special Responsibility Allowances will be calculated on a daily basis 
and at such rate for the relevant days as set out in this Scheme, or where an amendment is 
made, within the terms of the Regulations. 
 

4. The  Head of Strategic Finance in consultation with the Head of ICT and Financial Services will 
incorporate into the Scheme – 
 

 (i) Revised rates of Basic Allowance in accordance with and when these are revised from 
time to time by way of Regulations made by Scottish Ministers. 
 

 (ii) Revised rates of Special Responsibility Allowance to link those rates in line with national 
pay settlements for Local Government employees covered by the “Red Book”. 
 

5. Basic Allowance of £6,057.10 per annum (and thereafter such revised rates as provided in 
paragraph 4. above) will be paid by bank transfer on a two-weekly basis to each Member on prior 
receipt by the Head of ICT and Financial Services of a signed claim form in respect of the 
financial year or on the occasion of any amendment to the sum payable. 
 

6. Payment of a Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) will be made to such Councillors as have 
such special responsibilities set out in Annex 1 hereto (or such other special responsibilities as 
the Council may from time to time by amendment to this Scheme determine) at the amounts 
shown, (and thereafter such revised rates as provided in paragraph 4 above). An SRA will be 
paid by bank transfer on a two-weekly basis on prior receipt by the Head of ICT and Financial 
Services  of one signed claim form in respect of one allowance in respect of the financial year, or 
on the occasion of any amendment to the sum payable.  
 

7. Where the term of office of a Member is less than the financial year, his/her entitlement to Basic 
Allowance and to Special Responsibility Allowance will be in the ratio which the number of days 

during his/her term of office bears to the relevant days at the appropriate rate or rates in the 
financial year (or period) concerned. 

 
8. Where the Members of the authority are divided into at least two political groups, and either a  

majority of Members of the Council or half of such Members and the Convener of the Council 
belong to the same political group (“the controlling group”), a Special Responsibility Allowance 
will be paid to at least one person who is not a Member of the controlling group and who has 

special responsibilities either by acting as Leader or Deputy Leader of a Political Group or acting 
as the spokesperson of the group on a Committee or Sub-Committee of the authority. In such 

cases, the amount of the Special Responsibility payment will be determined by the Council. Only 
one Special Responsibility Allowance will be payable to any one Member irrespective that such 

Member may hold more than one position in respect of which a Special Responsibility Allowance 
is payable, and the Member concerned will receive whichever is the higher or highest of any 

Special Responsibility Allowances to which he or she would be entitled. 
  

 The definition of a political group is contained in Schedule 1 of the Regulations and is attached 
hereto at Annex 2. 

 

Page 778



 165

9. Financial loss allowance will be payable to appointed Members of the authority not being 
Councillors, in respect of such losses of earnings or any additional expenses as are necessarily 
sustained or incurred by those Members in carrying out any duty, as described in Annex 3 to this 

Scheme. This does not apply to any losses or expenses in respect of which provision for 
payment or an allowance is made under any of Section 46 to 48 of the Local Government 

(Scotland) Act 1973 (Travelling and subsistence Allowances for attending conferences and 
meetings and expenses of official and courtesy visits etc). The amount of the allowance shall not 

exceed:- 
 

 (a) For a period not exceeding 4 hours - £24.29 
 

 (b) For a period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours - £48.57 
 

 (c) For a period exceeding 24 hours, the aggregate of £48.57 and of such amounts specified 
in sub-paragraphs (a) or (b) as is appropriate to the number of hours by which the period 

exceeds 24 hours. 
 

10. The payment of allowances under this Scheme shall not exceed the relevant maximum. 
 

11. For the purposes of claiming travel and subsistence allowances, the duties set out in Annex 3 
hereto shall be approved duties. These rates shall be the maximum rates prescribed by Scottish 
Ministers and the rates will be revised by the Head of Strategic Finance in consultation with the 
Head of ICT and Financial Services  in accordance with and when revised rates are prescribed 

from time to time by Ministers. 
 

12. A Member may, by notice in writing given to the Head of ICT and Financial Services , elect to 
forego any part of his entitlement to any of the allowances in this Scheme. 

 
13. Records shall be kept of any payments of allowances made under this Scheme, in a form 

determined by the Head of ICT and Financial Services , and shall include the following:- 
 

 (a) The name of the recipient; and 
 

 (b) The amount and nature of the payment 
 

 The record shall be available at all reasonable times for inspection (free of charge) by any Local 
Government elector for the area of Argyll and Bute and that person may take a copy of any part 

of it. 
 

 
 

ANNEX 1 
 

SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES 
 
 
  Convener of the Council 

 
£14,785

  Leader of the Council 
 

£14,785

  Depute Leader of the Council 
 

£11,942

  Vice-Convener of the Council 
 

£10,235

  Member of Strategic Policy Committee 
 

£10,235

  Chair of an Area Committee  
 

£10,235

  Vice Chair of an Area Committee  
 

£5,118

  Chair of Public Service and Licensing Committee £7,962

Page 779



 166

  Vice-Chair of Public Service and Licensing Committee £3,412

  Chair of Audit Committee £5,118

  Vice-Chair of Audit Committee £3,412

  Vice-Chair of Standards Committee 
 

£3,412

  Leader of largest Group other than “controlling” Group 
 

£10,235

  Chair of a Licensing Board 
 

£5,118

  Council Representative 
 

£2,275

 
 

ANNEX 2 
 

POLITICAL GROUPS 
 

SCHEDULE 1   -   REGULATION 2(1) & (2) 
 
 
 
 

CONSTITUTION OF POLITICAL GROUPS 
 
1. (1) A political group shall be treated as constituted in relation to a local authority 

when there is delivered to the proper officer of the local authority a notice in 
writing which – 
 

  (a) is signed by two or more Members of the local authority who wish to be 
treated as a political group; and 
 

  (b) complies with the provision of sub-paragraph (3). 
 

 (2) A political group shall cease to be constituted if the number of persons who are to 
be treated as members of that group is less than two. 
 

 (3) A notice under sub-paragraph (1) shall state – 
 

  (a) that the Members of the local authority who have signed it wish to be treated 
as a political group; 
 

  (b) the name of the group; and 
 

  (c) the name of one member of the group who has signed the notice and is to 
act as its leader. 
 

 (4) A notice under sub-paragraph (1) may specify the name of one other member of 
the group who has signed the notice and who is authorised to act in the place of 
the leader when he is unable to act (“the deputy leader). 
 

 (5) The name of the group or the name of the person who is the leader or deputy 
leader may be changed by a further notice in writing delivered to the proper officer 
and signed – 
 

  (a) in the case of a change in the name of the group or the deputy leader, by 
the leader of the group or a majority of the members of the group: 
 

Page 780



 167

  (b) in the case of a change of the leader of the group, by a majority of the 
members of the group. 
 

MEMBERSHIP OF POLITICAL GROUPS 
 
2. Subject to paragraph 4 a Member of the local authority is to be treated as a member of a 

political group if – 
 

 (a) he has signed a notice in accordance with paragraph 1: or 
 

 (b) he has delivered to the proper officer a notice in writing which is signed by him 
and by the leader or deputy leader of the group or by a majority of the members of 
the group, stating that he wished to join the group. 
 

CESSATION OF MEMBERSHIP 
 
3. A person is to be treated as having ceased to be a member of a political group when – 

 
 (a) he has ceased to be a member of the local authority; 

 
 (b) he has notified the proper officer in writing that he no longer wishes to be treated 

as a member of the group; 
 

 (c) there is delivered to the proper officer a notice under paragraph 1 or 2(b) signed 
by the person whereby a new political group is constituted or he joins another 
political group; or 
 

 (d) there is delivered to the proper officer a notice in writing signed by the majority of 
the members of the group stating that they no longer wish him to be treated as a 
member of it. 
 

RESTRICTION ON MEMBERSHIP 
 
4. No person shall be treated as a member of more than one political group at any given 

time and, accordingly, if a person changes the political group of which he is a member 
by notice under paragraph 1 or 2 he shall from the date of delivery of that notice be 
treated – 
 

 (a) in the case of a notice under paragraph 1, as a member only of the new political 
group which is constituted in accordance with that paragraph; and 
 

 (b) in the case of a notice under paragraph 2(b) as a member only of the group 
named in that notice. 

 
 

SCHEME OF APPROVED DUTIES 
 

The following Members of Council are authorised, arising from and to further duties of their 
office, to undertake the duties set out below. 

 
1. Attendance by a Member at any meeting of the Council, a Committee or Sub-Committee and 

otherwise any meeting of a Policy Development or Working Group, or at a site visit, seminar or 
similar event, called or authorised by the Council or any Committee, Sub-Committee or 
Working Group. 
 

2. Attendance by the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of a Committee, Sub-Committee or Policy 
Development/Working Group with the Chief Executive or a Director of Service or Head of 
Service or Area Manager for the purpose of consultation on matters likely to arise at a meeting 
of the Committee, Sub-Committee or Policy Development/Working Group concerned. 
 

3. Attendance by a Member at a meeting of the group of Councillors of which she/he is a 
registered member. 

Page 781



 168

 
4. Attendance by a Member who is appointed to represent the Council at meetings called by 

COSLA; and attendance by a Member at other meetings where COSLA authorises or appoints 
that Member to participate at that other meeting. 
 

5. Attendance by a Member (or her/his substitute) who is appointed to represent the Council at 
meetings called by a Joint Board, or by any Joint Committee to which any of the functions of 
the Council have been delegated, and attendance by a Member at other meetings where the 
Joint Board or Joint Committee authorises or appoints that Member to participate at that other 
meeting. 
 

6. Attendance by a Member at any conference or seminar or similar event where the Member is 
authorised to attend by the Council, or a Committee, Sub-Committee or Policy 
Development/Working Group of the Council, or under arrangements from time to time approved 
by the Council. 
 

7. Attendance by any member at a meeting of an outside body to which that Member has been 
appointed by the Council. 
 

8. Attendance by the Convener or Vice-Convener of the Council or the Leader or Deputy Leader 
of the Council or of any Spokesperson or Member of the Strategic Policy Committee at any 
meeting, conference, or other event which they consider to be connected with the Council or its 
area, or local government business and where in their view it is in the interests of the Council to 
attend. 
 

9. Attendance by any Chairman or Vice-Chairman of a Committee at a meeting, conference or 
other event which they consider to be connected with their particular Committee responsibilities 
and where in their view it is in the interests of the Council to attend. 
 

10. Attendance by the Convener or Vice-Convener of the Council or the Convener’s nominee at a 
civic or other event being held by the Council or another body at which they consider it is 
appropriate that the Council be represented or at a funeral or other commemorative event to 
represent the Council. 
 

11. Attendance by a Member at official openings of Council premises or at functions organised or 
supported by the Council where the invitation is from the Council or Convener of the Council, or 
a Committee or the Chairman of a Committee. 
 

12. Attendance by a Member on not more than two days per calendar month – 
 

 (i) at appropriate centres for holding surgeries for consultation by constituents; or 
 

 (ii) to visit individual constituents where there are particular reasons which should be 
specified on the claim form. 
 

13. Attendance by a Member at their nearest are Council office on not more than two days per 
calendar month for the purpose of dealing with matters raised with them by constituents. 
 

14. Attendance at a meeting of a Primary School Board or Community Council within the Member’s 
Ward, or as a nominated representative of the Council at a meeting of a Secondary School 
Board. 
  

15. Attendance at a meeting of a Community Forum established by the Council. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 782



 169

Qualifications 
 
1. The rates of travel and subsistence allowance payable will be those determined from time to 

time by Government regulation or otherwise determined in accordance with arrangements 
approved by the Council from time to time. 
 

2. Invitations from outside bodies or third parties to a Member in an individual capacity to attend 
any event does not constitute an approved duty, unless attendance is authorised by the Council 
or any Committee or Sub-Committee, but without prejudice to the provisions set out above 
applicable to the Convener or Vice-Convener of the Council, the Leader or Depute Leader of 
the Council, or a Committee Chairman or Vice-Chairman as the case may be. 
 

3. Travel and subsistence expenses will only be payable in respect of an approved duty relating to 
any other body where that body does not itself pay travelling and/or subsistence allowances; if 
the body pays its own travelling and subsistence allowances, the Member should claim such 
allowances from the other body. 
 

4. The performance of any of the foregoing approved duties is subject to the approval of the full 
Council in any particular case in respect of a journey outwith the European Union. 
 

5. Travel by rail will normally be at 2nd Class (I) except in respect of travel by sleeper, (ii) 
otherwise unless it is only possible to make the journey by travelling 1st Class and no 
reasonable alternative exists, and (iii) if the Member is accompanying a representative of 
another agency who is travelling 1st Class. Any journey involving air travel will normally be at 
economy class. 
 

6. Claims can be made for the reimbursement of actual costs in respect of  travel and subsistence 
up to the maximum level of day or overnight subsistence. While it is not necessary to produce 
receipts in respect of day subsistence, Members are required to produce receipts for overnight 
accommodation and should endeavour at all times to book accommodation through the 
Council’s travel agents to secure discounted rates and to facilitate the reclaiming of VAT. 
Where a Member fails to book through the Council travel agents a detailed receipt must be 
produced to the Head of ICT and Financial Services. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 783



Page 784

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

 
 

26 May 2005

 
UPHOLDING ACCESS RIGHTS ENFORCEMENT ACTION AND LAND 
EXEMPTION APPLICATIONS UNDER THE LAND REFORM (SCOTLAND) 
ACT 2003 (PART 1) 
 
 

1. SUMMARY 
  
 1.1 

 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 

The Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003 (Part 1) came into force in 
February 2005 and gives the public a statutory right of access 
across most land and inland water across Scotland.  
 
The Act places a wide range of statutory duties and powers on 
local authorities, including the power to exempt land from access 
rights and a duty and associated powers to uphold access rights 
(see Background Paper available in Member’s Lounge). 
 
These statutory duties and powers have implications for the 
Council’s Scheme of Administration and Delegations and allow 
for charges to be levied for land exemption applications and 
reasonable cost recovery to be undertaken when upholding access 
rights. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
 2.1 

 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
 

That Members approve the proposed charges for exemption 
applications and agree to the recovery of necessary costs in 
relation to the Council’s duty to uphold access rights. 
 
That Members agree that the Scheme of Administration and 
Delegations be revised as detailed in this report at paragraphs 3.5 
and 3.8 to include specific reference to the powers and duties 
provided by the Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003 (Part 1) 
relating to land exemptions and upholding access rights. 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
  
 3.1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

In view of the pending alterations to the Council’s Governance 
Documentation and the accompanying report on the Council 
Constitution submitted by Corporate Services, this report 
proposes additional alterations to the Scheme of Administration 
and Delegations in relation to the Land Reform (Scotland) Act 
2003 (Part 1). 
 

Agenda Item 6bPage 785



 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Power to exempt land from access rights 
 
Proposed charges 
The following charges for the processing of exemption 
applications are proposed. It is recommended that 1-5 day 
exemption applications are free of charge as they are likely to be 
relatively straightforward, of a similar nature and require minimal 
Officer time. Public notice will also be provided on site rather 
than in the local newspaper and therefore no costs will be 
incurred. 
 
It is recommended for six-day to two-year exemption applications 
that a flat fee of £100 is charged for Officer time. However this 
fee will be subject to monitoring and revision in order to ensure 
that the full costs of processing applications is obtained. 
Applications will have to be examined on an individual basis and 
will require a lengthy, detailed evaluation process comprehensive 
enough to satisfy Ministers that sufficient consideration has been 
given to the application. A statutory public consultation process, 
inviting representations and objections, is also required for each 
application. 
 
In addition to the £100 flat fee for Officer time, a £96.30 charge 
for public notice of a proposed Order and a £117.07 charge for 
public notice of a confirmed Order are also recommended (the 
latter fee will only be charged if an Order is granted by 
Ministers). This charge has been calculated from the average, 
actual cost of displaying the required public notices in 
newspapers across Argyll and Bute. Development Control has 
already set precedents for such charges with regard to planning 
fee applications. 
 
Scheme of Administration and Delegations 
It is also recommended that the delegated powers as laid out in 
the Scheme of Administration and Delegations for deciding 
planning applications is applied to land exemption applications. 
The delegated powers relating to planning application decisions 
are tried and tested and reflect the level of objections received, 
the complexity of the application and consistency with the 
Development Plan. The local authority does not have the power 
to decide an Order however it is required to provide a 
recommendation to Ministers. The delegated powers would 
therefore only relate to the approval or refusal of the 
recommendation put forward by Council Officers to Ministers. It 
is therefore proposed that decisions relating to: 
 
 All applications for 1-5 day exemptions would be delegated 

to the Director of Development Services. 
 

Page 786



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.8 
 

In the case of six-day to two-year exemption applications (initial 
applications or the revocation, amendment or re-enactment of 
existing Orders): 
 
 All recommendations for refusal would be delegated to the 

relevant Area Committee or the Special Committee where an 
application straddles the boundary of two Area Committees. 

 Recommendations for approval and where; 
 No objections are received would be delegated to the 

Director of Development Services. 
 There are objections from non-statutory consultees or 

individual small groups of objectors would be delegated 
to the Director of Development Services in consultation 
with the Chairman, Vice Chairman and the Local Member 
of the relevant Area Committee/s. 

 There are objections from statutory consultees and/or a 
significant number of objections would be delegated to 
the relevant Area Committee or the Special Committee 
where an application straddles the boundary of two Area 
Committees. 

 
Duty to uphold access rights 
 
Recovery of costs 
The Act allows for local authorities to recover reasonable costs 
incurred by acting to uphold access rights. It is therefore 
recommended that any landowner that does not comply with a 
statutory written notice served by the local authority be charged 
for the cost of carrying out the remedial works. This will include 
charging for officer time, travel and subsistence costs and the 
costs of carrying out the actual on the ground remedial works. 
Travel and subsistence costs and the costs of carrying out the on 
the ground remedial works will be charged as incurred. Officer 
time will be charged at a rate of £22.12 per hour for time spent on 
the enforcement action whilst in the office, travelling and out on 
site. The hourly rate was calculated in conjunction with the 
Finance Manager for Development Services. 
 
This charging is necessary in order for the Council to recoup 
costs incurred in meeting its statutory duty to uphold access 
rights and to discourage landowners from acting outside of the 
legislation. Development Control and Building Standards have 
already set precedents for such charges with regard to 
unauthorized works.  
 
Scheme of Administration and Delegations 
It is also recommended that the delegated powers as laid out in 
the Scheme of Administration and Delegations under Area 
Committees and General and Specific Delegations to Officers be 

Page 787



applied to enforcement action in connection with upholding 
access rights, with the exception of decisions to undertake 
enforcement action which would be delegated to the Director of 
Development Services without the need for referral to Area 
Committee. This delegated power is proposed due to the 
relatively minor anticipated nature of many of the problems 
expected, the timescales involved and the need to act quickly in 
relation to the nature of some cases e.g. health and safety, the 
dialogue and consensus building that will take place prior to 
enforcement action being taken (which it is hoped will negate the 
need for enforcement action), the conflict resolution role which 
will exist within the statutory Local Access Forum and the right 
of appeal to the Sheriff that the landowner has on receipt of a 
written notice. 
 
It is therefore proposed that: 
 

 The carrying out of remedial works, which could involve 
major unplanned expenditure on land under the 
ownership or control of the local authority, would be 
delegated to the Public Service and Licensing Committee 
after consultation with the relevant Area Committee. 

 
The following would be delegated to the Director of 
Development Services: 
 The signing and issuing of a statutory written notice. 
 The decision to undertake enforcement action. 
 The authorization of Officers to enter onto land to carry 

out remedial works. 
 The authorization of reports for submission to the 

Procurator Fiscal. 
 Dealing with enforcement complaints where no breach of 

the legislation is found. 
 

4. CONCLUSION 
  
 4.1 

 
 
 
 
4.2 

In order for the local authority to effectively deliver its duties and 
powers relating to land exemptions and upholding access rights, 
charges will need to be levied and the recovery of costs 
undertaken. 
 
The Scheme of Administration and Delegations will also need to 
be revised as detailed in this report at paragraphs 3.5 and 3.8 to 
include specific reference to the powers and duties provided by 
the Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003. 

 
 
 
 

Page 788



5. IMPLICATIONS 
   
 Policy: The application of the powers and duties 

provided by the Land Reform (Scotland) Act 
2003 has implications for the Council’s Scheme 
of Administration and Delegations.  

   
 Financial: Charges and cost recovery as detailed above 
   
 Personnel: Significant Officer time 
   
 Equal Opportunity: N/A 
 

For further information contact: Jenny Carter 
  
Telephone 01546 604314 
 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS: 
1. Paper on exemption applications and upholding access rights (available in 

Member’s Lounge) 
2. Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003 (Part 1) 
3. Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003 (Part 1) – Guidance for Local Authorities 

 

Page 789



Page 790

This page is intentionally left blank



Reports 2004 members allowances 

  

 
ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL 

 
COUNCIL MEETING 

CORPORATE  SERVICES 26 MAY 2005 
 

 
MEMBERS ALLOWANCES 
 
 
1. SUMMARY 

 
 1.1 These notes accompany the attached tables which show the details of 

allowances paid to Members of this Council during 2004/2005 as part of 
the Accounts of the Council for that year. 
 

 
 

1.2 
 

Each year Local Authorities are obliged to publish details of the 
allowances paid to Council Members.  Details of those for 2004/2005 are 
in the tables attached, and in terms of Regulation 28 of the Local 
Authorities (Allowances) (Scotland) Regulations 1995, these are 
accordingly published with this Agenda. 

 
 

 
1.3 

 
Records of all payments of allowances are kept by the Director of 
Corporate Services, they are available for public inspection by any Local 
Government elector in Argyll and Bute in terms of Regulation 28(4) and 
are, of course, subject to both internal and external audit. 

  
1.4 

 
It should be noted that the tables attached record gross figures, but, of 
course, the actual payments which Members receive are net of tax.   
 

 
2. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
         

 2.1 The Council is asked to note the publication of the tables of allowances 
paid to Members during 2004/2005. 
 

 
 
 
NIGEL STEWART 
Director of Corporate Services 
5 MAY 2005  
 

Agenda Item 7Page 791



Page 792

This page is intentionally left blank



AMOUNT

PAID

RLM BANKS £6,057.10

B CHENNELL £6,057.10

RD COLVILLE £6,057.10

DC CURRIE £6,057.10

R CURRIE £6,057.10

JMR FINDLAY £6,057.10

GS FREEMAN £6,057.10

I GILLIES £6,057.10

AJ HAY £6,057.10

DANIEL KELLY £6,057.10

DONALD KELLY £6,057.10

R KINLOCH £6,057.10

A MACASKILL £6,057.10

A MACDOUGALL £6,057.10

SD MACDOUGALL £6,057.10

DC MACINTYRE £6,057.10

R MACINTYRE £6,057.10

D MACMILLAN £6,057.10

TB MARSHALL £6,057.10

J MCALPINE £6,057.10

D MCINTOSH £6,057.10

A MCKINLAY £6,057.10

G MCKINVEN £6,057.10

J MCQUEEN £6,057.10

E MORTON £6,057.10

G MULVANEY £6,057.10

W PETRIE £6,057.10

AA REAY £6,057.10

B ROBERTSON £6,057.10

E ROBERTSON £6,057.10

L SCOULLAR £6,057.10

M STEWART £6,057.10

I STRONG £6,057.10

JM TACCHI £6,057.10

FG THOMPSON £6,057.10

J WALSH £6,057.10

ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL

TABLE 1

MEMBERS BASIC ALLOWANCE 2004/05

MEMBERS

NAME

Page 793



AMOUNT

PAID

RLM BANKS £11,565.05

B CHENNELL £9,872.75

RD COLVILLE £2,202.90

DC CURRIE £2,202.90

R CURRIE £2,202.90

JMR FINDLAY £4,956.51

GS FREEMAN £9,912.45

I GILLIES £9,912.45

AJ HAY £9,912.45

DANIEL KELLY £10,535.04

DONALD KELLY £2,202.90

R KINLOCH £9,912.45

A MACASKILL £14,318.66

A MACDOUGALL £9,912.45

SD MACDOUGALL £3,304.12

DC MACINTYRE £9,912.45

R MACINTYRE £9,912.45

D MACMILLAN £9,912.45

TB MARSHALL £9,912.45

J MCALPINE £2,202.90

D MCINTOSH £2,202.90

A MCKINLAY £9,912.45

G MCKINVEN £7,710.70

J MCQUEEN £9,912.45

E MORTON £2,202.90

G MULVANEY £4,956.51

W PETRIE £14,318.66

AA REAY £2,202.90

B ROBERTSON £2,225.46

E ROBERTSON £2,203.31

L SCOULLAR £2,202.90

M STEWART £2,202.90

I STRONG £2,202.90

JM TACCHI £2,202.90

FG THOMPSON £2,202.90

J WALSH £9,912.45

ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL

TABLE 2

MEMBERS SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE 2004/05

MEMBERS

NAME

Page 794



AMOUNT

PAID

RLM BANKS £364.00

B CHENNELL £364.00

RD COLVILLE £364.00

DC CURRIE £364.00

R CURRIE £364.00

JMR FINDLAY £364.00

GS FREEMAN £364.00

I GILLIES £364.00

AJ HAY £364.00

DANIEL KELLY £364.00

DONALD KELLY £364.00

R KINLOCH £364.00

A MACASKILL £364.00

A MACDOUGALL £364.00

SD MACDOUGALL £364.00

DC MACINTYRE £364.00

R MACINTYRE £364.00

D MACMILLAN £364.00

TB MARSHALL £364.00

J MCALPINE £364.00

D MCINTOSH £364.00

A MCKINLAY £364.00

G MCKINVEN £364.00

J MCQUEEN £364.00

E MORTON £364.00

G MULVANEY £364.00

W PETRIE £364.00

AA REAY £364.00

B ROBERTSON £364.00

E ROBERTSON £364.00

L SCOULLAR £364.00

M STEWART £364.00

I STRONG £364.00

JM TACCHI £364.00

FG THOMPSON £364.00

J WALSH £364.00

ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL

TABLE 3

MEMBERS TELEPHONE ALLOWANCE 2004/05

MEMBERS

NAME

Page 795



AMOUNT

PAID

RLM BANKS £573.65

B CHENNELL £494.60

RD COLVILLE £47.02

DC CURRIE £209.66

R CURRIE £5,126.55

JMR FINDLAY £3,714.42

GS FREEMAN £414.13

I GILLIES £3,623.06

AJ HAY £630.44

DANIEL KELLY £310.65

DONALD KELLY £153.78

R KINLOCH £69.90

A MACASKILL £1,423.37

A MACDOUGALL £2,300.96

SD MACDOUGALL £321.54

DC MACINTYRE £889.88

R MACINTYRE £305.62

D MACMILLAN £394.37

TB MARSHALL £398.43

J MCALPINE £631.10

D MCINTOSH £81.97

A MCKINLAY £372.11

G MCKINVEN £204.00

J MCQUEEN £158.00

E MORTON £132.83

G MULVANEY £0.00

W PETRIE £688.68

AA REAY £302.47

B ROBERTSON £510.81

E ROBERTSON £214.20

L SCOULLAR £230.70

M STEWART £135.81

I STRONG £223.89

JM TACCHI £96.09

FG THOMPSON £102.20

J WALSH £595.54

ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL

TABLE 4

MEMBERS SUBSISTENCE 2004/05

MEMBERS

NAME

Page 796



AMOUNT

PAID

RLM BANKS £29.15

B CHENNELL £110.25

RD COLVILLE £0.00

DC CURRIE £43.00

R CURRIE £3,212.50

JMR FINDLAY £2,100.00

GS FREEMAN £0.00

I GILLIES £1,242.15

AJ HAY £118.59

DANIEL KELLY £14.05

DONALD KELLY £0.00

R KINLOCH £0.00

A MACASKILL £41.75

A MACDOUGALL £1,580.20

SD MACDOUGALL £0.00

DC MACINTYRE £30.20

R MACINTYRE £481.40

D MACMILLAN £33.20

TB MARSHALL £75.40

J MCALPINE £158.60

D MCINTOSH £0.00

A MCKINLAY £15.60

G MCKINVEN £66.51

J MCQUEEN £76.20

E MORTON £14.05

G MULVANEY £0.00

W PETRIE £24.65

AA REAY £0.00

B ROBERTSON £15.50

E ROBERTSON £69.40

L SCOULLAR £690.90

M STEWART £47.50

I STRONG £899.05

JM TACCHI £0.00

FG THOMPSON £0.00

J WALSH £93.59

ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL

TABLE 5

MEMBERS FERRY FARES 2004/05

MEMBERS

NAME

Page 797



AMOUNT

PAID

RLM BANKS £2,339.79

B CHENNELL £1,523.76

RD COLVILLE £4,022.40

DC CURRIE £1,972.34

R CURRIE £4,275.60

JMR FINDLAY £1,817.20

GS FREEMAN £5,859.44

I GILLIES £2,185.09

AJ HAY £6,776.56

DANIEL KELLY £3,229.97

DONALD KELLY £1,510.60

R KINLOCH £3,129.26

A MACASKILL £5,894.75

A MACDOUGALL £4,034.23

SD MACDOUGALL £3,045.25

DC MACINTYRE £4,973.15

R MACINTYRE £3,652.22

D MACMILLAN £3,875.03

TB MARSHALL £4,678.15

J MCALPINE £3,402.46

D MCINTOSH £914.52

A MCKINLAY £0.00

G MCKINVEN £2,476.34

J MCQUEEN £2,534.97

E MORTON £630.76

G MULVANEY £1,654.99

W PETRIE £5,509.35

AA REAY £2,659.94

B ROBERTSON £3,246.92

E ROBERTSON £3,180.91

L SCOULLAR £4,742.30

M STEWART £588.63

I STRONG £5,907.64

JM TACCHI £2,476.71

FG THOMPSON £1,217.14

J WALSH £10,220.57

MEMBERS

NAME

ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL

TABLE 6

MEMBERS OTHER TRAVEL 2004/05

Page 798



Agenda Item 8Page 799
NOT FOR PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph(s) 8, 9
of Schedule 7A of the Local Government(Scotland) Act 1973

Document is Restricted



Page 802

This page is intentionally left blank


